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ORDER OF REFERENCE ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, of Thursday, Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du jeudi 6 mars 2014 :

March 6, 2014:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Buth, seconded by the Honourable Senator Unger,
for the second reading of Bill C-462, An Act restricting the
fees charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and
making consequential amendments to the Tax Court of
Canada Act.

After debate,
The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Martin moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Poirier, that the bill be referred to the
Standing Senate Committee on National Finance.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

Extract from the Journals of the Senate, of Thursday,
March 6, 2014:

Resuming debate on the motion of the Honourable
Senator Moore, seconded by the Honourable Senator Day,
for the second reading of Bill S-204, An Act to amend the
Financial Administration Act (borrowing of money).

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The bill was then read the second time.

The Honourable Senator Moore moved, seconded by the
Honourable Senator Mercer, that the bill be referred to the
Standing Senate Committee on National Finance.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

Reprise du débat sur la motion de I'honorable sénatrice
Buth, appuyée par ’honorable sénatrice Unger, tendant a la
deuxiéme lecture du projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les
frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de I'impo6t.

Aprés débat,
La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
Le projet de loi est alors lu pour la deuxiéme fois.

L’honorable sénatrice Martin propose, appuyée par
I’honorable sénatrice Poirier, que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des finances
nationales.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du jeudi 6 mars 2014 :

Reprise du débat sur la motion de ’honorable sénateur
Moore, appuyée par 'honorable sénateur Day, tendant a la
deuxiéme lecture du projet de loi S-204, Loi modifiant la Loi
sur la gestion des finances publiques (emprunts de fonds).

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
Le projet de loi est alors lu pour la deuxiéme fois.

L’honorable sénateur Moore propose, appuyé par
I’honorable sénateur Mercer, que le projet de loi soit
renvoyé au Comité sénatorial permanent des finances
nationales.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,
Gary W. O’Brien
Clerk of the Senate



9:4 National Finance

9-4-2014

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

OTTAWA, Tuesday, March 25, 2014
(28)

[English)

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day in camera, at 9:34 a.m., in room 9, Victoria Building, the
chair, the Honourable Joseph A. Day, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Bellemare, Buth, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-Payette, P.C.,
Mockler, Smith (Saurel) and Tkachuk (9).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury and Raphaélle Deraspe,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Service,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Thursday, November 7, 2013, the committee continued its
examination of the Main Estimates for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2014. (For complete text of the order of reference, see
proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 4.)

Pursuant to rule 12-16(1)(d), the committee considered a draft
report.

It was agreed that senators’ staff be allowed to stay in the
room.

It was agreed that the committee allow the transcription of
today’s in camera meeting, that one copy be kept in the office of
the clerk of the committee for consultation by committee
members present and the committee analysts, and that the
transcript be destroyed by the clerk when authorized to do so
by the subcommittee on agenda and procedure but not later than
at the end of this parliamentary session.

It was agreed that the final report on the Main Estimates for
the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014, be adopted, as amended,
and that the subcommittee on agenda and procedure be
authorized to make minor editorial revisions.

It was agreed that this report be tabled in the chamber at the
earliest opportunity.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, February 25, 2014, the committee continued its
examination of the Supplementary Estimates (C) for the fiscal
year ending March 31, 2014. (For complete text of the order of
reference, see proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 7.)

At 9:55 a.m., pursuant to rule 12-16(1)(d), the committee
considered a draft report.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mardi 25 mars 2014
(28)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui a huis clos, a 9 h 34, dans la piéce 9 de I’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de I'honorable Joseph A. Day
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Bellemare, Buth, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-Payette, C.P.,
Mockler, Smith (Saurel) et Tkachuk (9).

Egalement présents : Sylvain Fleury et Raphaélle Deraspe,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le jeudi 7 novembre 2013, le comité poursuit son étude du
Budget principal des dépenses pour I’exercice se terminant
le 31 mars 2014. (Le texte intégral de 'ordre de renvoi figure au
fascicule n° 4 des délibérations du comité.)

Conformément a l’article 12-16(1)d) du Réglement, le comité
examine une ébauche de rapport.

Il est convenu d’autoriser le personnel des sénateurs a rester
dans la piéce.

Il est convenu que le comité autorise la transcription de la
réunion a huis clos, qu’'un exemplaire en soit conservé dans le
bureau de la greffiere du comité pour consultation par les
membres du comité présents et les analystes du comité, puis que la
transcription soit détruite par la greffiere dés qu’elle en recevra
I’autorisation du Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure,
au plus tard a la fin de la session parlementaire.

Il est convenu d’adopter le rapport final sur le Budget principal
des dépenses pour 1’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2014, dans
sa forme modifiée, et que le Sous-comité du programme et de la
procédure soit autorisé a y apporter des modifications de forme
mineures.

Il est convenu de déposer ce rapport a la Chambre a la
premiére occasion.

Conformément a 'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mardi 25 février 2014, le comité poursuit son étude du Budget
supplémentaire des dépenses (C) pour I’exercice se terminant le
31 mars 2014. (Le texte intégral de l'ordre de renvoi figure au
fascicule n° 7 des délibérations du comité.)

A 9 h 55, conformément 4 I’article 12-16(1)d) du Réglement, le
comité examine une ébauche de rapport.
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It was agreed that the report on the Supplementary
Estimates (C) for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014, be
adopted, as amended, and that the subcommittee on agenda and
procedure be authorized to make minor editorial revisions.

It was agreed that this report be tabled in the chamber at the
earliest opportunity.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Tuesday, March 4, 2014, the committee continued its
examination of the Main Estimates for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2015. (For complete text of the order of reference, see
proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 8.)

At 10:05 a.m., pursuant to rule 12-16(1)(d), the committee
considered a draft report.

It was agreed that the first interim report on the Main
Estimates 2014-2015, be adopted, as amended, and that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be authorized to make
minor editorial revisions.

It was agreed that this report be tabled in the chamber at the
earliest opportunity.

At 10:38 a.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Tuesday, April 1, 2014
(29)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day, at 9:32 a.m., in room 9, Victoria Building, the chair, the
Honourable Joseph A. Day, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-
Payette, P.C., Mockler and Smith (Saurel) (9).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Eggleton, P.C. (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury and Raphaélle Deraspe,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Service,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Thursday, March 6, 2014, the committee began its examination of
the Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees charged by promoters
of the disability tax credit and making consequential amendments
to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

Il est convenu d’adopter le rapport sur le Budget
supplémentaire des dépenses (C) pour l’exercice se terminant
le 31 mars 2014, dans sa forme modifiée, et que le Sous-comité du
programme et de la procédure soit autorisé a y apporter des
modifications de forme mineures.

Il est convenu de déposer ce rapport a la Chambre a la
premiére occasion.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le mardi
4 mars 2014, le comité poursuit son étude du Budget principal des
dépenses pour I’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2015. (Le ftexte
intégral de 'ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule n° 8 des délibérations
du comité.)

A 10 h 5, conformément 4 I'article 12-16(1)d) du Réglement, le
comité examine une ébauche de rapport.

Il est convenu d’adopter la premiére ébauche de rapport sur le
Budget principal des dépenses 2014-2015, dans sa forme modifiée,
et que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a y apporter des modifications de forme mineures.

Il est convenu de déposer ce rapport a la Chambre a la
premiére occasion.

A 10 h 38, il est convenu que le comité s’ajourne jusqu’a
nouvelle convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, mardi le 1°" avril 2014
(29)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 32, dans la piece 9 de 1’édifice Victoria,
sous la présidence de I’honorable Joseph A. Day (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-
Payette, C.P., Mockler et Smith (Saurel) (9).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Eggleton, C.P. (1).

Egalement présents : Sylvain Fleury et Raphaélle Deraspe,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le jeudi 6 mars 2014, le comité entreprend son étude sur le
projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais imposés par les
promoteurs du crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées et
apportant des modifications corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour
canadienne de I'impét.
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WITNESSES:

Cheryl Gallant, M.P., Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke,
sponsor of the bill.

Canadian Psychological Association:
Dr. Karen R. Cohen, Chief Executive Officer.
National Benefit Authority:
Akiva Medjuck, President.
The Disability Benefit Group:
Dr. Paul Okorofsky, Director of Client Care and Partner.

TaxWise Inc.:
Shawn Anthony, Senior Manager.
Disabled Women’s Network of Canada:

Carmela Hutchison, President and Member at Large on the
Executive Committee of the Council of Canadians with
Disabilities (by video conference).

Ms. Gallant made a statement and answered questions.
At 10:09 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 10:11 a.m., the committee resumed.

Dr. Cohen, Mr. Medjuck, Dr. Okorofsky, Mr. Anthony and
Ms. Hutchison, each made a statement and answered questions.

At 11:42 a.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Wednesday, April 2, 2014
(30)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day, at 6:46 p.m., in room 705, Victoria Building, the chair, the
Honourable Joseph A. Day, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-
Payette, P.C., Merchant, Mockler, Seth and Smith (Saurel) (11).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Eggleton, P.C. (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury and Raphaélle Deraspe,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Service,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

TEMOINS :

Cheryl Gallant, députée, Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke,
marraine du projet de loi.

Société canadienne de psychologie :

Dre Karen R. Cohen, chef de la direction.
National Benefit Authority :

Akiva Medjuck, président.
The Disability Benefit Group :

Dr Paul Okorofsky, directeur des Services aux clients et
partenaire.

TaxWise Inc. :
Shawn Anthony, directeur principal.
Réseau d’action des femmes handicapées du Canada :

Carmela Hutchison, présidente et membre a titre personnel du
comité exécutif du Conseil des Canadiens avec déficiences
(par vidéoconférence).

Mme Gallant fait une déclaration et répond aux questions.
A 10 h 9, la séance est suspendue.
A 10 h 11, la séance reprend.

La Dre Cohen, M. Medjuck, le Dr Okorofsky, M. Anthony et
Mme Hutchison font chacun une déclaration et répondent aux
questions.

A 11 h 42, il est convenu que le comité s’ajourne jusqu’a
nouvelle convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mercredi 2 avril 2014
(30)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 46, dans la piéce 705 de I’édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de I’honorable Joseph A. Day
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Day, Eaton, Gerstein, Hervieux-
Payette, C.P., Merchant, Mockler, Seth et Smith (Saurel) (11).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Eggleton, C.P. (1).

Egalement présents : Sylvain Fleury et Raphaélle Deraspe,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.
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Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Thursday, March 6, 2014, the committee continued its
examination of the Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees
charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

WITNESSES:
Canada Revenue Agency:

Brian McCauley, Assistant Commissioner, Legislative Policy
and Regulatory Affairs Branch;

Nathalie Dumais, Director General, Benefit Programs
Directorate.

Mr. McCauley made a statement and, together with
Ms. Dumais, answered questions.

At 8:12 p.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Tuesday, April 8, 2014
(€29
[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met
this day, at 9:33 a.m., in room 9, Victoria Building, the chair, the
Honourable Joseph A. Day, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Chaput, Day, Eaton, Gerstein,
Hervieux-Payette, P.C., Mockler, Seth and Smith (Saurel) (11).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Moore (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury and Raphaélle Deraspe,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Service,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Thursday, March 6, 2014, the committee began its examination of
the Bill S-204, An Act to amend the Financial Administration Act
(borrowing of money).

WITNESSES:
The Honourable Senator Wilfred P. Moore, sponsor of the bill.

Department of Finance Canada:

Dan Calof, Acting Director, Financial Markets Division;

Marie-Josée Lambert, Chief, Domestic Debt Management
Policy, Financial Sector Policy Division.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le jeudi 6 mars 2014, le comité poursuit son étude du projet de
loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du
crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées et apportant des
modifications corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de
I'impét.

TEMOINS :
Agence du revenu du Canada :

Brian McCauley, sous-commissaire adjoint, Direction générale
de la politique législative et des affaires réglementaires;

Nathalie Dumais, directrice générale, Direction des
programmes de prestations.

M. McCauley fait une déclaration puis, avec Mme Dumais,
répond aux questions.

A 20 h 12, il est convenu que le comité s’ajourne jusqu’a
nouvelle convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mardi 8 avril 2014
(3D

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 33, dans la picce 9 de Iédifice Victoria,
sous la présidence de I'honorable Joseph A. Day (président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Chaput, Day, Eaton, Gerstein,
Hervieux-Payette, C.P., Mockler, Seth et Smith (Saurel) (11).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Moore (1).

Egalement présents : Sylvain Fleury et Raphaélle Deraspe,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I’ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le jeudi 6 mars 2014, le comité entreprend son étude du projet
de loi S-204, Loi modifiant la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques (emprunts de fonds).

TEMOINS :

L’honorable sénateur Wilfred P.Moore, parrain du projet de
loi.

Ministere des Finances Canada :

Dan Calof, directeur par intérim, Division des marchés
financiers;

Marie-Josée Lambert, chef, Politique de la gestion de la dette
intérieure, Direction de la politique du secteur financier.
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Bank of Canada:

Grahame Johnson, Chief, Funds Management and Banking.

As individuals:
Lori Turnbull, Associate Professor, Dalhousie University;
Peter Devries, Consultant in Fiscal Affairs.

The Honourable Senator Moore made a statement and
answered questions.

At 10:05 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 10:06 a.m., the committee resumed.

Mr. Calof made a statement and, together with Ms. Lambert,
answered questions.

At 10:55 a.m., the committee suspended.
At 10:57 a.m., the committee resumed.

Ms. Turnbull and Mr. Devries each made a statement and
answered questions.

At 11:39 a.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Wednesday, April 9, 2014
(32

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 6:47 p.m., in room 705, Victoria Building, the chair, the
Honourable Joseph A. Day, presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Chaput, Day, Eaton, Gerstein,
Hervieux-Payette, P.C., Mockler, Seth and Smith (Saurel) (11).

Other senator present: The Honourable Senator Eggleton, P.C. (1).

In attendance: Sylvain Fleury and Raphaélle Deraspe,
Analysts, Parliamentary Information and Research Service,
Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Thursday, March 6, 2014, the committee continued its
examination of the Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees
charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

It was agreed that the committee proceed to clause-by-clause
consideration of Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees charged by
promoters of the disability tax credit and making consequential
amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

Bangue du Canada :

Grahame Johnson, chef, Gestion financiére et Opérations
bancaires.

A titre personnel :
Lori Turnbull, professeure agrégée, Université Dalhousie;
Peter Devries, consultant en finances.

L’honorable sénateur Moore fait une déclaration et répond aux
questions.

A 10 h 5, la séance est suspendue.
A 10 h 6, la séance reprend.

M. Calof fait une déclaration puis, avec Mme Lambert,
répond aux questions.

A 10 h 55, la séance est suspendue.
A 10 h 57, la séance reprend.

Mme Turnbull et M. Devries font chacun une déclaration et
répondent aux questions.

A 11 h 39, il est convenu que le comité s’ajourne jusqu’a
nouvelle convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mercredi 9 avril 2014
(32)

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 47, dans la piéce 705 de I'édifice
Victoria, sous la présidence de I’honorable Joseph A. Day
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Bellemare, Buth, Callbeck, Chaput, Day, Eaton, Gerstein,
Hervieux-Payette, C.P., Mockler, Seth et Smith (Saurel) (11).

Autre sénateur présent : L’honorable sénateur Eggleton, C.P. (1).

Egalement présents : Sylvain Fleury et Raphaélle Deraspe,
analystes, Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Aussi présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a I'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le jeudi 6 mars 2014, le comité poursuit son étude du projet de
loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du
crédit d’'impét pour personnes handicapées et apportant des
modifications corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de
I'impét.

Il est convenu que le comité procéde a I’étude article par article
du projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais imposés par les
promoteurs du crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées et
apportant des modifications corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour
canadienne de I'impét.
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It was agreed that the title stand postponed.

It was agreed that clause 1, which contains the short title, stand
postponed.

It was agreed that clause 2 carry.

It was agreed that clause 3 carry.

It was agreed that clause 4 carry.

It was agreed that clause 5 carry.

It was agreed that clause 6 carry.

It was agreed that clause 7 carry.

It was agreed that clause 8 carry.

It was agreed that clause 9 carry.

It was agreed that clause 10 carry.

It was agreed that clause 11 carry.

It was agreed that clause 12 carry.

It was agreed that clause 1, which contains the short title carry.
It was agreed that the title carry.

It was agreed that the bill carry.

The committee considered draft observations.

After debate, it was agreed to append these observations to the
bill.

It was agreed that the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure
be empowered to approve the final version of the observations
being appended to the report, taking into consideration the
committee’s discussion and any necessary editorial, grammatical
or translation changes as required.

It was agreed that the chair report the bill, with observations,
to the Senate.

At 7:20 p.m., the committee suspended.
At 7:23 p.m., the committee resumed.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate
on Tuesday, March 4, 2014, the committee continued its
examination of the Main Estimates for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2015. (For complete text of the order of reference, see
proceedings of the committee, Issue No. 8.)

WITNESSES:
Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development Canada:

Nadir Patel, Assistant Deputy Minister and Chief Financial
Officer, Corporate Planning, Finance and Information
Technology;

Arun Thangaraj, Director General, Finance Resource
Planning and Management Bureau.

Il est convenu de reporter 1’étude du titre du projet de loi.

Il est convenu de reporter 1’étude de I’article 1, qui contient le
titre abrégé.

Il est convenu d’adopter article 2.

Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 3.

Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 4.

Il est convenu d’adopter article 5.

Il est convenu d’adopter Iarticle 6.

Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 7.

Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 8.

Il est convenu d’adopter article 9.

Il est convenu d’adopter I'article 10.

Il est convenu d’adopter I'article 11.

Il est convenu d’adopter 'article 12.

Il est convenu d’adopter I’article 1, qui contient le titre abrégé.
Il est convenu d’adopter le titre.

Il est convenu d’adopter le projet de loi.

Le comité étudie des ébauches d’observations.

Apreés discussion, il est convenu d’annexer des observations au
projet de loi.

Il est convenu que le Sous-comité du programme et de la
procédure soit habilité a approuver la version finale des
observations présentées en annexe au rapport, tout en prenant
en considération les discussions au sein du comité et toute
modification d’ordre éditorial, grammatical ou de traduction
nécessaire.

Il est convenu que la présidence fasse rapport du projet de loi et
des observations annexées au Sénat.

A 19 h 20, la séance est suspendue.
A 19 h 23, 1a séance reprend.

Conformément a I'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat
le mardi 4 mars 2014, le comité poursuit son étude du Budget
principal des dépenses pour I’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2015.
(Le texte intégral de l'ordre de renvoi figure au fascicule n° 8 des
délibérations du comité.)

TEMOINS :
Affaires étrangeres, Commerce et Développement Canada :

Nadir Patel, sous-ministre adjoint et dirigeant principal des
finances, Planification ministérielle, finances et technologies
de I'information;

Arun Thangaraj, directeur général, Direction générale de la
gestion et de la planification des ressources financiéres.
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Transport Canada:

André Lapointe, Assistant Deputy Minister, Corporate
Services and Chief Financial Officer.

National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces:
Kevin Lindsey, Chief Financial Officer;
Rear-Admiral Patrick Finn, Chief of Staff, Material Group;

Major-General Ian C. Poulter, Chief of Program.

Mr. Patel, Mr. Lapointe and Mr. Lindsey each made a
statement and, together with Mr. Thangaraj, Rear-Admiral
Finn and Major-General Poulter, answered questions.

At 8:57 p.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

Transports Canada :

André Lapointe, sous-ministre adjoint, Services généraux et
dirigeant principal des finances.

Défense nationale et les Forces armées canadiennes :
Kevin Lindsey, dirigeant principal des finances;

Contre-amiral Patrick Finn, chef d’état-major, Groupe des
matériels;

Major général Ian C. Poulter, chef de programme.

MM. Patel, Lapointe et Lindsey font chacun une déclaration
puis, avec M. Thangaraj, le contre-amiral Finn et Ie
Mgén Poulter, répondent aux questions.

A 20 h 57, il est convenu que le comité s’ajourne jusqu’a
nouvelle convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiére du comité,

Jodi Turner

Clerk of the Committee



9-4-2014

Finances nationales

9:11

REPORTS OF THE COMMITTEE
Tuesday, March 25, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance has the
honour to table its

FIFTH REPORT

Your committee, which was authorized by the Senate on
February 25, 2014, to examine and report upon the expenditures
set out in the Supplementary Estimates (C) for the fiscal year
ending March 31, 2014, herewith tables its report thereon.

Respectfully submitted,

Tuesday, March 25, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance has the
honour to table its

SIXTH REPORT

Your committee, to which were referred the 2014-2015 Main
Estimates, has, in obedience to the order of reference of
Wednesday, March 5, 2014, examined the said Estimates and
herewith tables its first interim report.

Respectfully submitted,

Tuesday, March 25, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance has the
honour to table its

SEVENTH REPORT

Your committee, to which were referred the 2013-2014 Main
Estimates, has, in obedience to the order of reference of
Thursday, November 7, 2013, examined the said Estimates and
herewith tables its final report.

Respectfully submitted,

Thursday, April 10, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance has the
honour to present its

EIGHTH REPORT

Your committee, to which was referred Bill C-462, An Act
restricting the fees charged by promoters of the disability tax
credit and making consequential amendments to the Tax Court of
Canada Act, has, in obedience to its order of reference of
March 6, 2014, examined the said Bill and now reports the same
without amendment.

RAPPORTS DU COMITE
Le mardi 25 mars 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a
I’honneur de déposer son

CINQUIEME RAPPORT

Votre comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat le 25 février 2014 a
étudier, afin d’en faire rapport, les dépenses prévues dans le
Budget supplémentaire des dépenses (C) pour l’exercice se
terminant le 31 mars 2014 dépose ici son rapport.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le mardi 25 mars 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a
I’honneur de déposer son

SIXIEME RAPPORT

Votre comité auquel a été renvoyé le Budget principal des
dépenses 2014-2015, a, conformément a I'ordre de renvoi du
mercredi 5 mars 2014, examiné ledit Budget et dépose ici son
premier rapport intérimaire.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le mardi 25 mars 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a
I’honneur de déposer son

SEPTIEME RAPPORT

Votre comité auquel a été renvoyé le Budget principal des
dépenses 2013-2014, a, conformément a I’ordre de renvoi du jeudi
7 novembre 2013, examiné ledit Budget et dépose ici son rapport
final.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le jeudi 10 avril 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales a
I’honneur de présenter son

HUITIEME RAPPORT

Votre comité auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-462, Loi
limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’'impot
pour personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de l'impét, a,
conformément a son ordre de renvoi du 6 mars 2014, examiné
ledit projet de loi et en fait maintenant rapport sans amendement.
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Your committee has also made certain observations, which are
appended to this report.

Respectfully submitted,

Votre comité a aussi formulé des observations qui sont
annexées au présent rapport.

Respectueusement soumis,

Le président,
JOSEPH A. DAY
Chair

OBSERVATIONS to the Eighth Report
of the Standing Senate Committee on National Finance
(Bill C-462)

While the Committee is reporting Bill C-462 without
amendment, it wishes to observe that — after several meetings
with various stakeholders — issues were raised that should be
addressed in the regulatory consultation period following the
Bill’s passage.

The Committee recommends that during the regulatory
consultation period the following issues be considered:

e Review of the Disability Tax Credit form to simplify it and
to consider its online availability;

e Clarify the word “promoter” to more accurately reflect the
different groups that fill out the Disability Tax Credit form,
for example: health care practitioners, accountants,
consultants, etc.;

e Review the service level and the promotion of the Credit by
the Canada Revenue Agency to increase awareness and
reduce the difficulty of applying for the Credit;

e Discuss with industry the potential of developing a code of
practice to improve the level of service and set standards for
certain items, such as advertising.

e Ensure that the interpretation of Section 3(2) of the Bill is
that the promoter repays the overcharged fee (C) to the
claimant.

OBSERVATIONS au huitiéme rapport du
Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales
(projet de loi C-462)

Méme si le comité fait rapport du projet de loi C-462 sans
amendement, il souhaite préciser que plusieurs questions ont été
soulevées au fil des rencontres avec les différents intervenants, et
qu’il faudrait les régler dans la période officielle de consultation
qui suivra I’adoption du projet de loi.

Le comité recommande que les points suivants soient examinés
au cours de la période officielle de consultation:

e cxaminer le formulaire du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées afin de le simplifier et d’envisager la possibilité
de le remplir en ligne;

e préciser le mot « promoteur » pour mieux tenir compte des
différents groupes qui remplissent le formulaire du crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées, par exemple: les
praticiens en soin de santé, les comptables, les experts-
conseils, etc.;

e cxaminer le niveau de service et la promotion du crédit
d’impot par ’Agence du revenu du Canada afin qu’il soit
mieux connu et plus facile d’acces;

e discuter avec les gens du milieu de la possibilité d’établir un
code d’usage pour améliorer le niveau de service et fixer des
normes pour certains aspects, comme la publicité;

e voir a ce que l'article 3(2) du projet de loi soit interprété
de facon a ce que le promoteur rembourse les frais
surfacturés (C) au demandeur.
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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Tuesday, April 1, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 9:32 a.m. to study Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees
charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

Senator Joseph A. Day (Chair) in the chair.

[Translation]

The Chair: Honourable senators, this morning we begin our
study of Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees charged by
promoters of the disability tax credit and making consequential
amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

[English]

This morning, we’re very pleased to welcome Cheryl Gallant,
who is the sponsor of this Bill C-462. She is a member of
Parliament, representing the riding of Renfrew—Nipissing—
Pembroke. Ms. Gallant, I understand you have some brief
opening remarks to explain the legislation to us. We will
proceed with that, and then we often have a question and
answer period following that.

Cheryl Gallant, Member of Parliament for Renfrew—
Nipissing—Pembroke, sponsor of the bill: Very good; thank you,
Mr. Chair. I'm delighted to be here before the Standing Senate
Committee on National Finance with respect to my bill to restrict
the fees charged by promoters of the Disability Tax Credit.

First what I'd like to do is to give you a little background and
overview of the bill just in case everyone hasn’t had the chance to
read it thoroughly. The Disability Tax Credit is a non-refundable
tax credit that is meant to reduce the income taxes a Canadian
suffering from a disability has to pay. In order to qualify, there
has to be a severe and prolonged disability, either physical, mental
or both functions, and there is a maximum amount that can be
claimed for the year.

Also, a caregiver can apply on behalf because, in many
circumstances, a person suffering from a disability either does not
have an income or is incapable thereof. It is available to the
caregivers.

We have this Disability Tax Credit in recognition that
Canadians living with disabilities have special challenges and
added expenses.

They must, either all of the time or a substantial part of the
time, be unable to perform one or more of the basic activities of
daily living, even with medication or medical devices. Some of
those aspects would include vision, hearing and eating.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mardi 1" avril 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 32, pour étudier le projet de loi C-462,
Loi limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’imp6t
pour personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de I'impot.

Le sénateur Joseph A. Day (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

Le président : Honorables sénatrices et sénateurs, ce matin
nous allons commencer notre étude du projet de loi C-462, Loi
limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de I'impot.

[Traduction]

Ce matin, nous sommes trés heureux d’accueillir Cheryl
Gallant, la marraine du projet de loi C-462. Elle est députée et
représente la circonscription de Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke.
Madame Gallant, je crois comprendre que vous ferez une bréve
déclaration pour nous expliquer le projet de loi. Ensuite, nous
aurons une période de questions.

Cheryl Gallant, députée de Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke,
marraine du projet de loi : Trés bien, merci, monsieur le président.
Je suis ravie de me retrouver devant le Comité des finances
nationales pour présenter mon projet de loi visant a limiter les
frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’impdt pour
personnes handicapées.

Jaimerais d’abord situer un peu le contexte et donner un
apercu du projet de loi, au cas ou certains d’entre vous n’auraient
pas eu la possibilité de le lire attentivement. Le crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées est un crédit d’impét non
remboursable qui vise a réduire 'impo6t que doivent payer les
Canadiens handicapés. Afin d’étre admissible, il faut avoir une
déficience grave et prolongée des fonctions physiques ou
mentales. Le montant maximal du crédit qui peut étre demandé
pour une année donnée est plafonné.

De plus, un aidant naturel peut demander le crédit au nom de
la personne handicapée, parce qu’il arrive souvent que les
personnes handicapées ne touchent pas un revenu suffisant ou
sont incapables de travailler. Le crédit est donc offert aux aidants
naturels.

Nous accordons le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées
afin de reconnaitre que les Canadiens handicapés sont confrontés
a des défis particuliers et ont des dépenses supplémentaires.

Ils doivent toujours ou presque toujours étre incapables
d’exercer une ou plusieurs activités de la vie quotidienne, méme
avec l'aide de médicaments et d’appareils. Ces activités
comprennent, par exemple, voir, entendre et s’alimenter.
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There is a wide array of disabilities under the Disability Tax
Credit, and that is largely why there is a great deal of interest in
this.

For the average Canadian suffering from a disability who
would apply for this credit, the maximum federal amount would
have been approximately $7,300 in 2011. That would be a
maximum of $7,300 that could be subtracted from their income to
calculate the income tax due. That would have meant roughly a
savings of $1,100 in that year.

A number of years ago, the federal government allowed the
disability credits to be retroactive. So, instead of an annual
amount of savings of $1,100, it grew to $10,000 to $15,000 if they
qualified for a maximum of 10 years.

As a consequence of this, there were people who wanted to help
assist those who may not be even know about the tax credit to
apply for it. The experience has been, in a totally unregulated
environment, that the fees can range from 10 per cent,
20 per cent and even 40 per cent of the Disability Tax Credit.
The purpose of this bill is to set some restrictions.

Further to that, there can be instances — I’ve seen instances in
my riding — where you have a disability tax promoter who has
provided the service. Their fees have been taken off what the
client receives, and then, subsequent to that, the CRA does an
audit and then deems that the credit was not allowed. In that case,
the client has to pay back the money, but they have great
difficulty in finding the company who helped them out with the
application to get the other 40 per cent, 20 per cent, 10 per cent
back that was given to them. So that is why we’re bringing forth
the restriction.

Actually, more than $20 million is paid out to the Disability
Tax Credit promoters each year, and this legislation will make
better use of the taxpayers’ investments by making sure that the
money ends up where it belongs. This is the true purpose the bill:
To ensure that the people for whom this tax credit is meant,
Canadians living with disabilities, receive as much as possible.

So I thank the honourable senators for studying this bill, and I
am open to your questions.

The Chair: Just as a point of clarification, Ms. Gallant,
$20 million a year is the amount of tax that is not collected by
the government as a result of this?

Ms. Gallant: Actually, the amount would be greater because
it’s more than $20 million paid out to Disability Tax Credit
promoters, so, in addition to the fees paid out, there are the
amounts given to reducing the incomes for the people suffering
from disabilities.

The Chair: When you say “paid out,” this is a tax credit. The
person with the disability has to be paying some tax in order to
get the money back.

De nombreuses déficiences sont visées par le crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées, ce qui explique le trés grand intérét
pour ce crédit.

Pour le Canadien moyen handicapé qui demande le crédit, le
montant fédéral maximal était d’environ 7 300 § en 2011. Le
montant maximum peut étre soustrait du revenu afin de calculer
I'imp6t a payer, ce qui représentait des économies d’environ
1100 $ en 2011.

Il y a quelques années, le gouvernement fédéral a donné un
effet rétroactif au crédit pour personnes handicapées. Les
économies annuelles de 1 100 § ont donc augmenté et sont
passées de 10 000 § a 15000 § si la personne handicapée était
admissible pendant un maximum de 10 ans.

A cause de ce changement, des gens ont voulu aider ceux qui ne
savaient peut-étre méme pas qu’ils pouvaient demander le crédit
d’impo6t. Dans un cadre entiérement déréglementé, on a constaté
que les frais peuvent représenter 10 p. 100, 20 p. 100, voire
jusqu’a 40 p. 100 du crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées. Le projet de loi vise a établir quelques restrictions.

De plus, il arrive parfois — je I’ai vu dans ma circonscription
— qu’un promoteur du crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées offre le service. Leurs frais sont soustraits des
montants que regoivent leurs clients. Mais il arrive que ’ARC
effectue ensuite une vérification et estime que le crédit n’aurait pas
di étre accordé. Dans ce cas, le client doit rembourser les
montants obtenus par erreur, mais il a du mal a trouver
Ientreprise qui I’a aidé a remplir la demande, afin de se faire
rembourser les frais de 40 p. 100, 20 p. 100, 10 p. 100 qu’il a dd
assumer. C’est pour cette raison que nous voulons imposer des
restrictions.

Plus de 20 millions de dollars sont versés aux promoteurs du
crédit d’impdt pour personnes handicapées tous les ans. Le projet
de loi fera un meilleur usage des deniers des contribuables en
s’assurant que cette somme aboutit 1a ou elle le devrait. Voila le
réel objet du projet de loi : s’assurer que ceux a qui s’adresse ce
crédit d’impot, les Canadiens handicapés, obtiennent le montant
le plus élevé possible.

Je remercie les honorables sénateurs d’étudier ce projet de loi,
et je répondrai a vos questions.

Le président : Une petite précision, madame Gallant,
20 millions de dollars par année, c’est le montant de I'imp6t que
le gouvernement ne pergoit pas a cause de ce crédit?

Mme Gallant : En réalité, le montant est plus élevé, parce que
plus de 20 millions de dollars sont versés aux promoteurs du
crédit d’impét pour personnes handicapées. Donc, en plus des
frais versés, il y a les montants qui sont soustraits des revenus des
personnes handicapées.

Le président : Vous parlez d’un montant « versé », mais il s’agit
d’'un crédit d’impdt. La personne handicapée doit payer de
I'imp6t afin de pouvoir obtenir cet argent.
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Ms. Gallant: That’s correct.

The Chair: This would be some of the money that was deducted
at source that they get back by virtue of the tax credit. Am I
understanding this correctly?

Ms. Gallant: Yes. It’s not refundable, but, if they do owe tax,
then the amount of tax they owe is reduced. If the person does not
have an income, then a caregiver for the person can apply for this
tax credit.

The Chair: That assumes the caregiver has taxes to pay.

Ms. Gallant: Precisely.
The Chair: Thank you.

[Translation]

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I sit on the Banking Committee, and
we just finished our report on the Registered Disability Savings
Plan program. A number of senators around the table today also
sit on that committee.

My first comment is that the government should fix what is not
working. It cannot have a tax credit on the one hand and a
program that is hard to navigate on the other. Moreover, the
government has not made it its business, as it must, to ensure that
the program is easily navigable. At issue here are people with
disabilities who require professional help — this is also true of the
other legislation in question — and here you are before us with a
private member’s bill.

Did the government actually advise you against simplification
and developing a procedure that would be much easier to
administrate? You are making it more difficult to collect fees, but
that does not fix the problem. The process will remain
complicated. There is nothing easy about it. I was also
wondering whether it was a refundable tax credit or a tax credit
tied to income?

[English)

Ms. Gallant: First, I will answer your last question. It is a non-
refundable tax credit. To answer your further concern with regard
to the complexity, I’d like to point out that for a person suffering
from a disability, part of the form is two pages long. The
questions include first name and initial, last name, gender,
information about the person claiming the amount, and details
about the regular and consistent support provided for food.
Those are the types of questions asked of someone who is a
caregiver. In terms of the personal declaration about the
disability, they’d be asked whether there is vision impairment,
but the majority of the form is a medical form that has to be
completed by a medical professional.

What is required of the claimant is minimal. The challenge is
that many people who are in the most vulnerable income level
don’t regularly have an accountant or a bookkeeper to file their
tax returns. This form has to be completed well in advance of the
time that you have to submit your tax return. Even seasonal tax

Mme Gallant : En effet.

Le président : Elle recouvre une partie du montant retenu a la
source grace au crédit d’imp6t, si je comprends bien.

Mme Gallant : Oui. Le crédit n’est pas remboursable, mais si la
personne handicapée a de 'impét a payer, le montant a payer est
réduit. Si elle n’a pas de revenu, un aidant naturel peut demander
le crédit.

Le président : En supposant que I’aidant naturel a de I'impdt a
payer.
Mme Gallant : Précisément.

Le président : Merci.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Comme je si¢ge au Comité des
banques et qu’on vient de terminer notre rapport sur la question
d’un programme qui est le Régime enregistré d’épargne invalidité,
certains collégues qui sont ici siégeaient sur le méme comité.

Mon premier commentaire est que le gouvernement devrait
mettre de I'ordre dans ses affaires. On ne peut pas avoir d’une part
un crédit d’impdét et d’autre part un autre programme qui est
difficile a utiliser. Et le gouvernement ne s’est pas assuré qu’il soit
facile a utiliser. On parle de gens qui ont de la difficulté sur le plan
opérationnel de leur vie et qui sont obligés de faire appel a des
professionnels, autant dans le cas de I'autre loi, et vous nous
arrivez avec un projet de loi d’intérét privé.

Est-ce que le gouvernement vous a dit de ne pas simplifier les
choses ni d’arriver avec une procédure beaucoup plus facile a
administrer? Vous mettez une barriére a collecter des honoraires.
Mais ¢a ne régle pas le probléme. Ca va rester compliqué. Il n’y a
rien de facile. Et je me posais la question a savoir s’il s’agit d’un
crédit d’impdt remboursable ou d’un crédit d’impét si on a des
revenus?

[Traduction]

Mme Gallant : Je répondrai d’abord a votre derniére question.
1l s’agit d’un crédit d’imp6t non remboursable. En ce qui concerne
la complexité, j’aimerais souligner que, pour une personne
handicapée, le formulaire compte deux pages. Les questions
portent sur le nom et le prénom, le sexe, la personne qui demande
le crédit et qui subvient aux besoins essentiels de maniére réguliére
et constante. Voila le genre de questions qui sont posées a un
aidant naturel. En ce qui concerne I’auto-évaluation de
I'invalidité, il faut indiquer s’il y a une déficience visuelle, mais
la plus grande partie du formulaire doit étre remplie par un
professionnel de la santé.

Ce qui est exigé du demandeur est minime. Le probléme, c’est
que bon nombre de ceux qui sont le plus vulnérable
économiquement ne font pas appel a un comptable pour
préparer leur déclaration de revenu. Le formulaire doit étre
rempli longtemps avant la déclaration de revenu. Méme les
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preparers who pop around the end of the year or the beginning of
a new year in time for the deadline would not necessarily know to
have this form completed, especially if the disability is not
apparent. They won’t know to ask you to complete this form.
Furthermore, by the time the deadline roles around for the annual
tax return, it’s too late to apply on the current year’s return.

We’re not setting up an obstacle as it’s fairly simple to
complete. In fact, the staff of many members of Parliament will
help a constituent to complete this. The writing is fairly small so
people who are vision-impaired need help to read the questions
being asked. We have some people who are unable to read
because of vision impairment or other related disabilities. I hope
that answers your question.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Not exactly, because they need to
pay taxes to take advantage of the program. They could fill out
the form and put it with their income tax return and the people at
Revenue Canada could make the adjustment appropriately. I
don’t think Revenue Canada expects everybody to be an expert in
government tax credits. For example, there is a tax credit of
$75 for sports equipment if you have children. I suppose you have
to send a piece of paper to prove you have bought new skates or
skis or whatever. It is the same with this. Why not send this form
with their income tax return? Why do we have to pay $20 million
to people to help them with the form that should be validated by
Revenue Canada? That means: Why the bill?

Ms. Gallant: As a consequence, with the tax reductions our
government has put in place over the year that we have
administered, thousands of people have been cut from having to
pay income tax; so people don’t necessarily have to pay income
tax because their income doesn’t reach that level.

In terms of why the government would not automatically send
out this form, it would not make sense to send it out to everyone.
We would not attach it to the annual return because the form has
to be done in advance with a portion completed by a medical
person and a certificate obtained from CRA. That certificate is
attached to the annual return verifying that the person qualifies
for the credit.

Senator Eaton: I think your bill deals mostly with consultants’
fees. Am I correct?

Ms. Gallant: It deals with promoters of the Disability Tax
Credit.

Senator Eaton: Fine. Do they get a fee regardless of the
outcome?

Ms. Gallant: Not all promoters receive a fee regardless of the
outcome.

préparateurs saisonniers de déclarations de revenus qui offrent
leurs services vers la fin de ’année ou au début d’une nouvelle
année, a temps pour respecter la date limite de présentation des
déclarations, ne savent pas nécessairement comment remplir ce
formulaire, surtout si le handicap n’est pas évident. Ils ne savent
pas qu’il faut demander de remplir le formulaire. De plus, quand
arrive la date limite pour la déclaration de revenus annuelle, il est
trop tard pour présenter la demande de crédit.

Nous ne mettons pas de barriére, parce que le formulaire est
assez simple a remplir. De fait, le personnel de nombreux députés
peut aider les particuliers a le faire. Les caractéres sont assez
petits, de sorte que les malvoyants auront besoin d’aide pour
pouvoir lire les questions. Il y a des personnes qui ne peuvent pas
lire a cause d’une déficience visuelle ou d’autres déficiences.
Jespére que cela répond a votre question.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Pas exactement, parce qu’il
faut payer de I'impdt pour avoir droit aux avantages du
programme. On pourrait remplir le formulaire et ’annexer a la
déclaration de revenus, et les fonctionnaires de Revenu Canada
pourraient apporter les ajustements nécessaires. Je ne pense pas
que Revenu Canada s’attend a ce que tout le monde soit un expert
des crédits d’impot du gouvernement. Par exemple, il y a un crédit
d’impot de 75 § pour I'équipement sportif quand on a des enfants.
Je suppose qu’il faut envoyer un document pour prouver qu’on a
acheté des patins neufs ou des skis, par exemple. C’est la méme
chose ici. Pourquoi ne pas envoyer le formulaire avec la
déclaration de revenus? Pourquoi faut-il verser 20 millions de
dollars a des gens qui aident des personnes handicapées a remplir
le formulaire qui doit étre validé par Revenu Canada? Autrement
dit : A quoi sert le projet de loi?

Mme Gallant : Grace aux baisses d’impdét que notre
gouvernement a mises en place cette année, des milliers de
contribuables n’ont plus a payer de I'imp6t sur le revenu. Ils ne
paient plus d’impdt sur le revenu, parce que leur revenu n’atteint
pas le seuil.

Quant a savoir pourquoi le gouvernement n’envoie pas
automatiquement le formulaire, il ne serait pas logique de
I’envoyer a tout le monde. Il serait impossible de I’annexer a la
déclaration de revenu, parce que le formulaire doit étre rempli a
I’avance par un médecin et qu’il faut obtenir un certificat de
I’ARC. C’est ce certificat qui est annexé a la déclaration de revenu
et qui atteste que le contribuable est admissible au crédit.

La sénatrice Eaton : Votre projet de loi porte principalement
sur les honoraires des consultants, n’est-ce pas?

Mme Gallant : Il porte sur les promoteurs du crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées.

La sénatrice Eaton : Bien. Touchent-ils des honoraires quel que
soit le résultat?

Mme Gallant : Tous les promoteurs ne touchent pas des
honoraires quel que soit le résultat.
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Senator Eaton: With this proposal, do you believe that most
people with these kinds of disabilities work? Do they get an
income from work, or is it income from a workers’ compensation
board? Is it a government income, or is it because they work?

Ms. Gallant: For the people who receive an income, it would
be a taxable income. Any income received that is taxable.

Senator Eaton: Either investment income or from their work.

Ms. Gallant: Correct.

Senator Eaton: Government programs are not counted.

Ms. Gallant: Any government incomes that are not taxable
would not be qualified as income from which the tax credit would
be deducted.

Senator Eaton: If I have a government income, some kind of
pension, and I also have investment income, does the government
income count as part of my total? Say I get $100,000 a year from
different sources of income.

Ms. Gallant: Some government benefit incomes are taxable
and some are non-taxable. If the income arising from a
government were non-taxable, then the tax credit would not
apply to that particular income.

Senator Eaton: Thank you.

Senator L. Smith: Ms. Gallant, to put this in perspective, how
many disabled people apply for this tax credit each year? You
talked about paying out $20 million to these promoters. So we can
understand the perspective of this in terms of how many disabled
people, what would be the total value of the tax credits? I'm
hearing about the $20 million paid out to promoters of the
program, but I'm trying to understand the context of it. Context
is important to support the justification of why legislation would
be created.

Ms. Gallant: I don’t have the total amount paid out or the total
amount applied to the Disability Tax Credit. I don’t have an
accurate figure on how many people apply, but it has been
increasing substantially each year. This bill is in no way meant to
discourage people from applying for the Disability Tax Credit.
We want more Canadians who are suffering from disabilities to be
applying. In fact, by virtue of having this bill raising awareness
about the credit, it is hoped that more people will know about it
and apply.

Senator L. Smith: As a suggestion that may be helpful to
understand the context, what is your market? Because you may
want to know how many people out there are disabled and have
that opportunity. It would then help you promote the ability for
the people to get the tax credit. I think it’s important for our

La sénatrice Eaton : Avec cette proposition, pensez-vous que la
plupart des gens qui ont ces types de déficiences travaillent? Ont-
ils un revenu du travail ou s’agit-il d’'un revenu versé par une
commission des accidents du travail? Est-ce un revenu versé par
I’Etat ou tiré d’un travail?

Mme Gallant : Pour ceux qui ont un revenu, il s’agit du revenu
imposable, de tout revenu qui est imposable.

La sénatrice Eaton : Revenu de placement ou revenu tiré d’un
travail.

Mme Gallant : Oui.

La sénatrice Eaton: Les programmes gouvernementaux ne
sont pas pris en considération.

Mme Gallant : Tout revenu versé par I'Etat qui n’est pas
imposable ne serait pas considéré comme un revenu auquel
pourrait s’appliquer le crédit d’impot.

La sénatrice Eaton : Si je touche une prestation de ’Etat, une
pension quelconque, et que j’ai aussi des revenus de placements,
les prestations de I’Etat font-elles partie du total? Disons que je
gagne 100 000 $§ par année, de sources différentes.

Mme Gallant : Certaines prestations de ’Etat sont imposables,
d’autres pas. Si le revenu tiré d’une source gouvernementale est
non imposable, le crédit d'impét ne s’appliquerait pas a ce revenu.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Madame Gallant, pour donner un ordre
de grandeur, combien de personnes handicapées demandent ce
crédit d’'impd6t chaque année? Vous avez parlé de 20 millions de
dollars versés aux promoteurs. Afin de pouvoir mettre ce montant
en perspective, quelle est la valeur totale des crédits d’imp6t?
Jentends que 20 millions de dollars sont versés aux promoteurs
du programme, mais j'essaie de comprendre le contexte. Le
contexte est important pour appuyer la justification de la nécessité
de cette loi.

Mme Gallant : Je n’ai pas le montant total versé ni le montant
total appliqué au crédit d’impdt pour personnes handicapées. Je
ne connais pas le nombre exact de personnes qui demandent le
crédit, mais je sais qu’il augmente fortement chaque année. Le
projet de loi ne vise aucunement a décourager les Canadiens de
demander le crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées. Nous
voulons qu’un plus grand nombre de Canadiens handicapés le
demandent. En réalité, le simple fait de proposer ce projet de loi
fait connaitre le crédit, et nous espérons qu’un plus grand nombre
de personnes seront au courant de I’existence du crédit et le
demanderont.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Afin de comprendre le contexte, quel est
votre marché? Parce que vous voudriez peut-étre savoir combien
de personnes sont handicapées et peuvent profiter du crédit. Cela
vous aiderait a promouvoir le crédit d’'impét. Je pense qu’il est
important que notre comité connaisse 'ampleur du montant, le
volume et les chiffres pour pouvoir les mettre en perspective.
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committee to understand the context of the size of the amount,
the volume and the numbers so that we can just put it into
perspective.

The Chair: Our researchers from the Library of Parliament
indicate that, in 2013, the total amount of the Disability Tax
Credit was $700 million.

Senator L. Smith: For disability.
The Chair: Disability Tax Credit.

Senator L. Smith: Do we have any numbers on how many have
people have actually applied and are getting this benefit?

Senator Buth: I actually have the numbers. Canada Revenue
Agency receives about 200,000 new Disability Tax Credit
applications each year about, and 9,000 of these applications
are received from taxpayers who use the service of a Disability
Tax Credit promoter. Those are the people we are talking about.

The Chair: That was 9,000 out of how many total?
Senator Buth: The total was 200,000.
The Chair: Thank you. That was helpful to put that in context.

Senator Callbeck: Do you have any idea how many of those
200,000 that apply are accepted?

Senator Buth: I don’t have that information.

The Chair: Is that important, Senator Callbeck? We could
follow up on that with the Library of Parliament.

Senator Callbeck: It’s of interest to me.

The Chair: If we could find out about that, we’ll circulate that
information to everyone.

Senator Callbeck: I want to come back to the refundable and
non-refundable. The Caledon Institute has said that 30 per cent
to 40 per cent of the potential target group actually get this
disability credit. I'm all for this credit because it makes life a little
bit easier for many disabled people, but I am concerned that it’s
not a refundable tax credit because the people who don’t pay
income tax have no access to this credit at all. Did you give that
any thought when you were bringing in amendments here?

Ms. Gallant: That aspect goes beyond the scope of my bill. My
objective was to ensure that those who do qualify for the tax
credit receive as much as possible.

Senator Callbeck: I know it goes beyond the scope of your bill,
but I was asking if that was something you thought about, or
maybe you agree with the way it is. Do you?

Le président : Nos recherchistes de la Bibliotheque du
Parlement indiquent qu’en 2013, le montant total du crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées a été de 700 millions de
dollars.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Pour les personnes handicapées.

Le président : Pour le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Savons-nous combien de personnes ont
demandé et obtenu le crédit?

Le sénateur Buth : J’ai les chiffres. L’Agence du revenu du
Canada regoit environ 200 000 nouvelles demandes de crédit
d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées chaque année, dont environ
9 000 qui proviennent de contribuables faisant appels aux services
d’un promoteur du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées.
C’est de ces gens-la dont il est question ici.

Le président : Vous avez dit 9 000 sur combien en tout?
Le sénateur Buth : Sur un total de 200 000.
Le président : Merci. C’est trés utile pour situer le contexte.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Savez-vous combien de ces
200 000 demandes sont acceptées?

Le sénateur Buth : Je n’ai pas cette information.

Le président : Est-ce important, sénatrice Callbeck? Nous
pourrions assurer un suivi auprés de la Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Cela m’intéresse.

Le président : Si nous pouvons trouver cette information, nous
la communiquerons a tout le monde.

La sénatrice Callbeck : J’aimerais revenir sur le caractére
remboursable ou non remboursable du crédit. Le Caledon
Institute a déclaré que de 30 a 40 p. 100 du groupe cible
potentiel obtient le crédit pour personnes handicapées. Je suis
tout a fait en faveur de ce crédit parce qu’il rend la vie un peu plus
facile a de nombreuses personnes handicapées, mais je regrette
qu’il ne s’agisse pas d’un crédit d’imp6t remboursable parce que
ceux qui ne paient pas d’impét sur le revenu n’ont pas du tout
acces a ce crédit. Avez-vous pensé a cela quand vous avez proposé
des modifications?

Mme Gallant : Cet aspect dépasse la portée de mon projet de
loi. Mon objectif était de m’assurer que ceux qui sont admissibles
au crédit d’'imp6t obtiennent le montant le plus élevé possible.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je sais que cela dépasse la portée de
votre projet de loi, mais je demandais si vous y aviez réfléchi.
Mais vous étes peut-étre d’accord avec le crédit tel qu’il est?
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Ms. Gallant: Well, that is an entirely separate policy decision. |
would welcome any of my colleagues in the Senate or the House
of Commons to put forth a proposal. At this point in time, the
goal of the government is to get to a non-deficit position. Once we
are doing better financially, then we can entertain some of these
very important suggestions.

Senator Callbeck: It always has amazed me that the
government has brought in so many non-refundable credits
because for the people who need that money the most, there is no
way of access to these credits at all because they are not paying
income tax. Anyway, I recognize the fact that that’s beyond what
you are doing here.

It says a prohibition against charging or accepting more than
the established maximum fee. Are you thinking here a maximum
fee of a percentage or of setting a flat amount?

Ms. Gallant: 1 had thought about applying the same formula
as we would to the different companies, like H&R Block. There is
a set formula, but I felt that it would be better if we had a full
consultation between the people of the groups and the individuals
who benefit, Canadians with disabilities themselves and the
promoters and the different professionals involved with tax
preparation. By consulting, we would have a better formula or a
flat rate that could be arrived at, depending on how much work is
involved for each individual case.

Senator Callbeck: You’ve established offences and penalties for
failure to comply. Can you distinguish the difference between the
offences and the penalties?

Ms. Gallant: Yes. The penalty refers to the amount of
overcharging according to the fee that is set. The promoter
would have to return the overage that they charged. The offence is
an added penalty, so it’s actually punishment for incorrectly
charging a fee that goes over the amount.

Senator Callbeck: Those two couldn’t have been combined in
any way, could they?

Ms. Gallant: They may have been combined. It was a matter of
progressing through the bill and realizing that just simply
returning the money, the money over and above what is
allowed, was not sufficient. A penalty in addition to discourage
such behaviour was required.

The Chair: Just for honourable senators’ reference, a penalty is
referred to in clause 3(2), and a penalty is also referred to in
clause 7. That’s what Senator Callbeck was asking about.

[Translation]

Senator Bellemare: Thank you for being here, Ms. Gallant. I
have two issues to discuss. The first is that the program, if I have
understood correctly, mostly benefits seniors who have become
disabled at some point. They may have multiple sclerosis or
degenerative diseases for which they need assistance. Is that,
generally speaking, your clientele?

Mme Gallant : Bien, c’est une décision de politique tout a fait
distincte. Je serais ravie que mes collégues du Sénat ou de la
Chambre des communes fassent une proposition. Pour le
moment, 'objectif du gouvernement est d’éliminer le déficit.
Lorsque nos finances iront mieux, nous pourrons examiner
certaines de ces trés importantes suggestions.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je suis toujours stupéfaite de voir que le
gouvernement a établi autant de crédits non remboursables, parce
que ceux qui ont le plus besoin de ce coup de pouce n’y ont pas
droit du fait qu’ils ne paient pas d’imp6t sur le revenu. Quoi qu’il
en soit, je reconnais que cela dépasse ce que vous voulez faire dans
ce cas-Ci.

Il est question d’interdire d’imposer ou d’accepter des frais
supérieurs aux tarifs maximaux. Pensez-vous a des frais
maximaux en pourcentage ou a un montant fixe?

Mme Gallant : J’avais pensé appliquer la méme formule que
pour différentes entreprises comme H&R Block. Il y a une
formule préétablie, mais j’ai pensé qu’il vaudrait mieux avoir une
consultation compléte entre les membres des groupes et les
bénéficiaires, autrement dit, les Canadiens handicapés, et les
promoteurs ainsi que les différents professionnels qui préparent
les déclarations de revenus. En consultant, nous pourrions arriver
a une meilleure formule ou a un montant fixe, selon 'ampleur du
travail effectué dans chaque cas.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Vous avez établi des infractions et des
pénalités en cas de non-conformité. Pouvez-vous expliquer la
différence entre les infractions et les pénalités?

Mme Gallant : Oui. Les pénalités s’appliquent au montant
exigé en trop par rapport au tarif fixé. Le promoteur devrait
rembourser les montants en trop qu’il a exigés. L’infraction est
une pénalité supplémentaire, donc une punition pour avoir exigé
des frais trop élevés.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Il aurait été impossible de combiner ces
deux éléments, n’est-ce pas?

Mme Gallant : IIs peuvent étre combinés. Au fil de 1’évolution
du projet de projet de loi, nous avons réalisé qu’il ne suffisait pas
simplement de rembourser les montants exigés en trop, les
montants en sus de ce qui est permis. Il fallait ajouter une
pénalité pour décourager un tel comportement.

Le président : A titre d’information, il est question d’une
pénalité au paragraphe 3(2), et a larticle 7. C’est de cela dont
parlait la sénatrice Callbeck.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Bellemare : Merci de votre présence, madame.
J’avais deux aspects a discuter. Le premier aspect, c’est le fait que
ce programme, si je comprends bien, ceux qui en bénéficient le
plus ce sont généralement des personnes plus agées. Ce sont des
personnes qui sont devenues invalides au cours de leur vie. Donc,
elles peuvent avoir la sclérose en plaques, des maladies
dégénératives pour lesquelles elles ont besoin d’aide. Est-ce que,
grosso modo, cela représente votre clientéle?
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[English]

Ms. Gallant: I really have not done an empirical analysis of
who would benefit more. In fact, the parents of children living
with disabilities have a higher amount that they can deduct from
their taxable incomes than an adult. I did not conduct a survey
that would be able to give you an accurate response.

[Translation)

Senator Bellemare: My question has to do with the Registered
Disability Savings Plan program that Senator Hervieux-Payette
referred to. The Banking Committee studied the program, and it
was our understanding that it serves a somewhat younger
clientele, that is, families with children who benefit from it
more so than others do. So, to some degree, I have trouble
understanding your tax credit.

My second question has to do with your formula of A less B
plus C. How did you come up with that formula? Is it a standard
formula for this kind of thing?

[English]

Ms. Gallant: That was a standard formula that the CRA has
used in other calculations, but, as I said, when you actually go to
apply the equation, it really is insufficient to provide enough of
deterrence for the promoters to stop from incorrectly charging
people.

Senator Buth: Thank you very much, Ms. Gallant, for being
here. How did this issue come to your attention?

Ms. Gallant: A couple of ways. I go to the outlying areas of my
region every summer. There was an individual whose son had
qualified, but they had qualified and the subsequent payments to
the son had stopped arriving. It turned out that the company was
not a legitimate company. That was my first instance of trying to
ensure that the application was redone and that the son was
receiving the credit because it was substantial.

More recently, a tax promoter came to town and was targeting
soldiers suffering from PTSD, so they were on the radio, in the
newspapers, saying, “If you suffer from PTSD, you may qualify
for $10,000 or $20,000.” At that point, I put the finishing touches
on and made sure that this bill went forth because the military
and the veterans already have people who help them out with
their taxes and ensure that they receive the benefits that they
qualify for. It was as a consequence of their trying to take money
from those who have served our country and who deserve more of
whatever they qualify for, as opposed to having somebody feed
off them.

Senator Buth: I'm sure there are companies that do have a
reasonable rate, et cetera, but this bill is targeted, then, at those
companies that are abusing the system or going after people who
might be quite vulnerable.

[Traduction]

Mme Gallant : Je n’ai pas vraiment fait d’analyse empirique
pour déterminer qui en profiterait le plus. De fait, les parents
d’enfants handicapés peuvent déduire un montant plus élevé de
leur revenu imposable que ne le ferait un adulte. Je n’ai pas fait
d’analyse qui vous donnerait une réponse précise.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : Ma question est liée au fait qu’on a un
programme d’épargne enregistré pour invalidité, la sénatrice
Hervieux-Payette en a parlé. On I’a étudié¢ au Comité des banques
et on sait que c’est une clientéle un peu plus jeune, c’est-a-dire que
ce sont les familles qui ont des enfants qui vont en profiter plus
que d’autres. Alors je comprends un peu plus ou un peu moins,
peut-étre, votre crédit.

Ma deuxiéme question, c’est la formule, votre A moins B
plus C. Comment en étes-vous arrivée a cette formule? Est-ce une
formule standard dans le cas de problémes similaires?

[Traduction)

Mme Gallant : C’est une formule standard que ’ARC a
employée dans d’autres calculs, mais je le répete, ’application
de I’équation ne suffit pas pour dissuader les promoteurs d’exiger
des frais trop élevés.

Le sénateur Buth : Je vous remercie beaucoup d’étre venue
témoigner, madame Gallant. Comment cette question a-t-elle été
portée a votre attention?

Mme Gallant : De plusieurs fagons. Je me proméne dans les
régions ¢éloignées de ma circonscription tous les étés. J’ai
rencontré quelqu’un dont le fils était admissible. Un jour, les
paiements au fils ont cessé. Il s’est avéré que ’entreprise n’était
pas légitime. C’est la premiere fois ou j’ai essayé de m’assurer que
la demande était présentée a nouveau et que le fils obtienne le
crédit, parce qu’il était élevé.

Récemment, un promoteur de crédit d’impot est venu chez
nous et a ciblé les soldats souffrant du syndrome de stress post-
traumatique. Des annonces a la radio et dans les journaux
disaient : « Si vous souffrez de SSPT, vous pouvez peut-étre
obtenir 10 000 $ ou 20 000 $ ». A ce moment-la, j’ai peaufiné le
projet de loi et je me suis assurée qu’il soit déposé, parce que les
militaires et les anciens combattants ont déja accés des personnes
qui les aident a préparer leurs déclarations de revenus et a obtenir
les indemnités auxquelles ils ont droit. J’ai réagi parce qu’on
essayait d’arnaquer des gens qui ont servi notre pays et qui
méritent encore mieux que tout ce a quoi ils ont droit, au lieu de se
faire manger la laine sur le dos.

Le sénateur Buth : Je suis sir que des entreprises demandent
des honoraires raisonnables, mais ce projet de loi vise donc les

entreprises qui abusent du systéme ou qui s’attaquent a des
personnes trés vulnérables.
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Ms. Gallant: That’s correct. So we have accountants; they are
not targeted by this. Accountants have their own formula for
charging. This does not include volunteers. A number of
organizations help seniors with their income tax every year, and
then they see, after having met first-hand with the client, that they
may qualify for this credit. So they will complete the forms and, in
the subsequent year or retroactively, apply for any credits that
may have been due to them. The other aspect is the medical
practitioners themselves because they complete the form on behalf
of the client. They are not targeted by this either. They have their
own set of fees.

This is only targeting the organizations that have no formula,
no association, no restrictions whatsoever.

Senator Buth: We have received the bill from the House of
Commons. What kind of support did you receive in the House of
Commons for this bill?

Ms. Gallant: It was unanimous among all parties.

Senator Buth: Can you tell me how similar the restriction is?
My understanding is that companies that fill out tax forms for
people also have restrictions in terms of what they can charge
people. Is your bill similar to that in terms of limiting what
companies can charge people?

Ms. Gallant: In principle, yes. I did think about using that
formula. As I mentioned before, I wanted to ensure that the full
range of tax preparers, as well as the people who would benefit
from the tax credit, had a chance to give input. On that basis,
through the regulations, the formula will be set.

Senator Buth: I think you already mentioned that there will be
consultation in terms of setting the rate?

Ms. Gallant: Yes.

Senator Buth: So the companies that are involved in helping
people fill out the forms will be part of the consultation process?

Ms. Gallant: That is correct.

The Chair: Colleagues, we have five other witnesses after this
particular session, and we have two witnesses left on this session.
So, if we could move things along, that would be helpful because I
know the other witnesses are here and ready to go.

Senator Merchant: My concern, first of all, is that people who
qualify for this know about it. Can you tell me how people find
out about this? Maybe these promoters are performing a function
in that they have taken it upon themselves to — I don’t know how
they get the names — contact people. Maybe they’re an important
peg in the system. My second question is this: How do these
promoters — not the regular accountants, but these other
people — get paid? Do they rely on their clients to pay them,
or do they receive the money and keep what they think is
appropriate and give the rest to the disabled person? How does
the system work right now?

Mme Gallant : Exactement. Il y a des comptables, mais ils ne
sont pas visés. Les comptables ont leur propre formule pour
calculer leurs honoraires. Les bénévoles ne sont pas visés.
Quelques organisations aident les personnes 4gées a préparer
leur déclaration de revenu tous les ans et, aprés avoir rencontré le
client, elles se rendent compte que des clients sont admissibles au
crédit. Les particuliers remplissent les formulaires et demandent
I’année suivante, ou avec effet rétroactif, les crédits auxquels ils
ont droit. Il y a aussi les médecins, parce qu’ils remplissent des
formulaires au nom de leurs patients. Ils ne sont pas visés eux non
plus. IIs ont leurs propres honoraires.

Le projet de loi ne cible que les organisations qui n’ont pas de
formule, pas d’association, aucune restriction.

Le sénateur Buth : Nous avons regu le projet de loi de la
Chambre des communes. Quel type d’appui avez-vous obtenu a la
Chambre des communes concernant ce projet de loi?

Mme Gallant : Il a été unanime chez tous les partis.

Le sénateur Buth : Pouvez-vous me dire s’il existe d’autres
restrictions semblables? Je crois comprendre que les entreprises
qui préparent les déclarations de revenus des particuliers ont elles
aussi des restrictions en ce qui concerne les frais qu’elles peuvent
exiger. Votre projet de loi impose-t-il des restrictions semblables
pour limiter les frais exigés des clients?

Mme Gallant : En principe, oui. J’ai pensé a utiliser cette
formule. Comme je l'ai déja indiqué, je voulais m’assurer que
toute la gamme des préparateurs de déclarations de revenus, ainsi
que ceux qui pourraient profiter du crédit d’imp6t, ont la chance
de s’exprimer. Sur cette base, et par réglement, la formule sera
établie.

Le sénateur Buth : Je pense que vous avez déja mentionné qu’il
y aura des consultations pour déterminer le tarif?

Mme Gallant : Oui.

Le sénateur Buth : Les entreprises qui aident les gens a remplir
les formulaires participeront donc au processus de consultation?

Mme Gallant : En effet.

Le président : Chers collegues, nous entendrons cinq autres
témoins dans la partie suivante, et il reste maintenant deux
sénateurs. Il serait donc utile d’accélérer le pas, parce que les
autres témoins sont la et préts a intervenir.

La sénatrice Merchant : Ma premiére préoccupation est que
les personnes admissibles soient au courant. Pouvez-vous
m’expliquer comment les gens sont informés? Les promoteurs
exercent peut-étre une fonction, parce que ce sont eux — je ne sais
pas comment ils obtiennent les noms — qui contactent les gens.
Ils sont peut-étre un rouage important dans le systeme. Ma
deuxiéme question est la suivante : Comment ces promoteurs —
pas les comptables, mais les autres — se font-ils payer? Est-ce que
les clients les paient? Ou regoivent-ils I’argent, gardent ce qu’ils
estiment convenable et remettent le reste a la personne
handicapée? Comment fonctionne le systéme actuellement?
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Ms. Gallant: It is my understanding that the money goes to the
actual company. They take off their fee, and then the remainder
goes to the client.

In terms of promoting, how do we increase public awareness?
Yes, in this case, the promoters do raise public awareness. If you
are reading the news in the morning, you can see, on an Internet
site, “You may qualify for $10,000. Do you have . . .” and there is
a list of different maladies. So they’re increasing awareness.

As far as government goes, in terms of purchasing advertising
or putting commercials on TV, there has been opposition and
outcry over our trying to promote the different measures that
government is taking to make people aware of what is available,
but we, as parliamentarians, with the communication tools we
have, can increase awareness as well.

Senator Merchant: The total sum goes to the promoter, and he,
in turn, turns the money over. That way, the promoters get paid a
hundred per cent for their —

The Chair: We do have a number of promoters as a next round.

Senator Merchant: Maybe I'll wait, then.
The Chair: They probably could tell you how it works.

Senator Mockler: I agree 100 per cent with the intent of the bill
based on the fact that we must have recipients; the more they have
in their pockets, the better it is.

I have two questions. There are two ways of looking at
regulations. One is a private member’s bill, and the other one is
amendments to the Income Tax Act. Why would you not go the
avenue of amendments to the Income Tax Act?

Ms. Gallant: This was the most efficient, simplest, fastest way
that it could be done, in my estimation.

Senator Mockler: My next question is, have you linked with
Revenue Canada to appraise that mechanism that you are
following now as a private member rather than amendments?

Ms. Gallant: 1 have spoken to the respective ministers of
national revenue, and they’re supportive of the way I have put
forth this legislation.

The Chair: Colleagues, on your behalf, I would like to thank
Member of the House of Commons Cheryl Gallant very much for
being here. You are welcome to stay on, have a seat next to
Senator Gerstein and hear the other comments that will be made.
We will not be proceeding, in any event, with clause-by-clause
consideration today. It’s not our custom to proceed immediately
clause by clause. I expect we will do that tomorrow evening at our
meeting, subject to how we make out in the next round with all of
the witnesses.

By video conference from Irricana, Alberta, which is new to
me, we welcome Carmela Hutchison, President and Member at
Large on the Executive Committee of the Council of Canadians

Mme Gallant : Je crois comprendre que l'argent va a
I’entreprise. Elle soustrait ses honoraires et verse le reste au client.

En ce qui concerne la promotion, comment sensibiliser
davantage le public? Oui, dans ce cas-ci, les promoteurs
informent le public. Dans les nouvelles le matin, on peut lire sur
un site Internet qu’on a peut-étre droit a 10 000 $ si on souffre de
différentes maladies. Oui, cela sensibilise le public.

Quant au gouvernement et aux annonces ou publicités a la
télévision, nous nous sommes heurtés a une opposition et a un
tollé parce que nous avons voulu promouvoir différentes mesures
que prend le gouvernement pour sensibiliser les citoyens a ce qui
existe, mais nous, les parlementaires, avec les outils dont nous
disposons, nous pouvons aussi jouer un role.

La sénatrice Merchant : Toute la somme est versée au
promoteur, qui paie ensuite le client. De cette facon, les
promoteurs sont payés intégralement pour leur...

Le président : Nous entendrons quelques promoteurs dans
quelques minutes.

La sénatrice Merchant : J’attendrai, dans ce cas.

Le président : Ils pourront probablement vous expliquer
comment cela fonctionne.

Le sénateur Mockler : Je suis tout & fait d’accord avec
I'intention du projet de loi, parce qu’il faut des bénéficiaires.
Plus ils ont d’argent dans leurs poches, mieux c’est.

J’ai deux questions. Il y a deux facons de voir la
réglementation. Soit on adopte un projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire, soit on modifie la Loi de 'impét sur le revenu.
Pourquoi ne pas modifier la Loi de 'impét sur le revenu?

Mme Gallant : A mon avis, ¢’était la facon la plus efficace, la
plus simple et la plus rapide de procéder.

Le sénateur Mockler : Ma prochaine question est la suivante :
Avez-vous communiqué avec Revenu Canada pour évaluer le
mécanisme que vous proposez maintenant dans un projet de loi
d’initiative parlementaire, plutot que des modifications de la loi?

Mme Gallant : J’ai parlé aux ministres du revenu national et ils
appuient le dispositif que je propose dans le projet de loi.

Le président : Chers collégues, en votre nom, je remercie
beaucoup la députée Cheryl Gallant d’étre ici. Vous pouvez rester
et vous asseoir a coté du sénateur Gerstein pour entendre les
autres observations qui seront présentées. Nous ne ferons pas
I’étude article par article aujourd’hui. Ce n’est pas notre habitude
de procéder immédiatement a I’étude article par article. Je prévois
que nous le ferons lorsque nous nous réunirons demain soir, selon
ce que nous aurons déclaré tous les témoins.

Par vidéoconférence a partir d’Irricana, en Alberta, que je ne
connais pas, nous nous souhaitons la bienvenue a Carmela
Hutchison, présidente et membre a titre personnel du comité
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with Disabilities. In Ottawa, we welcome Dr. Karen Cohen, Chief
Executive Officer, Canadian Psychological Association; Akiva
Medjuck, President, National Benefit Authority; Dr. Paul
Okorofsky, Director of Client Care and Partner, The Disability
Benefit Group; and Shawn Anthony, Senior Manager, TaxWise
Inc.

We'll begin with Carmela Hutchison, by video conference. If
you have introductory remarks, the floor is yours.

Carmela Hutchison, President and Member at Large on the
Executive Committee of the Council of Canadians with Disabilities,
Disabled Women’s Network of Canada: Thank you very much for
asking me to appear today. Irricana, Alberta, is halfway between
Calgary and Drumbheller. We are speaking from both
organizations in support of the bill.

People with disabilities should have their rightful entitlements
protected from unfair fees charged by financial promoters. There
is a series of recommendations that go beyond the narrow scope
of this bill. I want to add them because they are addressed in some
of the questions from honourable senators.

Basically the Disability Tax Credit has also become the
gateway for determining eligibility for a variety of benefits, so
we must ensure unencumbered and fair access. The Disability Tax
Credit becomes more commonly used, so there’s a need to review
the forms and processes for establishing eligibility. We
recommend the removal of barriers for people living with
mental health disability in the section entitled “Mental
functions necessary for everyday life,” which has changed
markedly from previous years. It actually makes it harder for
people with mental health disabilities to qualify for the program,
which in some cases might increase the usage of disability tax
promoters if they were having trouble qualifying. Addressing the
issues proposed by people with episodic disabilities as a criterion
does not help to account for the waxing and waning of symptoms
within an overall picture of disability.

CCD and the Disabled Women’s Network of Canada believe
that disability organizations should be supported as part of
Minister Finley’s interest in social financing to assist people to
complete applications for the Disability Tax Credit, the Canada
Pension Plan Disability Benefit and other relevant government
programs. The Disability Tax Credit should be made refundable
so those who do not have taxable income but experience
additional costs related to their disability can have access to
that benefit.

exécutif du Conseil des Canadiens avec déficiences. A Ottawa,
nous accueillons Karen Cohen, chef de la direction de la Société
canadienne de psychologie; Akiva Medjuck, président de
National Benefit Authority; Paul Okorofsky, directeur des
services aux clients et partenaire de The Disability Benefit
Group; et Shawn Anthony, directeur principal de TaxWise Inc.

Nous entendrons d’abord Carmela Hutchison, par
vidéoconférence. Si vous avez une déclaration d’ouverture, la
parole est a vous.

Carmela Hutchison, présidente et membre a titre personnel du
comité exécutif du Conseil des Canadiens avec déficiences, Réseau
d’action des femmes handicapées du Canada : Merci beaucoup
de m’avoir invitée a témoigner aujourd’hui. Irricana se trouve a
mi-chemin entre Calgary et Drumbheller, en Alberta. Je témoigne
au nom des deux organisations, en faveur du projet de loi.

Les personnes handicapées ont pleinement le droit de demeurer
a ’abri de frais injustes exigés par les promoteurs financiers. Il y a
une série de recommandations qui vont au-dela de la portée
étroite du projet de loi. Je voudrais les présenter parce qu’elles
répondent a certaines questions des honorables sénateurs.

Essentiellement, le crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées
est aussi devenu le critére d’admissibilité pour diverses
prestations. Il faut donc que son acces soit équitable et sans
entrave. Puisque le crédit d’'impét pour personnes handicapées
constitue de plus en plus souvent un critére d’admissibilité pour
d’autres prestations fédérales, il faut revoir le formulaire et la
procédure permettant de déterminer 1’admissibilité au
programme. Nous recommandons de faire tomber les barriéres
auxquelles se heurtent les personnes ayant des problémes de santé
mentale, dans la partie intitulée « Fonctions mentales nécessaires
aux activités de la vie courante », qui a nettement changé par
rapport aux années précédentes. Les personnes ayant des
probléemes de santé mentale ont maintenant plus de mal a se
qualifier pour le programme, ce qui, dans certains cas, peut
accroitre le recours a des promoteurs du crédit d’impot pour
personnes handicapées. 11 faut aussi s’attarder aux problémes
particuliers des personnes atteintes d’une incapacité épisodique,
car les critéres ne tiennent compte ni d’une aggravation ni d’un
déclin des symptomes; ils dressent plutot un portrait global du
trouble.

Compte tenu de l'intérét de la ministre Finley pour le
financement social, le CCD et le Réseau d’action des femmes
handicapées du Canada croient qu’on devrait offrir un soutien
aux associations de personnes handicapées qui aident les
personnes handicapées a remplir les demandes de crédit d’ impot
pour personnes handicapées, de prestations d’invalidité du
Régime de pensions du Canada et d’autres programmes
gouvernementaux pertinents. Le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées devrait étre remboursable a ceux qui n’ont aucun
revenu imposable, mais dont le handicap leur occasionne des
dépenses additionnelles.
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Now that the Disability Tax Credit has multiple purposes,
eligibility should be reconsidered in relation to those who would
be eligible for these other benefits. The Government of Canada
needs to make a broader review of the tax measures for people
with disabilities to create greater access and fairness. Streamlined
processes and strategies would allow people to have greater access
to programs and clear policy forms available online that can be
directed to increased health benefits and programs for disabled
people.

I want to thank the CRA. When we appeared before the
parliamentary committees, we talked about the fact that the form
for the Disability Tax Credit could not be saved. Please make the
forms for the CPP Disability Benefit, the Disability Tax Credit
and other federal government forms, wherever possible, savable
so that when people with disabilities are filling them out, they can
come back to them in a subsequent session. I saw that happen
with the Disability Tax Credit, and so I thank the Government of
Canada for listening to and accepting that recommendation.

Review the list of other qualified professionals who can sign a
Disability Tax Credit application. Prohibit billing above a set fee
for forms prepared for any provincial, federal or municipal
government program either by professionals or by for-profit
companies. In addition to the fees charged by the rest of the
panelists around this table and other Disability Tax Credit
promoters, medical professionals often charge prohibitive fees for
filling out medical reports. They can be in the hundreds of dollars.
We need to protect people from exploitation and outright
financial abuse by ensuring some standards for industry
promoters and financial providers who are trying to work with
people with disabilities.

We support the intent of Bill C-462 and agree that people with
disabilities should have their rightful entitlement protected from
unfair fees. The Disability Tax Credit is a critical issue for people
with disabilities as it has become the base for determining
eligibility for a variety of benefits. We also encourage the
government because determining eligibility for the Disability
Tax Credit can be complex. Inequity exists because it is much
easier to provide evidence of physical or sensory disability than it
is to provide evidence of cognitive, learning, intellectual or other
mental health disability.

In some instances, the cost of the diagnosis is considerable. In
other instances, access to professionals able to make this
determination is limited. The Disability Tax Credit in its current

Puisque P’admissibilité au crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées a désormais des usages multiples, il faut aussi
penser a ceux qui devraient avoir droit a d’autres prestations.
Le gouvernement canadien doit réaliser un examen plus large de
ses mesures fiscales pour personnes handicapées afin d’en faciliter
laccés et d’en assurer 1’équité. Simplifier les procédures et les
stratégies favoriserait ’accés aux programmes, a des politiques
claires et aux formulaires en ligne et pourrait permettre de
bonifier les prestations et les programmes pour personnes
handicapées.

Je veux remercier ’ARC. Lorsque nous avons témoigné devant
les comités parlementaires, nous avons évoqué le fait que le
formulaire de demande de crédit d’impdét pour personnes
handicapées ne pouvait pas é&tre sauvegardé. Nous vous
demandons de permettre la sauvegarde en ligne des formulaires
de demandes de prestation d’invalidit¢é du RPC, de crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées et d’autres formulaires du
gouvernement fédéral, dans la mesure du possible, afin que
lorsque les personnes handicapées les remplissent, elles puissent y
revenir dans une session ultérieure. J’ai vu que cela s’est fait pour
le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées, et je remercie donc
le gouvernement du Canada d’avoir écouté et accepté cette
recommandation.

Il faut passer en revue la liste des autres professionnels qualifiés
qui peuvent signer les demandes de crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées. Il faut interdire aux professionnels et aux entreprises
a but lucratif de facturer au-dela des seuils établis pour la
préparation de formulaires relatifs a un programme fédéral,
provincial ou municipal. En plus des frais exigés par les autres
panelistes autour de cette table et d’autres promoteurs du crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées, les professionnels de la
santé exigent souvent des frais exorbitants pour remplir les
rapports médicaux. Ces frais se chiffrent parfois a des centaines de
dollars. 11 faut protéger les personnes handicapées pour éviter
qu’elles ne se fassent exploiter, sur le plan financier ou autre, en
fixant des normes aux promoteurs et aux conseillers financiers qui
travaillent aupres de cette clientéle.

Nous appuyons I'intention du projet de loi C-462 et convenons
que les personnes handicapées ont pleinement le droit de
demeurer a I’abri de frais injustes exigés par les promoteurs
financiers. L’admissibilité au crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées est déterminante pour les personnes atteintes d’une
incapacité, car c’est devenu un critére d’admissibilité pour diverses
prestations. Nous devons donc veiller a ce que son acceés soit
équitable et sans entrave. Nous encourageons également le
gouvernement, parce qu’il peut étre complexe de déterminer
I’admissibilité au crédit d’'impét pour personnes handicapées. Ce
qui est injuste, c’est qu’il est bien plus facile de prouver
une incapacité physique ou sensorielle qu’un probléme
d’apprentissage cognitif, une déficience intellectuelle ou une
incapacité mentale.

Dans certains cas, le diagnostic peut cotter tres cher, et il arrive
que les professionnels en mesure de se prononcer soient moins
accessibles. Dans sa forme actuelle, le crédit d’impdét pour
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iteration has created significant barriers for people living with
mental health disabilities in the section entitled “Mental functions
necessary for everyday life,” which has changed markedly from
previous years.

The reality is that the definition and understanding of
“disability” is always changing. Medical conditions are also
changing and emerging as new discoveries are made. It is
recognized that some disabilities are episodic in nature. As the
Disability Tax Credit becomes more commonly used, there is a
need once again to review the forms and the process for
establishing eligibility.

The Disability Tax Credit was initially designed as a tax
fairness measure recognizing that people with disabilities have
additional disability-related expenses. Eligibility is now the
determinant for accessing other benefits and programs, such as
the Registered Disability Savings Plan, the Child Disability
Benefit and the Working Income Tax Benefit for people with
disabilities, and the Disability Accommodation Benefit in the
Income Tax Act. For these reasons, an industry has emerged to
assist people with disabilities to complete the forms for the
Disability Tax Credit and other benefits.

It is recognized that the support, while necessary for some,
comes at a significant cost. A disabled woman from Ontario
observed that any percentage fee is unfair, even 10 per cent,
which initially seems reasonable. It is a significant cost if the back
benefits are only $10,000 and, after $1,000 or a 10 per cent fee is
paid, the money is the only money left for many expenses that we
as people with disabilities have, or it may be that person’s only
lifetime security.

Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities, a CCD
member organization, helps people to complete their forms as
part of their general form completion service, which is free. They
also help people with disabilities write appeal letters if they are
denied.

Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities has heard of at
least two companies offering a fee for service to help people get
backdated Disability Tax Credit. They charge 10 per cent if they
are successful and nothing if they are not, to their knowledge.
Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities —

The Chair: Ms. Hutchison, I am starting to notice that the time
is going to be running out on us. I wonder if you could sum up
your comments so we could get to hear from the other four
witnesses who are sitting here and then get to a question and
answer session from the 10 or 12 senators who are sitting here
waiting.

personnes handicapées a créé d’importants obstacles pour les
personnes ayant une incapacité mentale, a cause de la section
intitulée « Fonctions mentales nécessaires aux activités de la vie
courante », qui a nettement changé par rapport aux années
précédentes.

En fait, la définition d’un handicap et la compréhension de ce
concept évoluent constamment. Les troubles médicaux changent
eux aussi au rythme des nouvelles découvertes. On sait que
certaines incapacités sont épisodiques. Puisque le crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées sert de plus en plus souvent de critére
d’admissibilité pour d’autres prestations fédérales, il faut encore
une fois revoir le formulaire et la procédure permettant de
déterminer I’admissibilité.

Au départ, le crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées devait
étre une mesure d’équité fiscale, puisque les personnes
handicapées doivent engager des dépenses additionnelles en
raison de leur handicap. L’admissibilité au crédit d’impét
constitue désormais un critére pour d’autres prestations et
programmes, comme le régime enregistré d’épargne-invalidité, le
crédit d’impdt pour enfants handicapés, la prestation fiscale pour
le revenu de travail des personnes handicapées, et la prestation
d’invalidité prévue a la Loi de I'imp6t sur le revenu. C’est pour ces
raisons qu’on a vu apparaitre toute une industrie qui aide les
personnes handicapées a remplir leurs formulaires de demande
tant pour le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées que pour
d’autres prestations.

Bien que cette aide soit nécessaire dans certains cas, on
reconnait qu’elle coidte cher. Une handicapée de I’Ontario a fait
observer que tous les frais établis en pourcentage sont injustes,
méme des frais de 10 p. 100, qui semblent raisonnables a premiére
vue. Les frais représentent un colt important si les prestations
réelles ne sont que de 10 000 $. Apres avoir versé 1 000 § ou
10 p. 100 en honoraires, il ne reste plus grand-chose pour les
nombreuses dépenses que nous avons, parce que nous sommes
handicapées, ou alors cette somme représente notre seule sécurité
a vie.

Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities, qui est
membre du CCD, aide gratuitement les personnes handicapées
a remplir les formulaires gouvernementaux dont elles ont besoin.
Elle aide aussi les personnes handicapées a écrire des lettres
d’appel lorsque les demandes sont rejetées.

Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities a entendu
parler d’au moins deux entreprises qui offrent des services, contre
rémunération, pour aider a obtenir le crédit d’impo6t pour
personnes handicapées avec effet rétroactif. Elles demanderaient
10 p. 100 si elles réussissent et rien du tout si elles échouent.
Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities...

Le président : Madame Hutchison, je constate que nous
commengons a manquer de temps. Je me demande si vous
pouvez résumer vos commentaires afin que nous puissions
entendre les quatre autres témoins qui sont assis ici, et ensuite
passer a une période de question avec les 10 ou 12 sénateurs qui
attendent avant d’intervenir.
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Ms. Hutchison: Absolutely. Basically, I think that the bulk of
the recommendations were the main things that we really wanted
to voice ourselves on. I think also that one of the things we would
look at is every person with a disability of a year’s duration who
either has CPPD and/or provincial benefits should automatically
be qualified for the Disability Tax Credit.

The requalification period for the Disability Tax Credit should
be eliminated. A person’s condition is unlikely to improve due to
the serious and long-term nature of the disability. People
understand their need to report changes in disability and
similarly are used to reporting changes in their eligibility. Such
reporting can also be monitored through their tax filing or other
regular spot checks done by relevant government departments.
Those measures would create the time for direct patient care,
reduce medical costs, decrease administrative costs through
decreased reporting and existing monitoring, which is already in
place, and reduce the number of times a person with a disability
would need to seek a costly service for receiving the Disability Tax
Credit, minimizing their risk for financial exploitation.

We again want to thank and support Ms. Gallant for bringing
forward this bill on behalf of disabled Canadians.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Hutchison. Thank you
for letting us know where Irricana is located.

We will now go to Dr. Cohen, who is the Chief Executive
Officer of the Canadian Psychological Association.

Dr. Karen R. Cohen, Chief Executive Officer, Canadian
Psychological Association: Thank you, senators, for the
invitation to join you today to talk about Bill C-462.

The Canadian Psychological Association is the national
association for psychology in Canada. There are about
18,000 licenced practitioners of psychology in Canada, making
us the country’s largest group of regulated and specialized
mental health care providers. Psychologists are designated
health practitioners who can complete the Disability Tax Credit
certificate on behalf of patients with disability related to mental
functions.

The intent of this bill is to help ensure that consultants don’t
make promises of eligibility they cannot guarantee, don’t charge
people to apply for it when they’re clearly not eligible and don’t
charge people inordinately, even if they are deemed eligible. These
are honourable goals of which the CPA is entirely supportive.

I would like to provide the committee with some background
today on how the tax credit was most recently revised and
highlight some of the issues raised about the complexity of the
application process at that time, particularly as concerns disability
related to mental functions.

Mme Hutchison : Absolument. En gros, je pense avoir présenté
la plupart des recommandations. Je pense aussi qu’il faudrait
s’assurer que toute personne qui a une invalidité d’au moins un an
et qui regoit des prestations d’invalidit¢é du RPC ou des
prestations provinciales devait étre automatiquement admissible
au crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées.

Il faudrait éliminer la période de requalification pour le crédit
d’'impot pour personnes handicapées. L’état d’une personne ne
s’améliorera probablement pas, vu la gravité et la nature a long
terme de l'incapacité. Les gens comprennent la nécessité de
signaler les changements de I'incapacité et sont aussi habitués a
signaler les modifications de leur admissibilité. Ces rapports
peuvent aussi étre surveillés au moyen des déclarations de revenus
ou d’autres contréles aléatoires périodiques effectués par les
ministéres pertinents. Ces mesures donneraient plus de temps
pour les soins directs aux patients, diminueraient les cofts
médicaux, abaisseraient les colts administratifs en réduisant les
rapports et les contrdles, qui sont déja en place, et diminueraient
le nombre de fois ou une personne handicapée doit obtenir un
service cofliteux pour recevoir le crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées, ce qui réduirait le risque d’exploitation financiére.

Encore une fois, nous voulons remercier et appuyer
Mme Gallant d’avoir déposé ce projet de loi au nom des
Canadiens handicapés.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, madame Hutchison. Merci de
nous avoir dit ou se trouve Irricana.

Nous entendrons maintenant la Dre Cohen, chef de la
direction de la Société canadienne de psychologie.

Dre Karen R. Cohen, chef de la direction, Société canadienne de
psychologie : Je vous remercie, sénateurs, de m’avoir invitée a
venir vous parler aujourd’hui du projet de loi C-462.

La Société canadienne de psychologie est 1’association
nationale dans le domaine de la psychologie au Canada. Les
quelque 18 000 praticiens agréés en psychologie forment le plus
important groupe de fournisseurs spécialisés et réglementés de
services de santé mentale au Canada. Les psychologues sont des
praticiens désignés qualifiés qui peuvent établir le certificat pour
le crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées au nom de patients
atteints d’un handicap lié aux fonctions mentales.

Le projet de loi vise a empécher les consultants de promettre
une admissibilité qu’ils ne peuvent garantir, de faire payer la
préparation d’une demande pour une personne qui n’est
clairement pas admissible, et de faire payer des frais excessifs
aux personnes jugées admissibles. Ce sont des objectifs louables
que la SCP appuie sans réserve.

Aujourd’hui, j’aimerais décrire le contexte dans lequel le crédit
d’imp6t a été modifié récemment et souligner certaines des
questions qui ont été soulevées alors au sujet de la complexité du
processus de présentation d'une demande, particuliérement en ce
qui concerne un handicap touchant les fonctions mentales.
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Some 10 years ago, I was appointed to the national advisory
group on disability called the Technical Advisory Committee,
which advised the Ministers of Finance and National Revenue on
disability tax measures that led to the current system we have
today. I was tasked with leading the mental functions
subcommittee that took on reviewing the eligibility criteria for
the tax credit related to mental functions, disorders that
historically had been challenging to assess for eligibility.

Our subcommittee work resulted in important legislative and
administrative changes to how eligibility for the Disability Tax
Credit, the DTC, is assessed. Despite these changes and the best
efforts of consumers, health care providers and the CRA, the
assessment of persons with impairments in mental functions for
the purposes of establishing eligibility for the DTC continues to
be quite complex compared to the assessment of more
straightforward impairments in physical function.

It was for this reason that in 2007 I authored a short article
that attempted to review and clarify some of the eligibility issues
for health professionals who fill in the forms on behalf of their
patients with mental health conditions. I also drafted new
wording to the form itself that I felt would result in fairer
assessments. Unfortunately, this wording was not entirely
applied.

With a lack of clarity come definitions and criteria that may
not be readily understood or appreciated by the busy health care
practitioners who fill out the forms on behalf of their patients.
Further, the lack of clarity among patients and practitioners may
inadvertently create the market for promoters. If you make the
process simpler and clearer, the market for promoters may be
reduced, as well as the ability of consultants to take advantage,
economic or otherwise, of people applying for the DTC in good
faith.

The Canadian Psychological Association supports this bill
because excessive fees charged by promoters should be restricted,
especially when they, too, may involve any misunderstanding of
eligibility. However, it is important to address what might be the
underlying cause driving the use of promoters. If it is indeed the
lack of clarity for taxpayers and health practitioners, then the
criteria and certificate themselves need to be revised to enhance
the fairness of assessments.

There’s one more issue I would like to cover briefly. Last year’s
budget made changes to HST and GST attached to reports and
services for non-health care purposes. As per Budget 2013,
services provided solely for non-health care purposes, even if
supplied by health professionals, are not considered to be basic
health care and are not intended to be eligible for sales tax
exemption. It goes on to state that taxable supplies would include

Il y a une dizaine d’années, j’ai ét¢é nommée au groupe
consultatif national sur la déficience, le comité consultatif
technique chargé de conseiller les ministres des Finances et du
Revenu national sur les mesures fiscales pour les personnes
handicapées qui a participé a I’élaboration du systéme actuel. On
m’a confié la direction du sous-comité des fonctions mentales qui
devait examiner les critéres d’admissibilité au crédit d’impot lié
aux troubles des fonctions mentales, des troubles qu’il avait été
particuliérement difficile d’évaluer en vue d’établir I’'admissibilité
au crédit.

Les travaux de notre sous-comité ont conduit a d’importantes
modifications législatives et administratives touchant la
détermination de I’admissibilit¢ au crédit d’impot. Malgré ces
modifications et tous les efforts des consommateurs, des
fournisseurs de services de santé et de I’ARC, I’évaluation
des personnes ayant des déficiences mentales en vue d’établir
leur admissibilité au crédit d’imp6t demeure complexe
comparativement a 1’évaluation de déficiences pures et simples
des fonctions physiques.

Pour cette raison, en 2007, j’ai rédigé un bref article dans lequel
je passais en revue afin de les clarifier certaines des questions liées
a I’admissibilité a l'intention des professionnels de la santé qui
remplissent les formulaires au nom de leurs patients ayant des
troubles de santé mentale. J’ai également reformulé certains
¢éléments du formulaire lui-méme pour favoriser des évaluations
plus équitables. Malheureusement, cette nouvelle formulation n’a
été appliquée qu’en partie.

Faute de clarté, un praticien trés occupé risque de ne pas
comprendre ou apprécier aisément certains critéres et définitions
lorsqu’il remplit le certificat pour un patient. En outre, le manque
de clarté pour les patients et les praticiens peut avoir pour effet
involontaire de créer un marché pour les promoteurs. Plus les
processus sont simples et clairs, moins il pourrait y avoir de
marché pour les promoteurs, et moins les consultants pourraient
profiter, financi¢rement et autrement, des personnes qui
demandent le crédit d’'imp6t de bonne foi.

La Société canadienne de psychologie appuie ce projet de loi
parce qu’il convient de limiter les frais excessifs exigés par les
promoteurs, surtout quand eux aussi peuvent contribuer a des
malentendus quant a I’admissibilité. Il est toutefois important de
remédier a I’élément qui est peut-étre la cause profonde du recours
a ces promoteurs. S’il s’agit effectivement de ’absence de clarté
pour les contribuables et les spécialistes de la santé, alors il
faudrait réviser les critéres et le certificat afin d’améliorer ’équité
des évaluations.

Jaimerais aborder briévement une derniére question. Le
budget de I’an dernier a modifié la TPS/TVH sur les rapports et
les services non liés a la santé. Selon le budget de 2013, les services
fournis exclusivement a des fins non liées a la santé, peu importe
qu’ils soient fournis par un professionnel de la santé, ne sont pas
réputés étre des services de soins de santé de base et ne sont pas
censés faire ’objet de I’exonération de la taxe de vente. Il est
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reports, examinations and other services performed solely for the
purpose of determining liability in a court proceeding or under an
insurance policy.

The difficulty with this budget change is how a non-health care
purpose will be defined. Psychological services in Canada are not
funded by public health insurance plans, which means that much
of the assessment and treatment involves private insurance and
establishing eligibility for benefits under this coverage.

The CPA is quite concerned that this change will lead to
unintended consequences for Canadians seeking mental health
treatment and that Canadians will now have to pay taxes on some
psychological services that were once exempt, services that are
already woefully inaccessible to Canadians who need them.

Further, more than a year after tabling the budget, our
profession is still awaiting clarification from government on this
key issue. There have been more than 12 months of uncertainty
with regard to how these transactions should be treated for tax
purposes, which is harmful to patients as well as to psychologists
across Canada.

Thank you for your time. I am a happy to respond to any
questions.

The Chair: Thank you for taking the opportunity to bring up
that point from the budget with regard to HST and GST.

As a point of clarification before I go on to Mr. Medjuck,
when you fill out the mental health or physical health form as a
medical practitioner, is it common you would help fill out the tax
form at the same time, or do you just leave that to somebody else?

Dr. Cohen: I certainly wouldn’t want to speak for every health
care practitioner in the country, but my understanding is the
T2201 form the health practitioner fills out on behalf of their
patients is only that. It does not in any way help them prepare
their taxes, but you require the certification of a licenced health
care practitioner that the person actually meets the eligibility
criteria, such that their disability is severe and prolonged, that
they’re unable to do something or it takes an inordinate amount
of time.

The Chair: The application form for the Disability Tax Credit
is a separate form that you are not involved with?

Dr. Cohen: No. There is a section on the form that must be
filled out by the health care provider. That’s what I’'m talking
about.

The Chair: Not the rest of it?
Dr. Cohen: No.

précisé que les fournitures taxables comprennent les rapports, les
examens et d’autres services visant exclusivement a déterminer la
responsabilité dans le cadre de procédures judiciaires ou aux
termes d’une police d’assurance.

Le probléme que pose cette modification budgétaire tient a la
définition des soins non liés a la santé. Les services psychologiques
au Canada ne sont pas payés par les régimes publics d’assurance
maladie, de sorte que la majeure partie des évaluations visent a
établir I’admissibilité aux prestations dans le cadre de régimes
privés et que les traitements sont couverts par des assurances
privées.

La SCP craint fortement que cette modification n’entraine des
conséquences imprévues pour les Canadiens qui consultent un
spécialiste pour des troubles de santé mentale et qu’ils doivent
désormais payer des taxes sur des services psychologiques qui
étaient autrefois visés par I’exonération, des services déja
tristement hors de la portée de Canadiens qui en ont besoin.

Dr’autre part, plus d'un an aprés le dépot du budget, notre
profession attend toujours que le gouvernement clarifie cette
question essentielle pour mes membres. L’incertitude dure depuis
plus de 12 mois en ce qui concerne le traitement fiscal de ces
transactions, au détriment des psychologues et leurs patients dans
tout le pays.

Merci de votre attention. Je répondrai volontiers a vos
questions.

Le président : Merci de profiter de 1’occasion pour soulever
cette question de la modification de la TVH et la TPS dans le
budget.

Juste une petite clarification avant que je céde la parole a
M. Medjuck. Lorsque vous remplissez le formulaire de santé
mentale ou physique, en qualité de professionnel de la santé, vous
arrive-t-il souvent d’aider le patient a remplir le formulaire fiscal
en méme temps ou laissez-vous cette tache a quelqu’un d’autre?

Dre Cohen : Je ne veux certainement pas parler au nom de tous
les professionnels de la santé du pays, mais si je comprends bien,
le formulaire T2201 que remplissent les professionnels de la santé
au nom de leurs patients est uniquement un formulaire de santé. Il
ne les aide pas du tout a préparer leurs déclarations de revenus,
mais il faut obtenir un certificat d'un professionnel de la santé
agréé attestant que le patient remplit les critéres d’admissibilité,
par exemple, que l'incapacité est grave et prolongée, ou que le
patient est incapable d’exécuter une certaine activité ou prend un
temps excessif pour le faire.

Le président : La demande de crédit d’'impét pour personnes
handicapées est un formulaire distinct dont vous ne vous occupez
pas?

Dre Cohen : Non. Il y a une partie du formulaire que doit
remplir le professionnel de la santé. C’est de cela dont je parle.

Le président : Pas le reste?
Dre Cohen : Non.
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The Chair: Thank you. Mr. Medjuck.

Akiva Medjuck, President, National Benefit Authority: Thank
you. My name is Akiva Medjuck, Founder and President of the
National Benefit Authority. Thank you for the opportunity to
appear before this committee to discuss Bill C-462.

Launched in 2008, the National Benefit Authority is the largest
provider of tax advisory services to disabled Canadians and has
helped over 10,000 individuals to navigate the complex Disability
Tax Credit process. We employ more than 120 people in over
12,000 square feet of space to serve our clients across Canada.

The Disability Tax Credit is an important program.
Unfortunately, many potential beneficiaries are not aware of its
existence. The National Benefit Authority spends more than
$1.5 million every year raising public awareness. We receive over
1,500 inbound calls per day. About 40 per cent of our inquiries
are from word-of-mouth referrals. A quarter of our business is
from individuals who first attempted to apply for the credit on
their own.

I would like to emphasize that the NBA, the National Benefit
Authority, does not engage in cold calling and is selective with
respect to its clients; we do not claim disabilities when the client
has none.

We do not hide our engagement terms from our clients. The
process is fully explained to every prospective client, and our
contingency fee is clearly disclosed. Our one-page client
agreement is in plain language, and we do not engage in high-
pressure sales tactics.

Our 30 per cent contingency fee applies only to current and
past tax credits recovered by our clients. In typical cases, our
clients receive credits for five to ten future years additionally. We
currently seek no payment for those future credits. As a result,
our fee as a percentage of the total credit received by our clients is
substantially lower than 30 per cent.

In addition, obtaining the DTC also makes our clients eligible
for thousands of dollars’ worth of additional benefits from a
number of other grants and programs. The RDSP is one of these
programs that is only unlocked with eligibility for the DTC. The
NBA does not charge for these additional benefits received for
our clients, but without help from companies like ours, thousands
of Canadians would not be receiving them.

In the Senate debate, it was suggested that the application
process is a simple two-page form. However, as we all know,
taxation issues are, by their nature, complicated, and the DTC is
no exception. Because the DTC is a non-refundable tax credit, the
disabled individual or supporter must have paid income tax to
receive the credit. The DTC allows a claim to be made against

Le président : Merci. Monsieur Medjuck.

AKkiva Medjuck, président, National Benefit Authority : Merci.
Je m’appelle Akiva Medjuck et je suis fondateur et président de la
National Benefit Authority. Je vous remercie de m’avoir invité a
comparaitre devant votre comité au sujet du projet de loi C-462.

Créée en 2008, la National Benefit Authority est la plus grande
organisation de prestation de services consultatifs sur la fiscalité aux
personnes handicapées. Elle a déja aidé plus de 10 000 personnes
a naviguer dans le processus complexe du crédit d’impét pour
personnes handicapées. Nous employons 120 personnes dans
12 000 pieds carrés de bureaux afin de servir nos clients partout
au Canada.

Le crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées est un
programme important. Malheureusement, beaucoup de ses
bénéficiaires potentiels n’en connaissent pas l’existence. La
National Benefit Authority dépense chaque année plus de
1,5 million de dollars pour informer le public. Nous recevons
plus de 1 500 appels par jour. Environ 40 p. 100 des demandes de
renseignements que nous recevons découlent du bouche a oreille
et le quart de nos activités est lié a des personnes qui ont tenté de
réclamer elles-mémes le crédit d’impét.

Je tiens a souligner que la National Benefit Authority, ou
NBA, ne fait pas de sollicitation a froid et fait preuve de sélectivité
a I’égard de ses clients. Nous ne réclamons pas ce crédit d’impot
pour des clients qui n’ont aucun handicap.

Nous ne cachons pas nos conditions d’engagement a nos
clients. Chaque client potentiel regoit une explication compléte du
processus ainsi qu’'une divulgation compléte de nos honoraires
conditionnels. Notre entente avec le client, d’une seule page, est
rédigée en langage de tous les jours, et nous n’employons
absolument aucune tactique de vente sous pression.

Nos honoraires conditionnels de 30 p. 100 ne s’appliquent
qu'aux crédits d’impot présents et passés qu’obtiennent nos
clients. Dans un cas typique, le client recoit des crédits d’impots
pour cing a 10 années futures. A lheure actuelle, nous ne
réclamons aucun paiement pour les crédits futurs. De ce fait, nos
honoraires exprimés en pourcentage du total des crédits d’impots
recus par nos clients sont bien inférieurs a 30 p. 100.

En outre, I'obtention d’un CIPH rend nos clients admissibles a
des milliers de dollars de prestations supplémentaires au titre d’un
certain nombre d’autres subventions et programmes. Ainsi, le
REEI est I'un des programmes qui deviennent accessibles grace a
I’admissibilité au CIPH. La NBA ne réclame aucun honoraire
pour les sommes supplémentaires que peuvent recevoir nos clients
de cette maniére mais, sans 1’aide de cabinets comme le nétre, des
milliers de Canadiens n’en bénéficieraient pas.

Lors du débat au Sénat, on a déclaré qu’il suffit de remplir un
simple formulaire de deux pages pour présenter une demande.
Toutefois, comme nous le savons tous, les questions d’impédts sont
fonciérement complexes, et le CIPH ne fait pas exception a la
régle. Comme le CIPH est un crédit d’impdt non remboursable, il
faut que la personne handicapée ou une liste définie de parents ou
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taxes in the current year and retroactively 10 years. Divorce,
bankruptcy, relocation and other life-changing events make the
process more complicated. On top of the tax analysis, there is a
medical form that can be a challenge for doctors who are not
familiar with the DTC process. What’s more, many doctors are
not paid for completing the form. Finally, if there are any errors
in the application or if the CRA requests additional information,
strict deadlines must be met or else the entire application is
thrown out.

Let us understand, what do the fees that our clients pay us
cover? What do they cover? Our advertising budget, and I
mentioned over $1.5 million a year; explaining the program to
potential clients; reviewing in detail the client’s tax and medical
information going back 10 years; identifying relatives who might
be eligible if the client has not paid taxes; addressing
complications in the client’s life that have an impact on the tax
aspect of the application; dealing with clients’ doctors, who are
often unfamiliar with the DTC paperwork or the criteria for
approval; submitting the materials and monitoring the
application process; working with clients to collect additional
medical and tax information to meet the needs of CRA. The
National Benefit Authority spends approximately three months
compiling the claim and another three months monitoring and
assisting with applications.

This is a complex process. Karen Nelson, President of the
Canadian Mental Health Association in Ottawa, recently
appeared before the Standing Senate Committee on Banking,
Trade and Commerce and outlined a template for exactly what
would need be done to help people access the Disability Tax
Credit. Her prescription included staff to work with the client at
every stage, “finding doctors, collecting past medical records,
attending doctors’ appointments, educating doctors on filling in
the forms, helping clients to complete their self-reports, keeping
clients informed of the process and helping with appeals.” She
argued these services were needed due to the DTC’s complexity.

These services are very similar to what the NBA provides its
clients except we also undertake the intricate tax preparation
issues. Our fees fall within the accepted range for similar
professional advisory services, such as lawyer contingency fees,
SR&ED refunds, EI refunds and property tax reassessments. We
accept the risk that months of our work for a client may go
uncompensated, and, in return, we ask for 30 per cent of the
retroactive credit.

d’aidants ait acquitté de I'impdt sur le revenu pour en bénéficier.
En vertu de ce programme, la réclamation peut étre formulée au
titre des impodts acquittés durant ’année en cours et,
rétroactivement, pendant les 10 années passées. Le divorce, la
faillite, le déménagement et d’autres événements changeant la vie
d’une personne rendant le processus encore plus compliqué. Outre
I’analyse fiscale, il faut fournir un formulaire médical qui peut
poser des problémes aux médecins qui ne sont pas familiers avec le
processus du CIPH. Pire encore, bon nombre de médecins ne sont
pas rémunérés pour remplir le formulaire. Finalement, s’il y a des
erreurs dans la demande, ou si ’ARC réclame des renseignements
supplémentaires, des délais trés stricts doivent étre respectés si
I’on ne veut pas que la demande soit rejetée au complet.

Permettez-moi d’expliquer ce que financent nos honoraires.
D’abord, notre budget publicitaire. J’ai déja évoqué des dépenses
de 1,5 million de dollars. Ensuite, expliquer le programme aux
clients potentiels; examiner en détail les données fiscales et
médicales du client, en remontant 10 ans en arriére; identifier les
parents qui pourraient étre admissibles si le client n’a pas payé
d’impot sur le revenu; analyser les complications dans la vie du
client qui peuvent avoir une incidence sur I’aspect fiscal de la
demande; traiter avec les médecins du client qui sont souvent peu
familiers avec la paperasse du CIPH ou les formulaires
d’approbation; présenter la demande et la documentation, et
surveiller son évolution; et travailler avec le client pour recueillir
des informations médicales et fiscales afin de répondre aux
besoins de I’ARC. Il faut approximativement trois mois a la
National Benefit Authority pour préparer une demande, et trois
autres mois pour surveiller son évolution et aider le client.

Ce processus est complexe. Karen Nelson, présidente de
I’Association canadienne pour la santé mentale, a Ottawa, qui a
comparu récemment devant le Comité sénatorial des banques et
du commerce, a présenté a cette occasion un modéle de ce qu’il
faudrait faire exactement pour aider les gens a avoir acces au
crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées. Elle a ainsi
recommandé du personnel pour travailler avec le client a
chaque étape du processus et « trouver un médecin, obtenir des
dossiers médicaux, accompagner les clients a un rendez-vous chez
le médecin, enseigner aux médecins comment remplir les
formulaires, aider les clients a remplir leurs autoévaluations, les
tenir au courant du processus et les aider a interjeter des appels ».
A son avis, ces services sont nécessaires a cause de la complexité
du CIPH.

Ce sont des services trés similaires a ceux que dispense la NBA
a ses clients, sauf que nous offrons aussi des services de
préparation de déclarations de revenus complexes. Nos
honoraires tombent dans la gamme acceptée des honoraires
pergus pour des services consultatifs professionnels similaires,
comme les honoraires conditionnels des avocats, les
remboursements de RS&DE, les remboursements d’assurance-
emploi et les réévaluations de 'impo6t foncier. Nous acceptons le
risque de ne pas étre rémunérés pour des mois de travail et, en
contrepartie, nous demandons 30 p. 100 du crédit rétroactif.
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While Bill C-462 was designed to “protect disabled
Canadians,” instead it will likely reduce public awareness and
force families to deal with the intricate process on their own.
Adyvisers will focus on cases that require the least amount of work
— clients with high incomes who pay enough taxes to claim the
credit. Canadians with lower incomes, to whom the funds are
even more important, will be left to fend for themselves.

There are better ways to address the concerns that have been
raised, and we have offered our suggestions in our submission.
For example, when the issue of contingency fee was raised in
relation to SR&ED program, the government launched a study
before deciding to reject limits on contingency fees, recognizing
that they were important for smaller companies. This provides a
commonsensical precedent.

In addition, we recommend that the issue of fees and related
issues should be addressed within the legislation rather than in
regulations crafted later on by officials.

In closing, should Bill C-462 restrict the ability of
organizations such as ours, the National Benefit Authority, to
represent clients, many qualified and deserving Canadians will not
receive this benefit. Canadians with disabilities need to have
someone in their corner with the expertise and resources necessary
to represent their interests.

Thank you, and I will be pleased to answer your questions.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Medjuck. That was clear and
succinct, and we appreciate you outlining your position.

Dr. Paul Okorofsky, Director of Client Care and Partner, The
Disability Benefit Group: Thank you very much, senators, for
inviting me to the committee meeting today.

A lot of what I was about to say has been very well covered by
Mr. Medjuck regarding the complexities and things like that, so |
will do a little dancing around my prepared remarks so they are
not redundant to what you’ve already heard.

One of my big concerns was the impetus for the bill and how it
was described when it was presented at the House of Commons
and some of the comments prefacing the bill from Ms. Gallant:

. . aggressive tactics employed by some providers . . .

... There may be legitimate companies doing this work.
Unfortunately, it is the less scrupulous operators that have
identified the need for the legislation I am proposing
today. . . .

Some consultants have even taken the step of employing in-
house medical practitioners . . .

Bien que le projet de loi C-462 soit destiné a « protéger les
Canadiens handicapés », il réduira probablement I'information
du public et obligera des familles a entreprendre elles-mémes toute
les démarches. Les services-conseils se concentreront sur les
dossiers exigeant le moins de travail — ceux des clients a revenus
élevés qui payent suffisamment d’imp6t pour réclamer le crédit.
Les Canadiens a revenus modiques, pour qui le crédit est bien plus
important, seront obligés de se débrouiller tout seuls.

Il y a de meilleures solutions pour résoudre les problémes qui
ont été soulevés, et nous avons formulé des propositions dans
notre mémoire. Par exemple, lorsque le probléme des honoraires
conditionnels a été soulevé au sujet du programme de RS&DE, le
gouvernement a lancé une étude qui I’a amené a rejeter la
limitation des honoraires conditionnels car ces prestations étaient
importantes pour les petites entreprises. 11 s’agit 1a d’un précédent
de bon sens.

Nous recommandons par ailleurs que la question des
honoraires et les questions connexes soient traitées dans la loi
elle-méme plutdt que dans des réglements formulés par les
fonctionnaires.

En conclusion, si le projet de loi C-462 devait limiter la
possibilité pour des organisations telles que la National Benefit
Authority de représenter leurs clients, bon nombre de Canadiens
qualifiés et méritoires ne recevraient pas cette prestation. Les
Canadiens handicapés ont besoin de quelquun qui puisse les
aider, avec ’expertise et les ressources nécessaires pour défendre
leurs intéréts.

Merci. Je répondrai maintenant avec plaisir a vos questions.

Le président : Merci, monsieur Medjuck. C’était clair et
succinct, et nous vous remercions de nous avoir décrit votre
position.

Dr Paul Okorofsky, directeur des Services aux clients et
partenaire, The Disability Benefit Group : Merci beaucoup,
sénateurs, de m’avoir invité a témoigner devant le comité
aujourd’hui.

Un grand nombre d’aspects que je voulais évoquer, notamment
a propos des complexités, ont déja été tres bien présentés par
M. Medjuck, alors je vais m’écarter un peu des notes que j’avais
préparées pour qu’il n’y ait pas trop de redites.

L’une de mes grandes préoccupations était le motif déclencheur
du projet de loi et comment il a été présenté a la Chambre des
communes, ainsi que certaines remarques de Mme Gallant
lorsqu’elle a déposé le projet de loi :

...tactiques agressives utilisées par certains fournisseurs...

..Il'y a peut-étre des sociétés légitimes qui font ce travail.
Malheureusement, ce sont les promoteurs moins scrupuleux
qui ont rendu nécessaire la mesure législative que je propose
aujourd’hui...

Certains conseillers sont allés jusqu’a engager des médecins
praticiens...
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... 1 want to see increased protection for disabled
Canadians from the predatory practices of some disability
tax credit promoters, on the one hand, and also contribute
to a fair, functioning marketplace for those who do wish to
use the services of a disability tax credit promoter.

This indicates to me that there may be a need for guidelines or
regulations of conduct for tax credit consultants rather than just
an arbitrary setting of fees. Unfortunately, the bill does not really
address any of these concerns. Other than a formula for penalties,
as you heard, the bill does not provide even a suggestion of what
these rules or regulations should contain.

I was informed by Ms. Gallant that specifics were not inserted
in the bill so that everything could be worked out afterwards in a
consultative manner. I find this disturbing because I have no idea
whether my firm should support the legislation or fight against it.
I suspect this may also have been true of many MPs and senators
during debate on the bill. While watching and listening to the
debates in the House of Commons and the Senate, no one could
question the validity of the bill because there is really nothing in
it. The unanimous support for the bill was because it was a bill for
the disabled, and you can’t vote against a bill for the disabled.

Many, however, touched on a recurring theme that is not
addressed by Bill C-462. There was concern for many that the
process was not easy and that the CRA was not nearly as helpful
as they profess. They referenced the cutbacks at CRA, the closing
of service counters and how difficult it was for people to obtain
information and manage the application process.

There is also reference to the notion that the legislation will
contribute to fraud prevention. If any disability consulting firm is
suspected of being involved in fraudulent claims, then a proper
and thorough investigation should be performed and, if
substantiated, dealt with criminally. Dishonest people will
always find a way to manipulate the system.

According to Webster’s dictionary, a “promoter” is described
as a person or organization that helps something to happen,
develop or increase. If that is the definition used here, then I'm
not offended. However, I suspect that the reference here is more
akin to that of promoters selling worthless stocks or swampland
in Florida. We firmly believe that “advocate” is a more accurate
term or definition of what we do.

Our goal is to inform and educate the public about the
Disability Tax Credit. A vast majority of the inquiries we receive
are from Canadians who were not aware that the program existed
or from disabled who have already been previously denied when
they’ve done it on their own. We perform a lengthy interview with
potential clients to determine if they actually have disabilities, if
there is a reason to make a claim. Many, after finding out how it
works, decide to do it on their own, and we wish them well. We

Je veux qu’on protége davantage les Canadiens
handicapés contre les pratiques prédatrices de certains
promoteurs du crédit d'impét pour personnes handicapées,
d’une part, et qu’on fasse en sorte que le marché soit juste et
fonctionnel pour ceux qui souhaitent faire appel aux services
d’un promoteur, d’autre part.

Pour moi, cela signifie qu’il faut peut-étre des lignes directrices
ou une réglementation de la conduite des consultants fiscaux au
lieu de fixer les tarifs de maniére arbitraire. Malheureusement, le
projet de loi ne dissipe pas vraiment ces inquiétudes. A part une
formule pour imposer des pénalités, comme vous I’avez entendu,
le projet de loi ne donne méme pas une indication de la teneur de
ces régles ou directives.

Mme Gallant m’a informé que le projet de loi n’est pas détaillé,
afin que les précisions puissent venir par la suite, aprés des
consultations. Cela me trouble, parce que je ne peux pas dire si
mon entreprise devrait appuyer le projet de loi ou s’y opposer. Je
suppose que c’est aussi le cas de nombreux députés et sénateurs
qui ont débattu du projet de loi. Lors des débats a la Chambre des
communes et au Sénat, personne ne pouvait contester la validité
du projet de loi parce qu’il est complétement vide. L’appui
unanime découle du fait que le projet de loi vise les personnes
handicapées et qu’on ne peut pas voter contre un projet de loi en
faveur des personnes handicapées.

Mais beaucoup ont évoqué un théme récurrent qui passe sous
silence dans le projet de loi C-462. Beaucoup s’inquiétaient du fait
que le processus n’est pas simple et que ’ARC est loin d’étre aussi
utile qu’elle le prétend. Ils ont évoqué des compressions a I’ARC,
la fermeture de points de service et la difficulté d’obtenir de
I'information et de naviguer dans le processus de demande.

On évoque aussi I'idée que le projet de loi contribuera a
prévenir la fraude. Si I'on soupgonne un consultant en gestion
d’invalidité de participer a des demandes frauduleuses, alors il
faudrait mener une enquéte approfondie et, si les allégations sont
fondées, il faudrait intenter des poursuites. Les gens malhonnétes
trouveront toujours un moyen de manipuler le systéme.

D’apres le dictionnaire Webster, un « promoteur » est une
personne ou une organisation qui contribue a ce que quelque
chose arrive, se développe ou grandisse. Si c’est le sens que vous
donnez a ce terme, je ne suis pas offensé. Mais je suppose que
vous faites plutét allusion aux promoteurs qui vendent des actions
sans valeur ou des marécages en Floride. Nous sommes
fermement convaincus que le terme « conseiller » définit mieux
ce que nous faisons.

Notre but consiste a informer et éduquer le public au sujet du
crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées. La vaste majorité des
demandes de renseignements que nous recevons proviennent de
Canadiens qui ne savaient pas que le programme existe ou de
personnes handicapées qui ont présenté une demande par eux-
mémes et dont la demande a été rejetée. Nous avons un long
entretien avec les clients potentiels pour déterminer s’ils ont
vraiment une incapacité, s’il y a une raison de présenter une



9-4-2014

Finances nationales

9:33

also tell them that if they have a problem down the road, they can
call us later. We take our responsibility seriously and try to ensure
that claims are filed only for those who are truly disabled.

If we get an enquiry that doesn’t allow us to go back
retroactively and apply a fee, we often provide that person with
the CRA website, tell them what forms to download, take it to
their doctor and what the doctor needs to do to complete it. None
of the services we provide results in a fee or a cost to the claimant
unless we have been contracted to assist them, the DTC certificate
is approved and they receive a retroactive benefit for their claim.

These benefits are sent directly to the disabled person or their
caregiver. We then bill the claimant for our fee. As I said, CRA
does not provide anywhere near the help or advice that is being
claimed. There is no continuity regarding phone inquiries from
the general public. It is virtually impossible to get through to
anyone in the disability claims department or to speak to the same
representative for follow-up inquiries. Often, the various agents
give you conflicting answers to the same question. Talk about
confusing and frustrating. We receive numerous calls and emails
from clients stating that a Revenue Canada agent has told them
that they should not be using a consultant, that the process is easy
and that they are there to help them every step of the way. |
received two emails last week after receiving the invitation to
come, and I quote the first one: “I was advised by an agent with
Revenue Canada that I should not be using your services and
that, in fact, there is legislation they are passing in regard to this.”

The second one states: “I called the government. The lady
pretty much told me that my daughter will probably not get it
since ADD is not recognized as a major disability. The lady was
basing this info on personal experiences. This, I thought, was
extremely inappropriate considering they do not know my
daughter nor how much she does struggle every day.”

Additionally, many completed forms are subject to a second
questionnaire being sent directly to the doctor, ostensibly for
more information, often regardless of the doctor’s original
description of the patient’s limitations. Unfortunately, it
appears that the decision to send this inquiry lies with the CRA
employee, not with a qualified medical professional after
reviewing the form. As well, most often, a generic questionnaire
is used for each category of impairment that is totally unrelated to
the doctor’s notes.

A very similar questionnaire will be sent for a child with a
claim of ADHD/ADD/OCD as they send for an adult suffering
from schizophrenia or bipolar disorder, two vastly different
situations. A recent T2201 DTC sent to the CRA on behalf of

demande. Bien souvent, aprés avoir appris comment faire les
démarches, les gens décident de se débrouiller tout seuls et nous
leur souhaitons bonne chance. Nous leur disons également que
s’ils ont des problémes en cours de route, ils peuvent nous
téléphoner. Nous prenons notre responsabilité trés au sérieux et
nous essayons de faire en sorte que les demandes ne sont
présentées que par ceux qui sont vraiment handicapés.

Si nous recevons une demande de renseignements qui ne nous
permet pas de remonter dans le temps et d’exiger des honoraires,
nous renvoyons souvent le demandeur au site Internet de 'ARC,
nous indiquons quels sont les formulaires a télécharger et a
apporter chez le médecin et ce que doit remplir le médecin. Aucun
des services que nous offrons n’occasionne de frais ni de cott pour
le demandeur, sauf si nous avons une entente contractuelle pour
l’aider, si le certificat de CIPH est approuvé et s’il obtient un
crédit avec effet rétroactif.

Les prestations sont versées directement a la personne
handicapée ou a I'aidant naturel. Nous facturons ensuite nos
honoraires au bénéficiaire. Comme je 1’ai dit, ’ARC est loin de
fournir 'aide et les conseils qu’elle prétend offrir. Il n’y a pas de
suite aux demandes de renseignements téléphoniques du public. 11
est presque impossible de parler a quelqu'un au service des
demandes de prestations d’invalidité ou de parler a la méme
personne quand il y a d’autres demandes de renseignements pour
un méme dossier. Souvent, des agents différents donnent des
réponses contradictoires a la méme question. Il y a de quoi étre
confus et frustré. Nous recevons de nombreux appels et courriels
de clients qui affirment qu’un agent de Revenu Canada leur a dit
de ne pas faire appel a un consultant, que le processus est facile et
que les agents sont 1a pour les aider dans toutes leurs démarches.
La semaine derniére, aprés avoir regu votre invitation, j’ai regu
deux courriels, dont le premier disait : « Un agent de Revenu
Canada m’a indiqué que je ne devrais pas faire appel a vos
services et qu’un projet de loi sera bient6t adopté en ce sens. »

Le second disait : « J’ai téléphoné au gouvernement. La dame
m’a pour ainsi dire affirmé que ma fille ne recevra probablement
rien parce que le TDA n’est pas reconnu comme une incapacité
grave. La dame se fondait sur son expérience personnelle. J’ai
trouvé que c’était trés déplacé de sa part, vu qu’ils ne connaissent
pas ma fille ni les difficultés qu’elle doit affronter tous les jours. »

En outre, pour de nombreux formulaires remplis, on envoie un
deuxiéme questionnaire directement au médecin, de toute
évidence pour obtenir plus de renseignements, souvent sans
tenir compte de la description des limites du patient qui se trouve
dans le premier formulaire. Malheureusement, il semble que la
décision d’envoyer cette autre demande de renseignements reléve
de I'employé de ’ARC et non d’un professionnel de la santé qui
aurait examiné le formulaire. De plus, la plupart du temps, un
questionnaire générique est utilisé pour toutes les catégories
d’incapacités, sans tenir compte des notes du médecin.

Un questionnaire trés semblable est envoyé aussi bien pour un
enfant souffrant de TDAH/TDA/TOC que pour un adulte atteint
de schizophrénie ou de trouble bipolaire, deux états complétement
différents. Dans un récent certificat T2201 envoyé a 'ARC au
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client contained the following diagnosis and description from the
doctor: “Parkinson’s disease, Polymyalgia Rheumatica, back pain
pattern 4, walking impairment related to severe pain in back and
legs. Walks 50 feet with walker and then must sit and rest for
considerable time to reduce pain.” The doctor received a
secondary questionnaire. I’'m not sure how much clearer he
could have been. There are numerous examples of this. We get
them every day; Mr. Medjuck will agree to that.

We speak directly to medical practitioners in the course of
assisting clients with claims. Many complain that the descriptions
and examples of the types of impairments that would qualify a
patient for the DTC are quite vague. Too often, I hear, “It doesn’t
matter what I put in the form; the CRA is going to send another
letter.” Doctors are upset that their professional opinions are
being questioned with a generic form, not specific inquiries related
to the patient from a qualified medical practitioner. Several,
including one on Friday, stated that they are concerned that their
provincial licensing boards will investigate them if they sign too
many forms.

The complexities of the Disability Tax Credit and the way it is
being and handled go far beyond the scope of what we can discuss
this morning. We agree that some guidelines for code of conduct
for disability tax consultants need to be put in place, and we
would be more than happy to assist in accomplishing that. I thank
you for your time.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Dr. Okorofsky. For
someone who thought most of his points had been made, you
found some new ones. We thank you for that.

Shawn Anthony, Senior Manager, TaxWise Inc.: Good
morning, honourable senators. My name is Shawn Anthony.
I’'m a senior manager at TaxWise Inc. We would like to thank the
committee for inviting us to appear to address this very important
bill. We proudly support Bill C-462. We share with you the desire
to increase protection for disabled Canadians from the practice of
disability tax promoters whom this bill addresses. Our intention
here today is to, in part, inform the committee of the state of the
marketplace as it pertains to Bill C-462 and to make
recommendations relating to the bill and its potential impact on
consumers.

Our recommendations include making the maximum fee the
long-standing industry standard 30 per cent, curbing unethical
and misleading advertising practices and mandating transparency
by addressing confidentiality agreements.

To tell you about TaxWise and who we are, TaxWise is a
family-run business, and we’ve been operating for more than 23
years. We've proudly been helping Canadians who manage
medical conditions and disabilities. TaxWise has earned the
respect of dozens of associations and thousands of veterans, as
well as hundreds of communities across this country, as trusted
advisers. TaxWise is also actively engaged in financial literacy by

nom d’un client, le médecin avait rédigé le diagnostic et la
description suivante : « Maladie de Parkinson, pseudopolyarthrite
rhizomélique, maux de dos type 4, difficulté¢ a marcher liée a de
graves maux au dos et douleurs aux jambes. Marche 50 pieds avec
un déambulateur, puis doit s’asseoir et se reposer pendant
longtemps pour apaiser la douleur. » Le médecin a regu un
questionnaire secondaire. Pourtant, je me demande comment il
aurait pu étre plus clair. Il y a de nombreux exemples. Nous en
voyons tous les jours et M. Medjuck le confirmera.

Nous parlons directement aux médecins lorsque nous aidons
nos clients a présenter leur demande. Beaucoup se plaignent que
les descriptions et les exemples de types d’incapacités qui
rendraient un patient admissible au CIPH sont plutét vagues.
Trop souvent, j’entends que, peu importe ce qu’écrit le médecin,
I’ARC envoie une autre lettre. Les médecins sont contrariés de
devoir exprimer leurs opinions professionnelles dans un
formulaire générique plutét qu’en réponse a des demandes de
renseignements précises sur un patient a un médecin qualifié.
Plusieurs, dont un vendredi dernier, ont déclaré qu’ils craignent
de faire ’objet d’'une enquéte de la part de leur ordre provincial
s’ils signent trop de formulaires.

Les complexités du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées
et la fagcon dont il est géré dépassent largement la portée de la
discussion de ce matin. Nous convenons qu’il faut mettre en place
des lignes directrices pour encadrer la conduite des consultants
fiscaux en gestion d’invalidité, et nous serions ravis de participer a
ce processus. Je vous remercie de votre attention.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, docteur Okorofsky. Méme si
vous pensiez que presque tout avait été dit, vous avez trouvé de
nouveaux aspects. Nous vous en remercions.

Shawn Anthony, directeur principal, TaxWise Inc.: Bonjour
mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs. Je m’appelle Shawn
Anthony et je suis cadre supérieur chez TaxWise Inc. Je
remercie le comité de nous avoir invités a témoigner au sujet de
cet important projet de loi. Nous sommes fiers d’appuyer le projet
de loi C-462. Comme vous, nous souhaitons que les Canadiens
handicapés soient mieux protégés contre les pratiques des
promoteurs du crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées visés
par le projet de loi. Nous voulons surtout informer le comité de la
situation du marché et faire des recommandations au sujet du
projet de loi C-462 et de ses conséquences possibles pour les
consommateurs.

Nous recommandons notamment de normaliser le taux des
frais maximaux de 'industrie a 30 p. 100, de limiter les pratiques
publicitaires trompeuses et contraires a I’éthique; et de garantir la
transparence en encadrant les ententes de confidentialité.

Un mot au sujet de I'entreprise. TaxWise est une entreprise
familiale qui existe depuis plus de 23 ans. Nous sommes fiers
d’aider les Canadiens handicapés ou ayant des problémes de
santé. L’entreprise a gagné le respect de dizaines d’associations, de
milliers d’anciens combattants et de centaines de collectivités au
pays. Nos conseillers sont dignes de confiance. TaxWise
développe aussi la littératie financiére en offrant gratuitement
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providing free seminars offering tax advice across the country.
Unlike many of these disability tax promoters that Bill C-462
aims to address, TaxWise is a specialty accounting firm, with
educated, long-tenured accountants. We deal with all facets of
income tax legislation, specializing in disability tax credits and
medical expense credits. In fact, we explore more than a dozen
credits that potentially apply to a medical condition and/or a
disability. This is compared to the promoters, who often only
pursue the Disability Tax Credit and the caregiver credit.
TaxWise does not charge over the industry standard
contingency fee, regardless of how many times they have to do
an appeal. TaxWise has never had a doctor on staff to write a
disability tax certificate and strictly adheres to the advertising
model that has been outlined by the public accountants
association of Canada, which basically means that you will
never see a dollar sign or dollar amount on any advertisement that
TaxWise does.

From the marketplace, we have learned of the following
activities by these cottage industry disability tax promoters:
Throughout the marketplace, some of these companies have built
a reputation of charging beyond the standard contingency fees, all
the way up to 40 per cent, or charging industry standard
30 per cent plus auxiliary administrative fees and insurance fees.
These insurance fees are ensuring the company gets paid even if
the campaign is unsuccessful. They have also earned a reputation
for unethical advertising practices, including, “If you have a
disability, you may qualify for up to $40,000.”

This is misleading to the consumer. There is no disclaimer
stating that those are unrealistic expectations and that the refunds
and credit retrievals over $20,000 are indeed anomalies.

They are also lacking in transparency. Some of these cottage
industry companies have required the client to sign a
confidentiality agreement, unbalancing the relationship between
consumer and business.

We believe that from conflict comes growth. Here is what we
suggest to address these behaviours: Thirty per cent contingency-
based fees have been the industry standard for many accounting
companies for many years, including KPMG and Ernst & Young.
While 30 per cent has always been considered the industry
standard, it must now be explicitly so. By that, the 30 per cent
industry standard should by the maximum percentage allowed to
be billed by any company doing medical and disability tax
adjustments. Independent research from the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants, CICA, suggests that accounting firms
applying contingency-based billing typically charge 58 per cent of
what the consumer would be charged if they had been charged by
the hour.

Honourable senators, please protect the consumers by
demanding that advertisers justify the cash amount the claimant
would receive in the advertisement. As an example, if the
company advertises, “If you have a disability, you can get up to

des séminaires et des conseils fiscaux un peu partout au pays.
Contrairement a de nombreux promoteurs du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées visés par le projet de loi C-462, TaxWise
est une firme comptable spécialisée, dont les comptables, instruits
et expérimentés, maitrisent tous les aspects des lois de 'impot sur
le revenu, mais se spécialisent dans les crédits d’impét liés aux
handicaps et aux frais médicaux. En fait, ils savent comment
réclamer plus d’une douzaine de crédits en raison d’un probléme
de santé ou d’un handicap, contrairement aux promoteurs qui ne
réclament souvent que le crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées et le crédit d’imp6t pour aidants naturels. TaxWise
ne demande pas plus que les honoraires conditionnels fixés par
I'industrie, quel que soit le délai pour faire appel. TaxWise ne
compte pas de médecin parmi son personnel pour signer des
certificats d’invalidité a des fins fiscales et utilise strictement le
modele publicitaire de la Public Accountants Association of
Canada, ce qui signifie que nous n’indiquons jamais de montant
dans une publicité, quelle qu’elle soit.

Nous avons appris du marché que de petites entreprises de
promotion du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées
exercaient les activités suivantes. Certaines de ces entreprises ont
la réputation de demander des honoraires conditionnels
supérieurs a la norme, jusqu’a 40 p. 100, ou de demander des
honoraires de 30 p. 100 plus des frais administratifs et
d’assurance accessoires, s’assurant ainsi d’étre payées méme si
leurs efforts sont vains. Elles ont aussi des pratiques publicitaires
contraires a I’éthique, par exemple « Si vous avez un handicap,
vous pourriez étre admissible a un crédit de 40 000 $ ».

C’est tromper le consommateur. Aucun avis n’indique que c’est
irréaliste ni que les remboursements et les crédits réclamés
supérieurs a 20 000 $ sont exceptionnels.

Il y a aussi un manque de transparence. Certaines de ces
entreprises ont exigé du client qu’il signe une entente de
confidentialité, ce qui déséquilibre la relation entre I’entreprise
et le consommateur.

Nous pensons que nous pouvons tirer des legons des erreurs
passées pour aller de I"avant. Voici ce que nous proposons pour
rectifier le tir. Le taux de base des honoraires conditionnels de
30 p. 100 est la norme pour de nombreuses firmes comptables
depuis des années, dont KPMG et Ernst & Young. Ce taux a
toujours été considéré comme la norme, mais ce doit étre explicite.
De plus, la norme de 30 p. 100 devrait étre le maximum autorisé
qu’une entreprise qui présente une demande de redressement pour
le crédit d’imp6t pour frais médicaux et pour personnes
handicapées peut facturer. Des recherches indépendantes menées
par I'Institut canadien des comptables agréés, I'ICCA, indiquent
que les firmes comptables facturent des honoraires conditionnels
qui représentent généralement 58 p. 100 du montant que le
consommateur payerait si les services étaient facturés a un taux
horaire.

Honorables sénateurs, nous vous demandons de protéger les
consommateurs et d’exiger que les annonceurs justifient dans
leurs publicités le montant que pourrait recevoir la personne. Par
exemple, si la publicité dit « Si vous avez un handicap, vous
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$40,000,” mandate the advertiser to outline the circumstances in
which the recipient could receive the $40,000. At the very
minimum, the advertiser should state what percentage of their
clients are typically awarded this amount. Most of all, we believe
this legislation needs to be balanced, heavy enough to protect
Canadians, but light enough not to hinder the access to
professional skilled advocacy. We are privileged and honoured
to have the opportunity to speak here today about Bill C-462,
which will hopefully protect our most vulnerable community
members, without compromising the access they require to obtain
professional, educated and experienced advocacy.

We welcome all questions. Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Anthony. Colleagues,
we have quite a list of senators who have indicated an interest in
asking questions. I would ask you to keep your question very
succinct and direct it to the witness you would like to have
answer.

Senator L. Smith: Mr. Medjuck, maybe you could help me. I'd
like you to walk through a typical case. Can you do a précis, start
to finish, so that the members around the table can clearly
understand how it works? Outline pitfalls and the plusses and the
negatives, if you would.

Mr. Medjuck: The claim would generally start, and I would say
we have a 60-40 role, which means 60 per cent of our clients, if
they are online, would type in a word, for example, “disability” or
“depression, anxiety, Alzheimer’s,” et cetera. Our ad, which we
pay for on Google, would come up on the side of the screen with
our phone number. That is one way they come to us.

The other 40 per cent of our clients come to us by word of
mouth. One of our tens of thousands of successful clients would
tell their friend or family member, who would then call us.

Our office is based in Toronto, where we have, as I mentioned,
over 120 employees. They would call in to our call centre, where
we have approximately 30 employees who answer the phones, and
they would discuss their claim with a call centre representative.

Just to clarify, the National Benefit Authority does not decide
who is eligible or not eligible. If someone calls us up and says they
have a paper cut, we are going to tell them this may not be the
best application for them; maybe they should try the fitness credit
or something. But if somebody says they have anxiety or whatnot,
we go through the process with them. We will take their
information down along with their disability. We then send
them three forms. We send them a one-page, very clear agreement
between us and them, which clearly outlines our contingency fee.
The other document we send them is a T1013 form, which is a
form they sign that authorizes us access to their CRA online
account and allows us to be a representative for them. The third

pourriez recevoir jusqu’a 40 000 $ », obligez I’annonceur a
mentionner dans quelles circonstances la personne pourrait
recevoir 40 000 $. Il devrait au moins préciser quel pourcentage
de ses clients a regu le montant annoncé. Nous croyons surtout
que le projet de loi doit étre équilibré : suffisamment mordant
pour protéger les Canadiens, mais suffisamment souple pour ne
pas les empécher de consulter un professionnel qualifié. Nous
nous estimons privilégiés et honorés d’avoir pu témoigner
aujourd’hui au sujet du projet de loi C-462, qui permettra de
protéger les personnes les plus vulnérables de la société, sans les
empécher de consulter un professionnel instruit et expérimenté.

Nous répondrons avec plaisir a toutes les questions. Merci
beaucoup.

Le président : Je vous remercie beaucoup, monsieur. Anthony.
Chers collégues, de nombreux sénateurs ont manifesté le désir de
poser des questions. Je vous prierais de poser des questions tres
courtes et d’indiquer quel témoin devrait répondre.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Monsieur Medjuck, vous pouvez peut-
étre m’aider. J’aimerais que vous décriviez un cas typique.
Pouvez-vous résumer toutes les étapes, afin que les membres
autour de la table comprennent clairement comment cela
fonctionne? Décrivez les écueils, ainsi que les avantages et les
inconvénients, si vous le pouvez.

M. Medjuck : Nous avons une répartition de 60-40, ce qui veut
dire que, pour 60 p. 100 de nos clients, la demande commence
généralement par une recherche en ligne. Ils tapent un mot, par
exemple, « invalidité » « dépression », « anxiété » ou
« Alzheimer ». Notre annonce, que nous achetons sur Google,
s’affiche alors sur le coté de I’écran et indique notre numéro de
téléphone. C’est une fagon de venir a nous.

L’autre 40 p. 100 de nos clients vient a nous grace au bouche a
oreille. L’un des dizaines milliers de clients que nous avons aidés
avec succés en parlera a un ami ou un membre de la famille, qui
nous téléphonera.

Nos bureaux sont a Toronto, ol nous avons plus de
120 employés, comme je I'ai déja indiqué. Ils téléphonent a
notre centre d’appels, ou une trentaine d’employés répondent au
téléphone, et ils discutent de leur demande avec un représentant
du centre d’appels.

Petite précision, la National Benefit Authority ne décide pas
qui est admissible et qui ne I’est pas. Si quelqu’un nous appelle et
nous parle d’un petit bobo, nous lui disons qu’il vaut peut-étre
mieux appeler ailleurs. Ils pourraient peut-étre demander le crédit
pour la condition physique, par exemple. Mais si quelqu’un nous
parle d’anxiété, ou de problémes semblables, nous monterons un
dossier. Nous prenons des renseignements sur la personne ainsi
que sur son incapacité. Nous envoyons ensuite trois formulaires.
Nous envoyons une entente d’une page, entre eux et nous, qui
décrit trés clairement nos honoraires conditionnels. L’autre
document que nous envoyons est un formulaire T1013, qu’il
faut signer afin de nous autoriser a avoir acces a leur compte en
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page we send them is a questionnaire that we created to help us
help the client to formulate their disability on paper. How is their
disability affecting them?

Interestingly enough, the Disability Tax Credit really has
nothing to do with the diagnosis. I will give you an extreme
example. If someone was dealing with schizophrenia, their life was
falling apart, they only went to their family doctor and never went
to a psychiatrist for a formal diagnosis, very possibly they would
be eligible for the Disability Tax Credit when they took these
forms to their doctor. The reason being is because it does not
depend upon diagnosis; it depends on the symptoms. How is it
affecting your day-to-day life? This is the questionnaire we send
them.

In addition, I would say probably 10 days after we mail this
out, we call them to follow up. Is there anything we can help you
with, such as the questionnaire? We encourage them to send the
papers back. The reason behind this is very simply, in that in
dealing with people with disabilities, keeping the process going
many times is a challenge. They lose the forms; they can’t find the
forms; they’ll send back one out of the three forms, et cetera.
There is a tremendous amount of hand holding that goes on
throughout the process.

When they send the forms back to us, we have a separate
department wherein if there is any missing information —
whether it is a doctor’s fax number, a birth date, a social
insurance number, et cetera — they send the documents back to
us. Once that happens, we have a document processing
department. Our documents are not kept in paper copy; they
are kept within our databases by being scanned in.

Then the application goes to our benefit specialists, who do a
number of things. First, they will send the Disability Tax Credit to
the client, the actual form, and they will walk them through it.
They have to see their doctor, and they will help the patient
communicate with their doctor. As we’ve heard in this committee,
many doctors are extremely frustrated by the process, so they will
work with the doctor to get these forms back.

Second, we also review their tax information. I would say most
of the time, the person with the disability, as we’ve mentioned,
hasn’t paid sufficient taxes. So we have to ask them, “Do you
have a family member that’s been supporting you financially?”
The financial supports include food, shelter and clothing. Then
we have to go through the process with the family member,
getting them authorized and reviewing their tax information.

Once we get all the information back from the doctor, it goes
to our tax department. Many times, we will submit the Disability
Tax Credit with 30 to 40 pages of T1 adjustments; that’s tax work,
applying the credits in different scenarios, in different ways, as

ligne a ’ARC et a les représenter. Le troisieme document est un
questionnaire que nous avons créé afin d’aider les clients a décrire
leur incapacité sur papier. Comment leur incapacité les affecte-t-
elle?

Fait intéressant a souligner, le crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées n’a rien a voir avec le diagnostic. Je vais vous donner
un exemple extréme. La personne qui souffre de schizophrénie,
dont la vie s’écroule, qui voit seulement son médecin de famille et
n’a jamais consulté un psychiatre pour obtenir un diagnostic
officiel serait probablement admissible au crédit d’impét pour
personnes handicapées si elle fait remplir ces formulaires par son
médecin, parce que le crédit ne dépend pas d’un diagnostic mais
plutot de symptomes. En quoi votre vie quotidienne est-elle
touchée? C’est le questionnaire que nous leur envoyons.

Une dizaine de jours aprés avoir envoyé ces documents, nous
téléphonons pour assurer un suivi. Pouvons-nous les aider d’une
fagon ou d’une autre, notamment pour répondre au
questionnaire? Nous les encourageons a nous retourner les
documents. La raison est trés simple. Avec des personnes
handicapées, il est parfois ardu de faire avancer le processus. Ils
perdent les formulaires; ne les retrouvent plus; renvoient un
formulaire au lieu des trois, et cetera. Il faut vraiment les épauler
tout au long du processus.

Quand ils nous ont renvoyé¢ les formulaires, un de nos services
s’assure qu’il ne manque aucun renseignement — numéro de
télécopieur du médecin, date de naissance, numéro d’assurance
sociale, et cetera. Puis, un autre service traite les documents. Nous
ne gardons pas nos documents sur support papier; nous les
numérisons et les stockons dans notre base de données.

La demande est ensuite transmise a nos spécialistes de
I’invalidité, qui s’occupent de deux ou trois choses.
Premiérement, ils envoient le formulaire de demande de crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées au client et 'aident a le
remplir. Il faut aller voir le médecin et ils aident le patient a
communiquer avec son médecin. Comme nous ’avons entendu
dans ce comité, de nombreux médecins sont trés contrariés par le
processus. Donc, nos spécialistes travaillent avec les médecins
pour obtenir des formulaires remplis.

Deuxiémement, nous examinons aussi les renseignements
fiscaux. La plupart du temps, comme nous I’avons indiqué, la
personne handicapée n’a pas payé d’impét. Alors nous lui
demandons si un membre de la famille I’aide a subvenir a ses
besoins. Le soutien financier porte sur la nourriture, le logement
et les vétements. Nous collaborons alors avec le membre de la
famille, pour obtenir les autorisations et examiner les
renseignements fiscaux.

Lorsque nous avons obtenu tous les renseignements du
médecin, ils vont a notre service fiscal. Bien souvent, nous
présentons la demande de crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées accompagnée de 30 a 40 pages de redressements de
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we’ve mentioned, depending on life scenarios. Once that happens,
we submit it to CRA and wait approximately two to three
months.

Then, as we have mentioned, I would say 80 per cent of the
time the CRA will send a follow-up questionnaire to the doctor,
which must be returned within 30 days or else the whole claim is
nullified. We then have to get in touch with the doctor. Many
times the doctor is on vacation for two weeks, which puts the 30-
day process in jeopardy. A lot of times the doctor has retired or is
on maternity leave, et cetera. A lot of times the doctor is just way
too busy.

We have to follow up with that and ensure that it gets back and
then wait for the client to be approved. If the client is approved,
once again our tax department has to review the scenario and
ensure the client is getting all the money they are eligible for. As I
mentioned in my submission, 20 per cent to 25 per cent of our
clients are people who have applied on their own. Many of them
were approved, but they never received the money they should
have received.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Medjuck. That was helpful, but
we’ll have to reduce everybody else’s time now on their questions
and answers.

Senator Merchant: I would like to ask Ms. Hutchison a
question. You mentioned Saskatchewan. I am from there, and
I’'m not aware of the process. Can you tell us how that works in
Saskatchewan?

Ms. Hutchison: Yes. I'm not able to go into much detail
beyond the report, but I can tell you what happens at our not-for-
profit.

The processes and issues are much the same as those that were
talked about by Akiva, but the reality is that organizations like
the Saskatchewan Voice of People with Disabilities have people
complete their forms. This assistance can also be received at an
MP’s office.

It is a challenge, as Akiva described, because our process and
that of Alberta Network for Mental Health is probably about the
same six-month duration, with all of the same processes, the only
difference being that we operate those services for free and we do
not have additional staff or grants. Everything done in that way is
pretty much off the side of our desk.

While our organization does advocacy, we are supposed to
have more activities around education and that sort of thing, but
this assistance is essential for every kind of form. The Disability
Tax Credit is quite a challenge, but it can save families a great
deal of money if they have some ability to recoup from their taxes.

T1. Cest du travail de fiscaliste; il faut appliquer les crédits a
divers scénarios, de différentes fagons, comme nous I’avons
indiqué, en fonction des scénarios de vie. Aprés avoir présenté la
demande a ’ARC, nous attendons de deux a trois mois environ.

Comme nous ’avons déja indiqué, environ 80 p. 100 du temps,
I’ARC envoie au médecin un questionnaire de suivi, qu’il faut
retourner dans un délai de 30 jours, sinon la demande est annulée.
Nous devons donc communiquer avec le médecin. Souvent, le
médecin est en vacances pour deux semaines, ce qui peut
compromettre le délai de 30 jours. Ou alors, le médecin a pris
sa retraite, est en congé de maternité, et cetera. Souvent, le
médecin est tout simplement débordé.

Nous devons assurer le suivi et veiller a ce que le document soit
fourni, puis nous attendons de voir si la demande est approuvée.
Si la demande est approuvée, notre service fiscal doit examiner le
scénario a nouveau et s’assurer que le client obtient le plein
montant auquel il a droit. Comme je I'ai indiqué dans mon
mémoire, de 20 a 25 p. 100 de nos clients sont des gens qui ont
déja tenté de demander eux-mémes le crédit d’impdt. Bon nombre
d’entre eux ont été approuvés, mais ils n’ont jamais regu tout ce
qu’ils auraient di recevoir.

Le président : Merci, monsieur Medjuck. C’était utile, mais
nous devrons maintenant raccourcir les questions et les réponses
de tous les autres.

La sénatrice Merchant : J’aimerais poser une question a
Mme Hutchison. Vous avez mentionné la Saskatchewan. C’est
de 1a que je viens et je ne connais pas le processus. Pouvez-vous
me dire comment cela fonctionne en Saskatchewan?

Mme Hutchison : Oui. Je ne peux pas donner beaucoup plus de
précisions que ce qui se trouve dans le rapport, mais je peux vous
décrire ce qui se passe dans notre association sans but lucratif.

Les processus et les problémes ressemblent a ceux qu’Akiva a
décrits, mais des organisations comme Saskatchewan Voice of
People with Disabilities ont des personnes qui remplissent les
formulaires. Cette aide peut aussi étre fournie au bureau d’un
député.

C’est un défi, comme 1’a décrit Akiva, parce que notre
processus et celui de I’Alberta Network for Mental Health
s’échelonne probablement lui aussi sur six mois. Les processus
sont les mémes, la seule différence est que nous offrons ce service
gratuitement et que nous n’avons pas de personnel
supplémentaire ni de subvention. Tout cela se fait un peu sur le
coin du bureau chez nous.

Notre organisation vise a défendre les personnes handicapées,
mais nous sommes aussi censés avoir davantage d’activités axées
sur ’éducation, par exemple, et cette aide est essentielle pour tous
les types de formulaires. Le crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées représente un défi de taille, mais il peut faire
réaliser des économies considérables aux familles si elles peuvent
recouvrer une partie de leurs impots.
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Also very important, Senator Merchant, is to have the
Disability Tax Credit refundable so it can assist the most
vulnerable people who do not have access to extra income
through any other means. For people with disabilities, CPP
Disability Benefit is taxable, so people pay tax on it. If one has
income from a long-term disability insurance plan that is not
private, or through their employer, that income is also taxable.

There can be some significant savings. It would be of great
benefit to people who do not pay tax if this were a refundable
credit. It would go a long way to easing the poverty faced by
people with disabilities. It could be their annual contribution to a
Registered Disability Savings Plan if they were eligible. There
would be ways to leverage any small amount that they might get. I
mean, $1,000, if this credit were refundable, would go a long way
to easing someone’s poverty when they’re on CPP Disability
Benefit, a provincial disability program or medical welfare.

Senator Buth: Ms. Hutchison and Ms. Cohen, thank you for
your presentations and the amount of information you gave us
above and beyond essentially what this bill addresses because |
think it’s really important information for us to know.

Going back to the bill, we just heard from three promoters — I
use the word “promoters” because it is defined in the bill and not
negatively — who said the industry standard fee is 30 per. Can
you comment briefly on that? What do you think of the
30 per cent fee?

Ms. Hutchison: As we stated in our presentation, even
10 per cent is high for someone with a disability. I also must
concede the point that 30 per cent as contingency is required by
most lawyers and accountants. It might be important to
acknowledge that services could be provided for free on any
advertisement and where people could access those sources for
free. There are certain non-profits. For example, Calgary Legal
Guidance has an initial charge of $50. Our non-profits
throughout Council of Canadians with Disabilities and
Disabled Women’s Network of Canada charge no fees
whatsoever. However, this may be one thing when one is
looking at developing the results-based funding and the
provision of service through other granting mechanisms where
there could also be grants for staff.

As Akiva rightly identified, these processes are extremely
complex and require a large portion of our operation. It takes
three to six months. For some of our clients, because of their
disabilities, it takes one or two years by the time you get them
through everything. They may be able to make it in for one
appointment, but then you have to wait for them. Also, we are

Un autre objectif trés important, sénatrice Merchant, est que le
crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées devienne
remboursable afin de pouvoir aider les personnes les plus
vulnérables qui n’ont pas accés a des revenus supplémentaires
par d’autres moyens. Pour les personnes handicapées, la
prestation d’invalidité du RPC est imposable, alors il faut payer
de I'impo6t sur cette prestation. Lorsqu’on touche une prestation
d'un régime d’assurance-invalidité a long terme privé ou d'un
régime de I’employeur, ce revenu est imposable lui aussi.

Il peut y avoir des économies importantes. Il serait trés
avantageux pour ceux qui ne paient pas d’impét que le crédit soit
remboursable. Cela réduirait grandement la pauvreté qui sévit
chez les personnes handicapées. Cela pourrait représenter leur
cotisation annuelle a un régime enregistré d’épargne-invalidité
s’ils étaient admissibles. Il y aurait des moyens d’optimiser le
moindre petit montant qu’ils pourraient obtenir. Si le crédit est
remboursable, 1 000 § contribueraient grandement a réduire la
pauvreté méme pour quelquun qui touche des prestations
d’invalidit¢é du RPC, d’un programme d’assurance-invalidité
provincial ou d’aide pour les frais médicaux.

Le sénateur Buth : Mesdames Hutchison et Cohen, je vous
remercie pour vos exposés et la foule de renseignements que vous
nous avez fournis en plus de ce qui touche directement au projet
de loi, parce que je pense qu’il est trés important que nous
sachions tout cela.

Pour en revenir au projet de loi, nous venons d’entendre trois
promoteurs — j'emploie le terme « promoteurs », parce qu’il est
défini dans le projet de loi et pas dans un sens négatif — affirmer
que les frais normaux dans I’industrie sont de 30 p. 100. Pouvez-
vous nous dire briévement ce que vous en pensez? Que pensez-
vous des frais de 30 p. 100?

Mme Hutchison : Comme nous l’avons déclaré dans notre
exposé, méme 10 p. 100, c’est élevé pour une personne
handicapée. Je conviens que la plupart des avocats et des
comptables exigent des honoraires conditionnels de 30 p. 100. Il
serait peut-étre important de reconnaitre dans les publicités que
des services peuvent étre offerts gratuitement et qu’il est possible
d’avoir accés a ces sources gratuitement. Il y a quelques
organisations sans but lucratif. Par exemple, Calgary Legal
Guidance exige des frais initiaux de 50 §. Nos organisations sans
but lucratif membres du Conseil des Canadiens avec déficiences et
du Réseau d’action des femmes handicapées du Canada n’exigent
pas de frais. Ce pourrait étre envisagé pour trouver un
financement axé sur les résultats et offrir des services par
d’autres mécanismes de financement prévoyant aussi des
subventions pour du personnel.

Comme Akiva I’a trés bien indiqué, les processus sont
extrémement complexes et exigent beaucoup de nos ressources.
Il faut compter de trois a six mois. A cause des déficiences de
certains de nos clients, il faut parfois un an ou deux avant de
mener le processus a terme. IlIs peuvent aller a un rendez-vous,

mais il faut les attendre. Il y a aussi des problémes lorsque les
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having problems with doctors retiring and people going on
maternity leave, that sort of thing, which can be tremendously
challenging.

We have had two people whose doctors left the clinics and
provided no referral. The clinic did not assign another doctor to
them or refer them elsewhere, so they waited additional months
because of the time needed to find health care practitioners. This
is another situation that is really difficult.

Dr. Cohen: I would add to that. As I mentioned, it is a matter
of how you define the problem and how you want to go about
fixing it. There is sufficient lack of clarity in the form and
educating health care practitioners about what does and doesn’t
qualify. Unfortunately, that’s especially the case for problems
related to mental functions. It is easier to assess that someone who
is a paraplegic can’t walk than it might be to assess the impact of a
mental disorder. In the example given about ADD, it shouldn’t be
at all about the diagnosis but about the impact of the diagnosis on
that person living in the world and their adaptive functions.

I would suggest that more work could be done to make the
form and its eligibility criteria clearer to the providers who are
doing it. Health practitioners, psychologists among them, don’t
operate on a contingency basis. They don’t charge to complete
forms based on a percentage of what the patient is going to
recover. There are fee schedules, and psychological services are
largely fee-for-service. It is a completely different model. I would
prefer to see the forms clearer so people can get them filled out
under their own steam.

Senator Buth: Briefly, I'll ask each of the promoters: Will you
participate in the consultations to set the fees?

Dr. Okorofsky: May I answer that? In my closing statement, I
said it is probably one of the most important things we can do.
This is not the Wild West. There needs to be structure and
realistic guidelines.

Now that I have a chance with my microphone on, I question
the remarks made about free services. Nothing is free. The NPOs
are funded and the NGOs are funded. Everybody that helps is
funded. We are not funded. The idea that we charge and they do it
for free is probably a bit of a misnomer. I really wanted to make
that point.

Mr. Anthony: We would be happy to attend any consultation
in the future whenever we’re invited by the Senate.

Mr. Medjuck: Me too.
The Chair: The invitation may not be from the Senate.
Dr. Okorofsky: Whoever.

Senator Gerstein: Mr. Anthony, you indicated that you have
been in business for 23 years.

médecins partent a la retraite ou en congé de maternité, par
exemple. Cela peut devenir extrémement ardu.

Nous avons vu deux personnes qui ont perdu leur médecin,
parce que le médecin a quitté la clinique. La clinique ne les a pas
transférées a un autre médecin et ne les a pas renvoyées ailleurs.
Alors, ces personnes ont attendu encore plus longtemps parce
qu’il leur a fallu des mois avant de trouver un médecin. Voila une
autre situation tres difficile.

Dre Cohen : J’aurais quelque chose a ajouter. Comme je 1’ai
indiqué, Tout dépend de la fagon dont on définit le probleme et de
la facon dont on veut le résoudre. Il y a un grand manque de
clarté dans le formulaire et chez les professionnels de la santé au
sujet de ce qui est admissible et ce qui ne I’est pas.
Malheureusement, c’est particuliérement vrai pour les problémes
liés aux fonctions mentales. Il est plus facile d’évaluer un
paraplégique qui ne peut pas marcher que d’évaluer les
incidences d’un trouble mental. Dans I'’exemple donné a propos
du TDA, on ne devrait pas se soucier du tout du diagnostic mais
plutot de I'incidence du diagnostic sur la personne et ses fonctions
adaptatives.

Je pense qu’on pourrait s’efforcer davantage de rendre le
formulaire et ses critéres d’admissibilité plus clairs pour les
fournisseurs qui le remplissent. Les professionnels de la santé,
dont les psychologues, n’exigent pas des honoraires conditionnels.
Ils n’exigent pas des frais pour remplir les formulaires en
pourcentage de ce que le patient pourra recevoir. Il y a des
barémes de tarifs et les services psychologiques sont en grande
partie des services rémunérés a ’acte. Le modéle est complétement
différent. Je préférerais que les formulaires soient plus clairs afin
que les gens puissent les faire remplir par eux-mémes.

Le sénateur Buth : Briévement, je demanderai a chaque
promoteur : Participerez-vous aux consultations pour fixer les
tarifs?

Dr Okorofsky : Puis-je répondre? Dans ma conclusion, j’ai
déclaré que c’est probablement 1'une des choses les plus
importantes que nous pouvons faire. Ce n’est pas le Far-West.
Il faut une structure et des lignes directrices réalistes.

Puisque j’ai la parole, j’en profite pour contester les remarques
faites a propos des services gratuits. Rien n’est gratuit. Les OSBL
sont financées et les ONG sont financées. Tous ceux qui offrent de
l’aide sont financés. Nous ne sommes pas financés. L’idée que
nous exigeons des frais et qu’ils font le travail gratuitement est
probablement fausse. Je tenais a le préciser.

M. Anthony : Nous serions ravis de participer a de futures
consultations si le Sénat nous invite.

M. Medjuck : Moi aussi.
Le président : L’invitation ne viendrait peut-étre pas du Sénat.
Dr Okorofsky : Peu importe.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Monsieur Anthony, vous avez indiqué
que vous étes en affaires depuis 23 ans.
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Mr. Anthony: Yes.

Senator Gerstein: Doctor, how long has your business been in
existence?

Dr. Okorofsky: Approximately four years.
Mr. Medjuck: Five years.

Senator Gerstein: Do you view yourselves as direct
competitors?

Dr. Okorofsky: Akiva and my group?
Senator Gerstein: Yes.

Dr. Okorofsky: We provide a similar service. Some of our
methods and operational procedures are different. Each of us has
reasons for being involved in this particular business.

Senator Gerstein: Your motivations may be different.

Dr. Okorofsky: My motivation may be different than Akiva’s
or Shawn’s.

Senator Gerstein: What is your motivation?

Dr. Okorofsky: My motivation is that I’'m a disabled dentist. I
can’t practice. I had looked at the Disability Tax Credit to see if it
applied to me, which it does not. I'm restricted or impaired from
performing my professional duties as a dentist, but I can dress
myself, feed myself and take care of myself. ’'m not impaired on a
day-to-day basis with basic functions of living. I can do all those
things. After 30-plus years in the dental profession, when the
opportunity arose to do something in a helping capacity, I jumped
at 1t.

Senator Gerstein: Could you describe to the committee a little
about the industry you are in? Is it made up of people like you
who have a hundred employees, or is it broken down into cottage
industries?

Mr. Anthony: With all due respect, I do not look at these two
gentlemen and their organizations as my competitors. They are
much more in line with what they do, and we are a full-service
accounting company. Our specialty is medical and disability tax
benefits. That’s what we have been doing for 23 years in
99 per cent of our business. We hire accountants and do full-
service accounting.

Senator Gerstein: Tell the committee about the industry.

Mr. Anthony: Right after this meeting, I'm going to
Peterborough where we were invited by the March of Dimes to
do a financial literacy seminar. Many people have come to us to
talk about the different experiences they have had in the industry
when trying to qualify for the Disability Tax Credit and other
credits after that. They have had struggles; and that’s where we

M. Anthony : Oui.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Docteur, depuis combien d’années existe
votre entreprise?

Dr Okorofsky : Environ quatre ans.
M. Medjuck : Cing ans.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Vous considérez-vous comme des
concurrents directs?

Dr Okorofsky : Akiva et mon groupe?
Le sénateur Gerstein : Oui.

Dr Okorofsky : Nous offrons des services semblables.
Certaines de nos méthodes et de nos procédures opérationnelles
sont différentes. Chacun de nous a ses raisons pour étre dans ce
secteur d’activité.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Vos motivations sont peut-étre
différentes.

Dr Okorofsky : Mes motivations peuvent étre différentes de
celles d’Akiva ou de Shawn.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Quelles sont vos motivations?

Dr Okorofsky : Je suis un dentiste handicapé. Je ne peux pas
exercer ma profession. J’ai voulu savoir si le crédit d’impé6t pour
personnes handicapées s’appliquait a mon cas, mais il ne
s’applique pas. Je suis incapable d’exercer mes fonctions
professionnelles comme dentiste, mais je peux me Vvétir, me
nourrir et prendre soin de moi. Je ne suis pas limité au quotidien
dans les fonctions nécessaires aux activités de la vie courante. Je
peux faire tout cela. Aprés plus de 30 ans dans la profession
dentaire, lorsque j’ai vu une possibilité d’aider, j’ai sauté sur
l’occasion.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Pouvez-vous nous décrire briévement
votre industrie? S’agit-il essentiellement de gens comme vous qui
ont des centaines d’employés ou d’une multitude de petites
entreprises?

M. Anthony : Avec tout le respect que je vous dois, je ne
consideére pas ces deux messieurs et leurs organisations comme
mes concurrents. Leurs activités sont trés proches entre elles, et
nous sommes une entreprise qui offre des services comptables
complets. Nous nous spécialisons dans les crédits d’impét pour
dépenses médicales et pour personnes handicapées. C’est ce que
nous faisons depuis 23 ans et qui représente 99 p. 100 de nos
activités. Nous embauchons des comptables et nous offrons des
services de comptabilité complets.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Décrivez-nous I'industrie.

M. Anthony : Aprés cette réunion, je vais a Peterborough, ou
nous avons été invités par la Marche des dix sous a participer a un
atelier sur la littératie financiére. Bien des gens viennent nous voir
pour nous raconter leurs expériences dans I'industrie, lorsqu’ils
essaient de se qualifier pour recevoir le crédit d’impét pour
personnes handicapées et d’autres crédits par la suite. Ils ont eu
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come in. The problem I have, by and large, is with one- or two-
person operations out of a basement. That’s popping up more and
more at every trade show we go to or at every event.

Recently we were at a seniors’ health care event in Kingston. I
met a woman who works on the Disability Tax Credit and the
caregiver credit from her house; and I've been to her office.

Senator Gerstein: I need to understand: Are the majority of
these businesses running out of a basement with one or two
people, or are the majority basically run by people such as you?

Mr. Anthony: I would say that the majority are represented at
this table. Would that be fair, gentlemen?

Dr. Okorofsky: I would disagree because there are other firms.
I would admit that the National Benefit Authority is probably the
largest one nationally. I spent an hour listening to somebody from
Grants International on the radio on Saturday talking about the
Disability Tax Credit ostensibly for walking. Grants is not a small
company either and is well known for recovery. There are
numerous cottage industries. When the bill came out, I contacted
many of the people who advertised to find out what type of
operations they have. Ours is modest — a dozen people involved
in the interviews, reviews and the tax work, et cetera. We’re not
nearly as large as Akiva’s. It is difficult to do as a one-man band
because there’s so much to know. We have specialists in each
area, but it’s not a huge business, like Ernst & Young is.

Senator Gerstein: Could you give us an idea of the profile of
your typical client?

Mr. Medjuck: I would say the profile —
Senator Gerstein: What income level are they?
Mr. Medjuck: Everywhere.

Senator Gerstein: I understand that. We're talking about the
majority.

Mr. Medjuck: You can’t say that. Unfortunately, I can’t
pinpoint it. It’s like asking Canada Revenue Agency. They’re all
over the map. Some people have zero income, so we have to find
who supports them. We have people with high income levels that
are paying high amounts in therapy, psychological services,
et cetera, that this money often covers.

I would say that the common denominator for all of our clients
is that they have been disabled for 10, 20 and 30 years but have
not known about this credit. The member behind the bill had
mentioned in her riding that there were many veterans. Someone
had to go on the radio to tell them about the Disability Tax
Credit. It’s a Catch-22. Either they’re receiving it — people on the

des difficultés, et c’est 1a que nous entrons en jeu. J’en ai surtout
contre les petites entreprises installées dans leur sous-sol. Nous en
voyons de plus en plus dans les foires commerciales ou d’autres
événements.

Nous sommes allés récemment a un salon sur la santé des
personnes agées a Kingston. J’ai rencontré une femme qui offre
des services liés au crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées et
au crédit d’impot pour aidant naturel a partir de chez elle et je suis
allé voir son bureau.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Je veux comprendre : Est-ce que ces
petites entreprises a domicile sont la majorité, ou est-ce que la
plupart des entreprises sont dirigées par des gens comme vous?

M. Anthony : Je dirais que la majorité est représentée a cette
table. Seriez-vous d’accord, messieurs?

Dr Okorofsky : Je ne suis pas d’accord, parce qu’il y a d’autres
entreprises. Je reconnais que la National Benefit Authority est
probablement la plus grosse a I’échelle nationale. Samedi dernier,
J’ai passé une heure a écouter a la radio un représentant de Grants
International discuter du crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées et plus particuliérement des problémes de mobilité.
Grants n’est pas une petite entreprise et elle est bien connue pour
ses recouvrements. 11 y a une foule de petites entreprises. Lorsque
le projet de loi a été déposé, j’ai communiqué avec un grand
nombre des personnes qui faisaient de la publicité, afin de
déterminer de quel type d’entreprise il s’agit. La nétre est modeste
— une douzaine de personnes pour les entrevues, les évaluations,
le travail dans le domaine fiscal, et cetera. Nous sommes bien
moins gros que l’entreprise d’Akiva. C’est difficile de travailler
seul parce qu’il y a tant de choses a savoir. Nous avons des
spécialistes dans chaque domaine, mais nous ne sommes pas un
géant comme Ernst & Young.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Pouvez-vous nous donner une idée du
profil de votre client-type?

M. Medjuck : Je dirais que le profil...
Le sénateur Gerstein : Quel est leur niveau de revenu?
M. Medjuck : Tous les niveaux.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Je comprends cela. C’est la majorité.

M. Medjuck : On ne peut pas dire cela. Malheureusement, je ne
peux pas le savoir avec exactitude. C’est comme demander a
I’Agence du revenu du Canada. L’éventail est trés large. Certains
n’ont aucun revenu, alors nous devons savoir qui subvient a leurs
besoins. Il y a des gens qui ont des revenus élevés et qui paient des
sommes énormes pour des thérapies, des services psychologiques,
et cetera, souvent grace a cet argent.

Je dirais que le dénominateur commun de tous nos clients est le
fait qu’ils sont handicapés depuis 10, 20 ou 30 ans, mais qu’ils ne
connaissaient pas ce crédit. La députée qui parraine le projet de
loi a indiqué qu’il y a de nombreux anciens combattants dans sa
circonscription. Il a fallu que quelqu’un aille a la radio pour leur
parler du crédit d’impd6t pour personnes handicapées. C’est tout
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radio can tell them all they want but they’re already getting it —
or they’re not getting it and need someone on the radio to tell
them about it. Why aren’t they receiving it?

The common denominator of the people is not knowing about
the credit. They have no clue. These are not people walking out of
a doctor’s office having been diagnosed five minutes ago. These
are people who have been living with disabilities for most of their
lives, and they’re lost. We're investing in people with disabilities.
With all due respect, we don’t believe that helping people with
disabilities should be done on the side of the desk. They deserve
our respect and our assistance. Why did I get into this? I have two
hearing-impaired siblings with cochlear implants. I’'m honoured
and humbled to be able to make a living and have 120 other
people make a living helping people with disabilities. They
obviously need the help because if they didn’t need the help, |
wouldn’t be in business.

Senator Callbeck: Thank you for coming this morning. I have
many questions but I'll keep it to a couple of people in view of the
time.

Mr. Anthony, you said that you explore more than one dozen
credits. I don’t want to take the time now, but could you provide
the committee with that list, please?

Mr. Anthony: I can provide that. If it’s okay with the
committee, I'll have it translated and to you by the end of the
week.

Senator Callbeck: You mentioned that some charge 30 per cent
plus administration and insurance fees.

Mr. Anthony: Yes.

Senator Callbeck: Is it common practice to charge a certain
percentage plus these other fees?

Mr. Anthony: No. This is what we’re hearing from clients who
come through our doors and tell us about their experience with
some of these other promoters.

Senator Callbeck: Do you have any idea how much those fees
would be, such as for insurance?

Mr. Anthony: I have heard numbers from $25 and up in
administrative fees for document handling and a percentage of
what the person is quoted for insurance. This is from people who
have come through our doors after dealing with one of these
promoters.

Senator Callbeck: With you, it is 30 per cent, which includes
everything.

Mr. Anthony: That includes all the credits and a
recommendation after that they talk to somebody about
RDSPs, maybe something like a Henson Trust fund.

I'un ou tout 'autre. Ou bien ils le recoivent, dans ce cas, on peut
bien en parler tant qu’on veut a la radio, ils ne sont pas intéressés
parce qu’ils 'obtiennent déja, ou alors ils ne le regoivent pas et il
faut que quelqu’un leur en parle a la radio et leur explique
pourquoi ils ne le regoivent pas.

Le dénominateur commun est que les gens ne connaissent pas
le crédit. Ils n’en connaissent pas 1’existence. Ce ne sont pas des
patients qui sortent du cabinet du médecin et qui ont obtenu un
diagnostic il y a cinq minutes. Ce sont des gens qui ont vécu avec
une incapacité presque toute leur vie, et ils sont perdus. Nous
investissons dans les personnes handicapées. Sans vouloir offenser
personne, nous ne croyons pas qu’aider les personnes handicapées
devrait se faire sur le coin du bureau. Ils méritent notre respect et
notre aide. Pourquoi me suis-je lancé dans ce domaine? Deux
membres de ma famille ont des implants cochléaires. Je suis
honoré et reconnaissant de pouvoir gagner ma vie et de pouvoir
faire vivre 120 autres personnes en aidant les personnes
handicapées. De toute évidence, ils ont besoin d’aide, parce que
s’ils n’en avaient pas besoin, je ne serais pas en affaires.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Merci d’étre ici ce matin. Jai de
nombreuses questions mais je me limiterai a deux ou trois, vu
I’heure qui file.

Monsieur Anthony, vous avez affirmé que vous explorez plus
d’une douzaine de crédits. Je ne veux pas prendre trop de temps
maintenant, mais pourriez-vous en fournir la liste au comité, s’il
vous plait??

M. Anthony : Je peux vous fournir cette liste. Si le comité est
d’accord, je la ferai traduire et je vous la remettrai d’ici la fin de la
semaine.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Vous avez indiqué que certains exigent
des frais de 30 p. 100 plus des frais d’administration et
d’assurance.

M. Anthony : Oui.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Est-ce une pratique courante d’exiger
un certain pourcentage et ces autres frais?

M. Anthony : Non. C’est ce que nous entendons des clients qui
viennent nous voir et nous racontent leur expérience avec d’autres
promoteurs.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Avez-vous une idée du montant que
représentent les frais d’assurance, par exemple?

M. Anthony : J’ai entendu parler de 25 § et plus pour les frais
d’administration et la manutention des documents et un
pourcentage pour I’assurance. C’est ce que nous disent des gens
qui viennent chez nous aprés avoir fait affaire avec ces
promoteurs.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Chez vous, c’est 30 p. 100, et tout est
inclus.

M. Anthony : Cela inclut tous les crédits et ensuite la
recommandation qu’ils parlent a quelqu'un de REEI, dans une
fiducie Henson par exemple.
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Senator Callbeck: Mr. Medjuck, you mentioned that many
doctors are not paid for completing the form. Who determines
whether the doctor gets paid or doesn’t get paid?

Mr. Medjuck: That’s a very good question. I will give you an
example. With provincial applications, for example in Ontario for
the Ontario Disability Support Program, OHIP pays doctors a fee
for completing these forms; so doctors are a lot more amicable
about completing the forms because they’re getting paid to do so.

For the federal Disability Tax Credit, there is no mechanism in
place for the government to pay doctors. Often, the patient can’t
afford to pay the doctor a fee of $100, which it often is, and that’s
a barrier. What do we do at the National Benefit Authority? We
will cover that cost in most scenarios, and we only bill it back if
the client gets money. If the client is not successful and is not
accepted, then we swallow that fee.

Our mission is to remove as many barriers as possible to
accessing money that people may be entitled to.

Senator Callbeck: Dr. Cohen, you mentioned certain
psychological services. It is a grey area: You don’t know
whether to charge the tax since the budget of last year; and you
have been trying to find out for a year. What is the practice?

Dr. Cohen: If the service primarily has a health purpose then,
of course, it would be exempt. The challenge is in defining or
understanding in Budget 2013 what is and what isn’t a health
purpose. The problem with psychological services in Canada is
that the bulk of them are not covered by public health insurance,
so it is fee for service. If it’s fee for service, there is invariably an
insurance company involved because people want to get coverage
through the extended benefits they might have through work or
employment, for example.

Some of the challenges are in deciding if this kind of assessment
or this kind of intervention has a health purpose attached. There
continues to be a lack of clarity. We have heard from our
members that they will call CRA and get different opinions on the
same issue. We want some guidance and to have defined for us
what does and doesn’t have a health purpose.

Our view is that because of the way these services are funded in
this country, you are not going to find an instance in which there
is not an insurance company attached. It’s because of the way in
which it is remunerated and people get support for that service in
the first place.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Monsieur Medjuck, vous avez déclaré
que de nombreux médecins ne sont pas rémunérés lorsqu’ils
remplissent le formulaire. Qui détermine si le médecin est
rémunéré ou pas?

M. Medjuck : C’est une trés bonne question. Je vous donnerai
un exemple. Pour les demandes provinciales, par exemple, le
Programme ontarien de soutien aux personnes handicapées,
I’OHIP verse des honoraires aux médecins qui remplissent les
formulaires. Les médecins sont donc plus disposés a remplir les
formulaires, parce qu’ils sont rémunérés pour le faire.

Pour le crédit d’impdét pour personnes handicapées fédéral, il
n’y a aucun mécanisme en place pour que le gouvernement
rémunére les médecins. Souvent, le patient ne peut se permettre de
verser au médecin des honoraires de 100 $, qui sont souvent
exigés et qui constituent un obstacle. Que faisons-nous a la
National Benefit Authority? La plupart du temps, nous assumons
ces frais et nous ne les facturons que si le client regoit quelque
chose. Si le client ne réussit pas et que sa demande n’est pas
acceptée, alors nous payons la facture.

Notre mission consiste a éliminer autant d’obstacles que
possible afin que les gens puissent recevoir les montants
auxquels ils ont droit.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Docteure Cohen, vous avez évoqué des
services psychologiques. C’est une zone grise : Vous ne savez pas
s’il faut percevoir la taxe depuis le budget de I’an dernier et vous
essayez de le savoir depuis un an. Quelle est la pratique?

Dre Cohen : Si le service a surtout une fin liée a la santé, il
serait évidemment exonéré. Le probléme, c’est qu’il est difficile de
définir ou de comprendre dans le budget de 2013 ce qui constitue
une fin liée a la santé. La plupart des services psychologiques au
Canada ne sont pas assurés par les régimes publics d’assurance-
maladie, ce sont donc des services rémunérés a I’acte. Si ce sont
des services rémunérés a I’acte, il y a nécessairement un assureur
privé en cause, parce que les gens veulent étre assurés par les
régimes d’assurance complémentaires de leur employeur, par
exemple.

Il est difficile de décider si ce type d’évaluation ou
d’intervention a une fin liée a la santé. Le manque de clarté
demeure. Nos membres nous ont dit qu’ils appellent ’ARC et
obtiennent des réponses différentes a la méme question. Nous
voulons des lignes directrices et nous voulons qu’on nous définisse
ce qui est lié a la santé et ce qui ne I’est pas.

Nous estimons que, vu la maniére dont ces services sont
financés au pays, il y a toujours un assureur privé en cause. Cela
s’explique par le mode de rémunération et de financement de ce
type de service.
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[Translation)

Senator Bellemare: When I saw what we were going to be
discussing this morning, it struck me that there was very little to
debate. Today, however, I realize that we have just opened
Pandora’s box. There is a lot at stake here, not just the process,
but also the simple facts of the matter.

My question is for all the witnesses. Would you like to see
included in this bill — because it is motherhood and apple pie
legislation, and as a rule, everyone agrees that it is important to
ensure that disabled persons are not exploited — a maximum
amount? There is a consensus around 30 per cent. Would you like
to see this in the bill before it is passed, or do you think that it is a
better idea to adopt it in principle and then debate it later on?

As for my second question, I, too, was taken aback by the
notion of promoter. The word “providers” or “pourvoyeurs,” in
French, would be more suitable; service providers, whether not-
for-profit or for-profit organizations. That would be more neutral
as far as the bill is concerned. I would appreciate your thoughts
on these two matters.

[English)

Mr. Medjuck: Thank you very much. It is difficult, and I will
go off script for a second. You feel very attacked when a bill is
introduced and you are being called a promoter. It doesn’t feel
like the right step forward to a working relationship. I appreciate
your mentioning that.

The Chair: I think Senator Buth touched on, as well, that there
is a negative connotation.

Mr. Medjuck: I sincerely appreciate it. The other thing I want
to mention is that you hit the nail on the head. Thirty per cent is
industry standard. It is a low number compared to other similar
industries, and I'm not sure it really needs an eight-month
consultation. It is pretty straight out there. We mentioned
SR&ED, all of these different lawyer contingency fees.
Everyone around the table spoke to the fact, as well, that
30 per cent is a reasonable fee, and we want to make sure that the
bill passes in a way that is going to protect the people with
disabilities. I think it is dangerous to kind of let loose a chicken.
I'm not sure that makes sense, but we will get back to that.

Senator Eggleton: It is a blank line.

Mr. Medjuck: Yes, to let something loose and say, “We will
pass this bill without any definition.” I'm not sure how
comfortable I am having a bill out there like that when
everyone is very clear. To most people around the table,
30 per cent is a fair fee, and it is a fee that allows people with
disabilities, who choose to, to access the government monies in a
professional way, where they’re going to be dealt with
professionally, ethically, et cetera.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : Quand j’ai lu ce sur quoi on allait
discuter ce matin, je me suis dit qu’il n’y avait pas grand-chose a
débattre. Aujourd’hui, je me rends compte qu’on vient d’ouvrir
une boite de Pandore. Il y a beaucoup de choses, non seulement le
processus, mais aussi la réalité des choses.

Ma question s’adresse a tout le monde. Souhaiteriez-vous que
dans le projet de loi qui nous intéresse — car c’est un projet de loi
de principe, et c’est siir qu’en principe tout le monde est d’accord
pour faire en sorte que personne n’exploite les personnes qui ont
un handicap —, on ait le montant maximum? Il y a un consensus
autour de 30 p. 100. Souhaitez-vous que ce soit déterminé dans le
projet de loi avant d’étre adopté ou préférez-vous 1’adopter
comme un principe et ensuite débattre du principe?

Mon autre question : moi aussi j’ai sursauté a la notion de
« promoteur ». On devrait utiliser le terme « providers » ou
« pourvoyeurs », en frangais; des pourvoyeurs de services, qu’ils
soient des organismes a but non lucratif ou a but lucratif, car ce
serait plus neutre dans ce projet de loi. J’aimerais vous entendre
réagir a ces deux éléments.

[Traduction]

M. Medjuck : Merci beaucoup. C’est difficile et je vais
improviser pendant quelques secondes. On se sent attaqué
directement quand un projet de loi est déposé et qu’on nous
qualifie de promoteur. Je ne pense pas que ce soit une bonne
facon de procéder pour établir une relation de travail. Je vous
remercie de I’avoir souligné.

Le président : Je crois que le sénateur Buth a mentionné lui
aussi qu’il y a une connotation négative.

M. Medjuck : J’en conviens. J’aimerais souligner également
que vous enfoncez le clou. La norme dans l'industrie est
30 p. 100. C’est peu élevé par rapport a d’autres industries
semblables et je ne suis pas convaincu qu’il faut des consultations
pendant huit mois. C’est assez simple en réalité. Nous avons
mentionné la RS&DE, ainsi que les honoraires conditionnels des
avocats. Tout le monde autour de la table a également déclaré que
30 p. 100 représentent des frais raisonnables et que nous voulons
nous assurer que le projet de loi est adopté de maniére a protéger
les personnes handicapées. Je pense qu’il est dangereux d’ouvrir
une boite de Pandore. Je ne suis pas certain que ce soit la bonne
chose, mais nous y reviendrons.

Le sénateur Eggleton : C’est une ligne en blanc.

M. Medjuck : Oui, on ouvre une boite de Pandore et on dit que
le projet de loi sera adopté sans définition. Je ne suis pas certain
de I'utilit¢ d’adopter un projet de loi quand tout le monde est
d’accord. Pour la plupart de ceux qui sont autour de 1a, 30 p. 100
représentent des frais raisonnables, permettant aux personnes
handicapées, qui le choisissent d’avoir acces a des fonds accordés
par le gouvernement, avec professionnalisme, par des gens qui
agiront de manicre professionnelle, éthique, et cetera.
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The Chair: Are all the other witnesses content to have
Mr. Medjuck speak for them?

Dr. Okorofsky: I am never content to have anybody speak for
me. It is just my nature, but I do agree with the honourable
senator that I do not like the word “promoter” as well. This has
been alluded to several times, and I mentioned in my remarks that
the idea of an empty shell of a bill really is disturbing because we
don’t know what we’re talking about. Are we arguing for? Are we
arguing against? Are we supporting? Are we not supporting? Are
we going beyond a number and then helping to fix the system or
to make the system more efficient, which is what I'm hoping we’re
going to do? That would be my answer.

A number — 30, 25, whatever it is. We have agreed the
industry standard appears to be 30 per cent. We would be talking
completely differently today about how to fix the system, how to
make things work, than talking about whether we’re promoters or
consultants.

Dr. Cohen: I just want to say that whether or not “promoter” is
the right word is something you might want to look at, but I don’t
think “provider” is the right word. That’s often the word used to
describe health care practitioners — health providers — and it
may aid and abet a little bit of confusion that you are talking
about two different categories and two different roles.

Mr. Anthony: If I may, 30 per cent is reflective of our practices
since the beginning of time. For other companies who do what we
do, 30 per cent is what they’ve offered. I mean that from the
perspective of full-scale accounting as well. As far as going
forward without principle first, this is a completely unregulated
industry. Anybody at all can put a shingle on their door and do
this.

The biggest problem that we have when people come up to us is
that they thought they had done everything they could do. They
met somebody. They did this work. They thought they did
everything they could do. Meanwhile, there are thousands of
dollars left on the table that could pay for their therapies, that
could pay for their renovations, that accommodate their
condition. Regulation is required.

The Chair: Ms. Hutchison, are you content with 30 per cent?

Ms. Hutchison: 1 would only, I think, on behalf of our
organizations, be content with 30 per cent if the question of
disbursement is addressed within the legislation. Disbursements
are things like photocopying, postage, any filing fees that they
may have to do, expenses for travelling to an appeal, that sort of
thing. That question also must be addressed in the legislation, and
I also endorse the word “consultant” that was put around the
table.

Le président : Tous les autres témoins sont contents que
M. Medjuck parle a leur place?

Dr Okorofsky : Je ne suis jamais content que quelqu’un parle a
ma place. C’est simplement ma nature, mais je conviens avec
I’honorable sénatrice que je n’aime pas le terme « promoteur »
moi non plus. On y a fait allusion a plusieurs reprises, et j’ai
indiqué dans ma déclaration quun projet de loi qui est une
coquille vide me dérange parce que nous ne savons pas de quoi il
est question. Sommes-nous pour? Sommes-nous contre? Est-ce
que nous I"appuyons? Est-ce que nous nous y opposons? Allons-
nous plus loin qu’un chiffre et aidons-nous a corriger le systéme
ou a le rendre plus efficace, ce que nous devrions faire selon moi?
Ce serait ma réponse.

Un pourcentage — 30, 25, peu importe. Nous sommes
d’accord que la norme dans l'industrie semble étre 30 p. 100.
Nous aurions un discours complétement différent aujourd’hui s’il
était question de corriger le systéme, de le faire fonctionner au licu
de nous demander si nous sommes des promoteurs ou des
consultants.

Dre Cohen : Je veux simplement ajouter que vous voudrez
peut-étre vous demander si « promoteur » est le mot juste, mais je
ne pense pas que « pourvoyeur » ou « fournisseur » soit le bon
terme. C’est souvent celui qui est employé pour décrire les
professionnels de la santé — fournisseurs de services de santé. 11
serait peut-étre bon et moins déroutant de parler de deux
catégories différentes et deux réles différents.

M. Anthony : Avec votre permission, 30 p. 100 refléte nos
pratiques depuis le début. Pour d’autres entreprises qui font la
méme chose que nous, c’est aussi 30 p. 100. Je parle de ceux qui
offrent des services comptables complets. En ce qui concerne
Iidée d’aller de l’avant sans avoir déja établi des principes,
I'industrie est complétement déréglementée. Tout le monde peut
accrocher une plaque sur sa porte et se lancer en affaires.

Notre plus grand probléme lorsque les gens viennent nous voir,
c’est qu’ils pensent avoir fait tout ce qu’ils pouvaient. Ils ont
rencontré quelqu’un. Ils ont fait le travail. Ils pensent avoir fait
tout ce qui était possible. Pourtant, ils ne réussissent pas a mettre
la main sur des milliers de dollars qui pourraient payer leurs
thérapies, qui pourraient payer des rénovations afin de leur
faciliter la vie. Il faut une réglementation.

Le président : Madame Hutchison, étes-vous satisfaite d’un
tarif de 30 p. 100?

Mme Hutchison : Au nom de nos organisations, je ne serais
contente avec 30 p. 100 que si la question des dépenses était
abordée dans la loi. Les dépenses comprennent des frais comme
les photocopies ou la poste, les frais de dossier, les dépenses pour
aller en appel, par exemple. Cette question doit aussi étre abordée
dans la loi et je suis moi aussi en faveur du terme « consultant »
qui a été employé autour de la table.
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The Chair: The issue of what percentage is not dealt with in the
legislation either but is left to regulation. Thank you. You have no
comment with respect to “promoter” or “provider”?

Ms. Hutchison: Consultant.

The Chair: Thank you. Sorry, I missed that. I have three
senators left. We have not a lot of time, but we may go over a tiny
bit if everybody is okay with that. We're moving along quite
nicely.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: For the sake of timing, I will speak
English. Dr. Cohen, I was wondering: Are you aware that some
doctors are charging more or less or whatever? Where is the fee
established? By whom?

Dr. Cohen: Appreciate that the qualified health practitioners
that can fill out the form span many professions, like
occupational therapists, physicians, optometrists, psychologists,
so I don’t know the fee set by every single profession. Whether
they have an hourly fee schedule or an hourly rate for their work
or whether they charge for the form, I believe it is more common
that they charge to fill out the form. One of the challenges with
the T2201 is that even though the form is fairly short, when you
get the questionnaire back for further clarification, it can take
quite a bit of time.

The fees may in fact be nominal, but I just don’t have that data
to give you.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Do we associate the doctors or
professionals that are giving the evaluation of the person
qualifying that person as handicapped? Are they part of the
promoters, or are they just separate professionals that supply that
for the promoter to make the request?

Dr. Cohen: No, they’re not consultants or promoters. They’re
the health care provider for the person with the disability who is
attempting to receive the credit. In order for them to establish
their eligibility, they have to bring the form to a health care
practitioner who can attest to the fact that their disability is
markedly restrictive and that either they can’t do something or it
takes an inordinate amount of time and so on and so forth.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I want to clarify. Those of you who
are making the claim, are you also promoting the Registered
Disability Savings Plan? Are you telling people that there is
another program too that they can have access to and create that
fund for the future?

Mr. Medjuck: At the National Benefit Authority we definitely
do. This is the first step, the Disability Tax Credit. When people
are approved for the Disability Tax Credit, we inform them of
two things. Number one is that, many times, they get approved
for future years, and they’re able to claim those independently,

Le président : Le pourcentage n’est pas fixé dans la loi non
plus. Il le sera par réglement. Merci. Vous n’avez aucun
commentaire au sujet des termes « promoteur » ou
« fournisseur »?

Mme Hutchison : Consultant.

Le président : Merci. Désolé, je n’avais pas fait attention. Il
reste trois sénateurs. Nous n’avons plus beaucoup de temps, mais
nous pouvons prolonger un peu, si tout le monde est d’accord.
Nous avangons assez bien.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Pour accélérer les choses, je
parlerai en anglais. Docteure Cohen, connaissez-vous des
médecins qui exigent des honoraires plus élevés ou plus bas? Ou
les honoraires sont-ils fixés? Par qui?

Dre Cohen : N’oubliez pas que les professionnels de la santé
qualifiés qui peuvent remplir le formulaire appartiennent a de
nombreuses professions, comme ergothérapeutes, médecins,
optométristes ou psychologues. Je ne connais pas les honoraires
fixés par chaque profession. Je ne sais pas s’ils ont un baréme de
tarifs a I’heure ou un tarif horaire pour leur travail ou s’ils exigent
des frais pour remplir le formulaire, mais je crois qu’il est trés
courant d’exiger des frais pour remplir le formulaire. L’un des
problémes que pose le formulaire T2201 est que, méme s’il est
relativement court, quand il est renvoyé pour demander des
précisions, il faut parfois beaucoup de temps avant d’obtenir les
précisions nécessaires.

Les honoraires sont peut-étre minimes en réalité, mais je n’ai
pas ces données.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Les médecins ou les
professionnels qui fournissent le certificat attestant que la
personne est handicapée sont-ils visés? Font-ils partie des
promoteurs, ou sont-ils des professionnels distincts qui se
contentent de fournir les certificats aux promoteurs qui les
demandent?

Dre Cohen : IIs ne sont pas consultants ni promoteurs. Ils sont
les professionnels de la santé que consultent les personnes
handicapées souhaitant obtenir le crédit. Afin d’établir leur
admissibilité, les patients doivent apporter le formulaire a un
professionnel de la santé qui peut attester qu’ils sont limités de
fagon marquée et qu’ils sont incapables d’exécuter une activité
courante ou prennent un temps excessif pour le faire, et ainsi de
suite.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’aimerais avoir une précision.
Est-ce que ceux d’entre vous qui présentent la demande font aussi
la promotion du régime enregistré d’épargne-invalidité? Dites-
vous a vos clients qu’il existe un autre programme auquel ils
peuvent avoir accés et qu’ils peuvent établir ce fonds pour
lavenir?

M. Medjuck : A la National Benefit Authority, nous le faisons
évidemment. Le crédit d'impé6t pour personnes handicapées est la
premiére étape. Lorsque nos clients sont approuvés aux fins du
crédit d’impot pour personnes handicapées, nous les informons de
deux choses. Premiérement, bien souvent, ils sont approuvés pour
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without using any provider. Number two is the RDSP, et cetera.
So 100 per cent. We set them up. All of the banks offer the
RDSPs, et cetera. This is where their expertise lies, and we send
them in that direction.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Is there an extra fee for that?

Mr. Medjuck: No, not at all.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Just to inform my colleagues who
did not attend the study of the bill about this, there are half a
million handicapped people in Canada who they say are
admissible, and, actually, only 15 per cent are covered. As far
as I'm concerned, what our report is saying — I'm sorry,
Mr. Chair, but I think we should share that with you. We have
worked quite a few months for that.

The Chair: I appreciate your doing that very much.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: They are saying, in fact, that the
federal government should increase and also make it a lot easier in
terms of communication so that the people are aware of it. So
somebody mentioned $1.5 million.

I hear about the action plan a zillion times a week, so I wish
that the action plan would talk about this. At least this is true: It
is half a million people. We should have a campaign with that
kind of mechanism. There are two big programs, and the second
one is a huge one. It is half a billion dollars now that people are
putting aside for them to benefit in the future from that fund.

We talk also about the provincial government. In Quebec, my
colleague would know that we have the Régie des rentes du
Québec, which is also providing some benefit to handicapped
people. You have to go to a process to be qualified as a
handicapped person. So would you say that, in Quebec, once the
Régie is qualifying you, you automatically can claim that?

So you see, there’s a lot of money lost in the system for
administrative purposes, and the person can be handicapped there
and, in the other place, not handicapped. To me, it is a big mess. |
applaud the private member’s bill. I subscribe to the measure.

First, they should be available; there should be a tax refundable
to the person and not something that you qualify for only if you
have money. This is totally ridiculous. Very often they are people
who have difficulty meeting all the expenses because of their
handicap. Second, I think the process should be improved and
you should be consulted to improve it.

The Chair: Thank you.

Senator Eaton: I have difficulty gathering whether you are for
this bill or against this bill, but how will this bill affect your
business if it goes through the way it is now?

les années suivantes et ils pourront présenter la demande par eux-
mémes, sans faire appel a un fournisseur. Deuxiémement, nous
leur parlons du REEI, et cetera. Alors, oui, tout a fait. Nous les
mettons en selle. Toutes les banques offrent des REEI, et cetera.
C’est leur domaine de compétence et nous disons a nos clients de
s’adresser a elles.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette: Y a-t-il des frais
supplémentaires pour cela?

M. Medjuck : Non, pas du tout.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Simplement pour informer mes
collégues qui n’ont pas participé a 1’étude du projet de loi
connexe, un demi-million de Canadiens handicapés affirment étre
admissibles et seulement 15 p. 100 en profitent. En ce qui me
concerne, ce que dit notre rapport — je suis désolée, monsieur le
président, mais je pense que nous devrions vous le transmettre.
Nous avons consacré plusieurs mois a cette étude.

Le président : Je 'apprécierais beaucoup.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Ils disent que le gouvernement
fédéral devrait accroitre et faciliter les communications afin que
les gens soient au courant. Quelqu’un a mentionné 1,5 million de
dollars.

Jentends parler du plan d’action a cceur de jour, alors
jaimerais que le plan d’action parle de ce mécanisme. Un fait
est incontestable : il s’agit bien d’un demi-million de personnes.
Nous devrions avoir une campagne pour promouvoir ce genre de
mécanisme. Il y a deux programmes, dont un qui est énorme. Les
Canadiens mettent actuellement un demi-milliard de dollars de
c6té pour préparer leur avenir.

Nous parlons aussi des gouvernements provinciaux. Au
Québec, mon collégue sait qu’il y a la Régie des rentes du
Québec, qui verse aussi des prestations aux personnes
handicapées. Il faut effectuer des démarches pour se qualifier
comme personne handicapée. Alors, pourrait-on dire qu’au
Québec, une fois que la Régie vous déclare admissible, vous
pouvez automatiquement demander le crédit?

Vous voyez, des sommes énormes sont gaspillées dans le
systtme a des fins administratives, et une personne peut étre
handicapée a un niveau et ne pas I’étre a un autre. Pour moi, c’est
une vraie pagaille. Je me réjouis du projet de loi d’initiative
parlementaire. Je suis en faveur de cette mesure.

Premierement, ces sommes devraient étre accessibles. L’impot
devrait étre remboursé et il ne faudrait pas que seuls les
contribuables qui ont de I’argent soient admissibles. C’est
compleétement ridicule. Trés souvent, ce sont des personnes qui
ont du mal a joindre les deux bouts a cause de leur handicap.
Deuxiémement, je pense que le processus devrait étre amélioré et
que vous devriez étre consultés pour ’améliorer.

Le président : Merci.

La sénatrice Eaton : J’ai du mal a savoir si vous étes pour ou
contre le projet de loi, mais comment le projet de loi influera-t-il
sur vos activités s’il est adopté dans sa forme actuelle?



9-4-2014

Finances nationales

9:49

Mr. Anthony: For us at TaxWise it will not. If its 30 per cent it
will not.

Dr. Okorofsky: My problem with this is the fact that it doesn’t
say anything. You ask whether I support it or I don’t. I don’t
know what to support because what is in there is nothing. There is
no fee and there are no guidelines so it’s impossible. At
30 per cent I'm on a train and I'm out of here because I would
be very happy with that. As well, with rules, regulations, some
kind of guidelines, that’s fine. At 30 per cent we're all very happy.
That’s as much or more than what we’re charging now, but how
do I answer your question?

Senator Eaton: Well, you answered it somewhat.

Mr. Medjuck: At 30 per cent we 100 per cent would back the
bill. We feel that people with disabilities should be protected,
whether it’s through regulations with regard to privacy or
whatnot. That’s something I see that the eight-month
consultation could really address. However, I feel very strongly
that the bill should pass with a 30 per cent number in it which
everyone we’ve spoken to and the committee has heard from feels
is fair and well within their range of any other services provided.

Senator Eggleton: Thank you very much for working me in,
Mr. Chair. I'm not a member of the committee but I come as the
opposition critic on the bill. Sorry I couldn’t be here for all the
time because I was at my regular committee across the hall, in this
case the Committee on Transport.

Mr. Medjuck, you said in your opening statement:

While Bill C-462 is designed to ‘“protect disabled
Canadians,” instead it will likely reduce public awareness
and force families to deal with the process on their own.
Advisers will focus on cases that will require the least
amount of work — clients with high incomes who pay
enough taxes to claim the credit. Canadians with lower
incomes, to whom the funds are even more important, will
be left to fend for themselves.

Are you making that statement just on the basis of what the
percentage will be? In other words, if it’s 30 per cent this
statement wouldn’t apply?

Mr. Medjuck: That’s correct. Thirty per cent is a safe number.
I feel that if 30 per cent is put into the bill then the people with
disabilities are in a good position, the companies are in a good
position to be able to help them properly, efficiently and
professionally, 100 per cent.

Senator Eggleton: If it’s 20 per cent or 15 per cent, you think
that applies?

M. Anthony : Pour nous, a TaxWise, il n’aura aucune
conséquence. Si le taux est 30 p. 100, cela ne changera rien.

Dr Okorofsky : Mon probléme, c’est qu’il ne dit rien. Vous
demandez si je suis pour ou contre. Je ne sais pas ce que je devrais
appuyer parce qu’il n’y a aucun contenu. Il n’y a pas de frais, ni de
lignes directrices, alors c’est impossible. A 30 p. 100, j'embarque
et je m’éclipse parce que je serais trés ravi. S’il y a des régles, des
réglements, des lignes directrices, c’est d’accord. A 30 p. 100,
nous sommes tous trés heureux. C’est ce que nous exigeons
actuellement ou un peu plus, mais comment puis-je répondre a
votre question?

La sénatrice Eaton : Vous y avez un peu répondu.

M. Medjuck : A 30 p. 100 nous appuierions le projet de loi
sans réserves. Nous estimons que les personnes handicapées
devraient étre protégées, que ce soit par des réglements visant a
protéger les renseignements personnels ou autrement. Je pense
que les consultations de huit mois pourraient vraiment régler cette
question. Mais je suis fermement convaincu que le projet de loi
devrait étre adopté avec le taux de 30 p. 100, un taux que tous
ceux a qui nous avons parlé et tous ceux que le comité a entendus
estiment équitable et trés comparable a d’autres services fournis.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Merci beaucoup de me donner la parole,
monsieur le président. Je ne suis pas membre du comité, mais je
viens ici a titre de critique de I'opposition sur le projet de loi. Je
suis désolé de ne pas avoir été présent tout le temps. J’assistais a la
réunion ordinaire de mon comité, le Comité des transports, qui
avait lieu en face.

Monsieur Medjuck, vous avez affirmé dans votre déclaration
d’ouverture :

Bien que le projet de loi C-462 soit destiné a « protéger
les Canadiens handicapés », il réduira probablement
I'information du public et obligera des familles a
entreprendre elles-mémes toute les démarches. Les services-
conseils se concentreront sur les dossiers exigeant le moins
de travail — ceux des clients a revenus élevés qui payent
suffisamment d’imp6t pour réclamer le crédit. Les
Canadiens a revenus modiques, pour qui le crédit est bien
plus important, seront obligés de se débrouiller tout seuls.

Faites-vous cette affirmation simplement en fonction du taux
qui sera fixé? Autrement dit, si c’est 30 p. 100, cette affirmation
ne s’appliquerait pas?

M. Medjuck : Exactement. Un taux de 30 p. 100 est
raisonnable. Je pense que si le projet de loi fixe un taux de
30 p. 100, alors les personnes handicapées seront en bonne
position, et les entreprises seront bien placées pour les aider
correctement, efficacement et professionnellement, c’est certain.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Si c’est 20 p. 100 ou 15 p. 100, vous
pensez que cela reste vrai?
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Mr. Medjuck: It will start cutting into and it will be hurting the
people with disabilities. It’s going to be cutting down on the
marketing, being able to bring this information to people and how
we're able to hold their hands through the process, which is
something that people with disabilities require.

Senator Eggleton: Thank you. Dr. Cohen, you said that if you
make the process simpler and clearer the market for promoters
may be reduced, and you said that you previously had advocated
for a new kind of wording in the form.

I gather from what we’ve been hearing here today that we
couldn’t come to the conclusion that that similar form would
cover 100 per cent, but what percentage do you think it would
cover? How much do you think you could reduce by a simpler
form the number of times that people have to go to these
consultants — I’ll call them consultants — as opposed to being
able to do it themselves?

Dr. Cohen: To some extent it’s an empirical question. I don’t
have the data, and maybe CRA does, but when they revised the
eligibility criteria and they revised the T2201 substantially in
around 2004-05, it would be interesting to see how that affected
the number of applications they received, the number that are
approved, the number that go back for further information,
whether they are related to mental functions and so on. That
would give us some basis for seeing whether the changes that were
made did in fact make it easier. I think it’s a matter of making it
clearer, getting the information out to health care providers as a
communication function, as well as to people with disabilities.

It concerns me that if something is complex the solution is to
get someone to help you with it rather than making that process
clearer so that health providers know exactly what they need to
do to certify eligibility. After the T2201 was revised, I
endeavoured to write some guidance to help providers, to say,
“Here’s how your client with a mental disorder might qualify.” As
one organization, of course, there is a limit to the dissemination of
that information we can accomplish on our own.

Senator Eggleton: I have a final question for any of you. Some
of you have talked about other things you think should be
covered, like unethical advertising, misleading advertising
practices or helping ensure that the bill would help ensure
consultants don’t make promises of eligibility they cannot
guarantee, don’t charge people to apply for it when they are
clearly not eligible and don’t charge people inordinately even if
they are deemed eligible. I don’t see any of that in the bill.

I think Dr. Okorofsky has said it’s really a bill with just a
framework for deciding on what a fee is going to be but the fee
isn’t there; it’s a blank.

Should this bill be held up pending these other things that
perhaps should be addressed, or is there a parallel process to
address these other things?

M. Medjuck : Il y aura des compressions quelque part et les
personnes handicapées en souffriront. Il y aura moins de
publicité. Or les personnes handicapées ont besoin de cette aide.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Merci. Docteure Cohen, vous avez
déclaré que si le processus est simplifié et plus clair, le marché des
promoteurs diminuera peut-étre, et vous avez affirmé que vous
avez déja préconisé une révision du formulaire.

D’aprés ce que nous avons entendu aujourd’hui, je crois
comprendre que nous ne pourrions pas conclure que ce formulaire
semblable éliminerait complétement le marché, mais quel serait le
pourcentage, selon vous? Jusqu’a quel point une formule plus
simple pourrait-elle réduire le nombre de fois ou il faut s’adresser
a des consultants — je les appellerai « consultants » — au lieu de
pouvoir se débrouiller tout seul?

Dre Cohen : Dans une certaine mesure, c’est une question
empirique. Je n’ai pas de données, et peut-étre que I’ARC en a,
mais ils ont révisé les critéres d’admissibilité et révisé nettement le
formulaire T2201 vers 2004-2005. Il serait intéressant de voir
comment ces révisions ont influé sur le nombre de demandes
recues, de demandes approuvées et de demandes qui sont
retournées pour obtenir des compléments d’information, si elles
se rapportent aux fonctions mentales et ainsi de suite. Cela nous
donnerait une base pour déterminer si les changements qui ont été
apportés ont effectivement simplifié les choses. Je pense qu’il faut
rendre les choses plus claires et communiquer I'information aux
professionnels de la santé et aux personnes handicapées.

Cela me dérange de voir que, dans une situation complexe, la
solution retenue est de demander I'aide d’un tiers au lieu de
clarifier le processus afin que les professionnels de la santé sachent
exactement ce qu’ils doivent faire pour attester de ’admissibilité.
Apres la révision du formulaire T2201, je me suis efforcée de
rédiger des lignes directrices pour que les fournisseurs puissent
dire : « Voici comment un de vos clients qui a un trouble mental
pourrait se qualifier ». Il y a évidemment des limites a
I'information qu’une organisation peut diffuser toute seule.

Le sénateur Eggleton : J’ai une derniére question, qui ne
s’adresse a aucun de vous en particulier. Certains d’entre vous ont
parlé d’autres aspects qui devraient étre examinés, comme la
publicité contraire a 1’éthique, la publicité mensongére, ou
s’assurer que le projet de loi fera en sorte que les consultants ne
promettent pas une admissibilité qu’ils ne peuvent pas garantir,
n’exigent pas de frais pour la présentation d’une demande quand
il est évident que le demandeur n’est pas admissible et n’exigent
pas des frais exagérés méme lorsque les demandeurs sont
admissibles. Je ne vois rien de tout cela dans le projet de loi.

Je pense que le Dr Okorofsky a affirmé que le projet de loi est
simplement un cadre pour décider ce qui constituera des frais,
mais que les frais ne sont pas fixés. C’est laissé en blanc.

Le projet de loi devrait-il étre suspendu en attentant que ces
autres aspects puissent étre examinés, ou y a-t-il un processus
paralléle pour examiner ces autres questions?
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Mr. Anthony: Senator Eggleton, thank you very much for the
question. Our intention to come here today was to inform the
Senate of the industry and the things we hear in the industry and
things that we were experiencing. One thing we’ve noticed,
probably much like the other people here on the panel, is that
people who come to us are often society’s most vulnerable and
most marginalized. When you’re talking about somebody who is
financially distressed and they see an ad with a person with a cane
saying you can get $40,000, it can be misleading. This is what
we’re hearing from the marketplace. That was my statement, and
that was our intention to inform the committee on what we’re
hearing from the marketplace.

Senator Eaton: This bill doesn’t address that.

Mr. Anthony: No, but again, we wanted to come and inform
the committee of the state of the marketplace.

Mr. Medjuck: To be very honest with you, I'm a little surprised
by I would say the lack of knowledge of a lot of very key elements
to understanding the Disability Tax Credit, how it works, how
our companies work, that the member behind the bill really just
isn’t aware of. Even the point that the member behind the bill
mentioned that the money comes to the companies and we give
that out, that’s inaccurate. Therefore what concerns me is that
there was no consultation before the bill to able really to see what
type of bill is necessary.

Just to add to your point, I would love to see the eight-month
consultation with CRA be consultation with our companies, who
have dealt with tens of thousands of people with disabilities who
for whatever reason didn’t go to CRA but they came to us. Let
CRA speak to us. I'm happy to have a dialogue with CRA to be
able to say, “These are things you could do to make this process
simpler or easier.” We as companies have dealt with more forms
than any specific individual person out there.

It baffles my mind and we’ve reached out to CRA on
numerous occasions saying, “We’d love to have a dialogue with
you to be able to tell you small things you could do.” I'm not
talking about legislative changes; I’'m talking about small changes
to make this process easier for people with disabilities. And the
only response we’ve received numerous times is, “We’re not able
to give preference to anybody and we can’t have a dialogue with

”

you.

With that eight-month consultation, instead of spending it
trying to figure out whether it should be 29 per cent or
31 per cent, let’s use CRA’s valuable time to look at the end
game. How do we help people with disabilities do this
independently without necessarily requiring a company like us
or requiring us less?

Dr. Okorofsky: I will address the idea of the misleading ads. As
we all know, on line or in the newspaper or wherever, you have
basically a nanosecond to get someone’s attention. If the ads seem
a little outrageous to some, you also have to understand that
advertising people say, “You need to grab them fast and get their

M. Anthony : Sénateur Eggleton, je vous remercie de poser la
question. Notre intention en venant ici aujourd’hui était de
renseigner le Sénat sur I'industrie et sur ce que nous entendons et
vivons dans l'industrie. Une chose que nous avons remarquée,
probablement comme les autres personnes qui sont autour de la
table, c’est que ceux qui viennent nous voir sont souvent les plus
vulnérables et les plus marginalisés dans la société. Quand une
personne en difficulté financiére voit une annonce disant que ceux
qui marchent avec une canne peuvent obtenir 40 000 $, c’est peut-
étre mensonger. C’est ce que nous dit le marché. C’était ma
déclaration et notre intention était d’informer le comité sur ce que
nous entendons sur le marché.

Le sénateur Eaton : Le projet de loi ne parle pas de tout cela.

M. Anthony : Non, mais encore une fois, nous voulions étre
présents pour informer le comité de I’état du marché.

M. Medjuck : Pour étre franc avec vous, je suis un peu étonné
par ce que j’appellerais le manque de connaissance de nombreux
¢éléments clés pour comprendre le crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées, comment il fonctionne, comment les entreprises
fonctionnent, a commencer par la marraine du projet de loi.
Méme laffirmation de la députée qui parraine le projet de loi que
l’argent est versé aux entreprises et que nous la reversons ensuite,
est une fausseté. Par conséquent, ce qui m’inquiéte c’est qu’il n’y a
pas eu de consultation avant le projet de loi, afin de voir quel type
de projet de loi est nécessaire.

Jajoute aussi que j’adorerais que les consultations de huit mois
avec I’ARC soient des consultations avec nos entreprises, qui ont
fait affaire avec des dizaines de milliers de personnes handicapées
qui, pour une raison ou une autre ne se sont pas tournées vers
I’ARC mais plutét vers nous. Que ’ARC nous parle. Je serais
heureux de dialoguer avec I’ARC afin de pouvoir leur décrire ce
qu’ils pourraient faire pour rendre le processus plus simple ou
plus facile. Nos entreprises ont vu plus de formulaires que
quiconque.

Je suis déconcerté et nous avons dit a maintes reprises a ’ARC
que nous aimerions dialoguer avec eux pour pouvoir leur
expliquer de petites choses qui pourraient étre faites. Je ne parle
pas de changements législatifs. Je parle de petits changements
pour faciliter le processus pour les personnes handicapées. La
seule réponse qui nous a été répétée a maintes reprises est qu’ils ne
peuvent pas privilégier quelqu’un et dialoguer avec nous.

Lors de cette consultation de huit mois, au lieu d’essayer de
déterminer si les frais devraient étre de 29 p. 100 ou 31 p. 100,
profitons du temps précieux de ARC pour aller a I'essentiel :
comment aider les personnes handicapées a se débrouiller toutes
seules sans devoir faire appel a des entreprises comme la notre ou
en faisant moins souvent appel a nous?

Dr Okorofsky : Je reviens sur les publicités trompeuses.
Comme nous le savons tous, en ligne, dans un journal ou
ailleurs, on a en réalité une fraction de seconde pour attirer
I’attention. Si ’annonce parait un peu scandaleuse pour certains,
il faut aussi comprendre ce que disent les publicitaires : « Il faut
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attention.” We spend all our time talking to them personally, and
then we explain what’s involved. If they don’t understand we
explain it to them. We explain what the potential upside or the
potential benefit may be. They may not be entitled to anything.
Those are things we do once we are able to establish a dialogue,
but you only have a second, a brief moment to try to make them
aware that it’s there, and then you talk to them in person.

Dr. Cohen: I have a brief comment on the consultation with
consultants. It’s a requirement of establishing your eligibility that
a health care provider fills out this form. Let’s not lose sight of the
fact that if we’re going to invest in consultation, consult with the
health care providers who must fill out the form, not necessarily
the consultants who can or may assist someone to fill out the
form.

The Chair: That’s a very good point.

It’s clear we could have gone on for some time on this issue.
The service that is needed by this segment of society, taxpayers
with disabilities, is very important, and a lot of senators have had
some very serious questions and you’ve answered them to the best
of your ability. We thank you very much for that, Mr. Anthony,
Dr. Okorofsky, Mr. Medjuck, Dr. Cohen, and Ms. Hutchison.
Thank you very much for being there.

Colleagues, thank you for your questions. We will think about
a lot of these issues. If any senator feels we should do further
research on this issue, please let a member of steering or our clerk
know, otherwise it’s our intention to proceed with clause by
clause tomorrow evening. That will give you today and tomorrow
to reflect on the very important information the witnesses have
brought to us.

This meeting is now concluded.

(The committee adjourned.)

OTTAWA, Wednesday, April 2, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day, at 6:46 p.m., to study Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees
charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

Senator Joseph A. Day (Chair) in the chair.

[Translation)

The Chair: Honourable senators, this evening, we will continue
our study on Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees charged by
promoters of the disability tax credit and making consequential
amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act.

accrocher rapidement et capter l'attention ». Nous passons tout
notre temps a leur parler personnellement et nous leur expliquons
ce qui est en cause. S’ils ne comprennent pas, nous donnons des
explications. Nous expliquons les avantages potentiels. Ils ont
peut-étre droit a rien du tout. Nous faisons tout cela lorsque nous
pouvons établir un dialogue, mais il n’y a qu’une seconde, un bref
moment, pour les informer que cela existe, avant de pouvoir leur
parler en personne.

Dre Cohen : J’ai une bréve observation sur la consultation des
consultants. I est essentiel pour établir I'admissibilité qu’un
professionnel de la santé remplisse le formulaire. N’oublions pas
que si nous investissons dans une consultation, il faut consulter les
fournisseurs de soins de santé qui doivent remplir le formulaire,
pas nécessairement les consultants qui peuvent aider quelqu’un a
remplir le formulaire.

Le président : Voila une observation trés pertinente.

Il est évident que nous aurions pu continuer pendant encore
longtemps. Le service dont ont besoin ces membres de la société,
les contribuables handicapés, est trés important, et de nombreux
sénateurs ont posé des questions trés sérieuses, auxquelles
vous avez répondu du mieux possible. Nous vous en remercions
infiniment, monsieur Anthony, docteur Okorofsky, monsieur
Medjuck, docteure Cohen et madame Hutchison. Merci
beaucoup d’étre venus.

Chers collégues, je vous remercie de vos questions. Nous
réfléchirons a tout cela. Si un sénateur estime que nous devrions
approfondir la question, il faudrait le faire savoir a un membre de
notre comité directeur ou a notre greffiére, sinon, nous avons
I'intention de procéder a I’étude article par article demain soir.
Cela vous donne le reste de la journée et demain pour réfléchir
aux renseignements trés importants que les témoins nous ont

communiqués.
La séance est levée.

(La séance est levée.)

OTTAWA, le mercredi 2 avril 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 46, pour étudier le projet de loi C-462,
Loi limitant les frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’impo6t
pour personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de I'impét.

Le sénateur Joseph A. Day (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais)

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, ce soir, nous allons
continuer notre étude du projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les
frais imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’impdt pour
personnes handicapées et apportant des modifications
corrélatives a la Loi sur la Cour canadienne de I'imp6t.
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This evening, we are pleased to welcome officials from the
Canada Revenue Agency: Mr. Brian McCauley, Assistant
Commissioner with the Legislative Policy and Regulatory
Affairs Branch; and Ms. Nathalie Dumais, Director General,
Benefit Programs Directorate. Thank you very much for agreeing
to come on short notice. We started looking at this private
member’s bill yesterday. A number of issues came up, and we
thought you would be the best people to help us out.

Mr. McCauley, do you have introductory remarks?

Brian McCauley, Assistant Commissioner, Legislative Policy
and Regulatory Affairs Branch, Canada Revenue Agency: Just
simply we hope we leave with fewer issues than when we arrived.
We’ll do our best.

The Chair: We always like it when you leave with a few and you
undertake to bring them back. The sponsor of the bill in the
House of Commons is also with us here, Cheryl Gallant. She
presented last day, but we’ve invited her here so she can hear what
the Senate is hearing in relation to her bill. We will start with the
deputy chair of the committee, Senator Smith from Montreal.

Senator L. Smith: Thank you, witnesses, for participating
tonight, especially on short notice. In our study of Bill C-462, we
had Ms. Gallant and promoters who participated in our hearing.
The promoters brought up the question of the importance of
having their services and the complexity of the process for
disabled people. I'm wondering if, from the CRA’s perspective,
you could give us some background.

Do you have an idea of the number of disabled claims that
would come through your offices, and how do you perceive the
complexity of dealing with this particular issue?

Mr. McCauley: The last full year that we have records for,
about 220,000 claims came in. At the end of the day, about
83 per cent of those were recognized as valid, about 12 per cent
of those were essentially deemed to be not eligible as part of the
process, and 5 per cent were essentially abandoned. Once we went
back and asked a few more questions, people just didn’t follow
up.

There is no requirement right now to identify whether or not
it’s prepared by a promoter. I've seen in some of the testimony
that probably around 10,000 of those are recognized as using a
promoter. I think it’s important to note that the vast majority are
coming in on their own or getting processed through an H&R
Block or whatever.

[Traduction]

Ce soir, nous avons le plaisir d’accueillir des représentants de
I’Agence du Revenu du Canada : M. Brian McCauley, sous-
commissaire adjoint a la Direction générale de la politique
législative et des affaires réglementaires, et Mme Nathalie
Dumais, directrice générale a la Direction des programmes de
prestations. Je vous remercie beaucoup de comparaitre a si court
préavis. Nous avons commencé a examiner ce projet de loi
d’initiative parlementaire hier. Diverses questions ont surgi, et
nous nous sommes dit que vous seriez les personnes les mieux
placées pour nous aider.

Monsieur McCauley, avez-vous préparé une allocution?

Brian McCauley, sous-commissaire adjoint, Direction générale
de la politique législative et des affaires réglementaires, Agence du
revenu du Canada : Je vous dirai simplement que nous espérons
que vous aurez moins de questions a notre départ qu’a notre
arrivée. Nous allons faire de notre mieux.

Le président : Nous apprécions toujours qu’il en reste quelques-
unes et que vous y répondiez ultérieurement. La marraine du
projet de loi a la Chambre des communes est également avec nous
aujourd’hui : Cheryl Gallant. Elle nous a présenté son témoignage
a la derniére séance, mais nous I’avons invitée aujourd’hui pour
qu’elle puisse entendre ce que le Sénat va entendre relativement a
son projet de loi. Nous allons commencer par donner la parole au
vice-président du comité, le sénateur Smith de Montréal.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Chers témoins, je vous remercie de
participer a notre séance de ce soir, d’autant plus que vous en avez
été avisés a la derniére minute. Pour notre étude du projet de
loi C-462, nous avons entendu Mme Gallant et quelques
promoteurs. Les promoteurs ont soulevé I'importance de leurs
services et la complexité du processus pour les personnes
handicapées. Pourriez-vous nous mettre un peu en contexte, du
point de vue de ’ARC?

Avez-vous une idée du nombre de demandes de crédit pour
personnes handicapées que vous recevez dans vos bureaux et
comment percevez-vous la complexité de la question.

M. McCauley : La derniére année compléte pour laquelle nous
avons des statistiques, nous avons recu 220 000 demandes. Au
final, environ 83 p. 100 de ces demandes ont été jugées valides,
environ 12 p. 100 ont été jugées inadmissibles et 5 p. 100 ont
essentiellement été abandonnées. Lorsque nous avons voulu poser
quelques questions supplémentaires, les gens n’ont pas fait de
suivi.

En ce moment, il n’est pas obligatoire de spécifier si la
demande a été préparée par un promoteur. Selon des témoignages
que j’ai lus, environ 10 000 demandes nous sont présentées par
I'intermédiaire d’un promoteur. J’estime important de souligner
que la vaste majorité d’entre elles nous sont présentées par la
personne elle-méme ou sont traitées par une entreprise comme
H&R Block.
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I know my office has received over the years complaints from
claimants and individuals and members of Parliament where they
see egregious cases of what they believe is overcharging, where the
cost of what’s being charged or claimed from the individual bears
no resemblance to the value of the service being provided.

As my last comment, it was interesting to note that the bill
actually contains language about fair market value. There is no
question, as I read the bill, about wanting to make the
marketplace function and recognizing that, in certain instances,
there is a value to the services and that that value can vary.
Sometimes you might spend an hour with somebody, and
sometimes it might be considerably longer. The whole purpose
of the bill was to say there are those exceptional cases that need to
be dealt with. Right now, we have no tools to do that. This would
provide us with that ability to hopefully ensure that Disability
Tax Credit, DTC, claimants are protected, but only after a
consultation process where we talk to the industry and talk to
doctors and then come back and set an arrangement for fees that
is reasonable and does recognize the value of services. That’s one
thing for us that was very important. It’s not to drive promoters
out of the marketplace; it’s only those who are abusing, frankly,
the marketplace. That’s the way we read the bill as it’s written.

The Chair: Had you seen the bill before it was made public and
went through the House of Commons? This is a private member’s
bill.

Mr. McCauley: It’s a private member’s bill. As the chair may
know, before a private member’s bill gets tabled, if a department
is going to be asked to administer, then there is an informal
process to ask our views. Since the bill has been tabled, we’ve been
paying a lot of attention to it.

The Chair: You don’t object to the legislation.

Mr. McCauley: We’re not in a position. We will administer
whatever the House of Commons and the Senate pass. We
certainly have no objections to any elements of the bill from an
administrative point of view.

The Chair: Thank you. That’s helpful.

Senator Callbeck: Thank you for being here this evening. Is
there a way that the forms could be simplified? When was the last
time the Canada Revenue Agency looked at that?

Mr. McCauley: That’s a great question. There was a fairly
significant overhaul in 2004-05 as a result of both a policy and an
administrative review. It’s probably time to look at that again. We
were actually hoping that the consultation process that would be
required if this bill were to be passed could be used as part of the
process of taking another look at the form as well. We’re not there
yet, but I would like to think about whether we can make it
available electronically in a couple of years. That allows you to
put in a lot of prompt things and make it easier and help people
make sure they don’t get it wrong and submit it more easily. It
would be our plan, as we did in 2004, in addition to consulting on

Je peux vous dire que beaucoup de demandeurs, de personnes
et de parlementaires se sont plaints a mon bureau de frais
vraiment excessifs, a leur avis, ou les frais facturés a la personne
sont sans commune mesure avec la valeur du service fourni.

Avant de terminer, j’aimerais souligner qu’il est justement
question de la « juste valeur marchande » dans le projet de loi.
D’aprés mon interprétation du projet de loi, il n’est pourtant
aucunement question d’assurer le bon fonctionnement du marché
et de reconnaitre la valeur des services, dans certains cas, et que
cette valeur peut varier. Parfois, il suffit d’accorder une heure a
une personne, mais d’autres fois, il faut y mettre passablement
plus de temps. L’objectif méme du projet de loi est de reconnaitre
que ce sont des cas exceptionnels dont il faut s’occuper. En ce
moment, nous n’avons pas d’outils pour le faire. Ce projet de loi
nous donnerait les moyens de protéger les demandeurs du crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées, mais seulement aprés
consultation avec Ientreprise et les médecins, afin de nous
entendre sur des frais raisonnables et de reconnaitre la valeur
des services. C’est un objectif trés important pour nous. Le but
n’est pas de repousser les promoteurs du marché, mais seulement
ceux qui en abusent, vraiment. C’est notre fagon d’interpréter le
projet de loi dans sa forme actuelle.

Le président : Aviez-vous vu ce projet de loi avant qu’il ne soit
rendu public et déposé a la Chambre des communes? C’est un
projet de loi d’initiative parlementaire.

M. McCauley : C’est un projet de loi d’initiative parlementaire.
Comme le président le sait probablement, lorsqu’un tel projet de
loi est déposé, s’il y a un ministére qui va devoir I'administrer, il
est consulté de maniére informelle. Depuis que ce projet de loi a
été déposé, nous y accordons beaucoup d’attention.

Le président : Vous ne vous opposez pas a ce projet de loi.

M. McCauley : Ce n’est pas notre mandat. Nous administrons
tout ce que la Chambre des communes et le Sénat adoptent. Je
peux toutefois vous dire que nous ne nous opposons a rien dans ce
projet de loi du point de vue administratif.

Le président : Merci. C’est bon a savoir.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je vous remercie d’étre parmi nous ce
soir. Y aurait-il moyen de simplifier les formulaires? Quelle est la
derniére fois ou I’Agence du revenu du Canada s’est penchée sur
la question?

M. McAuley : Excellente question. Il y a eu une révision assez
importante en 2004-2005 dans le cadre d’un examen stratégique et
administratif. Il serait probablement temps de procéder a une
nouvelle révision. Nous espérions en fait pouvoir profiter du
processus de consultation requis si ce projet de loi est adopté pour
jeter un coup d’ceil au formulaire du méme coup. Nous n’en
sommes pas encore la, mais j’aimerais que nous réfléchissions a la
possibilité de les rendre accessibles par voie électronique d’ici
quelques années. Cela permettrait d’inscrire beaucoup de
renseignements rapidement, plus facilement, d’aider les gens a
s’assurer qu’ils ne se sont pas trompés, puis a soumettre le tout
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the elements that are required to be consulted on under the bill, to
also look at whether we can make things easier and simpler —
absolutely. That would include both the part that the actual
claimant fills out, which, as you know, is very basic and pretty
straightforward, but also the doctors’ part, to see if there is
something more we can do there.

The only observation is that this is a very valuable credit, $700
million a year roughly in terms of the tax implications. We have a
responsibility to make sure that it gets to everybody who is
entitled to get it, but if you’re not entitled to get it, we have a way
of making sure that it does not go where it shouldn’t go. It’s that
balance of enough rigour but not that it’s a barrier to being able
to receive it, and that’s the balance we try to strike.

Senator Callbeck: This bill defines a promoter as a person who
directly or indirectly accepts or charges a fee in respect of a
Disability Tax Credit request. Do you believe that health
professionals and tax preparers should be included as
promoters, or should there be another word here?

Mr. McCauley: First of all, yes, they have to be captured
because, if they weren’t, you leave a significant compliance
loophole. Unfortunately, you’re talking about the 0.01 per cent
of people who would try to abuse this, because the vast majority
of things are quite fine. I want to keep emphasizing that this is for
the few exceptions. Two years ago, we convicted a retired doctor,
somebody who was abusing the system. If we didn’t have them
included as part of the process, all you need to do is hire a retired
doctor. He or she charges the $3,000 or $4,000. They are scoped
out, and the bill has no effect. You create a loophole.
Unfortunately there are a few people out there, as we’ve seen,
who could take advantage of that. We would see that as almost a
fatal flaw in the bill. If it works as I understand it’s intended to
work and you have your discussions on the fee schedule, it’s not
going to mean anything to physicians because the fee schedule will
recognize the value of their fees. A lot of them are recognized
provincially. The only people it might worry are those who are
looking to abuse the system. That’s where we want to get to after
the consultations.

Senator Callbeck: I agree that they have to be captured, but
calling a health care professional a promoter? That doesn’t sit
right with me.

Mr. McCauley: It’s a word, and that’s the word that’s used in
the bill. If we provide some guidance and instructions and have
discussions, as we explained things, if there is a more appropriate
word in our guidance with the medical community and after we
chat with the CMA, we’re certainly open to that. That’s the word

plus facilement. Ce serait notre plan, un peu comme en 2004, en
plus de consulter la population sur les éléments qui doivent faire
I’objet d’une consultation selon le projet de loi. Nous pourrions
tout a fait en profiter pour voir si nous pouvons simplifier
certaines choses. Cela inclut la partie que le demandeur remplit,
qui est assez simple et comprend des renseignements de base,
comme vous le savez, mais il y a aussi la partie des médecins.
Nous pourrions voir s’il y a des choses que nous pourrions faire
mieux dans cette partie.

Ma seule observation, c’est qu’il s’agit d’un crédit de grande
valeur, il représente environ 700 millions de dollars par année en
crédits d’impé6t. Nous avons la responsabilité de veiller a ce que
tous ceux qui y ont droit ’obtiennent, mais nous avons également
des moyens de voir a ce qu’il ne soit pas accordé a des personnes
qui ne devraient pas y avoir droit. C’est une question d’équilibre;
il faut suffisamment de rigueur, mais sans créer d’obstacles. C’est
I’équilibre que nous visons.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Selon la définition contenue dans le
projet de loi, on entend par promoteur toute personne qui,
directement ou indirectement, accepte ou impose des frais a
I’égard d’une demande de crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées. Croyez-vous que les professionnels de la santé et
les spécialistes en déclarations de revenus devraient étre
considérés comme des promoteurs ou qu’il faudrait un autre
terme pour les désigner?

M. McCauley : Pour commencer, ils doivent effectivement étre
considérés comme des promoteurs, faute de quoi on créerait une
échappatoire importante. Malheureusement, on parle du
0,01 p. 100 des gens qui vont essayer d’abuser du systéme, parce
que tout va bien dans la grande majorité des cas. Je tiens a
rappeler que cette mesure ne vise que quelques exceptions. Il y a
deux ans, nous avons découvert un médecin a la retraite qui
abusait du systéme. Si ces gens ne sont pas inclus dans la
définition, il va suffire d’embaucher un médecin a la retraite. Il ou
elle aura beau imposer 3 000 § ou 4 000 § a la personne, si la
définition ne s’y applique pas, le projet de loi n’aura aucun effet
sur lui ou elle. On va créer une échappatoire. Malheureusement, il
y a quelques personnes qui pourraient en tirer avantage, comme
on I'a déja vu. Nous y verrions une lacune fondamentale. Si le
projet de loi s’applique comme il est censé s’appliquer, d’apres ce
que je comprends, le baréme des honoraires dont vous allez
discuter ne voudra rien dire pour les médecins, parce que la valeur
de leurs honoraires va étre prise en compte. Beaucoup sont établis
par la province. Les seules personnes que cela pourrait perturber
sont celles qui cherchent a abuser du systéme. C’est 1a ou nous
voulons en arriver apres les consultations.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je conviens qu’ils doivent étre inclus
dans la définition, mais on qualifierait un professionnel de la
santé de promoteur? J’y vois une incongruité.

M. McCauley : C’est un mot, et c’est le mot utilisé dans le
projet de loi. S’il y a un terme plus approprié qui ressort de nos
échanges avec le corps médical et TAMC, lorsque nous allons les
consulter, leur expliquer tout cela et en discuter avec eux, nous
sommes trés ouverts. C’est le mot qui apparait dans le projet de
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in the bill. All 'm saying is that we can work with that quite
comfortably because the real intent is what’s captured as opposed
to the label you put on it. We're neutral on that.

Senator Callbeck: Once a person sends in the claims and they
get approved, I know they can go retroactive 10 years, but let’s
say they’re approved this year. Do you follow up in five years? Is
there any type of follow up, or do they get that Disability Tax
Credit the rest of their life?

Mr. McCauley: You have all the good questions. There is part
of the form, when the physician fills it out, where they indicate the
duration or the potential duration. If the physician says that it
may not be permanent, they indicate there is a bit of a sense for
how long. Yes, those things get flagged. If it happens to be four or
six years, we would flip a letter out saying, “Okay, what’s the
circumstances? Have they changed?” For younger claimants,
there are certainly some things both with medical intervention
and devices but also in terms of thankfully growing out of the
disability; you no longer would need the benefit of the claim. So
yes, there is a system to do that. Usually, as I say, it is triggered by
how the physician describes the circumstances.

Senator Callbeck: Do the tax preparers or promoters get
involved again?

Mr. McCauley: I'm not sure, simply because right now you’re
not required to identify if it is a promoter. I would like to think
that hopefully, after you had gone through it once, you wouldn’t
need to use them again, but I can’t tell you whether or not the
contract that you may have signed with them might require you
to.

Senator Callbeck: That’s what I was wondering.

I'll go to the next round.

Senator Buth: Thank you very much for being here this
evening.

You made the comment that out of 220,000 claims, you think
about 10,000 might use a promoter. Currently on our income tax
forms we have to indicate that another person has filled out this
form. Is that the not the case for the Disability Tax Credit?

Mr. McCauley: That’s right. My understanding is that it’s
currently not required. That’s actually one of the things the bill
suggests that we add to the form.

Senator Buth: Do you have a sense or could you tell me how
many complaints you might get about overcharging?

loi. Tout ce que je veux dire, c’est que ce mot ne nuit en rien a
notre travail, parce que c’est l'intention qui compte et non
I’étiquette qu’on y appose. Nous sommes assez neutres a ce sujet.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Lorsqu’une personne présente une
demande et qu’elle est approuvée, je sais qu’elle peut s’appliquer
rétroactivement jusqu’a 10 ans en arriére, mais supposons qu’une
demande soit approuvée cette année, allez-vous faire un suivi dans
cing ans? Y a-t-il un quelconque suivi qui se fait ou est-ce que la
personne bénéficie du crédit d’impédt pour personnes handicapées
le reste de ses jours?

M. McCauley : Vous posez toutes les bonnes questions. Il y a
une partie du formulaire, que le médecin remplit, ou il indique la
durée potentielle ou prévue de la situation. Si le médecin
mentionne qu’il pourrait s’agir d'un état non permanent, il doit
donner en estimer la durée. Bref, nous en prenons note, en effet. Si
la durée prévue est de quatre ou six ans, nous enverrions une lettre
pour demander quelles sont les circonstances et si elles ont
changé. Pour les demandeurs les plus jeunes, il y a assurément
toutes sortes d’interventions médicales ou d’appareils qui peuvent
changer la donne, mais il y en a aussi qui s’affranchissent de leur
handicap en grandissant, Dieu merci. Ils n’ont alors plus besoin
des crédits demandés. Bref, il y a effectivement un systéme pour
suivre tout cela. Habituellement, comme je l'ai dit, I’élément
déterminant est la description des circonstances par le médecin.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Est-ce que les spécialistes en
déclarations de revenus ou les promoteurs doivent intervenir de
nouveau?

M. McCauley : Je n’en suis pas certain, simplement parce qu’a
I’heure actuelle, le promoteur n’est pas tenu de s’identifier. J’ose
espérer que lorsqu’on a eu recours a ces services une fois, on n’en
a plus besoin, mais je ne peux pas vous dire si ce peut étre
obligatoire selon le contrat que la personne a signé avec le
promoteur.

La sénatrice Callbeck : C’est ce que je me demandais.
Je vais m’inscrire au prochain tour.

La sénatrice Buth : Je vous remercie beaucoup d’étre ici ce soir.

Vous avez mentionné que sur 220 000 demandes, environ
10 000 seraient préparées par l'intermédiaire d’un promoteur,
d’aprés vous. Actuellement, il faut indiquer dans nos formulaires
de déclaration de revenus si une autre personne a rempli le
formulaire pour soi. N’en va-t-il pas de méme du crédit d’impo6t
pour personnes handicapées?

M. McCauley : C’est exact. D’aprés ce que je comprends, ce ne
serait pas obligatoire dans ce cas. C'est d’ailleurs I'un des
renseignements que le projet de loi propose d’ajouter au
formulaire.

La sénatrice Buth : Pouvez-vous me donner une idée du
nombre de plaintes que vous recevez pour frais excessifs?
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Mr. McCauley: No. We really don’t keep a number. I would
say that I'm certainly aware of cases that are significantly
egregious and that have been happening. We see enough coming
up, popping up each year and we couldn’t do anything about it.
So when we saw the bill we thought it would certainly help us deal
with that, but no, we don’t have a number. Again, it could be that
there may be a lot of circumstances where it’s working fine, the
value is there, and that should continue.

Senator Buth: Can you describe the process that you would use
for a consultation in order to set the rate, and how do you
differentiate the percentage that might be charged versus the type
of service that they might receive? Some of the promoters said
they clearly provided much more of a service than others.

Mr. McCauley: That’s a very good question. I would like to
take suggestions if anyone has one. In all fairness, because the bill
hasn’t passed, we have not been overly active on planning. We did
not want to be presumptuous of Parliament’s actually making a
decision. We have respected that, so we have not done too much
of that.

One thing we would like to talk to some of the key groups
about is how they would like us to consult. What makes the most
sense? In some cases, professional organizations like CMA are
very well-organized. They might say, “We have a group. Can you
do a workshop for a day or two? That might be the best for us.”
We might talk to some of the groups that represent individuals
with disabilities, and they may suggest another process. We're
actually quite open.

There will be a challenge, particularly because the bill says “fair
market value” and there will be a need to recognize and try to
differentiate a little bit between something that may be simple and
straightforward and maybe at the end of the day the value is $100
and, as I mentioned earlier, a file where there is a lot more work.
How does that get recognized? It will have to be one of those
delicate balances of simple and understandable, but sophisticated
enough to recognize the fair market. That’s the work we will have
to do if the bill gets passed, and then come back and make sure
our minister is comfortable with that. Then we would publish
regulations, and even those are subject to consultation, review,
comments from the public before they are hard-wired into the
system.

Senator Buth: Would you say, then, it’s more appropriate to
have a fee based in regulations than a bill?

Mr. McCauley: Yes. If it’s in a bill and we don’t get it right, or
after a couple of years we find out that’s not really working or
there’s a significant change in the difficulty of applying for a
certain kind of disability, trying to get something changed in
legislation — as fast as the house and Senate might work — could
take a lot of time. If it’s in regulation, even though you’re going to

M. McCauley : Non, nous ne compilons pas vraiment de
statistiques. Je vous dirais que j’ai entendu parler de cas ou les
frais étaient vraiment excessifs, cela arrive. Chaque année, trop de
nouveaux cas nous sont signalés, mais nous n’y pouvions rien
jusqu’ici. Lorsque nous avons lu ce projet de loi, nous nous
sommes dit qu’il nous aiderait siirement a contrer le phénomeéne,
mais non, nous n’avons pas de chiffres. Encore 1a, il se pourrait
bien que tout fonctionne bien dans bien des circonstances, que les
services vaillent la peine et qu’ils demeurent accessibles.

La sénatrice Buth : Pouvez-vous nous décrire le processus de
consultation que vous suivriez pour établir le baréme et le
pourcentage qui serait facturé en fonction du type de service regu?
Certains promoteurs prétendent offrir clairement un service
beaucoup plus élaboré que d’autres.

M. McCauley : C’est une trés bonne question. Je suis prét a
entendre vos suggestions si vous en avez. En toute honnéteté,
comme le projet de loi n’a pas encore été adopté, nous ne sommes
pas extrémement actifs dans la planification. Nous ne voulions
pas présumer de la décision que prendrait le Parlement. Nous
respectons cela, donc nous n’avons pas encore fait grand-chose a
cet égard.

Nous aimerions bien nous entretenir avec certains des
principaux groupes visés pour savoir de quelle fagon ils
aimeraient que nous les consultions. Qu’est-ce qui serait le plus
logique? Certaines associations professionnelles comme 'AMC
sont trés bien organisées. Leurs représentants pourraient nous
dire : « Nous avons un groupe. Pouvez-vous prévoir un atelier
d’un jour ou deux? Ce serait I'idéal pour nous. » Il peut aussi y
avoir d’autres groupes qui représentent des personnes
handicapées et qui nous proposeraient une autre formule. Nous
sommes assez ouverts.

Ce ne sera pas évident, parce qu’il est écrit « juste valeur
marchande » dans le projet de loi et qu’il faudra faire un peu la
distinction entre un service assez simple et bref qui pourrait valoir
100 $ en bout de ligne, comme je I’ai déja mentionné, et le genre
de dossier qui nécessiterait plus de travail. Comment reconnaitre
la valeur de ces services? Il faudra chercher I’équilibre délicat entre
la simplicité et la compréhensibilité d’une part, et
l’approfondissement nécessaire, d’autre part, pour reconnaitre la
juste valeur marchande. C’est ce que nous allons devoir faire si le
projet de loi est adopté, aprés quoi il faudra obtenir I’aval de notre
ministre. Nous allons ensuite publier un réglement, qui devra lui
aussi faire ’objet de consultations, d’examens et de commentaires
du public afin d’étre officiellement intégré au systéme.

La sénatrice Buth : Diriez-vous, alors, qu’il serait plus
approprié de préciser le baréme dans un réglement plutét que
dans le projet de loi?

M. McCauley : Oui. Si le baréme figure dans un projet de loi,
mais que nous faisons fausse route ou qu’au bout des quelques
années, nous nous rendons compte qu’il ne fonctionne pas
vraiment ou que la difficulté de présenter une demande pour
certains types de handicap change considérablement, il pourrait
falloir beaucoup de temps pour modifier la loi, malgré toute la
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make a change and get public comment, you will move much
more quickly. If you want something that’s more sensitive to the
reality that people are dealing with, regulations are a better way to
go, in my view.

Senator Buth: The witnesses we had expressed frustration
regarding Canada Revenue Agency responding to clients that
might be having trouble, or that the process was difficult and
that’s why they needed help. One of the witnesses also indicated
that they have suggestions in terms of the form, et cetera, but you
have not been open to receiving comments on that. Could you
comment on the comments from the witnesses?

Mr. McCauley: There are always exceptions, and in an
organization of 40,000 people and 340 million transactions a
year, nothing is perfect. I do know that the CRA philosophy is to
consult and listen. For example, to put it in context, if somebody
was coming in and arguing for the claim to be changed — the
form — we know there isn’t an opening to do that. Until we have
broader consultation and more people have a chance to make
observations, we might have said, “Well, you can talk to us, but
we really won’t be able to do anything for a year or two.”
Somebody might interpret that as saying we’re not open to
changing the form. We have had some experience where if we
change things too quickly, it sometimes confuses people even
more. We were looking at the timing, and now that the bill is here,
some reference to perhaps being able to go electronic, if that could
all get wrapped together. Certainly the intent, assuming the bill is
passed, is that we would use part of that consultation process on
the form.

Now, I will acknowledge that we can only do things to make
the form administratively simpler. We can’t change the policy
parameters that the form tries to give expression to. I think
senators appreciate that distinction, certainly knowing Nathalie
and Michael and others working on the file. We have five nurses
who work on the file who phone people about claims to talk to
them to try to sort things out rather than send letters. We have
done things to try to make it work as best we can, and if there are
other suggestions, bring them on.

The Chair: You indicated, I believe, Mr. McCauley, during one
of your answers that there is a requirement in the act to identify
the promoter. I'm just getting to know my way around this bill,
but I don’t recall that particular identification.

Mr. McCauley: I think I misspoke. What is in the bill is if the
promoter charges more than what is established in the fee
schedule they would have to identify that.

diligence dont peuvent faire preuve la Chambre et le Sénat. On
peut agir beaucoup plus vite quand c’est prévu par réglement,
méme s’il faut solliciter les réactions du public avant d’apporter la
modification. Si vous voulez d’un outil plus sensible a la réalité
que vivent les gens, il serait préférable de privilégier le réglement,
a mon avis.

La sénatrice Buth : Les témoins que nous avons entendus ont
exprimé de la frustration a I’égard des réponses que les clients qui
ont de la difficulté regoivent de I’Agence du revenu du Canada. Ils
déplorent la difficulté de la démarche, d’ou leur besoin d’aide.
L’un des témoins a méme affirmé avoir des propositions a faire
sur le formulaire et tout et tout, mais semblait dire que vous
n’étiez pas ouverts aux propositions a ce sujet. Pouvez-vous réagir
a ces commentaires des témoins?

M. McCauley : Il y a toujours des exceptions, et dans une
organisation qui compte 40 000 employés et qui effectue 340
millions de transactions par année, il n’y a rien de parfait. Je sais
que ’ARC a pour philosophie de consulter et d’écouter les gens.
Par exemple, pour vous mettre en contexte, si une personne essaie
d’argumenter pour que la demande soit modifiée, le formulaire,
nous savons qu’il n’y a pas d’ouverture. Tant qu’il n’y aura pas de
vaste consultation pour permettre a un plus grand nombre de
personnes d’exprimer leurs observations, nous avons pu répondre
quelque chose comme : « Vous pouvez toujours nous parler, mais
nous ne pourrons rien faire avant un an ou deux. » Ce peut étre
interprété comme un manque d’ouverture a 'idée de modifier le
formulaire. D’aprés notre expérience, quand on apporte des
changements trop vite, les gens sont parfois encore plus confus.
Nous attendions le bon moment d’agir, et maintenant que ce
projet de loi est a I’étude et qu'on parle de peut-étre passer au
formulaire électronique, nous pourrions peut-étre en profiter pour
tout faire d’un coup. Chose certaine, si ce projet de loi est adopté,
nous avons l'intention d’utiliser le processus de consultation pour
revoir le formulaire.

Eh, bien, jadmets que nous pouvons seulement prendre des
mesures pour simplifier le formulaire sur le plan administratif.
Nous ne sommes pas en mesure de modifier les paramétres de la
politique dont le formulaire rend compte. Sachant que Nathalie,
Michael et d’autres travaillent a ce dossier, je pense que les
sénateurs saisissent la distinction. Nous avons affecté a ce dossier
cinq infirmiers qui appellent les gens afin de déméler les détails de
leurs demandes en leur parlant plutét qu’en leur envoyant des
lettres. Nous avons pris des mesures pour tenter de faciliter les
choses autant que nous le pouvions et, si vous avez d’autres
suggestions a nous faire, allez-y.

Le président : Monsieur McCauley, je crois que vous avez
indiqué dans une de vos réponses que la loi exigeait
I’identification du promoteur. Je commence juste a me
familiariser avec ce projet de loi, mais je ne me souviens pas
d’avoir remarqué cette question d’identification.

M. McCauley : Je pense m’étre mal exprimé. Le projet de loi
stipule que, si les frais imposés par les promoteurs sont supérieurs
a ceux qui figurent dans le baréme des frais, les promoteurs
doivent I'indiquer.
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Nathalie Dumais, Director General, Benefit Programs
Directorate, Canada Revenue Agency: They would have to
report to CRA.

Mr. McCauley: So, you’re right.

[Translation]

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I would like to be able to identify
those who will be affected by this legislation. We are talking about
promoters who, directly or indirectly, accept or impose fees for
disability tax credit applications. Do you put all the professionals
who fill out the questionnaire in that category? Be they doctors,
psychiatrists or psychologists, those people have professional fee
schedules issued by their association. They do not charge by the
hour or based on the magnitude of the case. The form is the same
for everyone. Would you associate health professionals with
promoters?

Mr. McCauley: 1 will answer in English to be specific, and
perhaps you can help me.

[English]

I think the purpose of the bill is that if you charge a fee directly
or indirectly, you’re captured. However, I think it’s important to
think that the next step is that, unless you’re charging something
beyond a fee schedule that has been established through
consultation with everybody, there’s no impact on you
whatsoever. You're not filling out any more forms. You’re not
reporting to CRA. It’s literally nothing for you. The bill is really
only going to impact you if you’re doing something outside of the
boundaries of what’s determined to be reasonable after
consultations with everybody.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Where do you see that? You can say
that, but this is not precise whatsoever. If I am a doctor, I feel that
I may be associated with promoters. You say that they will be
treated according to this or that. Where do I find in the bill that
they will be just limited to what their professional corporation fee
is giving as the honorarium that they can charge?

Mr. McCauley: Maybe you can jump in, too, Nathalie.

[Translation]

Ms. Dumais: The purpose of consultations is also to determine
the criteria for establishing the maximum rate. The opinion of the
organizations of people who provide health care services will be
taken into consideration. We expect the maximum for that limit
not to be an issue, based on the level of effort made in the case.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Will your flexibility apply to all
health-related professions, in all provinces — since the fee
schedule varies from one province to the next? Will you have

Nathalie Dumais, directrice générale, Direction des programmes
de prestations, Agence du revenu du Canada : Ils doivent le signaler
a ’'ARC.

M. McCauley : Donc, vous avez raison.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’aimerais que l’on puisse
circonscrire les personnes qui seront visées par cette loi. On parle
des promoteurs qui, directement ou indirectement, acceptent ou
imposent des frais a I’égard d’une demande de crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées. Est-ce que vous mettez tous les
professionnels qui remplissent le questionnaire dans cette
catégorie? Qu’ils soient médecin, psychiatre ou psychologue, ces
gens ont des grilles d’honoraires professionnels émis par leur
corporation. IIs ne facturent ni a I’heure ni a "ampleur du dossier.
C’est le méme formulaire pour tout le monde. Est-ce que vous
associeriez professionnel de la santé a promoteur?

M. McCauley : Je vais répondre en anglais pour étre précis, et
peut-étre pouvez-vous m’aider.

[Traduction)

Je pense que le projet de loi vise a saisir des renseignements a
propos des gens qui imposent des frais, qu’ils le fassent
directement ou indirectement. Toutefois, je crois qu’il est
important de réfléchir a la prochaine étape, a savoir que, tant
que vous n’imposez pas des frais supérieurs aux frais qui figurent
dans le baréme de frais établi en consultation avec la totalité des
intervenants, le projet de loi n’a absolument aucune incidence sur
vous. Vous ne remplissez pas des formulaires supplémentaires, et
vous ne rendez pas de comptes a ’ARC. Cela ne fait littéralement
aucune différence pour vous. Le projet de loi n’aura vraiment des
répercussions sur vous que si vous dépassez les limites qui ont été
jugées raisonnables aprés avoir consulté tous les intervenants.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Ou voyez-vous cela? Vous
pouvez affirmer cela, mais ce n’est nullement précisé. Si j’étais
médecin, j’aurais I'impression de risquer d’étre confondue avec les
promoteurs. Vous dites qu’ils seront traités comme ci ou comme
¢a. Ou puis-je trouver une mention dans le projet de loi indiquant
que leurs honoraires devront simplement se limiter a ceux
recommandés par leur association professionnelle?

M. McCauley : Vous pourriez peut-&tre intervenir aussi,
Nathalie.

[Frangais]

Mme Dumais : L’intention, pour commencer, en faisant les
consultations, est aussi de déterminer les critéres pour établir le
taux maximal. L’opinion des corporations de gens qui rendent des
services de santé sera prise en considération. On s’attend a ce que
le maximum pour cette limite ne pose pas de probléme, selon le
niveau d’effort apporté au dossier.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Votre flexibilité s’adressera-t-
elle a toutes les professions reliées a la santé, dans toutes les
provinces — car la grille d’honoraires n’est pas la méme d’une
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the fee schedules for each province? Will the department ensure
that subclause 3(1) is complied with? You say it is prohibited for
promoters to accept or impose fees that exceed the maximum fees.
If a psychiatrist’s fee is $250 and they charge $300, will they be
fined $1,000? That is what I want to know.

It is not an easy task for the government to impose all the
medical fee schedules. I do not understand why not exclude all
health care professionals from the definition of promoter, by
linking them directly to their professional association to set fees.
This has to be specific.

[English]

Mr. McCauley: As we understand it, what would happen is
that it’s not a fee schedule where it says, “This is your amount.”
Again, we have to go through the process to see what makes
sense, but it’s to set those upper boundaries beyond which the
general consensus amongst those communities would be that
there’s no relationship to what’s being charged and the value of
services. Particularly in the medical community, there are a lot of
other reference points that I think, as you have said, we would
look to because the intent is not to draw that fine line. It’s actually
to simply say that this is where you get beyond the bounds of
tolerance in which any Canadian — any medical profession —
would say, “There’s no relationship between what is being
charged, or what’s being purported to be charged, and the value
of the services.”

That’s part of the purpose of the consultation process. Are we
going to have to talk to a lot of groups? Yes, but that hopefully
will mean that we’ll get it right. The early observation is that,
given that it’s regulations, if, after a year or two, we find that it’s
too tight and it’s not reasonable, then we’ll go in and adjust it
after consulting.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Mr. McCauley, you have not sat in
the house or in the Senate to know that, after two years, things
will be changed. Most of the time, five years later, the bill has not
been changed, so this is not something that will convince me.
Maybe other people are convinced, but, after 19 years, I’ve rarely
seen laws being corrected two years later. So, in this case, if I was
a doctor and was called a promoter, I can tell you that I think it’s
insulting. In fact, they are the pillar for these people to obtain
their eligibility. I feel that it’s insulting to qualify them and to put
them under the same hat as those who have invented for
themselves a profession, all of a sudden, and become the person
who really did the promotion of that program. In fact, you have
created what must be a job-creation initiative. As far as I'm
concerned, these people, if they are doing their work correctly,
filing the form correctly, which they don’t always do as we were
told yesterday — sometimes they make mistakes, and you have to
go back to them — you have to understand that they don’t see
somebody who is sick to get some treatment. They are doing some

province a I'autre? Vous disposerez des listes de cotits de chaque
province? Et le ministére va s’assurer que larticle 3(1) est
respecté. Vous dites qu’il est interdit a tout promoteur
d’accepter ou d’imposer des frais qui excédent les frais
maximaux. Si les honoraires d’un psychiatre sont de 250 § et
que celui-ci facture 300 $, il recevra une pénalité de 1 000 $? C’est
ce que je Veux savoir.

Ce n’est pas une mince affaire pour le gouvernement que
d’imposer toutes les grilles d’honoraires médicaux. Je ne
comprends pas pourquoi on n’exclurait pas tous les
professionnels de la santé de la définition de promoteur, en les
liant directement a leur ordre professionnel respectif pour fixer les
taux. Il faut que ce soit précis.

[Traduction]

M. McCauley : Si nous avons bien compris, il n’y aura pas de
barémes de frais indiquant que c’est le montant que vous pouvez
imposer. Je le répéte, nous devons passer en revue le processus
afin de déterminer ce qui est sensé, mais le projet de loi vise a
établir des limites maximales au-dela desquelles on s’entend pour
dire que les frais imposés ne sont pas représentatifs de la valeur
des services. Je pense qu’en particulier dans le domaine médical, il
y a de nombreux autres points de repére que, comme vous le dites,
nous examinerons, parce que nous n’avons pas 'intention de fixer
une limite aussi précise. Le projet de loi cherche simplement a
définir les limites tolérées au-dela desquelles tout Canadien — ou
toute profession médicale — déclarerait qu’il n’y a aucun lien
entre les frais imposés, ou ceux que 1’on prétend vouloir imposer,
et la valeur des services.

C’est en partie la raison pour laquelle un processus de
consultation est prévu. Devrons-nous consulter un grand
nombre de groupes? Oui, mais cela signifie qu’avec un peu de
chance, nous prendrons la bonne décision. Les premicres
impressions sont que, puisqu’il s’agit d’'un Réglement si, aprés
un an ou deux, nous constatons que les limites sont trop strictes et
déraisonnables, nous les modifierons apres les consultations.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Monsieur McCauley, vous
n’avez jamais siégé a la Chambre ou au Sénat si vous pensez que
des modifications seront apportées aprés deux ans. La plupart du
temps, la loi est toujours la méme cinq ans plus tard. Par
conséquent, cet argument ne me convaincra pas. Peut-étre que
cela persuadera d’autres personnes, mais, apres avoir passé 19 ans
ici, j’ai rarement vu des lois corrigées deux ans plus tard. Donc,
dans le cas présent, si j’étais médecin et qu'on me qualifiait de
promotrice, je peux vous dire que je trouverais cela insultant. En
fait, les médecins sont les personnes sur lesquelles les gens
s’appuient pour établir leur admissibilité. Je pense qu’il est
insultant de les qualifier ainsi et de les classer dans la méme
catégorie que ceux qui ont inventé tout a coup une nouvelle
profession et qui sont devenus ceux qui font vraiment la
promotion de ce programme. En fait, vous avez engendré ce qui
doit étre une initiative de création d’emplois. Personnellement, je
pense qu’il faut comprendre que ces personnes, si elles font leur
travail et remplissent les formulaires correctement, ce qui n’est pas
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paperwork. I feel that this is quite insulting because you use the
same word in French and English — “promoter” and
“promoteur.” In Quebec, we use the word “promoter” for horse
racing. If people go to Blue Bonnets, you say they are a promoter.
We're dealing with people with handicaps that will be recognized
by some health professionals. Don’t you feel that these people
should be isolated because they’re part of your process, and they
are the basis for people to be eligible to have access to the tax
credit? We can say that they should charge according to their own
professional fee that their order is applying and publicizing, but to
be associated with that group is not appropriate, as far as I'm
concerned.

Mr. McCauley: I'm not sure if there’s a question there, but |
will comment.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: What do you think about the
medical profession, which includes psychologists and others,
being caught under the word “promoter,” knowing that these
people, contrary to the clause 3 other promoters are people that
are not necessarily on the fee schedule of a professional order or
association?

Mr. McCauley: My understanding is that, certainly, there’s the
language that is used in the bill. I'll apologize; my reference for
being able to change things was in the regulations and the fee
schedule, not the use. So it’s my mistake; I apologize for that.
That’s where we would be able to move more quickly; you're
right. You’re absolutely right about legislation.

I think we would have flexibility, and, again, it would be good
to listen to people’s part of the consultation process. There are the
words used in the law, but, in our material and other things to
talk about medical professionals and others, we may end up not
using the word “promoter” for a lot of those groups. If that, for
example, is part of the consultation and is something that people
think makes a lot of sense, you can do that in how you
communicate, how you share all of this information, and that
doesn’t lessen the authority of the bill in the terms of carving
people in. So it is a good take away, not just from tonight but
from others, that we’re not bound, unless we use some absolute
legal text. We can look at being much more flexible and, as you
would say, respectful in terms of how we would communicate
that, either out to the general public or through the professions.
That’s certainly something we would be willing to take on as part
of consultations.

toujours le cas, comme nous ’avons entendu hier — parfois, ils
font des erreurs, et il est nécessaire de les consulter de nouveau —,
ne voient tout de méme pas des gens malades qui doivent suivre
des traitements. Elles s’occupent de formalités administratives. Je
trouve cela trés insultant, car vous employez le méme mot en
francais et en anglais, soit « promoteur » et « promoter ». Au
Québec, nous utilisons le mot « promoteur » dans le contexte des
courses de chevaux. Nous qualifions de promoteurs les gens qui
fréquentent I’hippodrome de Montréal. En ce moment, nous
parlons de gens atteints de déficiences diagnostiquées par des
professionnels de la santé. Ne pensez-vous pas que ces
professionnels devraient faire partie d’'un groupe distinct, parce
qu’ils participent a votre processus et que I’établissement de
I’admissibilité des gens au crédit d’'impét dépend d’eux? Nous
pouvons indiquer que les honoraires qu’ils réclament devraient
correspondre a ceux que leur ordre applique et publie, mais, selon
moi, il est inapproprié de les classer dans ce groupe.

M. McCauley : Je ne suis pas certain que vous ayez posé une
question, mais je formulerai tout de méme des observations.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Que pensez-vous de I'emploi
du mot « promoteur » pour désigner la profession médicale, qui
compte des psychologues et d’autres professionnels, sachant que,
contrairement a d’autres promoteurs mentionnés a larticle 3,
certains promoteurs ne sont nécessairement pas assujettis a un
baréme de frais établi par leur association ou leur ordre

professionnel?

M. McCauley : Certes, je comprends que c’est la fagon dont le
texte de loi est formulé. Je vous présente mes excuses; lorsque j’ai
parlé de la possibilité de modifier certains éléments, je faisais
allusion au Réglement et au baréme de frais, et non a I'emploi de
ce mot. Je faisais donc erreur, et je vous en demande pardon. Ce
sont ces éléments que nous pourrions modifier plus rapidement.
En ce qui concerne la mesure législative, vous avez absolument
raison.

Je pense que nous bénéficierons d’une certaine marge de jeu et,
je le répéte, ce sera bien d’écouter le point de vue des gens qui
participeront au processus de consultation. Il y a les mots
employés dans le texte de loi, mais, dans nos documents et
d’autres produits de communication, il se peut que nous finissions
par ne pas employer le mot « promoteur » pour désigner bon
nombre de ces groupes, dont les professionnels de la santé. Si, par
exemple, cette question est soulevée dans le cadre des
consultations et que les gens pensent que c’est trés sensé, nous
pouvons régler la question griace a la fagon dont nous
communiquons et échangeons tous ces renseignements, et la loi
n’en visera pas moins tous ces gens. Voila une excellente
conclusion que nous pouvons tirer non seulement des
délibérations de ce soir, mais aussi des autres discussions, a
savoir que nous ne sommes pas limités par la loi, sauf si nous
employons des termes juridiques absolus. Nous pouvons
envisager d’étre beaucoup plus souples et, comme vous le diriez,
plus respectueux dans la fagon dont nous communiquons ces
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Senator Hervieux-Payette: Mr. Chair, at the next meeting, |
intend to put an amendment to this because I want them to serve
the clientele in difficulty, and I want all of these professionals to
feel not only happy but also that they’re providing a public service
and are not people promoting and taking advantage of people
with difficulty. The way it’s written there is why you want to put a
ceiling on what is being charged, but, at the same time, these
people don’t fit into that definition.

I'm just saying to you that I thought that you would help me a
little bit. I know that you want to do it indirectly, but, as
legislators, I would like to do things directly.

The Chair: I’d just point out to you, Senator Hervieux-Payette,
and to the meeting, that in the form itself, “qualified practitioner”
is the term used, which is already an established term. If you were
thinking about maybe saying that promoters do not include
qualified practitioners, that might solve your problem. But I hear
your point.

Mr. McCauley: Just an observation on that, Mr. Chair, if it
was the nomenclature — my earlier comment — it would be that
you would add that as “promoters” or “qualified” to get
captured. Because if they’re carved out, then you create that
compliance loophole that I spoke to earlier. It wouldn’t be to
exclude them; to add an additional title into that section, I think,
would be the way you could address it. All I'm saying is that
regardless of what you do or don’t do with the bill, we can
certainly undertake, in terms of how we would execute it, to
respect some of these views as much as we could.

The Chair: Thank you for that.

Senator Eggleton: Thank you very much. First, 'm happy to
hear that you’re going to look at simplifying the form, because
that may reduce the number of people who go to these third-party
whatever you want to call them.

I think equally important is the service you provide. That can
also help reduce the number of people who go there. With closure
of service counters and difficulty getting you on the phone — I
have tried many times; I know — that could drive people into the
arms of these promoters.

régles, soit au grand public, soit aux professionnels. C’est
certainement un aspect que nous serions disposés a aborder
dans le cadre des consultations.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Monsieur le président, au
cours de la prochaine séance, j’ai I'intention de présenter un
amendement au projet de loi, parce que je tiens a ce que tous ces
professionnels servent les clients en difficulté et que non seulement
ils soient satisfaits, mais qu’ils aient aussi le sentiment de rendre
un service au public et non de promouvoir un programme ou de
tirer parti de gens qui éprouvent des difficultés. La fagon dont les
promoteurs sont décrits explique pourquoi on souhaite limiter les
frais qu’ils peuvent imposer, mais, en méme temps, cette
définition ne cadre pas avec ces professionnels.

Je dis simplement que je pensais que vous m’aideriez un peu. Je
sais que vous souhaitez le faire indirectement, mais nous, les
législateurs, nous aimerions procéder de fagon directe.

Le président : Sénatrice Hervieux-Payette, je vous ferais
remarquer que, dans le formulaire méme, I’expression
« praticiens qualifiés » est employée. L’emploi de cette
expression est déja établi. Si vous pensiez peut-étre soutenir que
les promoteurs ne comprennent pas les praticiens qualifiés, cela
résoudrait peut-étre votre probléme. Mais je comprends ce que
vous cherchez a faire valoir.

M. McCauley : J’aimerais simplement formuler une
observation a cet égard, monsieur le président. S’il s’agissait
d’une question de nomenclature — comme je 1’ai indiqué plus
tot —, la solution consisterait a ajouter les termes « promoteurs »
ou « praticiens qualifiés » pour faire allusion aux gens visés. Parce
que, s’ils ne sont pas mentionnés, on crée dans la mesure
législative une échappatoire, dont j’ai parlé précédemment. La
solution ne consisterait pas a les exclure, mais plutét a ajouter un
titre a cet article. Selon moi, ce serait la meilleure fagon de régler
le probléme. Tout ce que je dis, c’est que, peu importe les
changements que vous apportez ou non au projet de loi, nous
pouvons certainement nous employer a respecter, dans la mesure
du possible, certains de ces points de vue par rapport a la fagon
dont nous le mettons en ceuvre.

Le président : Je vous remercie de votre intervention.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Merci beaucoup. Premiérement, je suis
heureux de vous entendre dire que vous allez envisager de
simplifier le formulaire, parce que cela pourrait réduire le nombre
de personnes qui font appel a ces tiers, quel que soit le nom que
vous souhaitez leur donner.

Je pense que le service que vous fournissez est tout aussi
important. Il peut contribuer a réduire le nombre de personnes
qui s’engage dans cette voie. Toutefois, la fermeture de comptoirs
de service et la difficulté de vous joindre par téléphone — j’en sais
quelque chose; j’ai tenté de le faire a de nombreuses reprises —
pourraient pousser certaines personnes dans les bras de ces
promoteurs.
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Can you do something more to improve the service level, at
least at the initial instance? I heard you mention something about
nurses who call people. That’s sounds very good. But there might
be a barrier of them getting through at the start.

Mr. McCauley: An excellent point. I think it is somewhat
reassuring that out of the 220,000, we think it’s about 9 or 10 that
use promoters. We think we have a pretty good chunk. It is not
like you have 90 per cent of people having to use promoters. It is
a small piece of the market. To your point, there are probably
cases where they do add value.

From our perspective, if there are things we can do, we are
moving how we handle the phones and we’re going to try this in
the coming years, to allow people to get through our general
inquiries line. We are looking at whether we can improve the
telephone access for DTCs.

We did find, when we did the survey on the counters, that
typically the individuals who are inquiring about the service don’t
come in to do a physical presence kind of thing in our offices, so
that was not seen as a barrier.

One of the things we do is that if we get a claim in and we have
some questions about it, we’ve got five nurses on staff; and they
go through it, because they’re medical professionals. They will
pick up the phone and try to call a doctor, or they’ll call the
individual to see if they can work it out rather than sending
letters.

If, as part of the process, there are affordable tips on the service
side, we would certainly be open to that. I mentioned coming up
with an electronic form and things like that. We are looking at
trying to modernize the service too.

Senator Eggleton: Some of the severely disabled will not be able
to go that route and do need that extra help.

Mr. McCauley: If you were going to help them out, it would be
easier for you to help out the person, if you wanted, as an
individual. The point being that I may be so disabled that I can’t
use the new electronic form, but if it makes it easier for you to
help them make the claim, it may have some value.

Senator Eggleton: 1 would appreciate your looking at the
service level so that you can help people at an earlier stage.

We had some of these promoters, or whatever we want to call
them, in here. They indicated that 30 per cent was what they
needed. My first reaction is that it sounds kind of high, but they
said that’s based on the going professional fees. Most of these

Pouvez-vous en faire plus pour améliorer le niveau de service,
du moins initialement? Je vous ai entendu mentionner des
infirmiers qui appellent des gens. Cela semble trés positif, mais
il pourrait y avoir une foule de gens a joindre au début.

M. McCauley : Voila un excellent argument. Je pense qu’il est
un peu rassurant de constater que, selon nous, seuls 9 ou 10 des
220 000 demandeurs font appel a des promoteurs. Ces
promoteurs détiennent une trés petite part du marché. Et pour
tenir compte de votre point de vue, ils ont probablement une
valeur ajoutée dans certains cas.

En ce qui concerne les mesures que nous pouvons prendre,
nous sommes en train de modifier la fagon dont nous traitons les
appels, et nous allons essayer cette nouvelle approche dans les
années a venir, afin de permettre aux gens d’atteindre notre ligne
téléphonique de renseignements généraux. Nous cherchons a
déterminer si nous pouvons améliorer ’accés aux lignes des
demandeurs de CIPH.

Lorsque nous avons mené I’enquéte concernant les comptoirs
de service, nous avons constaté que les gens qui demandent des
renseignements a propos du service ne se rendent pas dans nos
bureaux. Par conséquent, la fermeture des comptoirs de service
n’est pas considérée comme un obstacle.

Si nous recevons une demande et que nous nous interrogeons a
son sujet, nous confions la tache aux cinq infirmiers que nous
employons. Ils passent en revue la demande, parce que ce sont des
professionnels de la santé. IIs tentent ensuite d’appeler un médecin
ou le demandeur pour déterminer s’ils peuvent résoudre le
probléme par téléphone plutét que d’envoyer des lettres.

Si, dans le cadre du processus, on nous donne des conseils
abordables sur les services, nous serons certainement disposés a
les entendre. J’ai mentionné la possibilité que nous élaborions un
formulaire électronique et d’autres outils de ce genre. Nous
cherchons également a moderniser le service.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Certaines des personnes gravement
handicapées ne seront pas en mesure de s’engager dans cette voie,
et elles ont effectivement besoin de cette aide supplémentaire.

M. McCauley : Si vous aviez I'intention de les aider, il serait
plus facile de les aider en tant que particulier. J’entends par la
qu'une personne peut étre tellement handicapée qu’elle ne sera pas
en mesure d’utiliser le nouveau formulaire électronique, mais si ce
formulaire vous permet d’aider plus facilement la personne a
présenter une demande, il se peut que ce formulaire ait une
certaine valeur.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Je me réjouirais que vous examiniez
votre niveau de service afin d’étre en mesure de venir en aide aux
gens plus tot.

Nous avons entendu ici certains de ces promoteurs, ou peu
importe comment vous souhaitez les appeler. Ils ont indiqué qu’ils
devaient recevoir 30 p. 100 du crédit d'impét. De prime abord,
leurs frais m’ont semblé un peu élevés, mais ils ont déclaré que
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people are professional accountants, or at least some of them said
they were.

What is overcharging? What do you think is overcharging? I
know that’s going to be the subject of the regulation; you’re going
to have to get through that. If it’s anything less than 30 per cent,
these people say they’re out of business.

Mr. McCauley: You're right that it’s the purpose of the
consultation to sort that out. My only observation would be that
given that the bulk of the difficult part of the form is filled out by
the physician, and the other four or five pieces of biographical
information, it will be an interesting conversation about how you
establish fair value. But the bill is very clear. It’s fair market value.
It’s not seeking to remove promoters from the marketplace; it’s
seeking to remove those few exceptional circumstances where
there is abuse.

Senator Eggleton: Talking about abuse, some of them said that
some of the operators are providing false advertising and
misleading kind of information to people. Will that be looked
at, too, as part of the regulations? They said it’s more than a
percentage; in other words, they think there are other things to be
looked at. Will you be able to do that as well?

Mr. McCauley: Our first priority would be to consult on what
we need to consult on to put the bill into place. As part of that
process, we can piggyback, or people can have other observations.
We have a mandate to do certain things. Have we issued tax alerts
or a few other things on DTCs? That is getting down that road:
Would there be some things in terms of “claimant beware”? I
don’t know if we have gone down that road yet, Nathalie.

Ms. Dumais: We’re certainly looking at the way we’re
communicating the information to individuals who might be
eligible. We talked about electronic, but also new ways of
reaching out, social media and all of that. Certainly that’s
something we would be looking into as we’re consulting on the
pure objective of the bill and what we committed to. Every year
we review our programs and forms. Some years it’s minor
changes. Once in a while we do a more exhaustive review process,
like we did in 2007 and 2004.

I think whatever we hear through the consultation will not be
limited to what we’re going to implement as part of this legislation
but also in terms of what program improvements we can bring in.

cela correspondait aux honoraires professionnels courants. La
plupart d’entre eux sont des comptables professionnels ou, du
moins, c’est ce qu’ont affirmé certains d’entre eux.

Selon vous, qu’est-ce qui constitue une surfacturation? Je sais
que le Reéglement portera sur ce sujet; vous allez devoir passer ces
questions en revue. Ces personnes soutiennent que, si leurs
honoraires sont inférieurs a 30 p. 100, elles ne pourront pas
survivre.

M. McCauley : Vous avez raison de dire que les consultations
ont pour but de déterminer ce qui constitue une surfacturation. Je
vous ferais simplement observer que, compte tenu du fait que le
médecin répond a la majeure partie des questions difficiles du
formulaire et des quatre ou cinq autres renseignements
biographiques, il sera intéressant de discuter de la facon
d’établir la juste valeur du service. Toutefois, le projet de loi
indique trés clairement qu’il faut déterminer la juste valeur
marchande du service. Le projet de loi ne cherche pas a éliminer la
présence de ces promoteurs sur le marché, mais plutot les
quelques circonstances exceptionnelles ou il y a des abus.

Le sénateur Eggleton : En parlant d’abus, certains promoteurs
ont indiqué que certains de leurs collégues faisaient de la fausse
publicité et transmettaient des renseignements trompeurs aux
gens. Est-ce que, dans le cadre de I’élaboration du Réglement,
cette situation sera également examinée? Ils ont dit que ces gens
représentaient plus qu’un petit pourcentage. En d’autres termes,
ils pensent que d’autres aspects de ces services devraient étre
examinés. Serez-vous en mesure d’étudier également ces aspects?

M. McCauley : Notre principale priorité consistera a consulter
les gens a propos des aspects qui doivent faire 1’objet de
consultations pour pouvoir mettre en ceuvre le projet de loi.
D’autres aspects peuvent étre ajoutés a ce processus, ou des
personnes peuvent formuler d’autres observations. Toutefois,
nous sommes chargés de réaliser certaines choses. Avons-nous
émis des alertes fiscales ou fait quelques annonces a propos des
CIPH? C’est quelque chose que nous pourrions envisager plus
tard, en cours de route. Y aurait-il des aspects dont les
demandeurs devraient se méfier? J’ignore si nous nous sommes
déja engagés dans cette voie, Nathalie.

Mme Dumais : Nous examinons certainement la fagon dont
nous communiquons 'information aux personnes qui pourraient
étre admissibles. Nous avons parlé de formulaires électroniques,
mais aussi de nouveaux moyens de nous porter a la rencontre des
demandeurs, de médias sociaux et d’autres outils de ce genre.
C’est certainement un aspect que nous étudierons pendant que
nous menons des consultations a propos de 1’objectif exact du
projet de loi et de ce que nous nous sommes engagés a faire.
Chaque année, nous examinons nos programmes et nos
formulaires. Certaines années, nous ne leur apportons que des
changements mineurs. De temps en temps, nous procédons a un
examen plus détaillé, comme nous I’avons fait en 2007 et en 2004.

Nos consultations ne portent pas seulement sur les dispositions
du projet de loi que nous allons mettre en ceuvre, mais aussi sur les
améliorations que nous pouvons apporter aux programmes.
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Senator Eggleton: I'm delighted you’re doing this wide
consultation with the stakeholders.

One more question, if I might. We've been talking about
concern about the terminology ‘“promoter” and whether
“physician” should be in here or not. As my colleague said, it
sounds like an insult to the profession. There is a provision in the
bill, paragraph 9(b), which provides for exempt groups. What
might those groups be? Do you have any idea?

Mr. McCauley: No, in the sense that, as we read the bill, it
provides that if for some reason, as part of the consultations,
there’s a conclusion that there is a reason that a group could be
considered exempt, and it doesn’t create any risk, compliance risk
or something, then that’s available to actually have the minister
say this group is exempt.

To the earlier comment about how difficult it is to change a
bill, it’s in there that if, for example, there is justification for
somebody’s being exempt — and I won’t speculate as to who that
might be — that determination could be made. It’s handy to have
it there if we came across that as part of the consultations.

Senator Eggleton: It would be by the minister on the basis of
your advice?

Mr. McCauley: After the consultations, yes, we would suggest
this is what could be considered.

[Translation)

Senator Bellemare: We have heard suggestions from witnesses
who have appeared before the committee about the term
“promoter”. We discussed this with them yesterday. Health
professionals identify as health care providers. There was some
consensus about using the term ‘“consultant” instead of
“promoter.”

Whether we are talking about health care professionals or
others, those people feel that they are providing a service to
disabled individuals by helping them monitor their file, and that
this is a service with market value. They do not promote or
advertise. It may be a good idea to discuss the term “consultant”.

My question has to do with fees and penalties for violations. In
subclause 3(2) of the bill, the following is stated:

Every promoter who contravenes subsection (1) is liable
to a penalty in respect of the fee equal to the total of $1,000
and the amount . . .

That formula specifies the amount of $1,000. Since no
consultations were held, we do not know what the order of
magnitude should be. We see a formula were A represents the fee
in respect of a disability tax credit request, B represents the
maximum fee, and I am wondering what C stands for. I am
struggling to understand. The bill states that C is the amount of
the fee in respect of the disability tax credit request that is repaid
to the claimant within 120 days after notification is given to the

Le sénateur Eggleton : Je suis ravi d’entendre que vous tenez de
vastes consultations aupres des intervenants.

Si vous permettez, je vais poser une autre question. Nous avons
parlé de la préoccupation concernant la pertinence d’employer les
termes « promoteur » et « docteur » dans le projet de loi. Comme
ma collegue 1’a dit, on dirait une insulte a la profession. Par
ailleurs, savez-vous quels sont les groupes exemptés au
paragraphe 95)?

M. McCauley : Non, le projet de loi permet d’exempter un
groupe, s’il est considéré comme admissible dans les
consultations, s’il ne présente pas de risque de conformité, et
cetera. Le ministre peut établir qu'un groupe est exempté.

Pour revenir a la difficulté d’apporter des modifications, le
projet de loi permet d’exempter quelqu’un si c’est justifié. Je ne
vais pas spéculer sur les personnes concernées. C’est pratique de
s’appuyer sur une telle disposition si nous en arrivons a cette
conclusion dans les consultations.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Serait-ce la décision du ministre, fondée
sur vos conseils?

M. McCauley : Au terme des consultations, oui, nous
suggérons ce qui pourrait étre considéré.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : Nous avons entendu des suggestions
de témoins, qui ont comparu devant le comité, sur le terme
« promoteur ». Nous en avons discuté avec eux hier. Les
professionnels de la santé s’identifient comme étant des
pourvoyeurs de services de santé, ou des providers. Le terme qui
a fait un peu le consensus était « consultant » plutot que
« promoteur ».

Qu’il s’agisse de professionnels de la santé ou autres, ces gens
ont I'impression de rendre un service aux personnes handicapées
en les aidant a suivre leur dossier, ce qui est un service avec une
valeur marchande. Ils ne font pas que de la promotion ou de la
publicité. Le terme « consultant » serait peut-étre a discuter.

Ma question a trait aux frais et aux pénalités pour infraction. A
larticle 3(2) du projet de loi, on dit :

Le promoteur qui contrevient au paragraphe (1) est
passible d’une pénalité égale au total de 1000 $ et du
résultat [...]

Dans cette formule, le montant de 1 000 $ a été précisé. Etant
donné que I’on n’a pas fait de consultation, on ne sait pas quel
devrait étre I'ordre de grandeur. On voit une formule ou A
représente les frais a 1’égard de la demande du crédit pour les
personnes handicapées, B représente les frais maximaux qui
seront décidés, et je me demande a quoi correspond C. J’ai de la
difficulté a comprendre. On dit que c’est le montant des frais a
I’égard de la demande de crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
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minister in accordance with section 4 or any longer period that is
acceptable to the minister.

That means the minister or the government will repay the
claimant for the fees, and that is part of the equation to determine
the penalty for a fee exceeding the maximum fee. I think that is a
bit complicated.

Moreover, clause 7 also sets out an amount for offenses. That
provision is simple and appears worthwhile to me. It states the
following:

Every promoter who contravenes section 3 is guilty of an
offence and, in addition to any penalty otherwise provided, is
liable on summary conviction to a fine of not less than
100 per cent and not more than 200 per cent of the total of all
amounts by which the fee exceeds the maximum fee amount in
respect of a disability tax credit request.

In this case, as well, there are details on the offence. I do not
know whether it is justified to have this mix of unknown and set
values before the consultation is carried out. Is it common to find
two types of penalties and these kinds of defined parameters in a
bill?

Mr. McCauley: I will try to answer and will then ask Nathalie
to complete my response.

[English]

I have to keep things simpler for my own purposes. Again, this
is to catch the exceptions, not the 99.9 per cent that are quite
acceptable. Let’s say that for whatever reason, after the
consultation is done, that it was $1,000, and so somebody has
charged $1,500. After we asked them about it, there is no real
good reason for why they exceeded the limit. There is also
common sense. Before you would apply it, you would check to see
if there is something we’re missing here, particularly if it’s from a
group or association where is there is no history of this. It may
just be an anomaly or even just a mistake. If that isn’t the
circumstance and it was a case where they clearly did do
something inconsistent with what the bill was intending, then it
would be the equivalent of $500. If there wasn’t something
beyond the $500, essentially all you’d be doing is taking back the
excess and there really would be no significant consequence on, in
this case, the promoter who might have been charging over.

The $1,000, as I understand it, was simply there to say you
have to have something a little more than just clawing back what
you would have got, because otherwise there is really no risk. The
only risk is that you might not get the extra money that you were
trying to get. The $1,000 was put in there, and that’s per claim so
it’s not insignificant, to say no, there is a slap on the wrist for that.

The other one is where you’re dealing with, as I understand it,
a chronic offender, somebody who has repeated cases, like the
ones we had to eventually take to court and who were convicted.
That took I don’t know how many years, and people were caught

handicapées qui est remboursé au demandeur dans les 120 jours
suivant I’avis donné au ministre conformément a I’article 4 ou
tout délai supérieur que le ministre estime acceptable.

Cela veut dire que le ministre ou le gouvernement va
rembourser la personne qui fait la demande pour des frais, et
cela fait partie de I’équation pour évaluer la pénalité pour frais
excessifs. Je trouve cela un peu compliqué.

Qui plus est, a larticle 7, il y a également un montant pour
infractions. Cette disposition est simple et me semble intéressante.
On dit ce qui suit :

Le promoteur qui contrevient a larticle 3 commet une
infraction et encourt, sur déclaration de culpabilité par
procédure sommaire et outre toute pénalité prévue par
ailleurs, une amende au moins égale a 100 % de ’excédent
du total des frais a ’égard d’une demande de crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées sur les frais maximaux, sans
dépasser 200 % de cet excédent.

Il'y a, encore 1a, des précisions sur I'infraction. Je ne sais pas s’il
est justifié d’avoir ce mélange d’inconnu et de valeurs fixes avant
la consultation. Est-il commun de retrouver deux types de
pénalités et ce type de parametres définis dans un projet de loi?

M. McCauley : Je vais tenter de répondre et demander a
Nathalie de compléter ma réponse.

[Traduction]

Nous devons simplifier la question aux fins de notre travail.
Cette disposition vise a prévoir les exceptions et ne concerne pas
les 99,9 p. 100 de demandes qui sont tout a fait acceptables.
Disons qu’aprés consultation, la limite est établie a 1 000 § et que
1 500 $ sont facturés. En posant la question, nous constatons que
cet écart de prix est injustifié. C’est aussi une question de bon
sens. Avant d’appliquer la disposition, nous vérifions s’il nous
manque des informations, surtout pour un groupe ou une
association qui n’a pas d’antécédents. C’est peut-étre une simple
anomalie ou méme une erreur. Si ce n’est pas le cas et que les frais
enfreignent manifestement le projet de loi, la pénalité s’éléve a
500 $. S’il ne dépasse pas 500 §, I'excédent sera remboursé et le
promoteur ne sera pas sanctionné.

Selon ce que je comprends, les 1 000 $ servent simplement a
regagner un peu plus que les frais en cause, sinon le seul risque
consiste & ne pas obtenir les frais supplémentaires demandés. C’est
une pénalité non négligeable de 1 000 $ par demande.

Draprés ce que je comprends, 'autre type de promoteur est un
récidiviste comme ceux que nous avons fini par poursuivre en
cour et qui ont été condamnés. Les proces ont duré je ne sais
combien d’années et ont accaparé des gens. Cette disposition nous
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up in that. This would allow us to move more quickly and impose
something on that. I will admit that second part we do use rarely
and very judiciously, and we consult with Justice. The second one,
the harder fine, is unusual, but it is often styled that way. Do you
have any further comments on that?

Ms. Dumais: You expressed it well. It’s to recognize the
difference between an omission, not having reported something,
and finding there is a little bit more in terms of intentions and
repeats.

[Translation]

In the first case, they would repay the surcharge plus the
$1,000, which serves as an incentive to behave differently next
time. However, in the second case, it is more —

Senator Bellemare: In terms of subclause 3(2), you are saying
that the consultant or promoter repays the claimant. We are not
talking about a penalty for a fee exceeding the maximum fee that
the promoter pays to the government.

Ms. Dumais: The repayment is made to the claimant because
they were charged more than the maximum fee.

Senator Bellemare: That is not set out as clearly. The following
is stated:

Every promoter who contravenes subsection (1) is liable to a
penalty in respect of the fee equal to the total of $1,000 and the
amount determined by the formula A - (B + C)

But I do not understand what the C in the formula stands for.
My understanding is that the government repays the disabled
individual who has been charged an amount exceeding the
maximum fee. The provision sets out the following:

. . is the amount of the fee in respect of the disability tax
credit request that is repaid to the claimant within 120 days
after notification is given to the Minister in accordance with
section 4 or any longer period that is acceptable to the
Minister.

I am trying to understand this provision, and I am having
difficulty grasping the mechanics behind the formula. I may be
the only person having such difficulty.

An Hon. Senator: No.

Senator Bellemare: That is reassuring.

[English)

Mr. McCauley: If you could go on to some other question,
we’ll see if we can get the answer to that and then maybe circle
back in a second, just to make sure we get it right.

[Translation]

The Chair: Do you have any other questions?

permet d’agir plus rapidement et d’imposer une pénalité en cas
d’infraction. Nous avons trés rarement recours a la deuxiéme
sanction. Nous le faisons de maniére judicieuse et en consultant le
ministére de la Justice. Cette deuxiéme sanction plus sévére est
inhabituelle, mais c’est souvent 1’objectif visé. Avez-vous d’autres
commentaires la-dessus?

Mme Dumais : Vous ’avez bien expliqué. C’est ce qui
différencie 'omission de déclarer un élément et les infractions
répétées qui révélent un peu les intentions.

[Frangais]

Dans le premier cas, ils vous rembourseraient le surplus plus le
montant de 1000 $, qui est un incitatif a adopter un autre
comportement pour la prochaine fois. Alors que dans le deuxieme
cas c’est plus des...

La sénatrice Bellemare : Vous me dites, par rapport a 3(2), que
c’est un remboursement du consultant ou du promoteur au
demandeur. Ce n’est pas une pénalité pour frais excessifs que le
promoteur donne au gouvernement.

Mme Dumais : C’était pour rembourser la personne qui avait
fait la demande, parce que, dans le fond, il vous aurait facturé
plus que les frais maximaux.

La sénatrice Bellemare : Ce n’est pas écrit si clairement. On dit
ce qui suit :

Le promoteur qui contrevient au paragraphe (1) est
passible d’une pénalité égale au total de 1000 $ et du
résultat du calcul suivant : A - (B + C)

Or, je ne comprends pas a quoi correspond le C en question. Je
crois comprendre que le gouvernement rembourse la personne
handicapée qui aurait été abusée de frais excessifs. On dit :

le montant des frais a 1’égard de la demande de crédit
d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées qui est remboursé au
demandeur dans les cent vingt jours suivant I’avis donné au
ministre conformément a I’article 4 ou tout délai supérieur
que le ministre estime acceptable

En lisant cet article, j'essaie de comprendre et j’ai de la
difficulté a saisir la mécanique derriére cette formule. Je suis peut-
étre la seule a avoir eu cette difficulté.

Une voix : Non.

La sénatrice Bellemare : Cela me rassure.

[Traduction]

M. McCauley : Si vous voulez poser une autre question, nous
allons faire des recherches et vous donner la réponse exacte dans
un instant.

[Frangais]

Le président : Avez-vous une autre question?
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Senator Bellemare: No. I think I had my answer. My second
question had to do with clause 7. I understand that clause 3
concerns a penalty for a fee exceeding the maximum fee, and
clause 7 has to do with another penalty.

The Chair: We will see later on.

[English]

Senator Merchant: We had some testimony that people said
they really couldn’t afford to pay anything. I think there was a
woman from Alberta who said that even 10 per cent would be too
much for people with disabilities. Is there something that people
like that can do to still be able to put in their claim? Do you know
if there are many people who are not able to apply because they
are not able to pay for the service, or some people never bother to
apply? That might be one reason, and another is maybe some of
them are not well enough or able to navigate the system, but at
the same time they cannot pay very much because every bit of
money is important to them.

Mr. McCauley: It’s a very important question and goes back to
some earlier observations about trying to make it as easy and
straightforward and direct as possible on the front end, and that’s
a permanent mission. I do know, again an observation, that of the
220,000, there are about 10 that fall into that promoter
community. There is a lot of stuff happening outside of what
the medical professional might charge. Certainly going in, the
assumption is that 99.9 per cent of that is quite legitimate and the
value is appropriate. There are some provinces that recognize it as
an OHIP cost, and others have a bit of a charge. As was pointed
out earlier by another senator, that is something we’ll have to
look at.

I also know that some of the tax preparation organizations do
it for free. If you’re doing your return with them, they’ll fill out
the front part for you for free, at no extra cost. You just get the
medical side and then you come back. We can’t promote
somebody else’s business. However, if we can help profile that a
bit more, then that would be another route and it’s good for their
business. We specifically know of some that do that. They’ll fill
out the front end for you and say, “Go see your doctor. Bring it
back and we’ll file it for you. You don’t have to worry about it.”

There are a lot of people out there who want to make sure this
gets to the right people, and that’s encouraging to see.

Senator Merchant: Yesterday, I think perhaps we got some
information that might not be quite accurate.

When somebody qualifies and gets a credit, does that go
directly to them or does it go first to the promoter, who then
keeps his portion of the fee and then gives them the rest? How
does that work?

Ms. Dumais: It goes back to the claimant or to the taxpayer
who is claiming it.

Mr. McCauley: As far as we know.

Ms. Dumais: My understanding is then there is an agreement
about what they are to pay.

La sénatrice Bellemare : Non. Je crois qu’on m’a répondu. Ma
deuxiéme question touchait I’article 7. Je comprends que
l’article 3 est une pénalité pour frais excessifs, et I’article 7 est
une autre pénalité.

Le président : On verra plus tard.

[Traduction]

La sénatrice Merchant : Des témoins ont dit qu’ils ne pouvaient
rien payer. Si je me souviens bien, une Albertaine a dit que méme
10 p. 100, c’est trop pour les personnes handicapées. Que peuvent
faire ces gens pour soumettre des demandes quand méme? Y a-t-il
beaucoup de gens qui sont incapables de présenter des demandes,
parce qu’ils n’ont pas les moyens de payer? Des gens ne se
donnent peut-étre pas la peine de soumettre des demandes. Il se
peut aussi que certaines personnes ne soient pas en mesure de se
retrouver dans le systéme, mais elles ne peuvent pas payer
beaucoup, car chaque dollar compte pour elles.

M. McCauley : Je répéte qu’il est trés important de rendre le
systéme le plus simple et le plus direct possible pour le demandeur.
C’est notre objectif permanent. Parmi les 220 000 demandes,
environ 10 p. 100 concernent les promoteurs. Il y a bien d’autres
aspects que les seuls honoraires du professionnel de la santé. Au
départ, nous présumons que 99,9 p. 100 des demandes sont tout a
fait légitimes et que les montants sont appropriés. L’assurance-
maladie couvre ces frais dans certaines provinces, tandis qu’il faut
débourser certains montants dans d’autres. Comme I’a dit un
autre sénateur, nous allons examiner cette question.

Certaines organisations qui aident a produire les déclarations
de revenus vont remplir le formulaire gratuitement. La personne
n’a qu’a consulter son professionnel de la santé. Nous ne pouvons
pas promouvoir une entreprise, mais nous encourageons cette
pratique qui est profitable pour les affaires. Nous savons que
certaines entreprises vont remplir le formulaire et simplement
indiquer a la personne qu’elle doit consulter son médecin et
qu’elle n’a pas a s’inquiéter.

C’est encourageant de voir que bien des gens veulent que les
crédits profitent aux personnes qui y ont droit.

La sénatrice Merchant : Nous avons peut-étre obtenu des
informations inexactes, hier.

Le crédit est-il accordé directement a la personne, ou est-il
remis au promoteur, qui percoit ses honoraires avant de donner le
reste? Comment le crédit fonctionne-t-il?

Mme Dumais : Le crédit est accordé au demandeur ou au
contribuable qui présente une demande.

M. McCauley : D’aprées ce que nous savons.

Mme Dumais : Selon ce que je comprends, il faut ensuite
s’entendre sur le montant a payer.
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Senator Merchant: They are to pay.
Ms. Dumais: Exactly.

The Chair: That was the final information we got yesterday.

Senator Merchant: That was a little bit of a discrepancy.
The Chair: It’s good you were able to confirm that for us.

Senator Eaton: Thank you very much. After hearing our last
group of witnesses, some of us started to think about the registers
and talking to people. What if promoters, consultants,
providers — whatever the word is — were to put themselves
into an association and set up standards, a bit the way a couple of
years ago immigration so-called promoters, consultants,
providers had to put themselves into an association and come
up with a set of standard and charges? Would it make your job
easier if they self-policed themselves a bit? Is that something you
would bring up or think about when you did the regulations and
were talking to people?

Mr. McCauley: I don’t mean this the way it might sound, but
this is not to make our job easier. It’s to make sure that
Canadians who deserve the DTC don’t get abused.

Senator Eaton: I couldn’t agree with you more.

Mr. McCauley: I guess the question is, how much confidence
does one have that that would happen, happen quickly and
happen with a degree of rigour so that these things wouldn’t
happen? It may well be that everyone who would go in that are
not the ones who aren’t abusing the system and you would have
nothing in place for those who are abusing it. Yes, it would
probably work great for everyone willing to respect those self-
imposed limits. Would that be handy for us? Yes.

Senator Eaton: And other conduct. It’s not just the fee. You
know how you can circumvent a fee easily by leading people on to
get more things or to do other things. It’s both the fee and
conduct.

Mr. McCauley: At the end of the day, would that be helpful? It
certainly would be interesting and would give us another group to
talk about. My personal observation is that the individuals or
groups, or whatever — I’'m trying to avoid the word like you are
— that the bill is trying to target are the ones who would not go
into that. They would operate outside of that orbit and therefore
avoid it.

Senator Eaton: Is there a way of licensing? In other words,
somebody could not submit a form and be helped by a licensed
practitioner. Is there a way of licensing people?

Mr. McCauley: I'm not an expert on this — there are probably
a lot more experts around the table than me — but I think
constitutionally the licensing is a provincial authority. I think you
would start to run into some constitutional and federal-provincial

La sénatrice Merchant : Ce sont les demandeurs qui paient.
Mme Dumais : C’est exact.

Le président : C’est la derniére information que nous avons
regue hier.

La sénatrice Merchant : Il y avait une certaine différence.
Le président : C’est bien que vous I’ayez confirmé pour nous.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci beaucoup. Aprés avoir entendu le
dernier groupe de témoins, certains d’entre nous ont commencé a
penser aux registres et a parler aux gens. Pourquoi les
promoteurs, les consultants ou les fournisseurs — peu importe
le terme employé — ne s’entendent-ils pas pour établir des
normes, comme les promoteurs de I'immigration ont di le faire il
y a deux ans pour leurs honoraires? Votre travail serait-il plus
facile s’ils devaient s’autoréglementer? Y avez-vous songé dans
vos consultations sur la réglementation?

M. McCauley : Cela peut paraitre curieux, mais I’objectif n’est
pas de faciliter notre travail. C’est d’éviter I'abus a 1’endroit des
Canadiens qui ont droit au crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées.

La sénatrice Eaton : Je suis tout a fait d’accord.

M. McCauley : Il convient de savoir a quel point nous sommes
persuadés que le processus serait rapide et rigoureux pour éviter
l’abus. Il se peut bien que tous ceux qui accepteraient de travailler
ainsi n’abusent pas du systéme. Rien ne serait prévu pour les
contrevenants. Oui, ce serait sans doute excellent pour tous les
gens qui respectent les limites. Ce serait pratique pour nous.

La sénatrice Eaton : Il faut aussi modifier les comportements,
pas seulement rembourser les frais. On peut facilement éviter les
limites en amenant les gens a obtenir des services supplémentaires.
Il est question des frais et des comportements.

M. McCauley : Au bout du compte, I'autoréglementation
serait-elle utile? C’est une option intéressante qui nous
ameénerait a parler d'un autre groupe. Pour ma part, je pense
que les personnes ou les groupes — j’essaie d’éviter le terme,
comme vous —vVisés par le projet de loi ne participeraient pas a ce
systéme et chercheraient a le contourner.

La sénatrice Eaton : Serait-il possible d’instaurer un agrément?
Autrement dit, une personne ne pourrait pas soumettre une
demande et recevoir I’aide d’un praticien agréé. Serait-il possible
de créer un agrément?

M. McCauley : Je ne suis pas expert de la question — vous étes
sans doute nombreux autour de la table a étre mieux renseignés
que moi —, mais je pense que l'agrément est un pouvoir
provincial selon la Constitution. Il faudrait examiner les
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authorities. I think the licensing authority rests with the
provinces. You would enter into a quagmire to make something
like that happen.

As we design this going forward, are there more either
incentives or disincentives to try to get it right from the start?
Sure, we would be open to that. The bill moves quickly to stop the
abuse and gives us a tool to do that. Is another process possible?
The question would be how long would it take and what kind of
effect would it have.

Senator Eaton: My worry is that it seems to be a good remedy,
but it’s also going to be abused by people who will say “Yes, for
30 per cent we’ll get this and that for you. But if you give me
another 5 per cent, I'll do these extra steps.” This is all I'm saying.

Mr. McCauley: The hope is that, at the end of the day, it deals
with those exceptional circumstances where there is abuse. As we
move forward, we want to make sure to the best degree possible
that we don’t establish some new ceiling for charges and that we
don’t do anything that actually causes a bump in costs because
people will sort of start seeing that as the new ceiling.

We're very aware. We’ve got people on staff; we’ve got nurses
who take the program immensely seriously. That’s one of the
things we’ll want to do regarding the earlier observation.

In a perfect world, it will be simple enough; you won’t have to
use somebody else. However, there will be those niches where
there is value added by the use of — whatever the name is — a
promoter, and we will try to be sensitive to that as we go through
the consultation and come up with a regime.

Senator Eaton: In closing, I'm glad you both feel it’s
exceptional.

Senator Mockler: I would like you to walk us through the
exercise. First, how much thought was given to improving the
current provisions that we want to make instead of drafting the
law? Second, why are these amendments that you’re looking at on
a private bill rather than directly included in the Income Tax Act?

Mr. McCauley: I may not do a good job of this. A private
member’s bill is submitted and dealt with by the house. We’re here
to provide observations on the bill and its implications. I don’t
mean that to avoid the question. This has come forward as a
private member’s bill. We can provide our observations as to how
it can work in the administration and what it might mean for us.
However, regarding the legislative route it took, at end of the day
we’re indifferent. We’ll deal with the act whether it gets passed
through the ITA or through this.

Senator Mockler: With the experience you have, do you think it
would be better to go through looking at amendments to the
Income Tax Act rather than going through a private bill? You
have the experience. Can you comment on that?

pouvoirs constitutionnels du fédéral et des provinces. Je pense que
ce sont les provinces qui disposent des pouvoirs relatifs a
l’agrément. Ce serait s’enliser dans un bourbier que d’appliquer
cette option.

Y a-t-il plus d’avantages ou de désavantages a essayer de
trouver la bonne solution dés le départ? Nous sommes bien sirs
ouverts a cette possibilité. Le projet de loi nous permet de mettre
fin aux abus rapidement. Un autre processus est-il possible? Il
faudrait savoir combien de temps cela prendrait et quels seraient
les effets.

La sénatrice Eaton : Cela semble étre une bonne solution, mais
je crains que les gens qui demandent 30 p. 100 pour un certain
travail et offrent d’en faire plus pour 5 p. 100 supplémentaires
abusent du systéme. C’est tout ce que je veux dire.

M. McCauley : Nous espérons qu’en fin de compte, le projet de
loi empéche les cas exceptionnels d’abus. Nous voulons éviter le
plus possible d’établir un nouveau plafond pour les frais et de
provoquer une hausse des cofits, parce que les gens vont y voir un
nouveau plafond.

Nous en sommes bien conscients. Notre personnel et les
infirmiéres prennent le programme trés au séricux. C’est un des
aspects que nous devons examiner concernant 1’observation
précédente.

Dans I'idéal, le formulaire serait assez simple et n’exigerait pas
l’aide d’un tiers, mais il y a une plus-value dans certains cas.
Concernant le promoteur ou autre, nous allons en tenir compte
durant les consultations et I’élaboration du régime.

La sénatrice Eaton : En terminant, je suis contente de savoir
qu’il s’agit selon vous d’une mesure exceptionnelle.

Le sénateur Mockler : J’aimerais examiner le processus. A quel
point a-t-on cherché a améliorer les dispositions actuelles, au lieu
de rédiger un projet de loi? Pourquoi ces modifications font-elles
partie d’un projet de loi d’intérét privé, au lieu d’étre directement
apportées a la Loi de I'impdt sur le revenu?

M. McCauley : Jaurai peut-étre du mal a répondre. Nous
sommes ici pour commenter les incidences du projet de loi
d’intérét privé que la Chambre des communes examine. Je ne
cherche pas a esquiver la question. Nous pouvons faire des
observations sur la facon dont la gestion fonctionnerait et sur le
travail que nous aurions a accomplir. Mais nous n’avons pas
d’opinion sur le choix de présenter un projet de loi. Nous allons
appliquer le projet de loi qu’il porte sur la Loi de I'imp6t sur le
revenu ou sur une autre loi.

Le sénateur Mockler : D’aprés votre expérience, pensez-vous
qu’il serait mieux de modifier la Loi de 'imp6t sur le revenu au
lieu d’adopter un projet de loi d’intérét privé? Vous avez de
I’expérience. Pouvez-vous commenter la question?
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Mr. McCauley: Again, this is a personal view. I think a stand-
alone bill probably is better. For example, the Tax Rebate
Discounting Act is a separate act that controls the limits we put
on general tax returns and the percentages and what happens
there. So there is a bit of a precedent. If you’re going to do things
that affect the market for particular purposes — that niche sort of
effect — then you might be better to go with a clearly targeted bill
so that you’re not running the risk of confusion. If it’s embedded
in the Income Tax Act, you start to get into issues of whether
people will try to ply it elsewhere and will it be controlled. We're
certainly not uncomfortable with it as a stand-alone bill.

The other thing is that the bill leaves the responsibility with the
Minister of National Revenue to adjust the regulations, and
changes to the Income Tax Act are sometimes more difficult. It
means that that the regulatory control is left with the minister
who will have to administer all of this, which hopefully means
that he or she will able to move more quickly and be sensitive to
what’s happening in the marketplace. We certainly wouldn’t be
uncomfortable with it as it’s positioned now. That would be my
personal observation.

[Translation]

The Chair: Do you now have an answer to Senator Bellemare’s
questions about penalties?

[English)

Ms. Dumais: Yes, we did clarify. Our reading of that penalty is
that the penalty would be $1,000, plus the amount over limit if
the promoter or consultant did not repay the taxpayers within
120 days.

Senator Eaton: If he hasn’t come back within 120 days, it costs
the promoter an additional $1,000, plus the amount he
overcharged.

Ms. Dumais: That’s right. That’s our understanding at this
point of how this would work.

Senator Bellemare: It doesn’t read that way. Maybe we should
put some wording.

Mr. McCauley: One thing I might suggest is if there are
observations, we would look to the records when we do our
interpretation bulletins and notes. So what you have raised here
tonight would be helpful. It brings out a feature of the bill that
tries to make sure the claimant is restored in full, so there is a nice
incentive in the bill to do that.

Senator Bellemare: That’s why there are two.

[Translation]

In one case, the payment is made for the offence, and in the
other case, we are talking about a repayment.

M. McCauley : Personnellement, je pense qu'un projet de loi
distinct est sans doute préférable. Par exemple, la Loi sur la
cession du droit au remboursement en matiére d’impot est une loi
distincte qui établit les limites des déclarations de revenus
générales, les pourcentages, et cetera. C’est un précédent en
quelque sorte. Si les modifications portent sur un créneau du
marché, un projet de loi bien ciblé est peut-étre préférable pour
éviter les malentendus. Si les modifications sont apportées a la Loi
de 'imp6t sur le revenu, cela peut exiger des contrdles pour les
gens qui voudraient en abuser. Nous ne voyons pas
d’inconvénient a un projet de loi distinct.

Par ailleurs, le projet de loi laisse le soin a la ministre du
Revenu national d’adapter la réglementation. Il est parfois plus
difficile d’apporter des changements a la Loi de I'imp6t sur le
revenu. La ministre doit s’occuper de la réglementation et gérer
toutes ces questions. Dans 1'idéal, elle pourra donc agir
rapidement et tenir compte du marché. Personnellement, je
dirais que nous ne voyons pas de probléme au choix de ce
projet de loi distinct.

[Frangais]

Le président : Avez-vous une réponse maintenant aux
questions de la sénatrice Bellemare concernant les pénalités?

[Traduction]

Mme Dumais : Oui, nous avons tiré les choses au clair. La
pénalité serait de 1 000 $, plus le montant exigé en trop par le
promoteur ou le consultant, s’il n’a pas remboursé le contribuable
dans un délai de 120 jours.

La sénatrice Eaton : Si le promoteur ne fait pas le nécessaire
dans les 120 jours, il lui en cotite 1 000 $ additionnels plus le
montant exigé en trop.

Mme Dumais : C’est exact. C’est notre interprétation de ces
dispositions a ce moment-ci.

La sénatrice Bellemare : Ce n’est pas ce qui est indiqué. Il y
aurait peut-étre lieu d’apporter des précisions.

M. McCauley : S’il y a des observations qui vous semblent
indiquées, nous pouvons en tenir compte lors de la rédaction de
nos bulletins et notes d’interprétation. Nous pourrons notamment
nous inspirer des points que vous avez soulevés aujourd’hui. Il est
question ici des dispositions du projet de loi qui visent a faire en
sorte que le demandeur soit entierement remboursé. On prévoit
une mesure incitative assez convaincante a cet effet.

La sénatrice Bellemare : C’est la raison pour laquelle il y a deux
articles a ce sujet.
[Frangais]

Dans un cas, on paie vraiment pour l'infraction, dans I’autre,
c’est le remboursement.
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Ms. Dumais: Once the measure comes into force, we will also
have interpretation bulletins. Our publications will also explain
this more concretely.

[English]

The Chair: So, as [ understand it now, the penalty referred to in
clause 3 is paid to the handicapped taxpayer or to the
government?

Ms. Dumais: To the government, if you have not reimbursed
the taxpayer. That amount is included in the formula.

The Chair: So it’s not a reimbursement. We have two penalty
sections — clauses 3 and 7. I think we’re all starting to understand
it.

I will go to round three. We're doing very well on timing.

Senator Callbeck: I have a question that really doesn’t pertain
to this bill, but it came up yesterday when we had witnesses and it
concerns Canada Revenue Agency. We had a doctor here
representing the Canadian Psychological Association, and she
indicated that in the last budget a change was made, and there is a
lot of confusion as to whether they should be charging the HST
on certain services or all services. They’ve been trying to get this
clarified, and my understanding is that now some psychologists
charge it and others do not. I'm wondering if Canada Revenue
Agency has cleared this up, and if not, when might that happen?

Mr. McCauley: It’s a good question. I'll undertake to get that
information back to the committee because I know we’ve done
some work on it. Part of the work was actually talking to the
association and the communities. I'll get you the answer. That’s
the best way to put it.

The Chair: In this instance, for the rebate, if the qualified
practitioner was the doctor and the doctor charged a fee for
helping to fill this form out, does HST apply to that or not?

Mr. McCauley: The bill would have no effect whatsoever on
what the tax ability status would or wouldn’t be of any elements. [
know the bill would be entirely neutral on that. I think Senator
Callbeck’s question is a very distinct one dealing with the last
budget change. If it’s appropriate, we’ll get that answer back
through the committee if that’s okay.

The Chair: Absolutely.

Senator L. Smith: Mr. McCauley, I'm trying to understand the
depth of the problem definition. You mentioned 220,000 claims,
83 per cent valid, 12 per cent not eligible, 5 per cent abandoned,
and 10,000 through promoters. That’s less than 5 per cent of the
total claims through promoters.

Mme Dumais : Quand la mesure entre en vigueur, nous
avons aussi des bulletins d’interprétation. Nos publications
I’expliqueront de fagon plus concréte aussi.

[Traduction]

Le président : Alors, question de m’assurer de bien
comprendre, la pénalité prévue a [Darticle 3 est versée au
contribuable handicapé ou au gouvernement?

Mme Dumais : Au gouvernement, si on n’a pas déja remboursé
le contribuable. Ce montant est prévu dans la formule.

Le président : Alors ce n’est pas un remboursement. Il y a donc
deux dispositions qui traitent des pénalités, les articles 3 et 7. Je
pense que nous commengons tous 4 mieux comprendre.

Nous allons passer au troisiéme tour. Nous sommes tout a fait
dans les temps.

La sénatrice Callbeck : J’ai une question qui concerne
davantage I’Agence du revenu du Canada que ce projet de loi a
proprement parler. Elle a été soulevée hier alors que nous
recevions parmi nos témoins un médecin représentant la Société
canadienne de psychologie. Elle a indiqué qu’a la suite d’une
modification apportée dans le dernier budget, il régnait au sein de
son groupe une grande confusion quant & savoir si 'on devait
appliquer la TVH a certains services ou a I’ensemble des services.
Les psychologues ont essayé d’obtenir des précisions a ce propos.
Il semblerait que, pour Iinstant, certains d’entre eux appliquent
cette taxe, et d’autres pas. Je me demandais si ’Agence du revenu
du Canada avait pu dissiper les doutes et, sinon, quand elle
comptait le faire.

M. McCauley : C’est une bonne question. Je sais que nous
avons fait certaines recherches a ce sujet et je m’engage a
transmettre ces renseignements au comité. Nous avons
notamment discuté avec l’association et les groupes concernés.
Je vais vous répondre ultérieurement; c’est le mieux que je puisse
faire.

Le président : Dans le cas qui nous intéresse, pour le
remboursement, si le praticien qualifié est médecin et s’il impose
des frais pour aider son patient a remplir le formulaire, est-ce que
la TVH s’applique ou non?

M. McCauley : Le projet de loi n’aurait absolument aucune
incidence sur le statut fiscal de telles mesures. Je crois que la
question de la sénatrice Callbeck portait sur un tout autre élément
découlant d’un changement apporté dans le dernier budget. Si
cela convient au comité, nous vous communiquerons notre
réponse.

Le président : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Monsieur McCauley, j'essaic de saisir
I'ampleur du probléme. Vous avez dit qu’il y avait 220 000 demandes,
que 83 p. 100 étaient valides, 12 p. 100 non recevables, 5 p. 100
abandonnées, et 10 000 présentées par lintermédiaire d’un
promoteur. Ceux-ci n’interviennent donc que pour moins de
5 p. 100 du total des demandes.
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How many disabled people are there? How big is the market?
Your last policy administration review was 2004. I'm trying to get
the size, the context of the problem.

Mr. McCauley: For the last five or six years we’ve been
running around a couple hundred thousand applications each
year. That has been moving a little bit. There has been a gradual,
steady growth, which in some ways is following demographics
because once you go beyond 60 things start to happen or not
happen, as the case might be. There is a bit of an increase, so
we're seeing that happen. As we’ve seen, there aren’t any jumps,
but it seems to be appropriate.

The overall number — I think we’re around 650,000 — is what
the current claim base is. When you have 220,000 a year, it gives a
sense of what the “churn” is in that population. For some people,
as we talked about earlier, it was a duration that was not lifetime
and therefore will come out of the system. Others will come out of
the system for different reasons, so those are the numbers. As |
said, we think it’s around 10 or so for promoters, but as has been
pointed out, because you’re not required to identify or things like
that, it’s not a hard number. That’s currently what we know.

Senator L. Smith: We were told that about 10,000 cases are
handled through promoters, which is around $20 million. If I look
at $20 million versus $700 million, I'm looking at the size of the
problem definition, and that leads me to cost. How much does it
cost you to administer the program itself? One of the questions we
might be asking ourselves is this: We want to make sure disabled
people are taken care of properly. Is this a significant problem in
terms of the reality? Everything is a problem, I understand, and
we want to make sure that we support our citizens, especially
disabled citizens, but I'm trying to get a handle on that. How
much does it cost you folks to administer this?

Mr. McCauley: The implications for administering the bill,
leaving aside what might be some one-time cost to do the
consultations, there are no additional monies that the CRA is
receiving. So this would be built in to part of the current
administration. There are a lot of good reasons for us to be out
there, so I don’t think we see significant incremental, even in the
consultation. Do we have something in the annual report about
the cost to administer the program?

Ms. Dumais: If it’s not in the annual report, we would have
that because it’s an isolated program.

Combien y a-t-il de personnes handicapées? Quelle est la taille
de ce marché? Votre dernier examen des politiques et de
I’administration remonte a 2004. J’essaie simplement de cerner
I’ampleur du probléme.

M. McCauley : Depuis cinq ou six ans, nous recevons quelques
centaines de milliers de demandes par année. Ce nombre a fluctué
quelque peu. On note une hausse progressive et constante qui suit
d’une certaine maniére I’évolution démographique, car personne
n’est a I’abri de certains problémes de santé aprés 60 ans. Nous
constatons donc une certaine augmentation. Il ne semble pas y
avoir de hausse soudaine, mais simplement une évolution
normale.

Je situerais autour de 650 000 le nombre total qui
représenterait la base de clientéle. Avec un afflux annuel de
220 000 demandes, vous avez une petite idée de ce qu’on pourrait
appeler le taux de roulement dans cette population. Comme nous
I’avons indiqué précédemment, certaines déficiences ne sont pas
permanentes et d’autres clients vont aussi sortir du systéme
pour toutes sortes de raisons. Nous estimons donc que quelque
10 000 demandes sont soumises par l'intermédiaire de
promoteurs, mais, comme je 1’ai souligné tout a I’heure, ce n’est
pas un nombre que 1’on peut confirmer, notamment parce que les
promoteurs ne sont pas obligés de s’identifier. C’est ce qu’on sait
pour instant.

Le sénateur L. Smith : On nous a dit qu’environ 10 000 dossiers
étaient traités par I'entremise de promoteurs, ce qui représente
une somme cumulative de 20 millions de dollars. Si je compare ce
20 millions de dollars au total de 700 millions de dollars, j’ai un
bon aper¢u de I'ampleur du probléme, ce qui m’ameéne a
m’intéresser a la question des cotts. Combien vous en coute-t-il
pour administrer ce programme en particulier? Nous voulons bien
sir nous assurer que les personnes handicapées obtiennent tous
les soins dont elles ont besoin. On pourrait toutefois se demander
si la situation est vraiment problématique. Je comprends que tout
peut étre problématique a un certain niveau, et je veux étre bien
sir que nous offrons un soutien adéquat a nos concitoyens, et
tout particuliérement a ceux qui sont handicapés, mais j’essaie de
comprendre un peu mieux. Combien vous en cotte-t-il pour
administrer ces mesures?

M. McCauley : Si on fait abstraction des cofts ponctuels
associés aux consultations qu’il faudrait mener, 'ARC ne
recevrait aucune somme additionnelle pour administrer les
mesures prévues dans ce projet de loi. On ferait donc le
nécessaire dans le cadre des processus administratifs en place.
Comme nous tenons déja des consultations pour toutes sortes
d’excellentes raisons, je ne pense pas qu’il y aurait des codts
additionnels considérables méme pour cet aspect des choses.
Est-ce que le rapport annuel prévoit quoi que soit au sujet des
colts liés a 'administration du programme?

Mme Dumais : Méme si cela ne figurait pas dans le rapport
annuel, ces chiffres seraient disponibles, car il s’agit d’un
programme isolé.
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Mr. McCauley: We can get that back to the committee. It’s on
the public records, and we’ll pull the right number. I just wanted
to make sure that isn’t going to change because of this bill.

Ms. Dumais: The other way we were looking at this — and
what we thought the intent of the bill was — is that maybe when
you look at the volumes and the number of people who are using
the services, that’s not where the issue is. But if you look at it from
an individual perspective and if you go back and claim for
10 years, it could represent a significant amount of money. That’s
more how I think this was supposed to help disabled people to get
most of that money in their hands, or the right proportion of it.

Senator L. Smith: I'm trying to go through the logic in my
mind. If you’re averaging the cost out through the other services
you provide, then it goes back to the questions we raised earlier as
the importance of your service levels to be able to handle it,
because if you’re not increasing the costs to service this particular
problem, then it falls within the bailiwick of your other services.
That goes to say, how good are your other services? That’s just a
thought.

It would appear then that if there are 650,000 folks who are
disabled and 220,000 annual claims, you said a large number of
disabled people are not making claims, then what role can the
CRA play in educating people so that if there are other people
who are worthy of being taken care of then they should be helped?
How do you help them?

Mr. McCauley: 1 don’t believe I did say there were a large
number out there who aren’t claiming. I was saying there are
220,000 a year come forward. Is that the right number? It’s like
you don’t know who hasn’t come forward so you don’t know
what you don’t know, but the point on the awareness side, and
again part of the consultations, I’ve got a list as long as my arm
here. We're out with conferences with medical associations,
physicians, psychiatrists, health associations. We’ve got webinars.
We’ve got our phone system. We do news Canada articles. We do
MP tax tips, so we give stuff to MPs to put in their folders. We do
stuff with the provinces. We try to do everything we can. We're
even tweeting now; as was pointed out, not everybody is into the
tweeting.

Sometimes, though, we’re finding that through third parties
and others is the best vehicle, because people will feel more
comfortable and use them, given that we’re not always necessarily
the most friendly voice on some things, so we’re quite comfortable
if others share and do that.

We’ve got a long list of people we work with, and if that list can
be made longer, all the better.

M. McCauley : Nous pourrons communiquer ces chiffres au
comité, car ils sont du domaine public. Il s’agit simplement de
bien vous informer en nous assurant qu’il n’y a pas de variation
attribuable a ce projet de loi.

Mme Dumais : D’aprés nous, il faut peut-étre examiner les
choses dans une autre perspective pour comprendre 'intention de
ce projet de loi. Au lieu de considérer les montants totaux et le
nombre de personnes qui ont recours a ces services, on peut
s’intéresser aux répercussions pour chaque individu. Si une
personne peut demander rétroactivement un crédit pour une
période de 10 ans, la somme regue peut devenir assez intéressante.
C’est justement ce que I’on cherche a faire selon moi, de telle sorte
qu'une personne handicapée puisse récupérer la plus grande partie
de cet argent, ou tout au moins la proportion a laquelle elle a
droit.

Le sénateur L. Smith : J’essaie de voir si tout cela est logique. Si
vous répartissez les cofits sur ’ensemble des services que vous
offrez, cela nous raméne aux questions déja soulevées
relativement aux niveaux de services requis, car les colts ne
sont pas augmentés du fait que le probléme est réglé dans le cadre
des services déja offerts. Il faut donc s’interroger sur la qualité de
ces autres services. C’est simplement une réflexion.

Sil’on considére qu’il y a 650 000 personnes handicapées et que
I’on regoit 220 000 demandes par année, il y a, comme vous I’avez
vous-méme indiqué, un grand nombre de ces personnes qui ne
présentent pas de demandes. Quel role de sensibilisation pourrait

jouer ’ARC pour faire en sorte que ces personnes aient acces a
I’aide dont elles ont besoin? Comment vous y prenez-vous?

M. McCauley : Je ne crois pas avoir dit qu’il y avait un grand
nombre de personnes qui ne présentent pas de demande. J'ai
simplement indiqué que l'on recevait 220 000 demandes par
année. Est-ce que toutes les personnes admissibles le font? Comme
on ne sait pas qui n’a pas présenté de demande, il est difficile de
tirer quelque conclusion que ce soit, mais pour ce qui est de nos
activités de sensibilisation, notamment dans le cadre des
consultations, je pourrais vous en citer toute une liste. Nous
sommes présents a des congrés d’associations médicales, de
médecins, de psychiatres et d’organisations du secteur de la santé.
Nous avons des séminaires en ligne. Il y a aussi notre systéme
téléphonique. Nous publions différents articles. Nous préparons
des conseils fiscaux que les députés peuvent transmettre a leurs
commettants. Nous collaborons avec les provinces. Nous ne
ménageons aucun effort. Nous sommes méme désormais sur
Twitter; mais, comme quelqu’un I’a fait remarquer, ce n’est pas
tout le monde qui utilise ce média.

Nous constatons parfois qu’il est préférable d’agir par
I’entremise d’un tiers pour que les gens soient moins hésitants a
se servir de I'information transmise, car nous ne sommes pas
nécessairement l'interlocuteur le mieux accueilli. Nous n’hésitons
donc pas a miser sur le concours de partenaires.

Nous avons donc une longue liste de collaborateurs, et plus
cette liste s’allongera, mieux ce sera.
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Senator L. Smith: You discussed last night the refundable
versus non-refundable. Is every credit that’s given to these
disabled folks in cash, or is it sometimes just a deduction off
their income tax? Is it dependent upon the amount of income they
have? 1 thought there was some discussion last night about
everything should be refundable. Is it refundable? How does it
work?

Mr. McCauley: Again, Nathalie will help me. When you’re
calculating the value of the credit, it’s not dependent on your
income, but because it’s non-refundable you take it off the tax
that would otherwise be owing. That’s how it’s designed.

Senator L. Smith: Like an RRSP deduction, if you have
18 per cent that you could deduct, if you had an amount that’s
deductible, then it reduces your taxable.

Mr. McCauley: When you do your tax return, unlike some
others that can get ground down because of income, this is
$1,150 or something, at the end you just do it and it’s tax payable.
If you owed $3,000 in tax, you get to take this off, right off the
bottom line, and then you only send in the $1,950 or whatever it
would be.

The Chair: I think we understood yesterday, but the word that
you used, the tax implications of the $700 million per year, is that
an aggregate of all the taxable income, or is that actually the
tax payable, the aggregate of all tax payable that’s reduced by
$700 million?

Mr. McCauley: I'll give you the number and Nathalie will
quickly correct me. My understanding is that that’s the actual, the
tax that is removed out of the system because you're getting the
credit, so it’s $700 million out of the fisc that’s actually used.

The Chair: As you were describing, the bottom pay, you pay
$2,200 in tax this year, the federal government’s portion; this is a
deduction from that?

Mr. McCauley: Yes. If this wasn’t in place, there would be
$700 million more in tax being paid and collected.

The Chair: That was my understanding, but the tax
implications got me thinking of taxable income before you
apply the percentage.

Mr. McCauley: That’s just federal. There are a number of
provinces on top, so that’s just the federal share. The provincial
would add another bump to that.

The Chair: What do you mean by “another bump to that”?

Mr. McCauley: The $700 million is the federal. A number of
provinces also have a disability tax credit, so you would also then
get that provincial credit. I'm saying the $700 million is the federal
government’s tax contribution, if you wish. There is a provincial
one as well, which comes to the point about the value of this. This

Le sénateur L. Smith : On se demandait hier si le crédit d’impo6t
était remboursable ou non. Le crédit se traduit-il toujours par une
somme versée a ces personnes handicapées, ou arrive-t-il parfois
qu’il ne serve qu’a diminuer leur revenu imposable? Varie-t-il en
fonction de leur niveau de revenu? Je pense que certains ont fait
valoir qu’il devrait toujours étre remboursable. Est-ce le cas?
Comment cela fonctionne?

M. McCauley : Encore une fois, Nathalie pourra compléter.
La valeur du crédit n’est pas calculée en fonction du revenu.
Comme il s’agit d’'un crédit non remboursable, il diminue le
montant d’imp6t que vous devriez normalement verser.

Le sénateur L. Smith : C’est un peu comme la déduction pour
la contribution a un REER. Si vous pouvez déduire un montant
correspondant a 18 p. 100, c’est votre revenu imposable qui
diminue.

M. McCauley : Contrairement a d’autres sommes inscrites sur
votre déclaration qui peuvent étre radiées en raison de votre
revenu, c’est un crédit de 1 150 $ ou environ qui s’applique a la
toute fin sur I'impét a verser. Si vous devez par exemple 3 000 $
en impot, vous pouvez déduire ce crédit du résultat final et n’avoir
a payer que 1 850 § ou a peu pres.

Le président : Je pense que nous I’avions bien compris hier,
mais lorsque vous parlez de répercussions fiscales de 'ordre de
700 millions de dollars par année, est-ce le cumul de tous les
revenus imposables ou bien le total de I'impo6t payable qui est
réduit de 700 millions de dollars?

M. McCauley : Je vais vous répondre et Nathalie s’empressera
de me corriger. D’aprés ce que je puis comprendre, ce serait le
montant retiré de l’assiette fiscale en raison du crédit qui est
accordé. Ce serait donc 700 millions de dollars de moins pour le
fisc.

Le président : Comme vous 'indiquiez, si vous avez 2 200 $ a
payer cette année en imp6t fédéral, c’est déduit directement de ce
montant?

M. McCauley : Tout a fait. Si cette mesure n’était pas en place,
il y aurait 700 millions de dollars de plus en imp6t percu et payé.

Le président : C’est ce que j’avais compris, mais en parlant de
répercussions fiscales vous m’avez incité a croire que 1’on touchait
le revenu imposable avant ’application du taux d’imposition.

M. McCauley : 11 faut préciser que c’est seulement du point de
vue fédéral. Certaines provinces ont leur propre régime, alors c’est
uniquement la part du fédéral. La portion provinciale vient en
surcroit.

Le président : Que voulez-vous dire par « en surcroit »?

M. McCauley : Le montant de 700 millions de dollars
correspond a la portion fédérale. Certaines provinces ont leur
propre crédit d’impot que les personnes handicapées peuvent
réclamer. Le montant de 700 millions de dollars correspond donc
en quelque sorte a la contribution fiscale du gouvernement
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would ensure that that actually ends up getting to claimants as
well, that provincial share.

The Chair: Thank you. We didn’t get into the provincial
programs, but I appreciate knowing that there are some.

Senator Eggleton: Just picking up on this whole issue of who
gets it and who doesn’t, my understanding, from the studies I've
seen, is that the majority of disabled people do not get the benefit
of this tax credit. The reason they don’t is they don’t pay enough
tax to credit against. They don’t pay any tax in most cases. That’s
one of the reasons why this should be a refundable tax. In that
way you can get to the most vulnerable of the people who are
disabled. You can get to the lowest-income people who are
disabled, but that’s not the case here.

However, we did learn from one of the consultants — to give
them a better title — who were here yesterday that they do put in
claims on behalf of some of those people I just talked about, but
they do it by identifying relatives who might be eligible if the
client has not paid taxes. There might be relatives who pay some
of the expenses on behalf of that person who’s disabled. Do you
get many of those? Is that system used a lot? Who would get it
then? If somebody paid it on behalf of the disabled person, would
the disabled person still get the cheque or would it go to the
relative?

Mr. McCauley: There is, of course, a large number who deal
with children and dependents under 18. That’s a huge number,
and it’s obviously the parent or the responsible guardian. There is
a big chunk there, as you can well imagine. Nathalie, is there
another niche where you’re dealing with adults?

Ms. Dumais: Somebody who’s supporting a family relative,
especially if they can claim the non-refundable tax credit, could
benefit from it if the individual with the disability cannot get it.

Senator Eggleton: Who would you issue the cheque to?

Mr. McCauley: Let’s say, for example, you had somebody
living with you and you were the caregiver and you were doing all
the things, then it would go to you because you would be claiming
it on your tax return.

Senator Eggleton: Thank you.

The Chair: Is there somewhere I could go in the Income Tax
Act to find out who a caregiver is?

Mr. McCauley: I'm sure we have a definition for that. Yes, we
do.

The Chair: It’s clear that that can’t be abused?

Mr. McCauley: In fact, you raise a very good point. It’s one of
the areas where people have asked for a little more guidance. It’s
one of the things we’re thinking, as part of the consultation,

fédéral. Il y a également une contribution provinciale, ce qui
donne d’autant plus de valeur a ces mesures. Elles aideront les
demandeurs a obtenir leur part de I’aide provinciale.

Le président : Merci. Nous n’avons pas traité des programmes
provinciaux, mais je suis heureux d’apprendre que cela existe.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Lorsqu’il s’agit de déterminer qui touche
quoi au juste, j’ai eu 'impression, a la lumiére des études dont j’ai
pris connaissance, que la majorité des personnes handicapées ne
bénéficient pas de ce crédit d’impét. Elles n’ont en effet pas
suffisamment d’impot a payer pour que ce crédit puisse
s’appliquer. Dans bien des cas, elles n’ont en fait aucun impo6t a
payer. C’est I'une des raisons pour lesquelles ce crédit devrait étre
remboursable. De cette maniére, on pourrait aider les plus
vulnérables parmi les personnes handicapées. On pourrait offrir
un soutien financier aux personnes handicapées dont le revenu est
le plus faible, ce qui n’est pas le cas actuellement.

Cependant, I’'un des consultants — question de leur donner un
titre plus approprié — qui ont témoigné hier nous a indiqué que
I'on soumettait des demandes au nom de quelques-unes de ces
personnes dont je viens de vous parler, en désignant un proche
pouvant étre admissible si le client n’a pas d’impot a payer. Il peut
y avoir un proche qui paie certaines dépenses a la place de la
personne handicapée. Recevez-vous beaucoup de demandes
semblables? Est-ce une mesure qui est beaucoup utilisée? Qui
obtiendrait alors le crédit? Si quelqu’un d’autre paie ces dépenses
pour le compte de la personne handicapée, est-ce cette derniére
qui touchera quand méme le chéque ou sera-t-il versé au proche
qui paie?

M. McCauley : Il s’agit bien sir dans la majorité des cas du
parent ou du tuteur d’un enfant ou d’une personne a charge de
moins de 18 ans. Comme vous pouvez vous l'imaginer, cela
compte pour une vaste proportion des demandes. Nathalie, y a-t-
il une autre clientéle particuliére parmi les adultes?

Mme Dumais : Un proche aidant peut demander ce crédit
d’impot non remboursable lorsque la personne handicapée ne
peut pas en bénéficier elle-méme.

Le sénateur Eggleton : A quel nom feriez-vous alors le chéque?

M. McCauley : Si vous vous occupez d’un proche vivant avec
vous en faisant tout le nécessaire pour lui, c’est vous qui
bénéficierez de ce crédit en le demandant dans votre déclaration
de revenus.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Merci.

Le président : Y a-t-il une définition d’aidant dans la Loi de
I'impdt sur le revenu?

M. McCauley : Je suis persuadé que nous avons une telle
définition. Oui, je vous le confirme.

Le président : Cette définition est-elle suffisamment claire pour
éviter les abus?

M. McCauley : En fait, vous soulevez un excellent point. C’est
I'un des aspects au sujet desquels les gens demandent des
précisions. Cela fait partie des éléments que nous considérons
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because more and more people are asking about that, maybe
providing a little more definition and a few more criteria so
people understand. You’re exactly right.

Senator Callbeck: I see here where you have an appeal process.
Have you had many appeals?

Mr. McCauley: You're talking about, I guess, the 12 per cent
where we say no?

Ms. Dumais: We do have an appeals process, like we have in
tax situations. People who are deemed to not meet the criteria,
want to make a case, file an objection, can go to that next level,
and it’s another area within the agency that looks at it. Sometimes
through time having passed by, people have additional
information that they bring forward as well at that point in the
process, so we do have cases that make it through the appeals
process. We encourage people to come before, if you have
additional information, if your situation has changed following
discussions with the qualified practitioner, to come back through
just our process, but if they want to make an appeal or an
objection they have the right to do so, of course.

Senator Callbeck: Are there many?

Ms. Dumais: 1 don’t have the numbers here, but we could
provide them for sure as we’ve provided them before.

The Chair: Are five nurses enough to do the job for 220,000
applications?

Mr. McCauley: Well, nurses work very hard. They perform a
particular function in terms of dealing with the difficult, narrow
medical issues. That’s why we have a medical professional on
staff. We’re not qualified to have those kinds of discussions with
doctors and others. So far, five seems to be working well.

Ms. Dumais: We can adjust those numbers. As Brian was
saying, our work is tiered. If somebody calls the call centre to look
for the form or basic information — anything in our publications
— the call centre agents are trained to provide some of that. If it’s
more challenging, difficult or specialized, we also have units
across the country to do some of that work. The nurses get
involved when it’s medical information. We try to provide the
right level of service at every stage in the process.

The Chair: I wanted to be assured by you that you’re not
saying, “If we just had the money, we would have 20 nurses to
help the 220,000 Canadians who apply.”

Senator Hervieux-Payette: May I ask a supplementary to your
question?

The Chair: Yes.

dans le cadre de notre processus de consultation ou les gens sont
de plus en plus nombreux a demander que ce concept soit miecux
défini et assorti de critéres plus précis afin que chacun comprenne
bien de quoi il en retourne. Vous avez tout a fait raison.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je vois ici qu’il y a un processus d’appel.
Y a-t-il beaucoup d’appels?

M. McCauley : Je présume que vous parlez des 12 p. 100 de
demandes qui sont rejetées?

Mme Dumais : Il y a effectivement un processus d’appel,
comme c’est le cas pour tous les différends en matiere fiscale. Les
personnes jugées non admissibles qui souhaitent présenter leurs
arguments pour contester la décision peuvent s’adresser au palier
supérieur. C’est alors un autre secteur de I’agence qui se penche
sur la question. Il arrive que des gens puissent alors soumettre des
renseignements additionnels qui sont considérés dans le cadre du
processus d’appel. Lorsque les gens obtiennent ainsi de nouveaux
renseignements, ou si leur situation a changé depuis leur rencontre
avec le praticien qualifié, nous les encourageons a nous en faire
part sans tarder. Cependant, s’ils tiennent tout de méme a
interjeter appel ou a contester la décision, ils ont bien sir le droit
de le faire.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Est-ce qu’il y en a beaucoup?

Mme Dumais : Je n’ai pas ces chiffres en main, mais nous
pourrions vous les communiquer encore une fois.

Le président : Est-ce que cinq infirmiéres suffisent a la tache
pour traiter 220 000 demandes?

M. McCauley : Nos infirmiéres travaillent trés fort. On leur
confie un réle un peu particulier en ce sens qu’elles doivent se
pencher sur les questions d’ordre médical les plus délicates et les
plus pointues. C’est la raison pour laquelle nous misons au sein de
notre personnel sur des professionnels de la santé. Nous ne
pourrions pas nous-mémes avoir des discussions semblables avec
les médecins et autres spécialistes. Cing infirmiéres, ¢a semble
suffisant pour I'instant.

Mme Dumais : 11 y a toujours des ajustements que nous
pouvons faire. Si quelqu’un communique avec le centre d’appels
pour obtenir un formulaire, des renseignements de base ou une
publication quelconque, il recevra ’aide d’un agent formé a cette
fin. De plus, nous avons partout au pays des unités qui peuvent
traiter les demandes plus complexes ou spécialisées. Les
infirmiéres entrent en jeu lorsqu’il y a des informations
médicales a considérer. Nous essayons d’offrir un niveau de
service approprié a toutes les étapes du processus.

Le président : J’avais seulement peur que vous me disiez que
vous embaucheriez 20 infirmiéres pour aider ces 220 000 Canadiens
qui présentent une demande si vous aviez les fonds nécessaires.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Puis-je poser une question
complémentaire a la votre?

Le président : Oui.
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Senator Hervieux-Payette: Did you have the same number of
nurses one, two, and three years ago, or were there cutbacks
because of the cutbacks in personnel in the government?

Ms. Dumais: Actually, we have not seen a decrease in the
number of nurses.

The Chair: Mr. McCauley and Ms. Dumais, thank you very
much. You came on very short notice with a lot of information
that has been most helpful to us. We thank you for that.

(The committee adjourned.)

OTTAWA, Tuesday, April 8§, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance met this
day at 9:33 a.m. to study:

(1) a draft report on the expenditures set out in the Main
Estimates for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015;

(2) a draft report for the study of the Supplementary
Estimates (C) for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014;

(3) a draft report on the expenditures set out in the Main
Estimates for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2014.

Senator Joseph A. Day (Chair) in the chair.

[Translation)

The Chair: This morning, the committee will begin
consideration of Bill S-204, An Act to amend the Financial
Administration Act (borrowing of money).

[English)

We have three different sessions in our two hours this morning.
For the first half hour, we welcome the sponsor of the bill,
Senator Moore.

Senator Moore, we thank you for your initiative, and we’d ask
you to tell us why the nation needs this piece of legislation.

The Honourable Wilfred P. Moore, sponsor of the bill: I want to
thank all senators and members of the Standing Senate
Committee on National Finance for giving me the time to come
to speak to and to examine Bill S-204 today.

My remarks will be brief as we went through this last year, but
I would like to provide the reasons I believe S-204 should be
passed by both the House and Senate and restore balance and
accountability to the financial procedures of our Parliament.

In Budget 2007, Parliament and, thus, Canadians lost their
long-held authority over the public purse. This budget removed
from Parliament the authority to borrow and moved it to the
executive solely. No longer would Canadians have a say in how

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Aviez-vous le méme nombre
d’infirmiéres il y a un, deux ou trois ans, ou y a-t-il eu des
coupures comme partout ailleurs au gouvernement?

Mme Dumais : En fait, le nombre d’infirmiéres n’a pas
diminué.

Le président : Monsieur McCauley et madame Dumais, merci
beaucoup d’avoir comparu devant nous malgré le trés bref

préavis. Vous nous avez transmis quantité d’informations fort
utiles et nous vous en sommes reconnaissants.

(La séance est levée.)

OTTAWA, le mardi 8 avril 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 h 33, pour étudier :

(1) une ébauche de rapport sur les dépenses prévues dans le
Budget principal des dépenses pour l’exercice se terminant
le 31 mars 2015;

(2) une ébauche de rapport pour 1’étude du Budget
supplémentaire des dépenses (C) pour I’exercice se terminant
le 31 mars 2014;

(3) une ébauche de rapport sur les dépenses prévues dans le
Budget principal des dépenses pour I’exercice se terminant
le 31 mars 2014.

Le sénateur Joseph A. Day (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Frangais]

Le président : Ce matin le comité commence 1’étude du projet
de loi S-204, Loi modifiant la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques (emprunts de fonds).

[Traduction]

Il y aura trois rondes de témoignages pendant notre séance de
deux heures de ce matin. Pour la premiére demi-heure, nous
accueillons le parrain du projet de loi, le sénateur Moore.

Sénateur Moore, nous vous remercions de votre initiative et
nous aimerions vous demander pourquoi notre pays a besoin de
cette mesure législative.

L’honorable Wilfred P. Moore, parrain du projet de loi : Je
remercie tous les sénateurs ainsi que les membres du Comité
sénatorial permanent des finances nationales de me permettre de
venir parler du projet de loi S-204.

Je serai bref, puisque nous en avons déja parlé I’an dernier,
mais je vais expliquer pourquoi je crois que le projet de loi S-204
devrait étre adopté par la Chambre et le Sénat afin de ramener
I’équilibre et la reddition de comptes au sein des procédures
financieres du Parlement.

Le budget de 2007 a fait perdre au Parlement — et par
conséquent aux Canadiens — son pouvoir sur les deniers publics.
Ce budget a retiré au Parlement le pouvoir d’emprunter des fonds
et ’a transféré exclusivement a ’exécutif. Les Canadiens n’ont
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much money would be borrowed in their name. The cabinet, that
is, the Prime Minister and his Minister of Finance, would now
make that decision.

What has been provided to cabinet is an open line of credit,
which Canadians will be on the hook for after this government is
gone.

It is very interesting that this government, in its election
platform in 2006, did not tell Canadians that it intended to
remove the authority of Parliament over borrowing of money.
Why? Because Canadians would not have accepted erasing such a
proven and time-honoured role for Parliament, for them the
people.

It is my contention that this was a terrible mistake, which
leaves us with not only a weakened financial regime but also a
weakened Parliament.

Marleau and Monpetit put it much more succinctly:

The whole law of finance, and consequently the whole
British constitution, is grounded upon one fundamental
principle, laid down at the very outset of English
parliamentary history and secured by three hundred years
of mingled conflict with the Crown and peaceful growth. All
taxes and public burdens imposed upon the nation for
purposes of state, whatsoever their nature, must be granted
by the representatives of the citizens and taxpayers, i.e., by
Parliament.

This is quite clear, and the government cannot have it both
ways. There is either responsible and accountable government, as
laid down by parliamentary principle, or there is not. In Canada,
at the moment, there is not.

We know the reasons given for the change made by
bureaucrats at the Department of Finance. They amount merely
to expedience. It is definitely easier to borrow money on behalf of
Canadians when you cut them out of the process, but it is
anything but accountable.

The Department of Finance has told us that the changes made
to borrowing authority have enhanced accountability.

We know that that is absolutely untrue. There is no greater
form of accountability than the Parliament of Canada. A bill to
borrow funds must come before Parliament and be debated by the
elected representatives of Canadians. That is accountability.

The Department of Finance tells us that their Debt
Management Strategy contains information that outlines,
amongst other things, the anticipated borrowing requirements.
This is presented to cabinet, however and not to the House of

donc plus d’influence sur les montants d’argent qui sont
empruntés en leur nom. C’est le Cabinet, c’est-a-dire le premier
ministre et son ministre des Finances, qui prend cette décision
dorénavant.

Le Cabinet se retrouve donc avec une marge de crédit illimitée,
et ce seront les Canadiens qui devront la rembourser une fois que
le gouvernement actuel sera parti.

Je trouve trés intéressant que I’actuel gouvernement, dans sa
plateforme électorale de 2006, n’ait pas annoncé aux Canadiens
qu’il avait lintention de retirer au Parlement le pouvoir
d’emprunter des fonds. Pourquoi? Parce que les Canadiens
n’auraient pas accepté qu’on enléve au Parlement — et donc
aux Canadiens eux-mémes — ce role historique et éprouvé.

Il s’agissait & mon avis d’une grave erreur, qui a affaibli notre
régime financier et le Parlement tout entier.

Voici ce qu’on en dit dans 'ouvrage de Marleau et Montpetit :

Tout le droit des finances, et par conséquent toute la
constitution britannique, est fondé sur un principe
fondamental, établi dés 1’origine de I’histoire parlementaire
anglaise et confirmé par trois cents ans ponctués de conflits
avec la Couronne et d’évolution tranquille. Toute taxe ou
charge publique imposée a la nation pour les besoins de
I'Etat, de quelque nature, doit é&tre accordée par les
représentants des citoyens et contribuables, c’est-a-dire par
le Parlement.

C’est on ne peut plus clair. Le gouvernement ne peut pas jouer
sur les deux tableaux : soit il est responsable et il rend des
comptes, conformément aux principes parlementaires, soit il n’est
pas responsable et ne rend pas de comptes. Pour le moment, au
Canada, c’est la deuxiéme option qui a cours.

Nous connaissons les raisons qu’on nous a données pour
expliquer les changements apportés par les bureaucrates du
ministére des Finances. En gros, c’est pour aller plus vite. 11 est
beaucoup plus facile d’emprunter de Pargent au nom des
Canadiens si on exclut ces derniers du processus, mais pour la
reddition de comptes, on repassera.

Les fonctionnaires du ministére des Finances nous ont dit que
la modification du pouvoir d’emprunt avait amélioré la reddition
de comptes.

Nous savons que c’est totalement faux. Le Parlement du
Canada est ’organe ultime de reddition de comptes. Tout projet
de loi prévoyant I'’emprunt de fonds doit étre déposé au Parlement
et débattu par les représentants élus des Canadiens. Ca, c’est de la
reddition de comptes.

Les fonctionnaires du ministére des Finances nous ont dit que
leur Stratégie de gestion de la dette contient des renseignements
qui décrivent, entre autres, les exigences prévues en matiére
d’emprunt. Toutefois, ces prévisions sont présentées au Cabinet et
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Commons. This not only does not enhance accountability but it
also ignores the fact that, while cabinet should have a discussion,
it’s Parliament that should have the vote.

The Department of Finance tells us that their Debt
Management Report provides accountability as it is published
30 days after the accounts are released. This is all done after the
fact. Canadians are not informed of what they now owe until after
the fact. I think this is completely unacceptable.

The Department of Finance tells us that this bill strikes a
balance between parliamentary oversight and efficiency and
flexibility. We know that Canada — and I said this in my last
time before this committee — has survived two world wars, the
recession of the 1930s and countless other emergencies. In fact,
the only changes made prior to Budget 2007 were made to
strengthen parliamentary oversight, not weaken it. That is as it
was always meant to be.

In response to this bill in the Senate recently, we were told that
this is considered by this government to be a “warmed over” bill
that is not worthy of attention. I find it alarming that a bill that
seeks to restore the powers of Parliament, which were
surreptitiously removed, might be considered irrelevant. Indeed,
we were told: “The legislation amended in 2006 gives significant
powers. Why restrict them?”

Why should we restrict government powers indeed? I think
Canadians should be alarmed over that particular assertion that
we should allow the Department of Finance and cabinet to
borrow as much as they want, and we should allow them this
open line of credit.

We are not here to serve the Department of Finance. It is just
the opposite. Finance is here to serve the Parliament of Canada,
the people. This bill seeks to restore the equilibrium.

Chair, I understand that, post-Easter break, this committee
will be considering clause-by-clause consideration and hearing
from other witnesses. I look forward to that session. Thank you
for your time and I look forward to answering the questions of
senators.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Senator Moore. At one
point, you made reference to your previous bill, and, in the
previous bill that was before this committee, one of the concerns
expressed by some honourable senators was that there were no
coming-into-force provisions. Can you address that?

Senator Moore: That has been amended in this bill. The
coming-into-force province will apply quickly after the passage. I
think it’s 30 days within the passage of the bill. I can read it:

This Act comes into force on the later of April 1 of the
first fiscal year that begins after the day on which it receives
royal assent . . .

That is 90 days after the day on which it receives Royal Assent.

non a la Chambre des communes. En plus de nuire a la reddition
de comptes, cette situation écarte le principe voulant que, bien que
le Cabinet doive pouvoir en discuter, c’est au Parlement qu’il
revient de voter.

Les fonctionnaires du ministére des Finances nous ont dit que
leur Rapport sur la gestion de la dette permet de rendre des
comptes, puisqu’il est publié 30 jours aprés que les comptes sont
rendus publics. Tout cela est fait a posteriori. Les Canadiens ne
sont informés des montants qu’ils doivent qu’aprés que 'emprunt
est fait. A mon avis, c’est totalement inacceptable.

Les fonctionnaires du ministére des Finances nous ont dit que
ce projet de loi concilie supervision parlementaire d’une part et
efficience et souplesse d’autre part. Je répéte ce que j’ai dit la
derniére fois que j'ai comparu devant ce comité : le Canada a
survécu a deux guerres mondiales, a la récession des années 1930
et a d’innombrables autres crises. En fait, tous les changements
apportés avant le budget de 2007 visaient a renforcer la
surveillance parlementaire, pas a I’affaiblir. C’est ainsi que les
choses auraient toujours di se passer.

On nous a dit récemment au Sénat que ce projet de loi est
considéré par le gouvernement actuel comme du « réchauffé » qui
ne mérite aucune attention. Je trouve alarmant qu’un projet de loi
qui vise a redonner au Parlement des pouvoirs qui lui ont été
enlevés de manicére détournée soit considéré comme étant sans
importance. En fait, on nous a dit : « Les modifications de 2006
donnent des pouvoirs considérables. Pourquoi les limiter? »

En effet, pourquoi donc limiter les pouvoirs du gouvernement?
Je crois que les Canadiens devraient étre alarmés par I'idée qu’on
devrait laisser le ministére des Finances et le Cabinet emprunter
autant qu’ils veulent, qu’on devrait leur donner cette marge de
crédit illimitée.

Nous ne sommes pas au service du ministére des Finances.
C’est tout le contraire. Le ministére est au service du Parlement et
des Canadiens. Ce projet de loi vise a rétablir ’équilibre.

Monsieur le président, je sais qu’aprés la pause de Paques,
votre comité passera a I'étude article par article et entendra
d’autres témoins. J’ai bien héte a cette séance. Merci de m’avoir
écouté et je répondrai avec plaisir aux questions des sénateurs.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, sénateur Moore. Vous avez
mentionné votre ancien projet de loi. Lorsque notre comité 1’a
étudié, certains se sont dits préoccupés par l’absence d’une
disposition d’entrée en vigueur. Pouvez-vous nous en parler?

Le sénateur Moore : Nous en avons ajouté une dans cette
version-ci. L’entrée en vigueur sera peu aprés ’'adoption, 30 jours
apreés si je ne m’abuse. Je vais vous lire la disposition en question :

La présente loi entre en vigueur le 1°" avril du premier
exercice débutant aprés sa sanction royale [...]

C’est plutot 90 jours aprés la sanction royale.
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The Chair: Which clause are you reading?
Senator Moore: That’s clause 4, chair.

Senator Callbeck: Welcome, senator. Thank you for bringing
forth this legislation.

As you say, the executive or the cabinet now have the total say
in how much is borrowed, and no longer do Canadians have a
say, so we've lost a major check on the system.

Do you know of any other Westminster systems or countries
that have this, that Parliament doesn’t have a say?

Senator Moore: No, I don’t.

Senator Callbeck: It’s really like giving cabinet a credit card
without any limit.

Senator Moore: That’s the way I’'ve mentioned it here in my
statement. What happens is that the Minister of Finance simply
goes to his cabinet colleagues, explains what he wants and, with
their approval, he can proceed. He’s not going to the people, to
the Parliament, to the House of Commons, and doing the same
thing and seeking their approval, and that is fundamental to all
Westminster-style democracies.

Senator Callbeck: I very much agree with you. We find out
about the borrowing limits requested by the minister in the Debt
Management Strategy. When is that presented, or when do we
find out what’s in that; do you know?

Senator Moore: The Debt Management Report comes through
30 days after the public accounts. It is the report which is the key
thing because it tells you what he spent, but he didn’t come in
beforehand to get the approval.

Senator Callbeck: This change that was made in 2007 in the
omnibus bill. Is there any reason to think that the day or two it
may take to pass a bill like this, under the old system, would have
made any difference in the crisis in 2008?

Senator Moore: 1 don’t think so. We heard evidence the last
time this bill was before this committee that, in the past, the
House of Commons and the Senate have had ample time to deal
with crisis issues, and it certainly could have done so in the 2008-
09 Great Recession, as it’s called.

Senator Callbeck: Okay. Thank you.

The Chair: There are two documents, as I understand it.
Senator Callbeck was asking you about the strategy. My
understanding is that is annexed to the budget, and so that’s
before the fiscal year starts.

Senator Moore: Correct.

The Chair: Then the document, Senator Moore, that you
referred to as a report comes after public accounts, after the fact.

Le président : Quel article étes-vous en train de lire?
Le sénateur Moore : L’article 4, monsieur le président.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Bienvenue, sénateur. Merci d’avoir
présenté ce projet de loi.

Comme vous I’avez expliqué, I’exécutif — le Cabinet — est seul
a décider combien d’argent est emprunté. Les Canadiens n’ont
plus leur mot a dire. Nous avons donc perdu un important
contrepoids.

Savez-vous dans combien de pays qui utilisent le systéme
parlementaire de Westminster cette situation existe, c’est-a-dire
que le Parlement n’a pas voix au chapitre?

Le sénateur Moore : Non, aucune idée.

La sénatrice Callbeck : C’est comme donner au Cabinet une
carte de crédit sans limite.

Le sénateur Moore : C’est ainsi que je I’avais formulé dans mon
exposé. Le ministre des Finances n’a qu’a aller voir ses collégues
du Cabinet et leur expliquer ce qu’il veut et, avec leur
approbation, il peut aller de 'avant. Il n’a pas a s’adresser a la
population, au Parlement, a la Chambre des communes, pour
obtenir ’approbation. C’est pourtant un élément fondamental des
démocraties de type Westminster.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je suis bien de votre avis. Nous prenons
connaissance des limites d’emprunt demandées par le ministre en
lisant la Stratégie de gestion de la dette. Savez-vous quand ce
document est publié ou quand nous apprenons ce qu’il contient?

Le sénateur Moore : Le Rapport sur la gestion de la dette est
publié 30 jours apres les Comptes publics. C’est dans ce rapport
qu’il est indiqué combien le ministre a dépensé, mais il n’a pas eu a
obtenir ’approbation au préalable.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Ce changement a été fait en 2007 dans
le projet de loi omnibus. Y a-t-il lieu de croire que la journée ou
deux dont nous aurions besoin pour adopter un projet de loi
comme celui-ci aurait changé quoi que ce soit a la crise de 2008, si
I’ancien systéme avait été en vigueur?

Le sénateur Moore : Je ne crois pas. La derniére fois que le
comité a étudié ce projet de loi, des témoins ont expliqué que la
Chambre des communes et le Sénat avaient toujours eu
amplement le temps de gérer les situations de crise, et cela
aurait aussi été le cas pour la grande récession de 2008-2009,
comme on I’appelle.

La sénatrice Callbeck : D’accord, merci.

Le président : Je crois comprendre qu’il y a deux documents.
La sénatrice Callbeck vous a posé une question sur la stratégie,
qui, si j’ai bien compris, est jointe au budget. Elle est donc
présentée avant le début de I’exercice.

Le sénateur Moore : C’est exact.

Le président : Puis, le document que vous avez mentionné,
sénateur Moore, est un rapport publi¢ aprés les Comptes publics,
donc a posteriori.
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Senator Moore: Correct, chair.
The Chair: So there are two: one before and one after.
Senator Moore: Yes, there are.

The Chair: Did you want to make any comment in relation to
the strategy aspect? I think I heard you say that it goes only to
cabinet, but that’s in the budget, and the House of Commons
votes on the budget.

Senator Moore: Yes, but the minister doesn’t come before the
house and lay out in detail the money he wants and why he wants
it, or ask for the permission of the house to borrow. He doesn’t do
that. He’s coming in after the fact.

The Chair: So these two documents and this approach, strategy
in the budget, and after public accounts, a report, is a replacement
for the previous process of a bill that came before both chambers
to be passed?

Senator Moore: Correct. We did that, chair and members, for
140 years and it worked. Nobody told the Canadian people that
we’re going to change this, and the import of that. Nobody did,
and nobody has since. It should be restored.

The Chair: Can you talk about how we found out about this
change?

Senator Moore: In the omnibus bill, the first Conservative
government omnibus bill in 2007, I know that I — and I think
many others in the Senate — were preoccupied with the changes
to the Atlantic Accord and the change to the formula for the
sharing of revenues between the federal government and the
provinces.

So nobody in the House of Commons or the Senate saw that
before the omnibus bill was passed; it was afterward. My
seatmate, the Honourable Tommy Banks, was going through
the bill. He noticed this one little clause and said, “What does that
mean? Does that mean what I think it does?”

I think, chair, he might have asked you. He raised it with me,
and I think he might have raised it with you. Then he spoke with
the Honourable Lowell Murray, who was alarmed. I know that
Senator Murray tried two or three times to get a bill before a
committee and he was obstructed. He couldn’t get that done. So [
guess I'm kind of carrying the torch here. But that’s what
happened. That’s how it was discovered.

I think we were alarmed because it is such an important
fundamental principle, and that it would be slipped in in a
stealthy manner. It wasn’t part of anybody’s campaign promise. It
wasn’t part of any printed platform. The Canadian public didn’t
know it. People in the House of Commons didn’t know it. People
in the Senate didn’t know it. So it was a shock, and now we can’t
seem to get it restored, and it should be restored. Nobody has said
why it shouldn’t be restored. Nobody has justified why it has been

Le sénateur Moore : Exactement, monsieur le président.
Le président : I1 y en a donc deux : un avant et un apres.
Le sénateur Moore : Oui, c’est cela.

Le président : Pourriez-vous nous parler de la stratégie? Je crois
vous avoir entendu dire qu’elle était remise seulement au Cabinet,
mais si elle fait partie du budget, elle est donc soumise a un vote a
la Chambre des communes.

Le sénateur Moore : C’est vrai, mais le ministre ne va pas
expliquer a la Chambre exactement combien d’argent il veut
obtenir et pourquoi, pas plus qu’il ne lui demande 1’autorisation
d’emprunter. Il ne le fait pas. Tout cela est expliqué apres.

Le président : Donc, ces deux documents — une stratégie jointe
au budget et un rapport publié aprés les Comptes publics —
remplacent I’ancien processus, c’est-a-dire un projet de loi devant
étre adopté par les deux chambres?

Le sénateur Moore : Exactement. Monsieur le président et
chers membres du comité, les choses ont fonctionné ainsi pendant
140 ans. Personne n’a dit aux Canadiens que la méthode allait
changer, ni a quel point ce changement était important. Personne
n’en a parlé alors, et personne n’en parle depuis. Ce pouvoir
devrait étre rétabli.

Le président : Pouvez-vous nous expliquer comment nous
avons pris connaissance de ce changement?

Le sénateur Moore : Dans le projet de loi omnibus, le premier
projet de loi omnibus du gouvernement conservateur, en 2007, il y
avait des changements a I’Accord atlantique et a la formule de
partage des revenus entre le fédéral et les provinces qui me
préoccupaient, et qui préoccupaient beaucoup d’autres sénateurs,
je crois.

Ces changements ont pris tellement de place que personne n’a
remarqué la modification du pouvoir d’emprunt avant que le
projet de loi omnibus ne soit adopté. On ne s’en est rendu compte
qu’aprés coup. Mon voisin de banquette, I’honorable Tommy
Banks, en parcourant le projet de loi, a remarqué ce tout petit
article et a dit : « Qu’est-ce que cela veut dire? Est-ce que cela veut
dire ce que je pense que cela veut dire? »

Je crois, monsieur le président, qu’il vous en a peut-étre parlé.
Il m’en a parlé a moi, peut-étre a vous aussi. Puis il en a glissé un
mot a ’honorable Lowell Murray, qui s’en est vivement inquiété.
Je sais que le sénateur Murray a essayé deux ou trois fois de faire
renvoyer un projet de loi a un comité, mais on lui a fait obstacle. Il
n’a pas réussi. On peut dire que je reprends le flambeau. C’est ce
qui s’est passé. C’est comme cela qu’on s’en est rendu compte.

Je crois que nous avons été inquiétés parce qu’il s’agit d’un
principe fondamental qu’on modifiait en catimini. Ce n’était pas
une promesse électorale. Cela n’apparaissait pas dans les
plateformes. Les Canadiens n’étaient pas au courant. Les
députés n’étaient pas au courant. Les sénateurs n’étaient pas au
courant. C’était donc une surprise totale, et nous ne semblons pas
étre en mesure de faire marche arriére, méme si nous devrions le
faire. Personne n’a expliqué pourquoi il ne faudrait pas revenir en
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taken out, outside of expediency, and that just doesn’t hold water,
because it’s never been an issue. We have heard testimony to that
effect from witnesses in the past, and you will probably hear it
again today or whenever you hear witnesses.

To put this bill in again would restore the balance, the
equilibrium, between the house, the people and the executive
branch.

The Chair: You say “omnibus bill,” which we sometimes refer
to as a budget implementation omnibus bill.

Senator Moore: It’s been called that too, chair.

Senator Eaton: Senator Moore, has the Financial
Administration Act ever been defeated? In the years previous to
2007, when the government went before the people, was it ever
defeated, or was it an act of housekeeping by saying, “I'm going
to borrow X,” and everybody said, “Yea™?

Senator Moore: 1 don’t think it was defeated, but what
happens, of course, is that you have to take the bill before the
house — a monetary ask — and seek the approval of the house.
So it gives the house an opportunity to review and consider. If the
government of the day has the majority, they’re probably going to
get it through in any event.

Senator Eaton: But to your knowledge, it has never been
defeated?

Senator Moore: Not that I'm aware of.

Senator Eaton: Just to follow up: I guess I'm not as financially
sophisticated or experienced as the rest of you, but when the
budget comes up before the house, are these things not taken into
consideration? In other words, the borrowed money, the money
we’re spending, the money we don’t have, the deficit, is that not
part of Parliament’s consideration?

Senator Moore: Yes.

Senator Buth: Thank you very much for being here today,
Senator Moore.

I’m just curious whether you’ve reviewed the Debt
Management Strategy or the Debt Management Report, if
you’ve taken a look at them.

Senator Moore: I did last year when we were doing this. I didn’t
this year.

Senator Buth: My question goes along with what Senator
Eaton and Senator Day were saying, and that is that the Debt
Management Strategy — and I just took a look at it — lays out
the borrowing in comparison to last year. It indicates how the
borrowing is to happen, essentially how they’re going to do it.
Then, it is included as an annex in the budget, which we get. Then,

arriére. Personne n’a expliqué pourquoi il fallait supprimer ce
pouvoir, sauf pour accélérer le processus, et cette justification ne
tient pas la route puisqu’il n’y a jamais eu de probléme de ce c6té-
la. Nous avons entendu des témoignages a cet effet, et vous en
entendrez sans doute encore aujourd’hui ou plus tard.

Ce projet de loi rétablit I’équilibre entre la Chambre, la
population et I’exécutif.

Le président : Vous avez parlé d’un « projet de loi omnibus »,
qu’on appelle aussi projet de loi omnibus d’exécution du budget.

Le sénateur Moore : Oui, on lui donne aussi ce nom, monsieur
le président.

La sénatrice Eaton : Sénateur Moore, est-ce qu’un projet de loi
sur la gestion des finances publiques a déja été rejeté? Avant 2007,
quand le gouvernement s’adressait a la Chambre des communes,
un tel projet de loi a-t-il déja été rejeté, ou s’agissait-il plutét d’un
geste de pure forme par lequel le gouvernement demandait un
certain montant et tout le monde disait oui?

Le sénateur Moore : Je ne crois pas qu’un tel projet de loi a déja
été rejeté, mais il n’en demeure pas moins qu’un projet de loi
visant a demander des fonds doit étre déposé a la Chambre pour
lui demander son autorisation. La Chambre a ainsi la possibilité
d’étudier la demande. Si le gouvernement est majoritaire, il
obtiendra ce qu’il veut de toute facon.

La sénatrice Eaton : Mais a votre connaissance, un projet de loi
de cet ordre n’a jamais été rejeté?

Le sénateur Moore : Pas que je sache.

La sénatrice Eaton : Comme je n’ai pas la méme expérience et
la méme expertise en matiére de finances que les autres membres,
jaimerais éclaircir un point. Quand le budget est déposé a la
Chambre, est-ce que ces choses-la sont prises en considération?
Autrement dit, est-ce que ’argent que nous empruntons, ’argent
que nous dépensons, I’argent que nous n’avons pas, le déficit, sont
examinés par le Parlement?

Le sénateur Moore : Oui.

La sénatrice Buth : Merci d’étre ici ce matin, sénateur Moore.

Jaimerais savoir si vous avez examiné la Stratégie de gestion de
la dette et le Rapport sur la gestion de la dette. Les avez-vous
consultés?

Le sénateur Moore : Je les ai consultés I’an dernier lorsque nous
en étions a la méme étape, mais pas cette année.

La sénatrice Buth : Ma question va dans le méme sens que
celles de la sénatrice Eaton et du sénateur Day. La Stratégie de
gestion de la dette, que je viens tout juste de consulter, compare
les emprunts de cette année et ceux de I’an dernier. Elle indique
comment les fonds seront empruntés. Elle est jointe en annexe au
budget que nous recevons. Puis, le projet de loi de mise en ccuvre
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the budget implementation act is brought forward, and we
approve that. So that’s approved by Parliament. It goes through
the House. It goes through the Senate.

If there are any concerns, they could be debated in the House
or in the Senate, so I’'m not too sure what your primary concern
is. There is still a mechanism there for Parliament to review the
Debt Management Strategy.

Senator Moore: I don’t know why the authority in Parliament,
as it was for 140 years, was taken out. I don’t know why. The
other system, I would suggest, is better, more accountable. The
public understood when this issue was coming before it, before
the House, the members had an opportunity to hold the
government to task to explain it, not to read a report that has
come in as what we propose to do but actually what was asked
and what the terms of it were.

Senator Buth: So this change to the Financial Administration
Act was, as we mentioned, included in a budget bill.

Senator Moore: In 2007.

Senator Buth: That budget bill was debated in Parliament and
the Senate, but you missed it. Or was it Senator Banks?

Senator Moore: Senator Banks was the first to discover it. No
one in the House of Commons or in the Senate saw it, which is a
tragedy.

Senator Buth: Nobody in the opposition saw it and mentioned
it.

Senator Moore: Nobody in the House of Commons saw it,
either side. Well, I expect the government knew.

Senator Buth: I don’t think you can talk about whether our side
saw it or not.

Senator Moore: That’s true. It wasn’t raised — let me put it
that way — by anybody in the House of Commons.

Senator Buth: Right. It wasn’t raised, but it was in the bill.

Senator Moore: It was in the bill, senator. Correct.
Senator Buth: And the bill was voted on.

Senator Moore: Yes, it was.

Senator Buth: And the bill passed.

Senator Moore: Yes, it did.

Senator Buth: So that change was made. Thank you very much.

The Chair: Just to clarify the record, the Debt Management
Strategy is annexed to the budget, but we do not, in the Senate,
vote on the budget. It is not part of our budget implementation.

du budget nous est soumis, et nous I’approuvons. Donc, tout est
approuvé par le Parlement. Tout passe par la Chambre des
communes et par le Sénat.

S’il y a des préoccupations, on peut en débattre dans 'une ou
lautre des chambres. Je ne comprends donc pas d’ou vient votre
inquiétude. Il existe un mécanisme d’examen de la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette par le Parlement.

Le sénateur Moore : Je ne comprends pas pourquoi on a retiré
au Parlement un pouvoir qu’il détenait depuis 140 ans. Je ne
comprends pas. L’ancien systéme permettait, selon moi, une
meilleure reddition de comptes. Le public comprenait que les
députés avaient alors la possibilité de demander des explications
au gouvernement sur ce qu’il demande et a quelles conditions, au
lieu de se contenter de lire un rapport sur ce que le gouvernement
propose.

La sénatrice Buth : Cette modification de la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques, on I’a expliqué, était incluse dans un projet
de loi budgétaire.

Le sénateur Moore : En 2007.

La sénatrice Buth : Ce projet de loi budgétaire a été débattu a la
Chambre des communes et au Sénat, mais vous avez raté cette
modification. Ou était-ce le sénateur Banks?

Le sénateur Moore : Le sénateur Banks a été le premier a s’en
rendre compte. Personne, ni a la Chambre ni au Sénat, n’avait
remarqué ce changement, ce qui est tragique.

La sénatrice Buth : Personne dans l'opposition ne s’en est
rendu compte et n’a mentionné quoi que ce soit.

Le sénateur Moore : Personne a la Chambre des communes ne
I’a vu, d’un c6té comme de Iautre. J'imagine que tout le monde
était au courant du c6té du gouvernement.

La sénatrice Buth : Je ne crois pas que vous puissiez parler de ce
que notre coté a vu ou n’a pas vu.

Le sénateur Moore : C’est vrai. Ce changement n’a pas été
mentionné — disons les choses ainsi — par qui que ce soit a la
Chambre des communes.

La sénatrice Buth : Voila. Personne n’en a parlé, mais c’était
bel et bien dans le projet de loi.

Le sénateur Moore : Oui, c’est exact.

La sénatrice Buth : Et le projet de loi a été mis aux voix.
Le sénateur Moore : En effet.

La sénatrice Buth : Et le projet de loi a été adopté.

Le sénateur Moore : Effectivement.

La sénatrice Buth : La modification a donc été apportée. Merci
beaucoup.

Le président : Afin que les choses soient claires, la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette est jointe au budget, mais le Sénat ne vote pas
l’approbation du budget. Cela ne fait pas partie de nos
prérogatives. Nous ne nous penchons que sur certains éléments
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Only certain things are taken out of the budget that we deal with
in the budget implementation, and then a lot of other things
aren’t, of course.

Senator Moore: In committee, yes.

The Chair: I don’t think any of us have ever seen the strategy
attached to a budget implementation bill in the Senate.

Senator Buth: But the budget is debated in the house and voted
on in the house.

The Chair: In the house and not in the Senate.
Senator Buth: Right.
The Chair: Just to clarify the record.

Senator Moore: Because the public probably doesn’t know
that, Chair.

The Chair: It’s hard for us to speculate on what the public may
know.

Senator Moore: In terms of the fact that the Senate doesn’t get
to look at it.

The Chair: Yes.

[Translation)

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I would like to provide clarification
regarding provisions that were added to budget bills that were not
taken into account by the House of Commons and that had to be
amended by a Conservative minority government.

I am talking about the tax credit for film productions and how
we discovered that the minister had been given the discretionary
power to withdraw the tax credit after work on a film had already
been completed. It is in the Senate that we discovered that this tax
credit could be withdrawn on moral grounds.

Clearly, all this was seen as a way for the government to
control content. All Canadian cities involved in film production
opposed this clause that nobody noticed. It was debated here in
the Senate.

With regard to the concept of omnibus bills, I used to be an
MP in the House of Commons, and I would like to remind you
that, at that time, omnibus bills were usually used to correct
provisions that were difficult to enforce. Omnibus bills were
generally used to clean up a number of bills, but they did not
necessarily prevent people from discussing certain issues.

We are given a limited amount of time to examine omnibus
bills. If we were given six months to examine them, things might
be different. I have noticed that the Senate devotes more time to
examining omnibus bill than the House of Commons does.

du budget dans le cadre de notre examen du projet de loi
d’exécution du budget. Beaucoup d’autres éléments n’en font
donc pas partie, évidemment.

Le sénateur Moore : Au comité, oui.

Le président : Je ne crois pas qu’aucun d’entre nous ait déja vu
cette stratégie jointe a un projet de loi d’exécution du budget au
Sénat.

La sénatrice Buth : Mais le budget fait ’objet d’un débat et
d’un vote a la Chambre.

Le président : A la Chambre, mais pas au Sénat.
La sénatrice Buth : C’est ¢a.
Le président : C’était a titre de précision.

Le sénateur Moore : Le public ne le sait probablement pas,
monsieur le président.

Le président : Il nous est difficile de savoir ce que le public sait
ou ne sait pas.

Le sénateur Moore : En ce qui concerne le fait que le Sénat ne
I’examine pas.

Le président : En effet.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’aimerais apporter un
éclaircissement au sujet des articles insérés dans les projets de
loi de budget, qui n’ont pas été pris en considération par la
Chambre des communes et qui, dans un gouvernement
minoritaire conservateur, ont di étre modifiés.

Je réfere au crédit d’'impét sur la production de films, lorsque
nous avons découvert que le ministre s’octroyait un pouvoir
discrétionnaire de rappeler le crédit d’impot ultérieurement. Et
c’est au Sénat qu’'on a découvert que ce crédit d’impdt pouvait
étre mis en cause pour des questions morales.

Evidemment, tout cela a été associé a une forme de contréle de
contenu de la part de ’Etat. Toutes les villes canadiennes qui font
de la production cinématographique se sont opposées a cet article
de loi et personne n’avait vu cette question. Elle a été débattue ici,
au Sénat.

Concernant le concept des projets de loi omnibus, j’ai déja siégé
a la Chambre des communes et j’aimerais vous rappeler qu’a
I’époque, un projet de loi omnibus servait habituellement a
corriger des articles de loi qui étaient difficiles a appliquer et qui,
généralement, servaient a faire du ménage dans plusieurs projets
de loi, mais il n’empéchait pas nécessairement les gens de discuter
de certaines questions.

Nous disposons d’un temps limité pour étudier les projets de loi
omnibus. Si on avait six mois pour le faire, peut-&tre que ce serait
différent. Je regarde le nombre d’heures passées a les étudier a la
Chambre des communes et je vois qu’au Sénat on y consacre plus
de temps.
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At the time, the issue of the tax credit for film production gave
rise to a major national debate, and the government changed its
mind because it was a minority government. When the
opportunity arises, we can use our good judgment. The bill was
amended in the Senate and sent back to the House of Commons.

That is why I fully support my colleague’s proposal in this case.
The government is simply giving itself a blank cheque, and I do
not think that should ever happen. I am explaining where this
came from and how this issue came up.

Does this not call into question the whole issue of omnibus
bills? When it comes right down to it, if we knew what a bill was
all about, then provisions would not be added to our budget bills
in a way that is not exactly kosher.

[English)

Senator Moore: I recall the lengthy debate of the matter that
you raised, and I believed that, at that time, the minister set
himself up as the sole moral officer in the country to decide
whether or not a film was appropriate. It was the Senate that
discovered this in our study of the bill and had it turned back.

Nobody spoke about it. Nobody campaigned on that. Nobody
told Canadians that, and, because we found it, of course, it
certainly raised the opposition of the entertainment people and
film production people in the country and abroad. Probably, the
Canadian people who were deeply involved in that industry were
shocked by it.

I guess the question is the appropriateness of these omnibus
bills. When you get a bill that’s 400 or 500 pages long, it’s not
humanly possible for any one of us to take that bill and to go
through it and do all of the cross-referencing to the other statutes.
You’d have to have a full research staff to do all of that in a
timely way because this stuff happens quickly. If the government
brings in time allocation and enforces it, it makes it even more
difficult. I think that process should be stopped or limited.

Senator Seth: Thank you, Senator Moore. I understand what
you’re saying about this bill.

Is it possible that, because of the approval process for
borrowing limits, this will reduce the capacity to borrow? Will it
affect that?

Senator Moore: I don’t think so. The ultimate power, as I've
said, is in the people, and, if Parliament decides, in its wisdom,
that the ask of the public purse should be adjusted, that is the
appropriate authority to make that decision, not bureaucrats, not
the department. They’re there to serve the people, not the other
way around.

A I’époque, la question du crédit d’impét sur la production des
films avait suscité une grande discussion nationale et le
gouvernement avait changé d’idée parce c’était un
gouvernement minoritaire. A un moment donné, il y a une
forme de bon jugement qui revient quand on a une possibilité. Le
projet de loi avait été modifié au Sénat, et retourné a la Chambre
des communes.

C’est pour cette raison que, dans ce cas, j’appuie pleinement la
proposition de mon collégue. C’est tout simplement se donner un
chéque en blanc et je pense qu’un gouvernement ne devrait jamais
avoir un chéque en blanc. J’explique 1’origine de cela et comment
on en est arrivé a cette question.

Est-ce que cela ne remet pas en cause toute la question des
projets de loi omnibus? Parce que dans le fond, si on était informé
sur la nature d’un projet de loi, on n’aurait pas d’articles de loi qui
sont insérés de fagon « pas trés catholique » dans nos projets de
loi de budget.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur Moore : Je me souviens des longs débats
concernant le point que vous avez soulevé et je crois qu’a
I’époque, le ministre s’était attribué le poste de seul juge de la
morale au pays afin de déterminer si un film était approprié ou
non. C’est au Sénat qu’on avait découvert cela dans le cadre de
notre examen du projet de loi, et nous avions renvoyé le projet de
loi.

Personne n’en avait parlé. Personne n’avait fait campagne a ce
sujet. Personne n’en avait soufflé mot aux Canadiens et, parce que
nous I’avons découvert, bien entendu, cela a entrainé une levée de
boucliers dans I'industrie cinématographique, tant au pays qu’a
I’étranger. Les Canadiens étroitement liés a cette industrie ont
probablement été choqués par la nouvelle.

Je crois qu’il faut s’interroger au sujet de la pertinence de ces
projets de loi omnibus. Lorsqu’on se retrouve devant un projet de
loi de 400 ou 500 pages, il est humainement impossible pour
quiconque d’entre nous de I’étudier a fond et d’examiner toutes les
références a d’autres mesures législatives. Il faudrait toute une
équipe de recherche pour y parvenir en temps opportun, car le
processus se déroule assez vite. Et c’est encore plus difficile si le
gouvernement fait adopter une motion d’attribution de temps. Je
crois qu’il faudrait mettre un frein a ce processus ou le limiter.

La sénatrice Seth : Merci, sénateur Moore. Je comprends ce
que vous dites au sujet de ce projet de loi.

Serait-il possible que le processus d’approbation concernant les
limites d’emprunt entraine une réduction de la capacité
d’emprunter? Est-ce une possibilité?

Le sénateur Moore : Je ne crois pas. Comme je I’ai dit, le
pouvoir final réside entre les mains du peuple, et si le Parlement
décide, dans sa sagesse, qu’il faudrait modifier la fagon
d’emprunter des fonds publics, c’est a I’autorité appropriée qu’il
revient de prendre la décision, et non aux bureaucrates ou aux
ministéres, qui sont la pour servir le peuple, et non le contraire.
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Senator Seth: According to officials from the Bank of Canada,
during the global financial crisis of 2008, the current financial
framework allowed Canadian authorities to react sufficiently and
quickly to the major shock that shook the Canadian financial
system. How would Bill S-204 affect the reaction of the federal
government in terms of efficiency and timeliness in the event of
financial crisis?

Senator Moore: Thank you for the question. That issue was
raised, senator, last time this bill was here. I expect you’ll hear
evidence about that from other witnesses. Under the previous
legislation, the departments, the government, had ample time to
respond to that. That was made clear. The country was in good
shape in terms of finances, but there was plenty of time for the
process to unfold and for the government of the day to receive the
necessary approvals to borrow funds or to make adjustments to
the finances of the country to deal with that situation.

Senator Chaput: Thank you, Senator Moore, for bringing this
bill again to the committee. This kind of bill reminds me of the
reason why senators are here. When we talk about the Senate and
sober second thought, that’s what happens when we take the time
to do that.

I’'ve heard many times at Senate committees the expression
“tool box.” I remember on one of the other committees we used to
say, “This is another tool in the tool box so that we can do a
better job.” If I take that example and talk about the tool box of
accountability, would you say that this bill would be another tool
in the tool box of accountability?

Senator Moore: It certainly would. I don’t know how this tool
got removed from the tool box without somebody giving notice to
the public that this is proposed. It’s a fundamental principle, as |
said, of Westminster democracies, and it worked for Canada for
140 years. Nobody stood up and said this doesn’t work anymore;
we’ve got to get rid of this. I never heard anybody say that. I
never heard a minister of finance or a prime minister or any
official in government say that. I don’t know how this one got
away.

Senator Buth: Senator Moore, I wanted to review the process
we went through in terms of the changes to the Financial
Administration Act and what you’re doing now. The changes to
the Financial Administration Act were brought forward in a
Budget Implementation Act that was reviewed by Parliament and
voted on, reviewed by the Senate and voted on. It was missed by
the opposition, according to you. Now you’re bringing forward a
change, essentially, to the Financial Administration Act, which is
perfectly within the rules and the process, and it’s what we do; we
look at issues. Anybody can bring forward a bill in the Senate,
and that’s what you’ve done.

Can you essentially tell me how many times this bill has come
before the Senate and what has happened in terms of the bill?

La sénatrice Seth : Selon des représentants de la Banque du
Canada, pendant la récession mondiale de 2008, la cadre financier
en vigueur a permis aux autorités canadiennes de réagir avec
suffisamment de rapidité et d’efficacité aux importantes secousses
qui ont ébranlé le systéme financier canadien. De quelle fagon le
projet de loi S-204 permettrait-il d’améliorer la rapidité et
I’efficacité du gouvernement fédéral en cas de crise financiére?

Le sénateur Moore : Je vous remercie de cette question. Elle a
d’ailleurs été soulevée la derniére fois que le comité a été saisi de ce
projet de loi. Je m’attends a ce que d’autres témoins en parlent.
Auparavant, les ministéres et le gouvernement avaient amplement
le temps de réagir. Cela a été clairement établi. La santé financiére
du pays était bonne, et le processus en place laissait amplement le
temps au gouvernement d’obtenir les autorisations d’emprunt ou
d’apporter les modifications nécessaires aux finances du pays afin
de réagir a ce genre de situation.

La sénatrice Chaput : Merci, sénateur Moore, de soumettre de
nouveau ce projet de loi a I’attention du comité. Un tel projet de
loi me rappelle pourquoi nous sommes ici. Lorsqu’on parle du
Sénat comme du lieu de second examen objectif, je crois que
I’étude actuelle en est un bon exemple.

Jai souvent entendu ’expression « boite a outils » pendant des
séances de comités sénatoriaux. Je me souviens que, dans un autre
comité, nous disions « Voila un outil de plus dans notre boite a
outils qui nous permettra de mieux faire notre travail. » Si j'utilise
cet exemple pour parler de la boite a outils de la reddition de
comptes, diriez-vous que ce projet de loi serait un outil
supplémentaire dans cette boite a outils?

Le sénateur Moore : Certainement. Je ne comprends pas
comment cet outil a pu étre retiré de la boite a outils sans que
quelqu’un ne prévienne le public qu’on avait I'intention de le faire.
Comme je I’ai dit, il s’agit d’un principe fondamental des
démocraties qui s’inspirent du modéle de Westminster et qui a
fonctionné au Canada pendant 140 ans. Personne n’a pris la
parole pour dire qu’il n’était plus efficace et qu’il fallait s’en
débarrasser. Je n’ai jamais entendu qui que ce soit dire une telle
chose. Je n’ai jamais entendu un ministre des Finances, un
premier ministre ou un représentant du gouvernement dire une
telle chose. Je ne comprends pas comment cela a pu se produire.

La sénatrice Buth : Sénateur Moore, j’aimerais revenir sur la
facon dont la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques a été
modifiée et ce que vous cherchez a faire. Les modifications a la
Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques ont été présentées dans
un projet de loi d’exécution du budget qui a été examiné et
approuvé par le Parlement, puis le Sénat. L opposition a raté cet
¢élément, selon vous. Voila maintenant que vous présentez une
modification a cette méme Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques, modification parfaitement conforme aux régles et au
processus, et que nous ’examinons. N’importe qui peut présenter
un projet de loi au Sénat, et c’est ce que vous avez fait.

Pouvez-vous me dire combien de fois ce projet de loi a été
présenté au Sénat et ce qui est arrivé?
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Senator Moore: It’s my second time. It would have been fully
dealt with last time, except the government prorogued Parliament,
so I had to start all over again. Those are the rules within the
Senate. I had to start from the beginning. I think Senator Murray
had a similar bill before the Senate on two or three occasions, but
he could not get it beyond second reading and into a committee.
He was blocked from doing that.

Senator Buth: So one time it was prorogued, you’re saying?

Senator Moore: Last year, yes, senator.

Senator Buth: 1 was on the committee when the bill came
forward last year, and we actually reported it back to the chamber
that would not move it forward.

Senator Moore: Yes.

Senator Buth: So it wasn’t lost in prorogation; it was reported
back, essentially, to not move forward.

Senator Moore: It was reported back, but no final decision was
made on it.

Senator Buth: Okay.

Senator Moore: We didn’t hold the actual final vote, as I recall.

Senator Buth: In the chamber?
Senator Moore: In the chamber, yes.
Senator Buth: Thank you for clarifying that.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Moore, on behalf of our
committee, for your initiative. You’re welcome to stay on as we
proceed with the next round of witnesses.

Senator Moore: Thank you, senators, for hearing me again.

The Chair: Colleagues, we’ll invite our next witnesses.

[Translation]

Honourable senators, I am now pleased to welcome to the
Standing Senate Committee on National Finance two witnesses
from the Department of Finance: Dan Calof, Acting Director,
Financial Markets Division, and Marie-Josée Lambert, Chief,
Domestic Debt Management Policy, Financial Sector Policy
Division. They will be giving a joint presentation.

[English]

From the Bank of Canada, we welcome Grahame Johnson,
Chief, Funds Management and Banking.

Do either of you have any introductory remarks? You’ve heard
Senator Moore’s comments. If you would like, as part of your
introductory remarks, to make some comment in relation thereto,
or otherwise, you have the floor.

Le sénateur Moore : C’est la deuxieme fois. Il aurait complété
tout le processus la premiére fois, mais le gouvernement a prorogé
le Parlement et j’ai di tout recommencer. Telles sont les régles du
Sénat. J’ai di reprendre le processus a zéro. Je crois que le
sénateur Murray a déja présenté un projet de loi semblable au
Sénat a deux ou trois occasions, mais il n’a jamais pu lui faire
franchir I’étape de la deuxiéme lecture. On I’en a empéché.

La sénatrice Buth : Vous avez donc dit qu’il y a eu prorogation?

Le sénateur Moore : En effet, madame la sénatrice, I'année
derniére.

La sénatrice Buth : Je faisais partie du comité lorsqu’il nous a
été renvoyé I’an dernier, et le rapport que nous avions présenté au
Sénat recommandait qu’il n’aille pas plus loin.

Le sénateur Moore : En effet.

La sénatrice Buth : La prorogation n’est donc pas vraiment en
cause. Le rapport recommandait essentiellement de ne pas aller de
I’avant avec ce projet de loi.

Le sénateur Moore : Le comité a présenté son rapport, mais
aucune décision n’a été prise.

La sénatrice Buth : D’accord.

Le sénateur Moore : Si je me souviens bien, le vote final n’a pas
eu lieu.

La sénatrice Buth : Au Sénat?
Le sénateur Moore : Oui, au Sénat.
La sénatrice Buth : Merci de cette précision.

Le président : Sénateur Moore, je vous remercie de votre
initiative au nom du comité. Vous pouvez rester parmi nous alors
que nous passons a la prochaine ronde de témoins.

Le sénateur Moore : Je vous remercie de m’avoir entendu de
nouveau, sénateurs.

Le président : Chers collégues, nous allons maintenant
accueillir les prochains témoins.

[Frangais]

Honorables sénateurs, il me fait maintenant plaisir de souhaiter
la bienvenue au Comité sénatorial permanent des finances
nationales a M. Dan Calof, directeur par intérim, Division des
marchés financiers, et a Marie-Josée Lambert, chef, Politique de
la gestion de la dette intérieure, Direction de la politique du
secteur financier. Tous les deux sont du ministére des Finances du
Canada. On entendra les deux témoins ensemble.

[Traduction]

Nous accueillons également Grahame Johnson, chef, Gestion
financiere et Opérations bancaires, de la Banque du Canada.

Avez-vous des observations préliminaires? Vous avez entendu
le sénateur Moore. Si vous souhaitez émettre des commentaires
dans le cadre de vos observations préliminaires, nous vous
invitons a le faire. Vous avez la parole.
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Dan Calof, Acting Director, Financial Markets Division,
Department of Finance Canada: I have some introductory
remarks which I believe have been circulated to the senators
and I believe my good friend Mr. Johnson.

Grahame Johnson, Chief, Funds Management and Banking,
Bank of Canada: I likewise have some short introductory remarks.

Mr. Calof: I"d like to apologize. I'm a last-minute replacement.
Toni Gravelle was supposed to be appearing in my place.

The Chair: It is short notice that we gave you. You don’t need
to apologize. We should be apologizing to you. Thank you for
making yourselves available.

Mr. Calof: It’s a pleasure to appear before this committee on
an important issue like borrowing authority.

Good morning. My name is Dan Calof, and I'm the Acting
Director of the Financial Markets Division of Financial Sector
Policy Branch of the Department of Finance. My colleague
Marie-Josée Lambert, Chief of the Debt Management Policy
Section, joins me here today. I'm also here with Grahame
Johnson from the Bank of Canada.

It is our pleasure to be able to appear today before the
Standing Senate Committee on National Finance, on behalf of
the Department of Finance, to assist you in your study of Bill S-
204, which proposes to amend certain provisions of the Financial
Administration Act, the FAA, concerning the borrowing of
money by the Government of Canada.

Part IV of the Financial Administration Act sets out the
authorities under which the Minister of Finance can borrow on
behalf of Her Majesty in right of Canada. In particular,
section 44(2) specifies that the aggregate principal amount of
money borrowed by the minister in any fiscal year may not exceed
the amount that is specified by order of the Governor-in-Council
for that fiscal year.

The maximum amount requested by the minister from the
Governor-in-Council is based on the projected financial needs of
the government, which includes both budgetary and non-
budgetary requirements, plus a margin of prudence, as set out
in the Debt Management Strategy that is published as part of the
annual budget. For the current fiscal year, this amount is $270
billion, which is $30 billion lower than for last year. This is put
out, as you noted earlier in Senator Moore’s testimony, as an
annex with a budget.

I would emphasize that the borrowing authority approved by
the Governor-in-Council is an upper limit on the amount of debt
to be issued by the government for that fiscal year. It is not an
approval of the level of spending for the government. Rather, the
level of spending for the government is set through appropriation
acts and various statutory appropriations, all of which are subject
to parliamentary approval.

Dan Calof, directeur par intérim, Division des marchés
financiers, ministére des Finances Canada : J’aurais quelques
observations préliminaires. Je crois que les sénateurs et mon
bon ami, M. Johnson, en ont obtenu une copie.

Grahame Johnson, chef, Gestion financiére et Opérations
bancaires, Banque du Canada : J’aurais moi aussi quelques
observations préliminaires.

M. Calof : J’aimerais vous présenter mes excuses. J’ai remplacé
a la derniére minute Toni Gravelle, qui devait témoigner & ma
place.

Le président : Inutile de vous excuser, car vous n’avez eu qu’un
court préavis. C’est nous qui devrions vous présenter des excuses.
Merci d’avoir pu vous libérer.

M. Calof : Je suis heureux de pouvoir venir témoigner devant
le comité au sujet d’une question aussi importante que
l’autorisation d’emprunter.

Bonjour. Je suis Dan Calof, directeur par intérim de la Division
des marchés financiers au ministére des Finances. Voici ma
collégue, Marie-Josée Lambert, chef de la Section de la politique
de gestion de la dette, ainsi que Grahame Johnson, de la Banque
du Canada.

C’est avec plaisir que nous nous présentons devant le Comité
sénatorial permanent des finances nationales pour le compte du
ministére des Finances au moment ou le Comité examine le projet
de loi S-204, qui a pour objet de modifier certaines dispositions de
la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques (LGFP) concernant les
emprunts du gouvernement du Canada.

La partie IV de la LGFP établit les autorisations d’emprunter,
c’est-a-dire les circonstances dans lesquelles le ministre des
Finances est autorisé a emprunter des fonds pour le compte de
Sa Majesté du chef du Canada. En particulier, le
paragraphe 44(2) stipule que le total du principal emprunté par
le ministre pour un exercice ne peut excéder le plafond précisé par

décret pour cet exercice.

Le montant maximum que le ministre demande au gouverneur
en conseil est établi en fonction des besoins financiers projetés du
gouvernement — qui comprennent les besoins budgétaires et les
besoins non budgétaires — auxquels s’ajoute une marge de
prudence établie dans la Stratégie de gestion de la dette qui est
publiée dans le cadre du budget annuel. Pour I’exercice financier
en cours, ce montant est de 270 milliards de dollars, soit
30 milliards de moins que pour I'exercice précédent. Comme le
sénateur Moore I’a indiqué plus tot, cela figure en annexe du
budget.

Je tiens a préciser que le pouvoir d’emprunter approuvé par
décret représente la limite supérieure des créances que le
gouvernement est autorisé a émettre pour I’exercice en question.
Ce n’est pas une approbation du niveau des dépenses du
gouvernement. Le niveau des dépenses est fixé par voie de lois
de crédit et de crédits législatifs, lesquels doivent étre approuvés
par le Parlement.
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The current framework in which the Governor-in-Council
approves the borrowing limit for the government has been in
place since October 2007. Prior to this, there was a statutory limit
on borrowing that only Parliament could change. Under this
regime, the government had standing authority to refinance
maturing market debt, plus $4 billion of non-lapsing borrowing
authority pursuant to the Borrowing Authority Act of 1996-97.

As presented in the March 19, 2007, budget, a key motivation
for changing the borrowing authority framework was to
streamline and modernize the process and increase flexibility to
meet future borrowing needs, particularly with respect to the
consolidation of the Crown corporation borrowings. In the
March 2007 budget, the government announced that, beginning
in 2008, it would meet all of the borrowing needs of the Business
Development Bank of Canada, the Canada Mortgage and
Housing Corporation, and Farm Credit Canada, another
Crown corporation, through direct lending to these Crown
corporations, resulting in an increase in the government’s
financial requirements.

A key benefit of this additional flexibility that was provided by
the 2007 changes was demonstrated in November 2008, when, in
response to the turmoil in the financial markets, the government
was able to act quickly in the midst of the financial crisis and seek
a higher borrowing limit. In November 2008, the Governor-in-
Council expeditiously approved an increase of $90 billion to the
original 2008-09 aggregate borrowing limit of $206 billion. This
increase enabled the government to commit up to $75 billion in
loans to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation to fund
the Insured Mortgage Purchase Program, the IMPP, and help the
injection of over $40 billion in short-term liquidity to financial
institutions through the Bank of Canada.

Along with the removal of the statutory borrowing limit, the
2007 amendments established enhanced disclosure requirements
on anticipated borrowing and planned uses of funds. Through the
Debt Management Strategy, we enhanced the disclosure
requirements on actual borrowing and uses of funds compared
to those forecast through the Debt Management Report, and we
implemented more detailed information on the outcomes in the
public accounts.

The 2007 amendments also provided for more timely disclosure
of the borrowing activities that have happened in the past fiscal
year. The period within which the Minister of Finance must table
management reports in both Houses of Parliament was shortened
from 45 to 30 sitting days following the tabling of the public
accounts.

Le cadre de référence actuel en vertu duquel le gouverneur en
conseil approuve la limite d’emprunt du gouvernement est en
place depuis octobre 2007. Auparavant, il y avait une limite
statutaire sur les emprunts que seul le Parlement était habilité a
modifier. Conformément a ce régime, le gouvernement avait le
pouvoir permanent de refinancer les emprunts contractés sur les
marchés qui arrivaient a échéance, en plus de I’autorisation
permanente d’emprunter 4 milliards de dollars en vertu de la Loi
sur le pouvoir d’emprunt pour 1996-1997.

Selon le budget du 19 mars 2007, 'une des grandes raisons
expliquant le nouveau régime d’autorisation d’emprunter était de
rationaliser et de moderniser le processus et de renforcer la
flexibilité pour satisfaire aux besoins futurs en matiére d’emprunt,
particuliérement en ce qui concerne la consolidation des emprunts
des sociétés d’Etat. Dans le budget de mars 2007, le gouvernement
annongait qu’a partir de 2008, il comblerait tous les besoins
d’emprunt de la Banque de développement du Canada, de la
Société canadienne d’hypotheéques et de logement ainsi que de
Financement agricole Canada par des préts directs a ces sociétés
d’Etat, ce qui ferait augmenter les besoins financiers du
gouvernement.

Un avantage clé de la flexibilité accrue qui découlait des
changements apportés en 2007 a été démontré en novembre 2008,
lorsque, pour faire face aux perturbations dans les marchés
financiers, le gouvernement a pu agir rapidement en plein milieu
de la crise financiére et demander un relevement de sa limite
d’emprunt. En novembre 2008, le gouverneur en conseil a
approuvé sans délai un relévement de 90 milliards de dollars de
la limite d’emprunt globale pour 2008-2009, qui avait été fixée a
I’origine a 206 milliards. De la sorte, le gouvernement a été en
mesure d’engager jusqu’a 75 milliards de dollars en préts a
I'intention de la Société canadienne d’hypothéques et de logement
pour le financement du Programme d’achat de préts
hypothécaires assurés (PAPHA) et d’aider a financer I'injection
de plus de 40 milliards de dollars sous forme de liquidités a court
terme destinées aux établissements financiers par I’entremise de la
Banque du Canada.

Parallélement a la suppression de la limite d’emprunt
statutaire, les modifications de 2007 ont établi des exigences
renforcées en matiére de divulgation des emprunts anticipés et de
leurs utilisations prévues par le biais de la Stratégie de gestion de
la dette; des exigences renforcées en matiere de divulgation des
emprunts réels et de leurs utilisations réelles par rapport aux
prévisions par I’entremise du Rapport sur la gestion de la dette; et
la publication de renseignements plus détaillés sur les résultats
dans les Comptes publics.

Les modifications de 2007 prévoyaient également la
divulgation plus rapide des activités d’emprunt. La période dont
dispose le ministre des Finances pour déposer le Rapport sur la
gestion de la dette dans les deux Chambres du Parlement a été
raccourcie, passant de 45 jours a 30 jours de séance aprés le dépot
des Comptes publics.
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In response to Senator Callbeck’s question from earlier, most
modern democracies do not have explicit borrowing limits,
including Britain, France, Germany, Australia and New
Zealand. As such, the 2007 amendments to modernize the
Government of Canada’s borrowing authority provisions are in
line with the borrowing authority frameworks used in other
countries. The only remaining developed countries with explicit
borrowing limits that we could find are the U.S., Japan and
Denmark.

You should be aware that, in the U.S., their general accounting
office, which is basically the equivalent of our Auditor General’s
office, noted, in its February 2011, July 2012 and December 2013
reports, that Congress should consider ways to better link the
decisions about the debt limit with decisions about spending and
revenue to avoid the potential disruptions to the treasury market
and to help inform the fiscal policy debate in a timely way.

In summary, the 2007 amendments to the FAA have made our
borrowing authority framework consistent with best practices
around the world. Compared to the previous framework, the
current borrowing authority regime has provided for more
efficient, responsive and prudent financial management, and
greater transparency and accountability with respect to the
Government of Canada’s borrowing authorities.

In closing, I thank the chair and committee members for
providing me with this opportunity to brief you on this important
topic. After Mr. Johnson’s remarks, we will be very pleased to
answer all of your questions.

Mr. Johnson: Thank you, Mr. Chair and committee members.
My name is Grahame Johnson. I am the Chief of Funds
Management and Banking Department at the Bank of Canada,
and I'm very pleased to be here today to present the Bank of
Canada’s views on Bill S-204, An Act to amend the Financial
Administration Act (borrowing of money).

At the outset, I’d like to offer some brief context with regard to
the Bank of Canada’s role in government debt issuance.

As the fiscal agent for the government, the Bank of Canada
issues debt on behalf of the Government of Canada and does so in
a manner consistent with the legislative requirements laid out in
the Financial Administration Act. While the Bank of Canada and
the Department of Finance collaborate to offer debt management
advice to the Government of Canada, debt policy decisions are
ultimately the responsibility of the Minister of Finance. The
changes made to Canada’s borrowing authority framework in
2007 were focused on creating a more efficient and flexible
process for approving Canada’s annual borrowing plan.

En réponse a la question posée plus tét par la sénatrice
Callbeck, il n’y a pas de limites d’emprunt explicites dans la
plupart des démocraties modernes, y compris la Grande-
Bretagne, la France, I’Allemagne, I’Australie et la Nouvelle-
Zélande. Dans ce contexte, les modifications de 2007 visant a
moderniser les dispositions sur le pouvoir d’emprunt du
gouvernement sont conformes aux cadres en la matiére en usage
dans d’autres pays. Les seuls pays développés qui ont encore des
limites d’emprunt explicites sont les Etats-Unis, le Japon et le
Danemark.

Vous devez également savoir que le Government
Accountability Office du gouvernement des Etats-Unis,
I’équivalent du Bureau du vérificateur général, indiquait dans
ses rapports de février 2011, de juillet 2012 et de décembre 2013
que le Congrés devrait envisager des moyens d’établir de meilleurs
liens entre les décisions relatives a la limite d’emprunt et les
décisions relatives aux dépenses et aux revenus, pour éviter
d’éventuelles perturbations dans le marché des obligations du
Trésor et éclairer le débat sur la politique fiscale en temps
opportun.

En résumé, les modifications apportées a la LGFP en 2007
nous ont permis d’aligner notre cadre des autorisations d’emprunt
sur les pratiques exemplaires dans le monde. Par rapport au cadre
de référence précédent, le régime actuel d’autorisation d’emprunt
a permis une gestion financiére plus efficace, plus réceptive et plus
prudente ainsi que plus de transparence et une reddition des
comptes renforcée relativement aux activités d’emprunt du
gouvernement du Canada.

Pour terminer, j’aimerais remercier le président et les membres
du comité de nous avoir donné cette occasion de présenter de
I'information au sujet de cette question importante. Apreés les
observations de M. Johnson, il nous fera plaisir de répondre a vos
questions.

M. Johnson : Monsieur le président, membres du comité,
merci. Je m’appelle Grahame Johnson et j’occupe le poste de
chef, Gestion financiére et Opérations bancaires, a la Banque du
Canada. Je suis trés heureux d’étre ici aujourd’hui pour présenter
le point de vue de la Banque du Canada au sujet du projet de
loi S-204, Loi modifiant la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques (emprunts de fonds).

Pour commencer, j’aimerais expliquer briévement le réle de la
Banque du Canada dans 1’émission des titres de créance.

En sa qualité d’agent financier du gouvernement, la Banque du
Canada émet la dette au nom du gouvernement du Canada et le
fait conformément aux exigences prévues par la Loi sur la gestion
des finances publiques. Bien que la Banque du Canada et le
ministére des Finances collaborent pour offrir des conseils sur la
gestion de la dette au gouvernement du Canada, les décisions sur
la politique concernant la dette relévent en définitive du ministre
des Finances. Les changements apportés au cadre du pouvoir
d’emprunt du Canada en 2007 étaient axés sur la création d'un
processus plus efficace et plus souple pour ’approbation du plan
d’emprunt annuel du Canada.
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The changes also provided for transparency and accountability
by establishing enhanced disclosure requirements on both the
anticipated borrowing and actual borrowings undertaken in a
fiscal year.

[Translation]

During the dramatic events of the global financial crisis,
particularly in the autumn of 2008, the borrowing authority
framework currently outlined in the Financial Administration Act
served Canadians well. In particular, it helped Canadian
authorities respond effectively — and quickly — to severe
shocks to the Canadian financial system.

As many of you will recall, the world was faced with an
exceptional situation when Lehman Brothers declared bankruptcy
on September 15, 2008. What was striking about this bankruptcy
was the unprecedented spike in the cost of interbank borrowing,
which then spread to other markets. Financial institutions around
the world became unwilling to lend to each other. Key
intermediaries began to hoard liquid assets, and some even
halted their market-making activities. At several points, interbank
lending and other short-term funding markets, including those for
banks, seized up almost completely. Clearly, we were facing a
shock to the global financial system of systemic importance.

In response, central banks and governments around the world
took unprecedented action to stabilize the financial system.

[English]

In Canada, our actions during the crisis were supported by the
current borrowing authority framework. Specifically, the
framework allowed Canadian authorities to respond quickly,
with an approval of an increase of $90 billion to the intra-year
borrowing limit, as Mr. Calof pointed out.

This increase aided the Bank of Canada by facilitating the
rapid deployment of a number of measures, which provided over
$40 billion worth of short-term liquidity to the Canadian financial
system.

These measures and this additional liquidity were essential to
ensuring the ongoing functioning of the Canadian financial
system.

In summary, as a result of the framework, when the global
headwinds of the crisis were threatening financial stability,
authorities were able to provide a fast infusion of needed
liquidity into financial markets, which, in turn, helped to
maintain the availability of longer-term credit in Canada.

The current framework has been tested and has proven its
ability to allow for quick and flexible responses in times of crisis.

Les changements visaient également un accroissement de la
transparence et de la reddition de comptes par I'imposition
d’exigences plus rigoureuses de divulgation sur les emprunts
projetés et réels au cours d’un exercice.

[Frangais]

Pendant la crise financiére mondiale, surtout a 'automne 2008,
le cadre régissant le pouvoir d’emprunt décrit dans la Loi sur la
gestion des finances publiques a bien servi les Canadiens. Il a
notamment aidé les autorités canadiennes a réagir efficacement —
et rapidement — aux questions majeures touchant le systéme
financier canadien.

Comme vous le savez tous, le monde a été confronté a une
situation exceptionnelle lorsque Lehman Brothers a déclaré
faillite le 15 septembre 2008. L’aspect le plus frappant de cette
faillite a été la hausse encore jamais vue des cotits du financement
interbancaire, qui s’est propagé ensuite dans d’autres marchés.
Les institutions financiéres a 1’échelle du globe sont devenues
réticentes a se consentir des préts entre elles. Des intermédiaires
clés ont commencé a accumuler des réserves d’actifs liquides, et
certains ont méme interrompu leurs activités de tenue de marché.
A différents moments, les marchés du crédit interbancaire et des
autres préts a court terme, y compris pour les banques, ont été
presque complétement paralysés. Il était clair que le systéme
financier mondial subissait un choc d’importance systémique.

Pour faire face a la situation, les banques centrales et les
gouvernements du monde entier ont pris des mesures sans
précédent en vue de stabiliser le systéme financier.

[Traduction]

Au Canada, les mesures adoptées au cours de la crise
s’appuyaient sur le cadre actuel régissant le pouvoir d’emprunt.
Plus précisément, le cadre a permis aux autorités canadiennes
d’intervenir rapidement en autorisant une hausse de 90 milliards
de dollars de la limite d’emprunt en cours d’exercice, comme I’a
dit M. Calof.

Cette hausse a aidé la Banque du Canada en facilitant
I’application rapide d’un train de mesures qui a injecté dans le
systéme financier canadien des liquidités a court terme d’une
valeur de plus 40 milliards de dollars.

Ces mesures et les liquidités supplémentaires étaient
incontournables pour permettre au systéme financier canadien
de continuer a fonctionner.

En résumé, lorsque la tourmente de la crise mondiale a menacé
la stabilité financiere du pays, le cadre a donné aux autorités le
moyen d’injecter rapidement les liquidités voulues dans les
marchés financiers, ce qui a contribué a maintenir I'accés au
crédit a long terme au Canada.

Mis a I’épreuve, le cadre actuel a montré qu’il permet de réagir
rapidement et avec souplesse aux situations de crise.
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Although we hope not to face another crisis of similar
magnitude, and efforts to make the global financial system
more resilient are advancing well, we must remain prepared to
respond effectively if and when called upon.

Thank you very much. I would join Mr. Calof in taking any
questions.

The Chair: Mr. Johnson, thank you very much. Before I go to
my list, I just want to clarify a point, Mr. Calof, that I believe you
touched on. This is the Debt Management Strategy that was
attached to the budget that was made available to all
parliamentarians when the budget came out. I'm looking at
page 296, and I can read it to you. It talks about borrowing
authority, planned borrowing activities and borrowing authority
for 2014-15, the aggregate — all of it — borrowing limit requested
from the Governor-in-Council to meet Economic Action Plan
2014 — presumably that’s old activity — financial requirements
and to provide a margin for prudence of $270 billion. Then I
flip over the page and the sources of borrowing, the aggregate
principal amount of money required to be borrowed, is
$232 billion. So the difference between $232 billion and
$270 billion, can that be accounted for as a margin of prudence?

Mr. Calof: That is correct.

The Chair: Thank you very much. I wanted to clarify that
before we went into question and answer. I’'m going to begin with
the former deputy chair of the committee, Senator Gerstein, from
Toronto.

Senator Gerstein: Thank you, witnesses, for appearing before
us today.

The sponsor for the bill, for whom I have the greatest respect,
notwithstanding that I do not agree with his premise at this
point — but I must say; I've been married to my wife for over
50 years and I don’t always agree with her, so I wouldn’t want
him to feel bad. Having said that, his premise is that, one, the
government has an open line of credit; the cabinet has an
unlimited credit card; the change in 2007 is based on the premise
of a change that resulted in “weakened financial control,
accountability and oversight.”

As T listened to your presentations from both the Bank of
Canada and the Department of Finance, would I be hearing you
correctly in that both of you do not agree with the fundamental
premise of this bill?

Mr. Calof: I, as well, have the greatest of respect for Senator
Moore and his persistence in trying to put forward this bill. I've
looked a fair amount at borrowing authorities around the world
and different types of accountability. I believe last time, when |
wasn’t here, there was a speaker, an academic, Professor
Turnbull, who spoke about accountability versus efficiency or

Méme si nous espérons ne pas revivre de crise de cette ampleur
et que les efforts visant a accroitre la résilience du systéme
financier mondial aillent bon train, nous devons rester préts a
réagir efficacement lorsque la situation I’exige.

Merci beaucoup. A I'instar de M. Calof, je suis prét a répondre
a vos questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Johnson. Avant de
suivre la liste, je tiens a préciser quelque chose. Je crois que
M. Calof I’a mentionné. Cela concerne la Stratégie de gestion de
la dette qui est annexée au budget mise a la disposition de tous les
parlementaires au moment du dépo6t du budget. Je vous en cite un
extrait de la page 340. Il y est question du pouvoir d’emprunt, des
opérations d’emprunt prévues et du pouvoir d’emprunt. « Pour
2014-2015, le plafond global d’emprunt [...] » — dong, le total —
«[...] demandé au gouverneur en conseil afin de combler les
besoins financiers du Plan d’action économique de 2014 [...] » —
ce sont probablement de vieilles opérations — « [...] et de fournir
une marge de prudence est de 270 milliards de dollars. » Je lis
ensuite a la page suivante, a la rubrique « Sources des emprunts »,
que le total projeté du principal que le gouvernement devra
emprunter s’établira a 232 milliards de dollars. L’écart entre
232 et 270 milliards de dollars correspond-il a une marge de
prudence?

M. Calof : C’est exact.

Le président : Merci beaucoup. Je tenais a tirer les choses au
clair avant de passer a la période des questions. Je commence par
I’ancien vice-président du comité, le sénateur Gerstein, de
Toronto.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Je remercie les témoins de leur présence
aujourd’hui.

Jai le plus grand respect pour le parrain du projet de loi, mais
je ne suis pas d’accord avec lui sur le principe actuel du projet de
loi. Cela dit, je ne suis pas toujours d’accord avec mon épouse,
méme apres plus de 50 ans de mariage, alors qu’il ne se sente pas
mal a laise. Bref, le projet de loi repose sur le principe selon lequel
le gouvernement a une marge de crédit ouverte et le Cabinet a une
carte de crédit sans limite. Les modifications apportées en 2007
reposaient, elles, sur le principe d’un changement qui a entrainé
un affaiblissement des contrdles financiers, de la reddition de
comptes et de la surveillance.

Jai écouté les présentations des représentants de la Banque du
Canada et du ministére des Finances, mais je veux m’assurer
d’avoir bien compris : vous étes bien tous les deux en désaccord
avec le principe fondamental qui sous-tend le projet de loi?

M. Calof : J’ai moi aussi le plus grand respect pour le sénateur
Moore et la persévérance dont il a fait preuve en vue de présenter
le projet de loi. J’ai étudié le pouvoir d’emprunter en vigueur dans
bon nombre de pays et divers types d’obligations redditionnelles.
Je crois que, la derniére fois, lorsque je n’étais pas présent, une
témoin, une chercheuse, la professeure Turnbull, a mis en
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transparency; there was a balance. She would probably be more
the expert than I about the overall accountability and
responsibility.

From my perspective, I see Parliament having overall say for
the spending of the government, and Parliament having overall
say for the taxation of the government, and what’s the residual is
the borrowing. There is borrowing for financial reasons,
budgetary reasons and non-budgetary reasons, so it’s more or
less a mechanical type of calculation to figure out exactly how
much is necessary to borrow to keep the government running
after all the other decisions on spending and taxation have been
made.

These are laid out in depth in the Debt Management Strategy,
for Parliament, or for anyone. We welcome any specific questions
about the Debt Management Strategy that we laid before you.
We're gratified that some people read it. Marie-Josée Lambert
worked very hard in developing it for Canadians and for
parliamentarians. It’s all laid out.

In terms of the credit card, we borrow from financial markets;
and so financial markets, in essence, give us a limit on that credit
card. If we want to borrow more, and we don’t have great
spending plans, it’s going to cost a lot more for us to borrow from
financial markets. This is going to feed into the debt and deficit
position.

Personally, I would not characterize it as a blank cheque and
unlimited borrowing authority. I characterize it as the
government makes certain decisions and we, as professional
debt managers, the three of us, implement the borrowing
program.

Mr. Johnson: I would certainly agree with Mr. Calof. I'll just
speak on few points. The first is that as fiscal agent and debt
manager, the Bank of Canada works in partnership with the
Department of Finance. We take, as a given starting point for the
debt strategy, the budget, appropriations and spending that have
been duly put forward, debated and passed in the budget. That is
the starting point. There are obviously other items that may or
may not arise — maturing debt, Crown borrowing funding, as
Mr. Calof indicated — that go into the borrowing requirement.
As fiscal agent, we find that the current framework gives us an
appropriate degree of flexibility to fund this spending that has
been approved as part of the budget and passed by Parliament.

The other point I would add is that, as the Bank of Canada, at
any time, but certainly in times of financial crisis, in terms of
supporting the financial system, we operate in partnership with
the Government of Canada. If you go back to 2008 — and,
although we would hope not, but any future crises — it’s
important that we act in this partnership, that we be responsive,
flexible and timely, and certainly in the Bank of Canada’s

contraste la reddition de comptes, d’une part, et I’efficacité ou la
transparence, d’autre part. Il existe un équilibre. La professeure
saisit probablement bien mieux que moi toute la question de la
reddition de comptes et de la responsabilité.

Pour moi, le Parlement a de maniére générale le dernier mot sur
les dépenses et la fiscalité de I'Etat; il reste alors la question des
emprunts. On peut emprunter pour des raisons financiéres,
budgétaires ou non budgétaires. Il s’agit essentiellement de
procéder a un calcul mathématique pour déterminer combien il
faut emprunter au juste pour assurer le fonctionnement de I’Etat
aprés que toutes les autres décisions relatives aux dépenses et a la
fiscalité ont été prises.

Tout cela est trés bien expliqué dans la Stratégie de gestion de
la dette, aussi bien pour les parlementaires que pour quiconque
s’intéresse a la question. Nous sommes toujours préts a répondre
aux questions pointues sur la Stratégie de gestion de la dette
qui vous a été soumise. Nous sommes ravis que des gens lisent
le document. Marie-Josée Lambert a travaillé trés fort pour le
préparer a l'intention des Canadiens et des parlementaires. Tout
est expliqué.

En ce qui concerne la carte de crédit, nous empruntons aupres
des marchés financiers. Ce sont donc essentiellement les marchés
financiers qui fixent la limite de la carte de crédit. Pour emprunter
davantage, méme si les projections des dépenses ne sont pas
excessives, il sera plus colteux d’emprunter aupres des marchés
financiers. Tout cela s’ajoute a la dette et influe sur le déficit.

Personnellement, je ne dirais pas que c’est un chéque en blanc,
un pouvoir d’emprunt illimité. Je dirais plutét que le
gouvernement prend certaines décisions et que nous trois, en
tant que gestionnaires professionnels de la dette, appliquons le
programme d’emprunt.

M. Johnson : Je suis tout a fait d’accord avec M. Calof. Je
m’arréte simplement a quelques points. Primo, en tant qu’agent
financier et gestionnaire de la dette, la Banque du Canada
travaille en partenariat avec le ministére des Finances. Par
rapport a la Stratégie de gestion de la dette, nous prenons
comme point de départ le budget, les crédits alloués et les
dépenses diment annoncées, débattues et adoptées dans le cadre
du processus budgétaire. C’est le point de départ. D’autres
¢léments, comme l’arrivée a échéance d’une dette ou le
financement des emprunts de I’Etat, comme I’a dit M. Calof,
peuvent bien sir s’ajouter aux exigences d’emprunt. En tant
qu’agent financier, la Banque du Canada est d’avis que le cadre
actuel est assez souple pour permettre de financer les dépenses
approuvées dans le cadre du budget adopté par le Parlement.

Secundo, en tout temps, mais surtout en période de crise
financiére, lorsqu’il faut soutenir le systéme financier, la Banque
du Canada travaille en partenariat avec le gouvernement du
Canada. Pensons a 2008 et, méme si nous redoutons une telle
éventualité, a toute autre crise qui pourrait survenir : il importe de
procéder ainsi, en partenariat, de s’adapter, de faire preuve de
souplesse, de réagir rapidement et, évidemment, dans le cas de la
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response, to inject liquidity into the financial system. The ability
to do so, in partnership with Finance and supported by the
incremental borrowing that was added in a very speedy and timely
manner, we found to be extremely efficient and necessary for a
timely response.

[Translation]

Senator Hervieux-Payette: My question is for both witnesses.
Are you aware that the Canadian public and parliamentarians
were completely left out of the major decision to authorize an
additional $75 billion to bail out chartered banks, the automobile
industry and others? Were we given any specific information? Did
you provide us with any information to let us know exactly what
the $75 billion was going to be used for?

[English]

Mr. Calof: I thank you for your question, senator. I'm sorry; I
can’t speak to General Motors and their loans. I wasn’t involved
with that file. But I can try to get you some further information.

I know, from the injections of money for the Insured Mortgage
Purchase Program, it was involved in essentially taking risk that
was already a contingent liability of the government and owned
by banks, and extending money. In essence, it was a collateralized
loan. The government made money on that. The government had
no incremental risk, because we already owned the risk and that
was already authorized. The government made a loan to CMHC
and received that money in return and made the spread off of
that.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I'm asking you: How do you think
we would be informed, and how long did it take for us to know
about this $75 billion? Actually, I'm not asking you if it was good
or not good, or if it would have been done or not done. I'm asking
you: With the new process, how would the Canadian public and
we have been informed about what this $75 billion was going to
be used for?

Mr. Calof: I think immediately a press release was released
when the program was announced.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: It took a long time to get to us, I can
tell you. I am the one who informed a lot of very, I would say,
knowledgeable people in the financial community. They were not
aware of that. They learned about it. After passing a bill called
“accountability” — that’s why I support Senator Moore’s bill —
you have to put on the table the information before and after. We
got it after. It took a long time to sink in for the Canadian public.

Banque du Canada, d’injecter des liquidités dans le systéme
financier. Pour nous, il s’est avéré extrémement efficace et
nécessaire de pouvoir agir de la sorte, en partenariat avec le
ministére des Finances et grice a ’accroissement extrémement
rapide et opportun de 'emprunt, de maniére a réagir rapidement
a la situation

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Ma question s’adresse aux
deux témoins. Etes-vous conscients que le public canadien et les
parlementaires ont été totalement tenus a I’écart de la décision
dramatique d’autoriser 75 milliards de dollars de plus pour
renflouer les banques a charte, le secteur automobile et autres? Y
a-t-il une information précise qui nous a été communiquée?
Avons-nous regu de votre part I'information qui nous donnait
toute 'ampleur de I'usage de ces 75 milliards de dollars?

[Traduction)

M. Calof : Merci de cette question, madame la sénatrice.
Hélas, je ne peux pas commenter la situation en ce qui concerne
General Motors et leurs emprunts. Je ne me suis pas occupé de ce
dossier. Cela dit, je peux tenter d’obtenir de plus amples
renseignements pour vous.

En ce qui a trait aux sommes injectées dans le Programme
d’achat de préts hypothécaires assurés, je sais que celui-ci visait
essentiellement a financer des risques bancaires qui représentaient
déja un élément de passif éventuel pour le gouvernement.
Finalement, il s’agissait d’un prét garanti. Le gouvernement a
ainsi gagné de l’argent. Le gouvernement ne courait aucun risque
plus important, car nous assumions déja les risques. C’était déja
autorisé. Le gouvernement a consenti un prét a la SCHL, se I’est
fait rembourser et a en a empoché les profits.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Ce que je vous demande, c’est,
selon vous, comment serions-nous informés et combien de
temps a-t-il fallu pour que nous soyons mis au courant pour les
75 milliards de dollars? Je ne vous demande pas si c’était une
bonne ou une mauvaise affaire ni si c’était ou non nécessaire. Je
vous demande de quelle maniére, avec les nouveaux processus, les
Canadiens et nous aurions été mis au courant de 'usage prévu de
ces 75 milliards de dollars.

M. Calof : Je crois quun communiqué a été diffusé des
I’annonce du programme.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Il a mis beaucoup de temps a
nous parvenir, croyez-moi. C’est moi qui ai avisé beaucoup
d’acteurs, disons, trés informés du milieu des finances. Ils n’en
avaient jamais entendu parler. IIs se sont informés. Aprés avoir
adopté un projet de loi axé, selon son titre, sur la
« responsabilité » — et c’est pourquoi jappuie le projet de loi
du sénateur Moore —, il faut présenter I'information avant et
apres. Nous ne ’avons eue qu’apres coup. Les Canadiens ont mis
beaucoup de temps a comprendre ce qui s’était passé.
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Are you aware that we have legislation that provides for the
government to get the workers who are on strike back in the
workplace within less than 48 hours? In more than 48 hours, if we
were going back, would any crisis happen? Do you think you need
less than 48 hours to proceed with what you have done with the
new bill? Would it be enough to put that on the table and ask the
parliamentarians to go back and discuss the need for that
supplementary amount of money?

Mr. Calof: First of all, in response to your previous point, the
IMPP was announced on October 10, but the actual transactions
happened sometime later. So Canadians were informed
beforehand when there were plans. We didn’t, at that point, get
the borrowing approval until November 6, which was the first
increase and which happened to be after Parliament was
prorogued. It would’ve been difficult. It’s very tough to go back
and look and see how quickly a Parliament can be recalled and go
through three readings in the House and three readings in the
Senate.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: No, we have some precedent. We
have had strikes in this country that were settled within 48 hours.
Don’t tell me it’s difficult.

Mr. Calof: As I say, I cannot comment on how quick it is. All I
can tell you is that, from my perspective as a debt manager, this
allows us to quickly and easily raise the borrowing limit, which, in
a crisis that happens over a weekend, is often necessary.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: My question was: Would you be
able to spare 48 hours to discuss the matter before
parliamentarians before this is done?

Mr. Johnson: If I may speak for the Bank of Canada and the
exceptional liquidity operations that we provided to the market at
that time, going back to the counterfactual is, obviously,
extremely difficult. We cannot say what could or could not
have been done. At the time, November 2008, Parliament was not
sitting. Time was of the essence. As Mr. Calof said, on a number
of occasions, some of these exceptional liquidity provision
facilities were essentially devised over a weekend and
implemented first thing Monday morning. With Parliament not
sitting, I don’t know whether 48 hours would have been sufficient.
I don’t know whether 48 hours would have been possible, and 1
certainly don’t know whether 48 hours would or would not have
made a material difference.

What I do know is that, under the current framework, we had
the authority to get the money at the Bank of Canada. The
government had the flexibility to get the borrowing it needed to
provide a government deposit on the Bank of Canada’s balance
sheet, which provided us the funding to go and inject up to
$40 billion worth of liquidity into the financial system. In terms of
communicating this to the public, the Bank of Canada’s financial
statements are made public monthly. The government deposit was

Savez-vous que nous avons une loi qui permet au
gouvernement de contraindre les grévistes a retourner au travail
en moins de 48 heures? Si nous revenions en arriére, est-ce quun
délai de plus de 48 heures engendrerait une crise? Croyez-vous que
moins de 48 heures suffiraient pour aller de ’avant avec ce que
vous avez fait, comme le propose le nouveau projet de loi?
Conviendrait-il de mettre tout cela sur la table et de demander aux
parlementaires de débattre de nouveau du besoin de ces sommes
supplémentaires?

M. Calof : Tout d’abord, en réponse a votre dernier point, Le
Programme d’achat de préts hypothécaires assurés a été annoncé
le 10 octobre, mais les transactions elles-mémes ont été effectuées
ultérieurement. Les Canadiens ont donc été mis au courant des
plans avant qu’ils ne soient mis en ceuvre. Ce n’est que le 6
novembre que nous avons obtenu l'autorisation d’emprunt.
C’était la premiére augmentation, et elle a suivi la prorogation
du Parlement. Cela aurait été difficile. On peut difficilement
retourner en arriére pour déterminer en combien de temps on peut
convoquer le Parlement, franchir toutes les étapes a la Chambre
des communes et les trois étapes au Sénat.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Non, il y a des précédents. Il y
a eu au Canada des gréves qui se sont réglées en moins de 48
heures. Ne me dites pas que c’est difficile.

M. Calof : Comme je I’ai dit, je ne peux pas me prononcer sur
la vitesse a laquelle cela peut se faire. Tout ce que je peux dire,
c’est que, selon moi, en tant que gestionnaire de la dette, la mesure
nous permet d’agir rapidement et de hausser facilement la limite
de la dette, ce qui est souvent nécessaire lorsqu’une crise survient
la fin de semaine.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Ma question était la suivante :
avant d’agir, pourriez-vous laisser 48 heures aux parlementaires
pour qu’ils puissent débattre de la question?

M. Johnson : En ce qui concerne la Banque du Canada et les
mesures exceptionnelles d’octroi de liquidités que nous avons
fournies au marché a I’époque, il est évidemment extrémement
difficile de réécrire I’histoire en fonction de scénarios
hypothétiques. Il est impossible de dire ce qui aurait pu ou non
étre fait. A I’époque, en novembre 2008, le Parlement ne siégeait
pas. Le temps pressait. Comme I'a dit M. Calof, a diverses
occasions, certains des mécanismes exceptionnels d’octroi de
liquidités ont été essentiellement mis au point en une fin de
semaine et appliqués dés le lundi matin. Puisque le Parlement ne
siégeait pas, j'ignore si 48 heures auraient suffi. J’ignore s’il aurait
été possible d’agir en 48 heures et, assurément, si 48 heures
auraient ou non concrétement changé les choses.

Ce que je sais, c’est que le cadre actuel nous confére le pouvoir
d’obtenir de I'argent auprés de la Banque du Canada. L’Etat a
joui de la souplesse nécessaire pour emprunter les sommes qu’il lui
fallait pour afficher un dépdt gouvernemental au bilan de la
Banque du Canada, qui a fourni le financement nécessaire pour
injecter dans le systéeme financier des liquidités d’une valeur
maximale de 40 milliards de dollars. Pour ce qui est de
communiquer ces renseignements a la population, la Banque du
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put on there. The offsetting assets, which were secured loans in
the form of a repo transaction, were likewise on the balance sheet
with all of the associated collateral listed. The operations were
disclosed in advance and the results were made public.

Again, it’s very difficult to speculate on the counterfactual and
it clearly would be speculation. What I can say is that the current
framework allowed us to respond efficiently and flexibly enough
that it did have a material benefit to the system.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I have a last question. Do you
remember, Mr. Calof, that, in September, the minister said that
everything was fine, that we had no financial problem in Canada
and that we could not expect anything wrong to happen.
Everything was fine. As you say in English, “fine and dandy.”
A month later, we were supposed to be on the brink of a
catastrophe.

Which version does Finance support, that everything was fine
or the other one? What happened in the United States we could
foresee even a year before. All of that process, if you read some
books written by Americans, took a long time to develop. That
Lehman Brothers would go down the drain took weeks. You had
plenty of time.

We had a report that everything was fine, and then a report
that you needed money badly. I agree that it’s efficient. It’s not a
question of efficiency. What Senator Moore and our colleagues
disagree with is the fact that the Canadian public is not informed
and that parliamentarians are not informed and consenting to use
this money.

The Chair: Would you like to comment on that? That may be
something that you’re not in a position to comment on.

Mr. Calof: You’re correct, it’s not.

Senator L. Smith: Mr. Calof, about your notes that you read
out to us, I will ask two questions.

On page 5, you wrote “Most modern democracies do not have
explicit borrowing limits, including Britain, France, Germany,
Australia and New Zealand.” Could you give us, if possible,
examples of where they were and what they did to change their
situation? Was this a recent phenomenon? Was this done in the
last 10 years? Was it done a long time ago? Why did they do it?
Do you have any knowledge of that, even if it’s one example of
these countries to show that there is a fundamental change in how
financial management works from, say, 1867 to 2014? If you
could help us with that, that would be great.

Canada divulgue publiquement ses états financiers tous les mois.
Le dépot gouvernemental y figurait. Les éléments d’actif
compensatoires, composés de préts garantis sous forme d’une
opération de pension, figuraient aussi au bilan, de méme que
toutes les garanties connexes. Les opérations ont été divulguées
d’avance, et les résultats ont été rendus publics.

Je répete qu’il est trés difficile de réécrire I’histoire en fonction
de scénarios hypothétiques. Ce serait de la pure conjecture. Ce
que je peux dire, c’est que le cadre actuel nous a permis d’agir
efficacement et avec la souplesse voulue pour procurer des
avantages concrets au systeme.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’ai une derniére question.
Vous rappelez-vous, monsieur Calof, qu’en septembre, le ministre
a dit que tout baignait dans I’huile, que le systéme financier
canadien se portait trés bien et qu’il n’y avait aucun probléme a
I’horizon? Tout allait bien dans le meilleur des mondes. « Tout va
trés bien, madame la marquise », comme on dit. Pourtant, un
mois plus tard, nous étions apparemment au bord du gouffre.

Alors a quelle version des faits le ministére des Finances
adhére-t-iI? Celle ou tout allait bien ou l'autre? Ce qui s’est
produit aux Etats-Unis était prévisible, méme un an d’avance. Les
auteurs étatsuniens le disent : toute cette histoire a mis beaucoup
de temps a dégénérer. Il a fallu des semaines avant que Lehman
Brothers soit acculée a la faillite. Il y avait tout le temps voulu.

Un rapport indique que tout va bien, puis un deuxiéme rapport
laisse entendre que vous avez désespérément besoin d’argent. Je
comprends que le processus est efficace. Ce n’est pas une question
d’efficacité. Ce que déplorent le sénateur Moore et nos collégues,
c’est que la population canadienne ne sache rien et que les
parlementaires ne soient pas tenus au courant et ne puissent
autoriser 'utilisation de cet argent.

Le président : Souhaitez-vous dire quelque chose? Vous n’étes
peut-étre pas dans une position pour faire des commentaires
la-dessus.

M. Calof : Vous avez raison; je ne peux pas.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Monsieur Calof, je voudrais vous poser
deux questions au sujet des notes d’allocution que vous nous avez
lues.

A 1a page 6, on peut lire qu’« il n’y a pas de limites d’emprunt
explicites dans la plupart des démocraties modernes, y compris la
Grande-Bretagne, la France, I’Allemagne, 1’Australie et la
Nouvelle-Zélande ». Pourriez-vous nous donner des exemples de
ce qu’il en était auparavant dans ces pays et nous expliquer les
changements qu’ils ont apportés? Est-ce un phénoméne récent?
Les changements datent-ils des 10 derniéres années? Cela fait-il
longtemps? Pourquoi ont-ils pris cette décision? Auriez-vous ne
serait-ce qu'un seul exemple de pays a nous fournir pour expliquer
qu’il y a eu un changement fondamental dans la gestion financieére
de 1867 a 2014, disons? Nous vous saurions gré de nous aider a
comprendre.
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Marie-Josée Lambert, Chief, Domestic Debt Management
Policy, Financial Sector Policy Division, Department of Finance
Canada: I can start with the U.S., with their debt ceiling. I have
close ties with the accountability office in the U.S., which is their
comptroller general, and they often contact us whenever they’re
about to prepare the reports on the debt ceiling because they wish
they had a system like Canada’s in many ways.

If you take a moment and look at the U.S. GAO reports and
cross-reference Canada against the U.S. debt ceiling, you will find
all kinds of references pointing back to us as a best practice.

Denmark has a debt ceiling, but it’s symbolic. It’s so high that
they’ll never run up against it. It’s designed that way because they
don’t want to go through the legislative process to get rid of it. I
think it’s a similar situation in Japan. Those are the only three
with debt ceilings.

Australia had an experiment with a debt ceiling. They
implemented one in 2007, and they set it at $75 billion. In 2009,
it was increased to $200 billion, $250 billion in 2011 and
$300 billion in May 2011. In November 2013, they tried to
increase it to $500 billion. This past December, 2013, it was
repealed.

The developed countries around the world mostly look at fiscal
rules now. They look at debt-to-GDP levels. They look at
decisions tied to their budgets, and then the borrowing that is
done is tied to decisions that are contained in the budget.

Senator L. Smith: My second question was partially answered
by you because I was going to say that, now that we’ve looked at
some of these countries, we could go to the paragraph that states
that it was noted, “...in its February 2011, July 2012 and
December 2013 reports, that Congress should consider better
ways to link the decisions about the debt limit with decisions
about spending and revenue. . . .” As an observer, it is always
fascinating to see one side blocking the other in terms of how they
were going to manage through this crisis. I wondered what other
comments you could have on that that would help us to reflect in
terms of Canada’s situation.

Mr. Calof: 1 don’t really want to speak poorly of my
neighbours to the south or anything.

Senator L. Smith: I’'m not saying we should speak poorly about
them, but what are the learning points from their situation?

Mr. Calof: I see it as difficult that, in cases where they can’t
negotiate an increase in the fiscal limit, they, in turn, have to go
and renegotiate decisions that have already been made in the
budgetary context, that have been duly made through their
Congress.

Marie-Josée Lambert, chef, Politique de la gestion de la dette
intérieure, Direction de la politique du secteur financier, ministére
des Finances Canada : Je peux débuter avec les Etats-Unis et leur
plafond de la dette. Jentretiens des liens étroits avec leur
Accountability Office, dirigé par le contréleur général. Les gens
de ce bureau communiquent souvent avec nous lorsqu’ils
s’apprétent a rédiger leurs rapports sur le plafond de la dette,
car, a maints égards, ils souhaiteraient disposer d’un systéme
semblable a celui du Canada.

Si vous examinez les rapports du Government Accountability
Office des Etats-Unis et lisez tout ce qui renvoie au Canada et au
plafond de la dette aux Etats-Unis, vous constaterez qu’on
mentionne souvent le systéme canadien comme pratique
exemplaire.

Le Danemark a un plafond de la dette, mais il est symbolique.
11 est tellement élevé que le Danemark ne latteindra jamais. Le
plafond a été congu de la sorte pour éviter qu’on ait recours au
processus législatif pour I’éliminer. Je pense qu’il en va de méme
du Japon. Ce sont la les trois seuls pays ayant un plafond de la
dette.

L’Australie a fait I’expérience d’un plafond de la dette. En
2007, elle en a établi un de 75 milliards de dollars. En 2009, il a été
porté a 200 milliards; en 2011, a 250 milliards; puis, en mai 2011, a
300 milliards de dollars. En novembre 2013, on a essayé de le
relever a 500 milliards de dollars. Il a finalement été supprimé en
décembre dernier.

Les pays développés se servent surtout de régles budgétaires de
nos jours. Ils tiennent compte du ratio dette-PIB. Ils prennent des
décisions en fonction de leur budget, et les emprunts sont liés aux
décisions budgétaires.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Vous avez répondu en partie a ma
seconde question. J’allais proposer, maintenant que nous avons
examiné le cas de ces pays, que nous nous reportions au
paragraphe ou il est écrit que « le Government Accountability
Office [...] indiquait dans ses rapports de février 2011, de juillet
2012 et de décembre 2013 que le Congrés devrait envisager des
moyens d’établir de meilleurs liens entre les décisions relatives a la
limite d’emprunt et les décisions relatives aux dépenses et aux
revenus [...] ». Il est toujours fascinant, pour les observateurs, de
voir une instance bloquer ’autre dans sa tentative pour surmonter
la crise. Que pouvez-vous nous dire de plus qui nous aiderait a
évaluer la situation canadienne?

M. Calof : Je ne voudrais pas dire du mal de mes voisins du
Sud.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Sans dire du mal d’eux, quelles legons
pouvons-nous tirer de leur situation?

M. Calof : Je trouve que c’est une situation difficile en ce sens
que, dans les cas ou ils n’arrivent pas a négocier une hausse de la
limite financiére, ils doivent renégocier des décisions budgétaires
qui ont déja été prises et entérinées en bonne et due forme par leur
Congrés.
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From our point of view, it was rather difficult when they were
going through that. We had to develop all sorts of contingency
plans because, yes, it did affect their borrowing costs. It did affect
the credit rating in the United States. We do own U.S.-dollar
assets, but it also had a broader spillover effect in confidence in
financial markets. So we were developing contingency plans in
case they defaulted or in case they didn’t default. I can tell you
that as a debt manager, I wouldn’t want to go through some of
the machinations that were gone through in the U.S. to keep the
government running and taking money from one account versus
another account and the sleight of hand. I would much rather lay
things out in advance through the Debt Management Strategy,
report on it afterwards, and be clear and transparent in terms of
how we borrow our funds.

Senator L. Smith: Just from the panel, one of the things people
could say is that things have settled. But I guess a question to you
folks is: With the way the world is operating — politically,
economically and environmentally — do you think the world is
settled? How do we manage going forward in terms of volatility?

Mr. Johnson: In terms of the Bank of Canada and any of the
actions that we could or may take for financial stability
supporting efficiency of financial markets, I would agree,
senator; happily, the world seems to have settled a little bit
right now, certainly with reference to the 2008-09 period.
Nonetheless, I think we need to take a few key lessons out of that.

The first is that there is a number of what we would refer to as
core financial markets that quite simply need to function
constantly, period. These would include markets like the repo
market, short-term secured funding for banks, the foreign
exchange market and the government securities market. These
are in some senses plumbing of the financial system. They are core
and they need to constantly function.

Needing to constantly function, to me, means that there needs
to be a backstop there, an entity that can provide support in a sort
of last resort. The Bank of Canada needs to have the tools and
abilities at our disposal to be able to play that role, if necessary.

As I said, we play that role in partnership with the government
and with the Department of Finance. Often, this support has an
impact on the Bank of Canada’s balance sheet, and managing our
balance sheet is facilitated by government borrowing and deposits
with the Bank of Canada and facilitated by the partnership we
have with the Bank of Canada.

To take a lesson from the crisis, we have learned that several
markets need to be our core and need to be constantly available;
that there need to be some tools to ensure that they are; and that
the current financing framework helps make that possible.

Senator Callbeck: I thank the three of you for coming this
morning.

Cette conjoncture aux Etats-Unis a entrainé son lot de
difficultés pour nous. Nous avons dia rédiger toutes sortes de
plans d’urgence étant donné les répercussions sur leurs cotts
d’emprunt. La cote de crédit des Etats-Unis s’en est ressentie.
Nous détenons effectivement des actifs en dollars américains,
mais la situation aux Etats-Unis avait des répercussions plus
vastes sur la confiance dans les marchés financiers. Nous avons
donc préparé des plans d’urgence tenant compte du risque de
défaut de paiement. Comme responsable de la gestion de la dette,
je ne voudrais pas vivre certaines des machinations auxquelles on
a eu recours aux Etats-Unis pour que le gouvernement continue
de fonctionner, tous ces tours de passe-passe consistant a prendre
de l'argent dans un compte pour le mettre dans un autre. Je
préfére de loin faire des prévisions au moyen de la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette, faire rapport par la suite et faire preuve de
transparence relativement a la maniére dont nous empruntons des
fonds.

Le sénateur L. Smith : A entendre le groupe de témoins, les
gens pourraient se dire que les problémes sont résolus. Voici la
question que je vous pose : croyez-vous, a la lumiére de ce qui se
passe sur les plans politique, économique et environnemental, que
le monde soit tiré d’affaire? Comment gérer la volatilité a ’avenir?

M. Johnson : Du point de vue de la Banque du Canada et des
mesures que nous pouvons prendre pour assurer la stabilité
financiére nécessaire a I’efficacité des marchés, je suis d’accord,
sénateur, pour dire que, heureusement, les choses semblent s’étre
un peu calmées a 1’échelle mondiale, par rapport a la période
2008-2009 du moins. Je crois néanmoins qu’il nous faut tirer
quelques legons fondamentales de ces bouleversements.

Tout d’abord, il existe un certain nombre de marchés financiers
clés qui doivent fonctionner sans arrét, tels que le marché des
pensions, le marché du financement garanti a court terme pour les
banques, le marché des changes et celui des titres d’Etat. Ils
forment en quelque sorte la plomberie du systéme financier. Ce
sont des marchés clés qui doivent fonctionner constamment.

A mon sens, cette nécessit¢é de fonctionnement continu
commande un filet de sécurité, une entité qui puisse offrir un
soutien de dernier recours. La Banque du Canada doit disposer
des outils et des capacités voulus pour jouer ce role, si besoin est.

Comme je I’ai précisé, ce role, la Banque du Canada I’assume
en partenariat avec le gouvernement et le ministére des Finances.
Ce role de soutien a souvent un effet sur le bilan financier de la
banque; la gestion de notre bilan se trouve facilitée par les
emprunts et dépots du gouvernement et notre partenariat.

La crise nous a fait prendre conscience du fait que plusieurs
marchés occupent une place centrale dans notre systéme et
doivent étre constamment la, que nous devons étre munis de
certains outils pour garantir leur fonctionnement continu et que le
cadre financier actuel y contribue.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je vous remercie tous les trois de votre
présence ici ce matin.
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Mr. Calof, from your presentation, there are a couple things I
want to ask about. First of all, at the bottom of page 4, you talk
about the amendments that establish enhanced disclosure
requirements on the management strategy. Then you also say
that was the case with the Debt Management Report and that
there is more information in the public accounts. Could you
comment on that? What extra information is there now than
before 2007?

Ms. Lambert: I can answer that question. I don’t know if you
have a copy of the Debt Management Strategy. In that document,
there is a new table that didn’t exist before the amendments,
which is a sources and uses table. That table outlines all the
sources of the borrowing that will be undertaken — so whether
the funds will be raised through the issuance of treasury bills or
bonds, retail debt instruments, global bonds — and then what the
source of that funding will be applied towards, whether it’s the
financial requirements, non-budgetary items, and so on, plus a
margin for prudence.

In the Debt Management Report, which is tabled after the
public accounts, that same table appears again, but it compares
where we plan to be against where we actually ended up; and then
it provides an explanation if there is a material variance. So it’s
very transparent. That information did not exist before.

The Chair: That table that you were talking about, could you
tell us what page that appears on?

Ms. Lambert: Yes. It’s table Al.1.
The Chair: But at page 294 of the budget. Thank you.

Senator Callbeck: What is the Debt Management Strategy,
then? Would that information not have been available under the
old system when the legislation was presented to Parliament,
where they could discuss it and the amount of money that was
being borrowed?

Ms. Lambert: Under the old system, because we had been in a
position of declining debt, financial surpluses year after year, we
hadn’t presented a borrowing authority bill since 1996-97. For a
number of years, we didn’t need to issue new debt, so in fact there
was no act.

The Debt Management Strategy, I guess there was less desire to
know. It was such a small program back then. There was not a lot
of interest, and there just wasn’t that kind of information in those
reports at that time.

Senator Callbeck: The other area I wanted to ask about —
Mr. Calof, you mentioned it; and Mr. Johnson, you did, too — is
this new system where you have greater transparency and
accountability.

Monsieur Calof, je veux vous poser deux questions a propos de
votre présentation. Premiérement, a la page 5, vous parlez des
modifications ayant établi des exigences renforcées en matiére de
divulgation par le biais de la stratégie de gestion. Vous ajoutez
que c’est également le cas du Rapport sur la gestion de la dette et
qu’on publie des renseignements plus détaillés dans les Comptes
publics. Pouvez-vous nous dire quelques mots la-dessus? Quels
renseignements supplémentaires sont fournis depuis 2007?

Mme Lambert : Je peux répondre a cette question. Avez-vous
un exemplaire de la Stratégie de gestion de la dette? Ce document
contient désormais un tableau qui n’existait pas avant les
modifications, celui sur les sources et les utilisations. Il indique
toutes les sources des emprunts — c’est-a-dire si le financement
reposera sur I’émission de bons du Trésor, d’obligations, de titres
sur le marché de détail ou d’obligations multimarchés. Le tableau
indique aussi a quoi serviront les emprunts, qu’il s’agisse des
besoins financiers, d’opérations non budgétaires et ainsi de suite,
sans oublier une marge de prudence.

Le Rapport sur la gestion de la dette, qui est déposé apres les
Comptes publics, comprend le méme tableau, mais celui-ci
compare les prévisions et les données réelles et explique tout
écart. C’est trés transparent. Ces renseignements-la n’existaient
pas avant.

Le président : Pouvez-vous nous dire a quelle page se trouve ce
tableau?

Mme Lambert : Oui, c’est le tableau Al.1.
Le président : A la page 338 du budget. Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Mais en quoi consiste la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette? Ces renseignements n’auraient-ils pas été
rendus publics dans le cadre de I'ancien systéme, lorsque la
mesure législative était présentée aux parlementaires, qui avaient
I’occasion d’en discuter et d’examiner le montant des emprunts?

Mme Lambert : Sous I’ancien systéme, comme nous étions en
train de réduire la dette et dégagions des excédents budgétaires
année aprés année, nous n’avons pas eu besoin de présenter de
projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt depuis 1996-1997.
Durant de nombreuses années, nous n’avons pas eu besoin
d’émettre de nouveaux titres de créance. Il n’y avait donc pas de
projet de loi.

Quant a la Stratégie de gestion de la dette, j’imagine que la
volonté d’avoir ces renseignements était moins forte. C’était un
programme tellement petit a I’époque. Il ne suscitait pas beaucoup
d’intérét. Ce type d’information ne figurait pas dans les rapports.

La sénatrice Callbeck : L’autre aspect que je souhaitais
aborder — vous I’avez soulevé, monsieur Calof, et vous aussi,
monsieur Johnson —, c’est cette transparence et cette reddition de
comptes accrues dans le cadre du nouveau systéeme.
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To me, it’s the opposite, because now the executive or cabinet
have the total say about the borrowing. That’s been taken away
from Parliament. How can you say it’s more transparent and
accountable? Now we know, after the fact. There’s no discussion
before.

Mr. Calof: We do lay it out through the table and through the
information that Ms. Lambert was mentioning, before the fact, as
part of the budget.

Senator Callbeck: As far as the borrowing is concerned, it’s the
executive that decides that. There isn’t any bill presented to
Parliament now, as there used to be before 2007.

Mr. Calof: Correct, but there’s a full explanation that is laid
out with the budget, that is presented and debated as part of the
debate on the budget beforehand. So we’re adding more
transparency than had been before, and then we’re reporting on
it afterwards with the public accounts and the Debt Management
Report.

Senator Callbeck: But you report it afterwards, under the old
system.

Ms. Lambert: If I may add to what Mr. Calof said. We don’t
request borrowing authority from the Governor-in-Council until
the budget bill has passed. The Debt Management Strategy
annex, that is part of the budget once that is approved in
Parliament, because there is a whole section on the borrowing
authority in the DMS that says for 2014, the aggregate borrowing
limit requested from the Governor-in-Council to meet Economic
Action Plan 2014 and provide a margin for prudence is
$270 billion.

The amount we intend to request is this. If this bill passes, we
will then proceed to obtain the borrowing authority. That’s the
sequence that we have followed since the new amendments have
been in place.

Senator Callbeck: All right. So you don’t ask until the budget
has been approved. Thank you.

The Chair: Is that the upper limit that appears? Once this is
approved by the House of Commons, you can’t spend more than
that?

Ms. Lambert: That is correct. That’s the limit. It includes a
margin for prudence.

The Chair: Yes. We talked about that earlier. But if you use up
all your prudence, you have to come back to Parliament.

Ms. Lambert: We have to go back to the Governor-in-Council.
There is a way for us to obtain an intra-year increase in our
borrowing authority.

The Chair: Without going to Parliament.

A mon avis, le nouveau systéme offre plutét I’inverse.
Désormais, I’exécutif ou le Cabinet est le seul a avoir son mot a
dire sur les emprunts. Le Parlement a été privé de son pouvoir
d’examen. Comment pouvez-vous affirmer que la transparence
et la reddition de comptes sont renforcées? Désormais, nous
obtenons l'information aprés coup. Il n’y a aucune discussion
préalable.

M. Calof : Nous fournissons cette information dans le tableau
que Mme Lambert a mentionné. Cela est rendu public au
préalable, dans le budget.

La sénatrice Callbeck : C’est ’exécutif qui prend les décisions
relatives aux emprunts. On ne présente plus de projet de loi au
Parlement, comme c¢’était le cas avant 2007.

M. Calof : C’est vrai, mais des explications détaillées
accompagnent le budget, lequel fait I'objet d’un débat au
préalable. Le processus est encore plus transparent qu’avant, et
nous faisons rapport des emprunts dans les Comptes publics et le
Rapport sur la gestion de la dette.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Mais il y avait rapport a posteriori,
dans I’ancien systéme.

Mme Lambert : Si vous me le permettez, j’aimerais compléter
la réponse de M. Calof. Nous ne réclamons pas de pouvoir
d’emprunt au gouverneur en conseil tant que le projet de loi
d’exécution du budget n’a pas été adopté. Dans la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette, qui figure en annexe du budget une fois que le
Parlement I’approuve, il y a toute une section sur le pouvoir
d’emprunt. On peut y lire que, pour 2014, le plafond global
d’emprunt demandé au gouverneur en conseil afin de combler les
besoins financiers du Plan d’action économique de 2014 et de
fournir une marge de prudence est de 270 milliards de dollars.

C’est la somme que nous avons l'intention de demander. Si le
projet de loi est adopté, nous ferons les démarches pour obtenir le
pouvoir d’emprunt. Voila les étapes que nous suivons depuis que
les modifications sont en vigueur.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Trés bien. Vous ne faites pas la
demande tant que le budget n’est pas approuvé. Merci.

Le président : Est-ce la limite supérieure qui est indiquée? Une
fois que la Chambre des communes a donné son approbation,
vous ne pouvez dépenser plus que ce montant?

Mme Lambert : En effet, c’est la limite, et elle comprend une
marge de prudence.

Le président : Oui. Nous en avons discuté plus tot. Si jamais
vous utilisez toute votre marge de prudence, vous vous tournez a
nouveau vers le Parlement.

Mme Lambert : Nous nous adressons au gouverneur en
conseil. Notre pouvoir d’emprunt prévoit des relevements du
plafond d’emprunt en cours d’exercice.

Le président : Sans passer par le Parlement.
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Ms. Lambert: But it expires at the end of each fiscal year. We
have to start over the same exercise every year, whereas
previously, before the new amendments, there had been a
decade where we had not presented a borrowing authority act
in Parliament.

[Translation]

Senator Bellemare: Thank you for being here. I have been
listening to you since I arrived. Is it not true that the Debt
Management Strategy is also a tool for the conduct of monetary
policy? We can play with the structure of interest rates, among
other things.

[English)

Mr. Johnson: I would say no. The Debt Management Strategy,
these are very distinct responsibilities within the Bank of Canada.
Monetary policy is implemented through the control of the
overnight rate. We set a target for the overnight rate. We conduct
operations in the market to make sure that the actual rate stays
close to target.

It is true that changes in the overnight rate do feed into other
longer-term interest rates that then feed into the overall economy,
but that is largely independent of the Debt Management Strategy.
That is a very separate function.

There is a link in the provision of financial stability operations,
and this is what I referred to, the liquidity injection operations the
bank performed.

During the crisis, often operations that do support financial
stability will have balance-sheet implications for the Bank of
Canada. That means they will add an asset or liability to our
balance sheet. We need to manage that, to offset that, to make
sure the assets equal the liabilities.

One of the key tools that the Bank of Canada uses is the
amount of government deposits that are held with us. The amount
of government deposits can be influenced by borrowing and then
depositing the money with the bank, but again, this is a tool that
has been used for the financial stability, the liquidity injections,
the implementation of monetary policies independent of the Debt
Management Strategy.

[Translation]

Senator Bellemare: If I understand you correctly, you manage
the monetary policy, which means that this bill will not affect the
conduct of the monetary policy?

[English)
Mr. Johnson: No, it would not really have an impact.

The Chair: Senator Moore, we’re out of time, but I will give
you the final word if you have any point you want to clarify or
will help you or hinder you with respect to your bill.

Mme Lambert : Cela expire a la fin de chaque année financiere.
Il faut refaire le méme exercice chaque année, tandis qu’avant
I’entrée en vigueur des modifications, une décennie s’est écoulée
sans que nous présentions de projet de loi portant pouvoir
d’emprunt au Parlement.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Bellemare : Merci d’étre la. Depuis que je suis
arrivée, je vous ai écoutés. N’est-il pas vrai que la Stratégie de
gestion de la dette est un outil aussi pour ’exercice de la politique
monétaire? On peut jouer, entre autres, sur la structure des taux
d’intérét.

[Traduction]

M. Johnson : Je dirais que non. A la Banque du Canada, la
Stratégie de gestion de la dette et la politique monétaire sont des
responsabilités tres distinctes. La politique monétaire repose sur le
taux du financement a un jour. Nous fixons un taux cible et nous
effectuons des opérations sur le marché pour faire en sorte que le
taux réel reste prés de la cible.

Il est vrai que les variations du taux du financement a un jour
influent sur les autres taux d’intérét a long terme, lesquels ont un
effet sur I’économie en général, mais c’est pratiquement
indépendant de la Stratégie de gestion de la dette. C’est une
fonction trés distincte.

I1 existe un lien avec les opérations visant a assurer la stabilité
financiére. J’ai fait allusion aux opérations d’injection de
liquidités que la banque a effectuées.

En situation de crise, souvent, les opérations qui visent a
procurer une stabilité financiére auront des répercussions sur le
bilan de la Banque du Canada. Elles ajoutent un élément d’actif
ou un élément de passif a notre bilan, qu’il nous faut gérer et
compenser afin que I’actif soit égal au passif.

L’un des principaux outils dont se sert la banque, c’est le
montant des dépdts effectués par le gouvernement, montant qui
peut varier en fonction des emprunts. Toutefois, il s’agit dun
outil utilis¢é pour assurer la stabilité financiére, 'injection de
liquidités. Ce sont des politiques monétaires indépendantes de la
Stratégie de gestion de la dette.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : Si je comprends bien ce que vous me
dites, vous gérez la politique monétaire, c’est donc dire que ce
projet de loi n’aura pas d’impact sur la conduite de la politique
monétaire.

[Traduction]
M. Johnson : Non, il n’aurait pas vraiment d’impact.

Le président : Sénateur Moore, il ne reste pas beaucoup de
temps; aussi, je vais vous donner le dernier mot. Y a-t-il un aspect
que vous souhaiteriez clarifier? Y a-t-il un élément qui pourrait
vous aider ou vous géner a I’égard de votre projet de loi?
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Senator Moore: Thank you, chair.

First, why could the deleted provision not have been left in
place side by side with the new process? I've heard “expedience.”
“I've heard “fast.” Are you saying that under the previous
provision, Canada could not have responded in a timely way to
the recession that began in 2008?

Finally, with regard to the U.S. situation, I am an observer,
and I note that for three successive years there was a
recommendation in the report, but Congress has not seen fit to
do that. Let me suggest to you that that is probably because the
Founding Fathers of that democracy insisted and still insist upon
the executive coming to the people to get the authority to borrow
money.

The Chair: Now, the final point is really a point of debate. Are
you able to talk about any of the other points very quickly?

Mr. Calof: Very quickly, I can’t go back and say what could
and couldn’t have happened in 2008-09 if we would have been
under a different regime. I do know that having this regime did
allow us to respond quickly. Whether we would have gone into a
greater recession by delaying, whether there would have been
uncertainty, I don’t have a crystal ball from that time, but I do
know that the system functioned well for us at that point.

As far as the second question, I’'m not going to comment on
U.S. departments.

Senator Moore: My second question was with regard to you
saying that Canada could not have responded. Let’s face it, if
there’s a Standing Order in the house, the house can be recalled in
24 hours. There is no obstruction. I’'m suggesting to you that there
is nothing there to stop Canada from responding in a timely way.

Ms. Lambert: I have a small fact on the U.S. debt ceiling. It has
only existed since 1917. It wasn’t part of the conception of the
Founding Fathers.

The Chair: 1917. Thank you for that. You’re got some good
facts there. We need you standing by.

Thank you very much, Finance and Bank of Canada. We very
much appreciate you coming and explaining this to us.

We deal with estimates quite extensively, and we are aware that
$42 billion is coming back to the government from CMHC as a
result of some of the insured mortgages coming to maturity. We
should be able to look in the strategy or the report and see that
reflected in some way in here, and we’ll do that. We’ve got both
the report and the strategy to review.

Le sénateur Moore : Merci, monsieur le président.

Tout d’abord, pourquoi ne pas avoir laissé en place la
disposition qui a été éliminée, de sorte qu’elle s’applique de pair
avec le nouveau processus? On m’a dit que ce processus
permettait d’aller plus vite, d’accélérer les choses. Insinuez-vous
que, en se conformant a I’ancienne disposition, le Canada n’aurait
pas été en mesure de réagir assez vite a la récession qui a débuté
en 2008?

Enfin, j’ai observé la situation aux Etats-Unis et j’ai remarqué
que, trois années de suite, il y avait une recommandation dans le
rapport, mais le Congrés n’a pas jugé bon d’y donner suite. Je
soutiens que c’est parce que les péres fondateurs de cette
démocratie préconisaient que I’exécutif demande a la population
I’autorisation d’emprunter de I’argent. Cette volonté demeure 1a-
bas.

Le président : Le dernier point est un véritable sujet de débat.
Pourriez-vous parler trés rapidement de n’importe quel autre
point?

M. Calof : Trés rapidement, je ne pourrais dire ce qui aurait pu
ou n’aurait pu se produire en 2008-2009 si un autre régime avait
été en place. Par contre, je sais que, grace a ce régime, nous avons
pu réagir rapidement. Je n’ai pas de boule de cristal et je ne peux
dire si la récession aurait été pire si nous avions réagi plus tard ou
s’il y aurait eu de l'incertitude, mais je sais que le systéme a bien
fonctionné pour nous a ce moment-la.

Pour ce qui est de la deuxieme question, je ne vais faire aucun
commentaire sur les départements américains.

Le sénateur Moore : Ma deuxiéme question concernait le fait
que vous avez dit que le Canada n’aurait pas pu intervenir.
Soyons réalistes : en vertu du Réglement, le Sénat peut étre
rappelé en 24 heures. Il n’y a aucune obstruction. Ce que je vous
dis, c’est qu’il n’y a rien qui puisse empécher le Canada de réagir
rapidement.

Mme Lambert : J’ai quelque chose a dire au sujet du plafond
de la dette aux Etats-Unis. Celui-ci n’existe que depuis 1917. I
n’avait pas été prévu par les Péres de la Patrie.

Le président : Depuis 1917. Merci de cette précision. Vous
apportez des renseignements intéressants. Nous avons besoin de
vous ici.

Merci beaucoup aux témoins du ministere des Finances et de la
Banque du Canada. Nous vous sommes énormément
reconnaissants de votre présence et des explications que vous
nous avez données a ce sujet.

Nous étudions de trés pres les budgets des dépenses, et nous
sommes trés conscients du fait que le gouvernement récupérera
42 milliards de dollars de la SCHL maintenant qu’une partie des
préts hypothécaires assurés arrivent a échéance. Nous devrions
pouvoir examiner la stratégie ou le rapport et voir en quoi cela y
sera reflété, et c’est ce que nous ferons. Nous devons examiner a la
fois le rapport et la stratégie.
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This is our final portion of today’s session. I'm very pleased to
welcome back two witnesses we had previously who were very
helpful. One is Lori Turnbull, Assistant Professor, Dalhousie
University in Halifax, Nova Scotia; and Peter Devries, Consultant
on Fiscal Affairs.

I would ask each of you to provide us with your brief opening
comments. You've had a chance to hear the earlier testimony
from Finance and the Bank of Canada, which may help you know
what this committee has been informed of thus far.

I will start with Ms. Turnbull, and then I will go to
Mr. Devries.

Ms. Turnbull, you have the floor.

Lori Turnbull, Associate Professor, Dalhousie University, as an
individual: Thank you very much for having me again. I’ll try to
keep my opening comments brief so that we can get to questions
as soon as possible.

The first thing I wanted to say is I see this issue as part of a
larger context of the relationship between the executive branch
and the legislative branch in Parliament, so if we’re talking about
Parliament’s ability to provide scrutiny over borrowing or, really,
to provide scrutiny over anything, this is a very important part of
Parliament’s function. If we’re talking about placing any kind of
restraint on that scrutiny function, I think we have to see it in the
larger context of the balance of power between the executive
branch and the legislative branch. It seems to me to be pretty clear
that although in a responsible government system that balance of
power is supposed to rest with the legislative branch, in our
system it doesn’t. Increasingly, we’re seeing the scale tip so that
the balance of power rests with the executive branch.

There are a number of things that provide obstacles and make
it difficult for Parliament to perform its scrutiny function, and I
think we want to be careful about going down a slippery slope.
I'm not going to name everything or we’ll be here all day, but if
we considered party discipline and a leader’s capacity to control
what’s going on in the caucus, that can make it difficult for
Parliament to perform its scrutiny function. Closure on debate on
bills — all of these things — can make it difficult and can tip the
scale the wrong way or tip the scale too much in the direction of
executive power. We want to be mindful and careful about that.

I wanted to mention this omnibus approach. That seems to be
one of the things that Senator Moore raised in his comments. The
omnibus bill approach is not something that we generally
associate with a theory of parliamentary government; it’s
something that we usually associate with Congress. That is, the
idea of one big bill trying to accomplish a number of things. In
parliamentary systems, we think about a bill having a theme, and
everything, and the bill is under that theme. The omnibus

Nous en sommes maintenant a la derniére partie de la séance
d’aujourd’hui. Je suis ravi d’accueillir de nouveau deux témoins
qui ont déja comparu devant notre comité et dont les témoignages
nous ont été fort utiles. Il s’agit de Lori Turnbull, professeure
agrégée a I'université Dalhousie, & Halifax, en Nouvelle-Ecosse, et
de Peter Devries, consultant en finances.

Je demanderais a chacun de vous de formuler quelques bréves
observations en guise d’introduction. Puisque vous avez pu
entendre les témoignages précédents des témoins du ministére
des Finances et de la Banque du Canada, vous savez peut-étre
mieux de quelle information le comité dispose jusqu’a
maintenant.

Nous allons commencer par Mme Turnbull, aprés quoi nous
entendrons M. Devries.

Madame Turnbull, vous avez la parole.

Lori Turnbull, professeure agrégée, Université Dalhousie, a titre
personnel : Merci beaucoup de m’avoir réinvitée. Je vais tenter
d’étre bréve dans mes remarques liminaires de fagon a ce que nous
puissions passer aux questions le plus tot possible.

Tout d’abord, je tiens a dire que, selon moi, cette question
s’inscrit dans le contexte plus large du lien entre le pouvoir
exécutif et le pouvoir législatif au Parlement. Par conséquent, si
nous parlons du pouvoir du Parlement d’examiner les emprunts
ou, dans les faits, d’examiner n’importe quoi, je crois que c’est un
aspect trés important du réle du Parlement. S’il est question de
restreindre d’une maniére ou d’une autre la fonction d’examen du
Parlement, a mon avis, il faut envisager cela dans le contexte plus
large de I'équilibre a atteindre entre le pouvoir exécutif et le
pouvoir législatif. Il me semble trés clair que, méme si au sein d’un
régime de gouvernement responsable, un tel équilibre est censé
reposer sur le pouvoir législatif, ce n’est pas le cas dans notre
régime. Nous voyons de plus en plus la balance pencher du coté
du pouvoir exécutif.

Plusieurs obstacles nuisent a la capacité du Parlement de
remplir sa fonction d’examen, et, selon moi, nous devons faire
preuve de vigilance pour ne pas nous aventurer sur un terrain
glissant. Je ne vais pas les énumérer tous, car nous en avons pour
la journée, mais compte tenu de la discipline de parti et de la
capacité d’un chef a contréler ce qui se passe au sein de son
caucus, il peut étre difficile pour le Parlement de remplir cette
fonction. La cloture pour mettre fin au débat sur les projets de
loi — et toutes les procédures de ce genre — peut compliquer les
choses et trop faire pencher la balance en faveur du pouvoir
exécutif. Nous devons en étre conscients et faire preuve de
prudence.

Je tiens également a parler de 'approche liée aux projets de
loi omnibus. Le sénateur Moore semble notamment avoir
soulevé cette question dans ses observations. Nous n’associons
généralement pas cette approche a un régime de gouvernement
parlementaire, mais plutot au Congres. Un projet de loi omnibus
est un projet de loi volumineux qui vise a accomplir plusieurs
choses. Or, dans le régime parlementaire, un projet de loi porte

sur un théme et tout ce qu’il vise a faire a trait a ce méme théme.
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approach is not specific to any particular party or government.
Anyone can use it, if they want to do so, to push through. It has
the upshot of efficiency; that is, you get a number of things done
at once, but it’s harder if you use that approach. The
accountability function of Parliament is more difficult to
accomplish than the scrutiny function because you have to
comb through legislation to make sure you’ve got everything. I'm
not sure if it is reasonable to think that that’s the best way to
achieve parliamentary accountability.

I'm going to make those two large, big-scale points about the
relationship between executive and legislative branch, the
omnibus bill and what that does to parliamentary
accountability and to parliamentary functioning and end on this
question — and I hope we come back to this in the question and
answer session — what do we expect parliamentary debate to
accomplish? What do we expect parliamentary accountability to
look like?

If you think about it in the context of a majority government,
in different governments and governments of different partisan
stripes, we’ve seen debate being brought to a close a number of
times; sometimes more quickly than parliamentarians would like.
That seems to arrest the process of discussing the bill and going
through its contents and discussing possible amendments. This is
where the accountability function of Parliament comes in. If we
use the omnibus bills approach, what happens to parliamentary
accountability then and are we meeting our objectives? I'll stop
there.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Professor Turnbull.

Peter Devries, Consultant on Fiscal Affairs, as an individual:
Thank you, Mr. Chair. It is a pleasure to be back here again to
discuss this bill. When I was here last June, I indicated my reasons
for wanting to keep a borrowing authority bill. A borrowing
authority bill provided Parliament with increased financial
oversight and scrutiny as it was considered a money bill. The
vote on the Borrowing Authority Act was a vote of confidence.
The Borrowing Authority Act, the budget, the related budget bills
and the estimates were all considered important instruments for
parliamentary accountability and transparency. With Bill C-29,
the Budget Implementation Act of 2007, one of these key
instruments was gone.

The Borrowing Authority Act required an economic and fiscal
context. This meant that the budget would have to be tabled on or
before the borrowing authority bill. For effective borrowing
management practices, it is preferable to have a borrowing
authority act in place for the upcoming fiscal year before the end

C’est ainsi que nous concevons les projets de loi. L’approche
omnibus n’est pas propre a un parti ni a un gouvernement en
particulier. Quiconque peut y avoir recours, s’il le souhaite, pour
imposer ’adoption de mesures législatives. Cette approche est
efficace en ce qu’elle permet d’accomplir beaucoup en méme
temps, mais elle complique les choses. En effet, il est plus difficile
pour le Parlement de remplir sa fonction de reddition de comptes
que sa fonction d’examen puisqu’il doit scruter a la loupe les
mesures législatives pour s’assurer qu’il n’y a aucun manque. Je ne
suis pas certaine qu’il soit raisonnable de croire que c’est la
meilleure facon pour le Parlement d’assurer la reddition de
comptes.

Je vais soulever deux points d’ordre général concernant le lien
entre le pouvoir exécutif et le pouvoir Iégislatif, les projets de loi
omnibus et les conséquences pour la reddition de comptes du
Parlement et le fonctionnement parlementaire. Je vais terminer en
vous posant la question suivante — et j'espére que nous y
reviendrons a la période de questions et de réponses — soit : selon
nous, qu’est-ce que les débats au Parlement devraient nous
permettre d’accomplir et quelle forme devrait prendre la reddition
de comptes du Parlement?

Que ce soit sous un gouvernement majoritaire, un autre
gouvernement ou un gouvernement d’une autre allégeance, le
débat est interrompu un certain nombre de fois, parfois plus tot
que ne le voudraient les parlementaires. Il semble que le processus
permettant de débattre du projet de loi et d’en examiner le
contenu et les amendements éventuels soit interrompu. Or, c’est a
ce moment-la que le Parlement demande au gouvernement de lui
rendre des comptes. Si nous adoptons I’approche liée aux projets
de loi omnibus, qu’advient-il de la reddition de comptes du
Parlement et atteignons-nous nos objectifs? Je vais m’arréter ici.

Le président : Merci beaucoup, madame Turnbull.

Peter Devries, consultant en finances, a titre personnel : Merci,
monsieur le président. Je suis ravi d’étre de retour pour parler de
ce projet de loi. Lors de ma comparution, en juin dernier, j’ai
indiqué les raisons pour lesquelles j’étais favorable au maintien
d’un projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt. Un projet de loi
portant pouvoir d’emprunt accordait au gouvernement des
pouvoirs accrus en matiére de surveillance et d’examens
financiers puisqu’il était considéré comme un projet de loi de
finances. Le vote sur la Loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt était un
vote de confiance. La Loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt, le budget, les
projets de loi budgétaires connexes et les budgets des dépenses
étaient tous considérés comme des instruments importants pour la
reddition de comptes et la transparence. Or, a la suite de
I’adoption du projet de loi C-29, Loi d’exécution du budget de
2007, un de ces instruments importants a disparu.

La Loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt exigeait un contexte
économique et financier particulier. Cela voulait dire que le
budget devait étre déposé en méme temps que le projet de loi
portant pouvoir d’emprunt ou avant. Pour assurer la gestion
efficace des emprunts, il était préférable de déposer le projet de loi
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of the current fiscal year. This meant that the budget had to be
tabled sometime in February or March in order to provide
flexibility for the borrowing authority act to be passed.

In 1985, this committee delayed the passage of the Borrowing
Authority Act for fiscal year 1985-86, arguing that since the
government had yet to table its budget for that year there was no
economic and fiscal context for the bill. With Bill C-29, there is
no longer a requirement to table the budget before the end of
fiscal year. Budgets are now being tabled later, leaving less time
for Parliament to debate the budget and the budget bills. It also
means there is no direct link between the spending estimates in the
budget and those in the Main Estimates. Of course, the Main
Estimates have to be tabled before March 1.

In Budget 2007, the government argued that the changes were
primarily made for greater transparency and accountability; it did
neither. It also argued that the changes were necessary to meet the
borrowing requirements of certain Crown corporations; this, it
did. However, it also removed an obstacle to the government in
the event of new borrowing requirements and an instrument by
which Parliament could hold the government accountable.

The vagueness of the proposal in Budget 2007 was also a
concern. The wording outlining the changes to the Financial
Administration Act highlighted this. At the time of Budget 2007,
this proposal went largely unnoticed. By the time it was noticed, it
was too late to do anything about it. One now has to wait for the
budget omnibus bill, and Ms. Turnbull touched on that, to
understand what the budget proposals are all about. This
undermines the credibility of the budget.

It is argued that the elimination of the requirement for a
borrowing authority bill provides the government with flexibility
to meet current or urgent financial requirements. They point to
the 2008-09 financial recession and the requirement for billions of
new funding under the government’s 2009 economic action plan.
However, the situation in 2008-09 was no more critical, in my
view, than it was in 1994 or the early 1990s. It was even worse in
the early 1990s, I would argue. Yet, the government at that time
was able to secure parliamentary approval in time to meet its
borrowing requirements. As I mentioned earlier, only once was
the Borrowing Authority Act delayed.

portant pouvoir d’emprunt avant la fin de I’exercice financier en
cours afin qu’il soit en vigueur pour I’exercice financier suivant, ce
qui voulait dire qu’il fallait déposer le budget en février ou en
mars afin de prévoir une certaine marge de manceuvre pour
adopter le projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt.

En 1985, le comité a retardé ’adoption du projet de loi portant
pouvoir d’emprunt pour I’exercice financier de 1985-1986 parce
qu’il n’y avait pas de budget pour servir de contexte économique
et financier au projet de loi vu que le gouvernement n’avait pas
encore déposé son budget pour cette année-la. Depuis ’adoption
du projet de loi C-29, il n’est plus obligatoire de déposer le budget
avant la fin de I’exercice financier. Les budgets sont maintenant
déposés plus tard, ce qui laisse moins de temps au Parlement pour
débattre du budget et des projets de loi d’exécution. Par ailleurs, il
n’y a plus aucun lien direct entre les dépenses prévues dans le
budget et celles prévues dans le Budget principal des dépenses.
Bien entendu, le Budget principal des dépenses doit étre déposé
avant le 1°" mars.

Dans le budget de 2007, le gouvernement a prétendu que les
changements ont principalement été faits a des fins de
transparence et de reddition de comptes, deux objectifs qui
n’ont pas été atteints. Il a également prétendu que les
changements étaient nécessaires pour répondre aux besoins
d’emprunt de certaines sociétés de la Couronne. Cet objectif a
effectivement été atteint. Cependant, ces changements ont en
méme temps éliminé un obstacle pour le gouvernement au cas ou
il y aurait eu de nouveaux besoins d’emprunt et enlevé un
instrument au Parlement lui permettant de demander des comptes
au gouvernement.

Le caractére trés vague de cette proposition dans le budget de
2007 a également soulevé des préoccupations. Le libellé décrivant
les modifications a la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques I’a
mis en évidence. Lors du budget de 2007, cette proposition est
pratiquement passée inapergue. Il était trop tard pour faire quoi
que ce soit lorsqu’on s’en est apergu. Désormais, il faut attendre
le projet de loi omnibus d’exécution du budget — un aspect que
Mme Turnbull a abordé — pour connaitre les détails des
propositions budgétaires. Cette fagon de faire enléve toute
crédibilité au budget.

Le gouvernement prétend que I’élimination de I’exigence de
déposer un projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt lui donne une
certaine flexibilité puisqu’il peut ainsi répondre aux besoins
financiers actuels ou urgents. Il prétexte la récession de 2008-2009
et le besoin de débloquer des milliards de dollars en nouveaux
fonds dans le cadre de son Plan d’action économique de 2009. Or,
a mon avis, la situation n’était pas pire en 2008-2009 qu’elle ne
I’était en 1994 ou au début des années 1990. Elle était méme pire
au début des années 1990, selon moi, et le gouvernement de
I’époque avait pourtant pu obtenir a temps ’approbation du
Parlement pour répondre aux besoins d’emprunt. Comme je 1’ai
dit plus t6t, Padoption de la Loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt n’a été
retardée qu’une seule fois.
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It is also argued that the Financial Administration Act
requirement to publish the Debt Management Strategy and the
Debt Management Report provides parliamentarians and
Canadians with all the information they need to assess the
government’s borrowing requirements. However, these reports
are not new. They have been published since the late 1990s. I
believe that they are background material for the borrowing
authority bill, not a substitute for the bill.

The government’s market debt reached an all-time high of
$667 billion in 2012-13. For 2014-15, it was provided with an
aggregate borrowing limit request from the Governor-in-Council
of $270 billion. Yet, there is no longer any scrutiny by Parliament
of these amounts. With the elimination of the Borrowing
Authority Act, the government again has removed an important
mechanism of parliamentary control and oversight.

In my experience, the Borrowing Authority Act was the most
important accountability document in the overall budget
approval process. That is now lost and I believe significantly
undermines Parliament’s ability to hold the government to
account. [ will take any questions now.

The Chair: Thank you very much. That was very succinct and
we understand your point of view.

Senator Eaton: Thank you both very much. Historically,
professor, the Financial Administration Act was probably
brought in at a time before the Internet. Now, however, with
the Internet and with financial transactions working at the speed
of light and market fluctuations happening so quickly, do you not
think streamlining the Financial Administration Act was a good
thing? That is, as we do have the Internet now and the markets do
fluctuate, over the course of a day, three, four, six times?

Ms. Turnbull: I understand that there is an imperative to be
able to act quickly and the parliamentary schedule is probably not
conducive to the market acting the way it does. But, at the same
time, there has to be a balance. We want to be able to act
responsibly economically; we do not want decision-makers to be
paralyzed by process, but the process is there for a reason. It’s
about the balance. I think we talked about this the last time. It’s
about democracy and practicality and being able to maintain a
healthy balance between those two things. If the scrutiny function
is eroded too much, then you don’t have the balance.

Senator Eaton: I think I'll drop my comments there because |
don’t want to get into a discussion of democracy and what’s good
for democracy.

The Chair: I'm glad you didn’t do that — not that it would not
be interesting.

Le gouvernement fait également valoir que I’exigence prévue
dans la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques de publier la
Stratégie de gestion de la dette et le Rapport sur la gestion de la
dette garantit aux parlementaires et aux Canadiens qu’ils
disposent de toute I'information dont ils ont besoin pour
évaluer les besoins d’emprunt du gouvernement. Or, ces
documents ne sont pas nouveaux. Ils sont publiés depuis la fin
des années 1990. A mon avis, ils doivent servir de base au projet
de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt, et non de substitut a ce dernier.

La dette contractée par le gouvernement sur les marchés a
atteint 667 milliards de dollars en 2012-2013, ce qui est un record.
Pour 2014-2015, le plafond global d’emprunt demandé au
gouverneur en conseil est de 270 milliards de dollars. Pourtant,
le Parlement ne proceéde plus a aucun examen de ces sommes. En
abrogeant la Loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt, le gouvernement a
encore une fois éliminé un mécanisme important de controle et de
surveillance par le Parlement.

D’aprés mon expérience, la Loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt était
le document le plus important du processus global d’approbation
budgétaire pour assurer la reddition de comptes. Elle n’existe
plus maintenant, ce qui, a mon avis, nuit considérablement a
la capacité du Parlement de demander des comptes au
gouvernement. Je répondrai maintenant aux questions.

Le président : Merci beaucoup. Votre présentation était tres
succincte et nous a permis de comprendre votre point de vue.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci beaucoup a tous les deux. Madame,
la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques a probablement été
adoptée avant I’arrivée d’Internet. Aujourd’hui, cependant, avec
Internet, les transactions financieres s’effectuent a la vitesse de
I’éclair, et les marchés fluctuent trés rapidement — trois, quatre,
voire six fois au cours d’une journée —, ne croyez-vous pas qu’il a
été bénéfique de simplifier cette loi?

Mme Turnbull : Je suis consciente que nous avons un
impératif, celui de pouvoir agir rapidement, et que le calendrier
du Parlement n’est probablement pas de nature a nous permettre
d’intervenir sur les marchés. Toutefois, il faut en méme temps
atteindre un équilibre. Nous devons pouvoir agir de fagon
responsable sur le plan économique. Nous ne voulons pas que
les décideurs soient paralysés par le processus, mais le processus
existe pour une raison : atteindre un équilibre. Je crois que nous
en avons parlé la derniére fois. 11 s’agit de respecter la démocratie
et son application concréte et de pouvoir assurer un juste équilibre
entre les deux. Si la fonction d’examen se trouve affaiblie,
I’équilibre n’existe pas.

La sénatrice Eaton: Je crois que je vais conclure mes
observations ici, car je ne veux pas me lancer dans une
discussion sur la démocratie et ce qui est dans I'intérét de celle-ci.

Le président : Je suis ravi que vous ne 1’ayez pas fait — non pas
que ce n’aurait pas été intéressant.
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[Translation)

Senator Bellemare: As Senator Eaton suggested, we could get
into a philosophical and political debate on the role of
parliamentarians or the executive. However, instead, the
question that I am going to ask you is about the issue that
concerns us. It is a technical matter related to debt management.

On one hand, the public documents are quite transparent. On
the other, we know that, for the average person and for a number
of parliamentarians, the concept of debt management is quite
technical and it is becoming increasingly so as a result of
globalization.

We also know that some countries, including sovereign
countries in Europe, in the Eurozone, do not really have their
debt management under control and have had a great deal of
difficulty dealing with the international crisis.

Rather than passing a bill like this one that exacerbates the
amount of debt and could be the subject of debate among
parliamentarians, would it not be more democratic to pass a bill
that focuses on limiting budget deficits? This could take the form
of a balanced budget act, rather than legislation that focuses only
on the amount of debt. There is a link between the two. Debt
increases when there are budget deficits.

What if we had a law that tried to control budget deficits in
view of the global economic situation? Would that not be a
strategic tool that would allow us to stop simply managing debt as
we continue to spend and instead allow us to limit deficits and
debt growth?

I would like to hear your thoughts on this alternative to a bill
that would take us further into debt, an alternative that would
seek to balance the budget and manage deficits.

[English]

Mr. Devries: In order to be able to get the underlying
information with regard to the total amount of borrowings that
the government is going to undertake in the upcoming fiscal year,
you need to have all the information that’s available in order to be
able to assess both the level of that debt, as well as the structure of
that debt.

In order to do that, you have to have a budget. You have to
put it in a broader economic and fiscal context: Why do we have a
deficit? What causes that deficit? Why do we have to then go out
in the marketplace and borrow that incremental amount of
money? At the same time, we are borrowing extensively now for
three of the four financial Crown corporations, involving tens of
billions of dollars for their management. Then we’ve also
introduced the prudential liquidity plan in order to increase the
amount of cash we have available in any one month in order to
handle emergencies.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : Comme le suggére la sénatrice Eaton,
on pourrait entrer dans un débat de philosophie politique sur le
role des parlementaires ou de I’exécutif. Mais la question que je
vais vous poser est plutdt au sujet de ce qui nous préoccupe. C’est
un sujet technique qui est lié a la gestion de la dette.

D’une part, il y a beaucoup d’éléments de transparence dans les
documents publics. D’autre part, on sait que, pour le commun des
mortels et pour plusieurs parlementaires, ce concept de gestion de
la dette est quand méme trés technique et il I'est de plus en plus
dans le contexte de la mondialisation.

On sait aussi que des pays qui n’ont pas vraiment le controle
sur la gestion de leur dette, qui sont des pays souverains en
Europe, dans la zone euro, ont eu beaucoup de difficulté a se tirer
d’affaire face a la crise internationale.

En contrepartie de ce projet de loi, au lieu d’avoir un projet
de loi qui joue sur les montants de dette et qui pourrait faire
I'objet d’un débat parmi les parlementaires, ne serait-il pas plus
démocratique d’adopter une loi qui balise les déficits budgétaires?
Comme une loi sur les équilibres budgétaires, au lieu d’y aller
strictement sur les montants de la dette. Parce qu’il y a un lien
entre les deux, la dette augmente lors des déficits budgétaires.

Si on avait une loi qui essayait de baliser les déficits budgétaires
dans le contexte économique global. Est-ce que ce ne serait pas la
un outil stratégique qui nous permettrait de dire qu'on met de
coté la gestion de la dette pour voter des accumulations, mais
qu’on procede plutot avec un projet de loi plus global qui balise
les déficits et la croissance de la dette?

Je voudrais vous entendre sur cette alternative a un projet de
loi qui vise les accroissements et a un projet de loi qui essaie de
veiller aux équilibres financiers puis qui gere les déficits.

[Traduction)

M. Devries : Pour étre en mesure d’obtenir I'information sous-
jacente au montant total des emprunts que le gouvernement
effectuera au cours de I’exercice financier suivant, il faut avoir
toute I'information a sa disposition pour juger tant du montant
que de la structure de la dette.

Pour y parvenir, il faut avoir un budget, lequel s’inscrit dans un
contexte économique et financier. Pourquoi enregistrons-nous un
déficit? Quelles sont les causes de ce déficit? Pourquoi devons-
nous emprunter sur les marchés cet argent supplémentaire?
Parallelement, nous empruntons maintenant des dizaines de
milliards de dollars pour gérer trois des quatre sociétés de la
Couronne et nous avons mis en ceuvre le plan de liquidité
prudentielle afin d’augmenter les liquidités a notre disposition
quel que soit le mois de I’année pour faire face aux urgences.
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In one part, the government really has a lot of flexibility in its
current plan with what it’s doing with respect to this building up
of cash reserves so they can manage at least two months of any
unexpected requirements.

I sort of see the budget and the borrowing authority bill as one
more than as two. The budget plan, however, is voted on by
Parliament after four days of debate. It is a vote not on the
individual measures in the budget or even a vote on the borrowing
in the budget, but on the overall context of the government’s
economic and fiscal plan. So it’s a vote related to very broad
parameters of the budget, not specific parameters of the budget,
whereas the borrowing authority bill then comes in and digs into
that in much more detail to say, “This is why we have to do what
we have to do in the upcoming fiscal year.”

I don’t know if that helps at all.

[Translation]

Senator Bellemare: I am under the impression that the
committee goes into great detail when examining the Main
Estimates and the budget implementation bill. These are two
means of ensuring fairly close oversight of government
expenditures.

I was hoping to hear your thoughts on a balanced budget act.
From what I understand, you believe that the bill will result in
even greater oversight of expenditures.

[English)

Mr. Devries: Not necessarily the oversight of expenditures,
because new expenditures proposed by the government in a
budget normally fall in the budget implementation bill. So when
you study the budget implementation bill here, you’re not looking
at the overall budget but you’re looking at the individual items
that were announced in the budget and contained in the budget
bill.

When you examine the estimates, again, you are looking at the
estimates department by department, but only for a selected
component of spending for each department, the voted part, not
statutory part. So those two instruments are very important, but
they relate more to single line items. The budget itself gives you
the overall broad context in which those items were introduced. It
provides you background as to why there’s a deficit and why
there’s not a deficit, and then the borrowing authority bill
provides details on, if you do have a deficit, how you’re going to
manage and finance that deficit, along with all the other things
you have to do for debt management purposes. You have to roll
over the debt or the debt that becomes mature, plus you’re adding
to it because of borrowing requirements for Crown corporations
or for the deficit per se. That’s why I see the budget borrowing
authority act as still a very important singular document because

Pour répondre a une partie de la question, je dirais que le plan
actuel du gouvernement lui donne vraiment beaucoup de latitude
pour agir en ce qui concerne les réserves liquides qu’il accumule en
vue de répondre aux besoins imprévus pendant au moins deux
mois.

Je vois le budget et le budget portant pouvoir d’emprunt
davantage comme un seul et méme projet de loi plutét que deux.
Le plan budgétaire, toutefois, est voté par le Parlement aprés
quatre jours de débat. Le Parlement ne vote pas sur chaque
mesure qu’il contient ni sur ’emprunt de fonds qui y est prévu,
mais sur le contexte global dans lequel s’inscrit le plan
économique et financier du gouvernement. Il vote donc non pas
sur des parameétres trés précis du budget, mais sur des parameétres
trés larges. Le projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt, quant a
lui, fournit beaucoup plus de détails afin de justifier les mesures
prises au cours de la prochaine année financiére.

Je ne sais pas si cela vous est utile.

[Frangais)

La sénatrice Bellemare : J’ai I'impression que le comité va
beaucoup dans le détail quand on étudie les Budgets principaux
des dépenses et quand on étudie le projet de loi de mise en ccuvre
du budget. On a la deux avenues ou on exerce une surveillance
assez étroite du détail des dépenses du gouvernement.

Jaurais aimé que vous me donniez votre opinion sur la loi sur
I’équilibre budgétaire. Ce que je comprends, c’est que vous
supposez que le projet de loi va nous amener a une surveillance
encore plus étroite des dépenses.

[Traduction]

M. Devries : Cela ne nous aménera pas nécessairement a une
surveillance des dépenses, car les nouvelles dépenses proposées
par le gouvernement dans un budget font normalement partie
d’un projet de loi d’exécution du budget. Ainsi, lorsque le Sénat
étudie le projet de loi d’exécution du budget, il n’étudie pas
I’ensemble du budget, mais plutot certains éléments prévus dans le
budget et contenus dans le projet de loi d’exécution du budget.

Lorsque vous étudiez le budget des dépenses, vous le faites
ministére par ministére, mais vous n’étudiez qu’une certaine partie
des dépenses par ministere, soit les dépenses votées, et non les
dépenses législatives. 11 s’agit donc de deux outils fort importants,
mais qui s’appliquent surtout a des éléments budgétaires uniques.
Le budget lui-méme présente le contexte général dans lequel
s’inscrivent les mesures mises en place. Il explique pourquoi il y a
un déficit, ou pourquoi il n’y en a pas. De son c6té, le projet de loi
sur le pouvoir d’emprunt indique en détail comment — s’il y a un
déficit — vous vous y prendrez pour gérer et financer celui-ci,
ainsi que les autres mesures a prendre en matiére de gestion de la
dette. Lorsque la dette arrive a échéance, vous devez la refinancer,
mais, ce faisant, vous la faites aussi augmenter en raison des
besoins d’emprunt liés aux sociétés d’Etat ou au déficit en tant
que tel. Voila pourquoi je considére que la loi sur le pouvoir
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nowhere else do you debate the implications of that borrowing
strategy.

[Translation]

Senator Bellemare: We will also hear from the Parliamentary
Budget Officer, who is going to present a macroeconomic analysis
of the budget. I think a balanced budget act could open debate on
the broad structure, the broad macroeconomic parameters of the
budget. That is my opinion.

Do you have any comments on that?

[English]

Mr. Devries: I might have misinterpreted your first question
when you were talking about the balanced budget act, which we
have yet to see, so we don’t know what it looks like yet, but the
government did indicate in the Speech from the Throne that it was
going to come forward with a balanced budget act. It would only
take effect once the budget is balanced, and then over a period of
time, it would have to ensure that the budget was balanced on a
year-to-year basis. I guess there’s going to be some caveat, some
out clauses with respect to adverse economic activities, but in the
end, it would basically tie the hands of the government to keep to
a balanced budget from year to year.

There are many countries that have balanced budget acts, or
have limits on the amount of money that they can spend, or the
amount of money that they can raise. The jury is out as to the
success of these countries that have balanced budget legislation.
Studies that have been done in the past indicate that those who
don’t need it have it because they do have very strong fiscal
discipline, and in Canada, since the mid-1990s, I would say we
have had very strong fiscal discipline in order to ensure that the
deficit does not get out of hand.

So in countries that have strong fiscal discipline, you do not
need a balanced budget act because the discipline is there and the
commitment of the government is there. With those countries that
do need balanced budget legislation, experience has shown that
once they run into difficulty, they find some way to circumvent.

Even when you look at the European economic union, where
they have legislative rules on how high the deficit can be in any
one year and how high the debt can be in any one year in ratio to
the GDP, every time countries come up to those ceilings, some
leeway is given to them so that it doesn’t come into effect.
Countries like Germany and France have abused the system quite
a few times since it has come into effect.

d’emprunt continue d’étre un document fort important, car c’est
la seule occasion que vous avez de débattre des conséquences de la
stratégie d’emprunt.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Bellemare : On recevra aussi le directeur
parlementaire du budget qui viendra faire une analyse
macroéconomique du budget, et & mon sens, une loi sur les
équilibres budgétaires pourrait permettre un débat sur la grande
structure, les grands paramétres macroéconomiques budgétaires.
C’est mon opinion.

Avez-vous des réactions a ce sujet?

[Traduction]

M. Devries : J’ai peut-étre mal compris votre premiére
question, lorsque vous parliez du projet de loi sur I’équilibre
budgétaire — que nous attendons toujours, et dont nous ignorons
encore la forme qu’il prendra. Quoi qu’il en soit, le gouvernement
a indiqué dans le discours du Trone son intention de présenter un
projet de loi sur I’équilibre budgétaire. Cette mesure n’entrerait en
vigueur qu’aprés le retour a I’équilibre budgétaire. Le
gouvernement devrait ensuite s’assurer, au fil des ans, que le
budget demeure équilibré chaque année. Je présume qu’il y aura
des exceptions — des dispositions de dérogation — en cas de
difficultés économiques, mais au final, le gouvernement aura
I'obligation de maintenir I’équilibre budgétaire d’une année a
l’autre.

De nombreux pays ont une loi sur 1’équilibre budgétaire, ou
des plafonds quant au montant d’argent qu’ils peuvent dépenser
ou recueillir. Il reste a voir si ce genre de loi porte fruit dans les
pays en question. Les études réalisées par le passé montrent que
les pays qui n’en ont pas besoin en ont une parce qu’ils ont une
gestion financiére trés rigoureuse. A mon avis, depuis le milieu des
années 1990, le Canada a une gestion financiére tres rigoureuse
afin de s’assurer que le déficit ne devient pas incontrélable.

Par conséquent, les pays ayant une gestion financiére trés
rigoureuse n’ont pas besoin d’une loi sur I’équilibre budgétaire,
car le gouvernement fait déja preuve d’engagement et de discipline
a cet égard. Dans le cas des pays qui ont besoin d’une loi sur
I’équilibre budgétaire, ’expérience a montré que si des difficultés
se présentent, ils trouvent des stratégies de contournement.

Méme dans le cadre de 'union économique européenne, qui
comporte des regles législatives sur I'ampleur que peuvent
atteindre chaque année le déficit et le ratio de la dette par
rapport au PIB, chaque fois que des pays atteignent le plafond, ils
bénéficient d’une certaine marge de manceuvre de sorte que les
régles ne s’appliquent pas. Des pays comme I’Allemagne et la
France ont abusé du systéme a maintes reprises depuis son entrée
en vigueur.



9-4-2014

Finances nationales

9:111

I’'m not in favour of balanced budget legislation. I think it’s up
to the government to show discipline in order to set forward a
fiscal strategy that meets the concerns of Canadians.

I'd be very interested to see what this balanced budget
legislation looks like and what caveats are in there. I would
suspect at the end of the day, the government would have
sufficient flexibility that if they did come up against a wall, there
would be some way that they could find their way out of it, or
delay the implementation of rules until the situation is a bit more
conducive to them.

But I'm not in favour of balanced budget legislation. Where
you have seen strong fiscal discipline, it’s because the
governments have actually done it on their own; they didn’t
need an act to force them to do it.

The Chair: Any comment, Professor Turnbull?

Ms. Turnbull: T think I’'m right in saying that some provinces
have had balanced budget legislation, as well. So while there is an
international context, you can look in our own context as well.

It definitely performs a political function. As Peter was saying,
it doesn’t necessarily change the financial situation of a country if
the ones that have it don’t need it, but it can perform the political
function of identifying a government with the responsibility to
maintain a certain amount of borrowing, spending and revenue
building.

It can happen that if a government has a balanced budget bill
and then comes up against it and finds that it’s too much of a
constraint, the government may take measures to circumvent it
and deal with it. But there might be increased political pressure on
the government not to do that if they’ve made a promise in the
form of a balanced budget bill that they’re going to be fiscally
responsible in this way.

I'm not excited about balanced budget bills, either, but I would
think there is still a political function that can be performed there
if people are attentive and hold the government to account on it.

Senator Gerstein: Ms. Turnbull, in your opening comments,
you talked about the executive and legislative areas of the
government. You made the comment that the balance of power
was shifting to the executive. You related it to a scale. Do you
view that in the Westminster system the scale continues to always
tip the same way, or has history shown that it may tip this way
and it may go back the other way over time?

I ask this because — and the chair will remember well — we
dealt with a bill called Bill C-9, an omnibus bill. At the time we
dealt with the omnibus bill, which I believe was in 2010, I referred
back to another omnibus bill. That omnibus bill, which I believe
was entitled “Price of Bread, et cetera,” included bankruptcy
rules, the legal status of Papist wills, Protestant leases and poor

Je ne suis pas un adepte des lois sur 1’équilibre budgétaire. Je
crois qu’il revient au gouvernement de faire preuve de rigueur afin
d’établir une stratégie financiére qui répond aux préoccupations
des Canadiens.

Je serais trés intéressé de voir a quoi ressemblera la mesure
législative sur 1’équilibre budgétaire et quelles exceptions on y
trouvera. Je soupgonne qu’au bout du compte, le gouvernement,
advenant qu’il soit mis au pied du mur, disposerait de
suffisamment de marge de manceuvre pour trouver un moyen de
s’y soustraire ou de retarder ’application des régles jusqu’a ce que
la situation lui soit plus propice.

Il reste que je ne suis pas un adepte des mesures Iégislatives sur
I’équilibre budgétaire. Lorsque la gestion financiére est
rigoureuse, c’est que les gouvernements s’y sont volontairement
astreints. Ils n’ont pas eu besoin d’une loi pour les y obliger.

Le président : Avez-vous quelque chose a ajouter professeure
Turnbull?

Mme Turnbull : Je crois avoir raison en disant qu’il y a aussi
des provinces qui ont des lois sur I’équilibre budgétaire. Il y a
donc un contexte international, mais aussi un contexte national.

Ces mesures ont incontestablement une fonction politique.
Comme le disait Peter, elles ne changent pas forcément Ila
situation financiére des pays lorsque ceux qui ont ce genre de loi
n’en ont pas besoin, mais elles peuvent remplir la fonction
politique de lier un gouvernement a la responsabilité de ne pas
emprunter, dépenser ou recueillir plus quun montant donné.

Un gouvernement ayant présenté un projet de loi sur I’équilibre
budgétaire pourrait par la suite se trouver aux prises avec celui-ci
et considérer que la mesure lui impose trop de contraintes. Le
gouvernement pourrait alors prendre des mesures de
contournement et agir. Mais il pourrait se heurter a une
pression politique accrue l'incitant a ne pas faire cela s’il a fait
la promesse, sous la forme dun projet de loi sur I’équilibre
budgétaire, de se montrer responsable sur le plan financier.

Je ne suis pas non plus une adepte des projets de loi sur
I’équilibre budgétaire, mais il me semble qu’ils peuvent remplir
une fonction politique si les gens sont attentifs et demandent au
gouvernement de rendre des comptes a cet égard.

Le sénateur Gerstein : Madame Turnbull, dans votre
déclaration préliminaire, vous avez parlé des organes exécutif et
législatif du gouvernement. Vous avez indiqué que I’équilibre des
pouvoirs est en train de pencher du c6té de ’exécutif. Vous avez
fait un paralléle avec une balance. A votre avis, dans le systéme de
Westminster, la balance penche-t-elle toujours du méme coté ou
bien I’histoire ne montre-t-elle pas qu’elle peut pencher dun c6té
puis de 'autre au fil du temps?

Je pose cette question parce que — le président s’en souviendra
bien — nous avons étudié un projet de loi intitulé C-9, qui était un
projet de loi omnibus. A I’époque ot nous avons étudié ce projet
de loi, c’était en 2010 il me semble, j’ai parlé d’un autre projet de
loi omnibus, intitulé « Loi sur le prix du pain, et cetera », qui
incluait des mesures sur les faillites, le statut juridique des
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law settlements. The year was 1763, the third year of King
George IIT’s reign. If you carried that to its logical conclusion,
you might have had somebody in opposition when the
government presented that bill saying, “This is the beginning of
the slippery slope. Before we turn around, there will only be one
bill brought before Parliament and it will include everything.” But
that did not happen.

Is this just a question, perhaps from an academic point of view,
that this has a tendency to balance itself out over history?

Ms. Turnbull: T would agree with you. There is no golden age
of parliamentary government, if you ask me. There is no time that
we can look back and say, “That was excellent; we did everything
marvelously then and we’ve simply decayed since then. Certain
things have decayed; certain things have gotten better.

I believe in an ebb and flow. The question is: How do we
maintain the ebb and flow? Sometimes we will see certain events
transpire that governments don’t have any control over that will
lead to a concentration of power. Even developments in media
and communications affect it. Now that we have — I would say
— constant government scrutiny in the form of social media,
there are always people watching and there are always people
keeping track of all the things that one MP said that was not the
same as what a senator said that wasn’t the same as what the
Prime Minister said. And they make a big thing about it.

It seems to me that certain types of scrutiny are becoming more
developed; they’re not necessarily becoming more sophisticated.
But we have agents of Parliament now, as was mentioned
previously, who are charged with assisting Parliament and
holding government to account. You could make the argument
that some forms of scrutiny have become more intense, more
sophisticated and better funded. You can make those arguments.
Then you can also look to see how the executive branch has
responded to those developments to make sure that they have
fortified themselves against this.

Yes, there is an ebb and flow. We need the ebb and the flow, 1
think. If it’s too much in one direction, everything falls apart.

The Chair: I do recall that speech you gave, Senator Gerstein.

I will pose a couple of questions that may help honourable
senators. Those questions flow from what has been given in
testimony here.

Mr. Devries, you indicated that the strategy and the report —
strategy at the front end and the report six or eight months after
the fiscal year — are not something new. Was the strategy

testaments des papistes, les locataires protestants et
I’établissement des démunis. Il a été présenté en 1763, pendant
la troisiéme année du régne de George III. Si I'on pousse la
question jusqu’a sa conclusion logique, lorsque le gouvernement a
présenté ce projet de loi, quelqu’un dans I'opposition a da dire :
« Nous nous engageons sur une pente glissante. Avant que nous
ayons le temps de le réaliser, le gouvernement présentera au
Parlement un projet de loi qui portera sur tout. » Toutefois, cela
ne s’est pas produit.

La question est de savoir, peut-étre d’un point de vue
théorique, si les choses ont tendance a s’équilibrer au cours de
I’histoire?

Mme Turnbull : Je suis d’accord avec vous. Si vous voulez mon
avis, il n’y a pas d’age d’or du gouvernement parlementaire. Il n’y
a aucune époque a laquelle nous pouvons remonter et dire :
« C’était parfait. Nous faisions merveilleusement bien les choses a
cette époque et nous avons tout simplement décliné depuis. »
Certaines choses se sont dégradées et d’autres se sont améliorées.

Je congois les choses comme un flux et un reflux. La question
qui se pose est la suivante : comment fait-on pour I’entretenir?
Parfois, des événements sur lesquels les gouvernements n’ont
aucun contrdle se produisent et ménent & une concentration du
pouvoir. Méme des faits nouveaux dans les médias et les
communications ont une incidence. Maintenant que le
gouvernement fait ’objet d’une surveillance constante — si j'ose
dire — par I’entremise des médias sociaux, il y a toujours des gens
qui regardent et qui suivent les propos d’un député qui
contredisent les propos tenus par un sénateur qui contredisent
les propos du premier ministre. Et ils en font tout un plat.

Il me semble que certains types de surveillance deviennent plus
courants, sans toutefois forcément devenir plus élaborés.
Cependant, il y a maintenant des agents du Parlement, comme
on I’a dit précédemment, qui sont chargés d’aider le Parlement et
de demander des comptes au gouvernement. On pourrait dire que
certaines formes de surveillance sont devenues plus minutieuses,
plus élaborées et mieux financées. On peut dire cela. On peut aussi
examiner de quelle fagon Dexécutif a réagi a ces nouveaux
éléments pour veiller a se renforcer afin d’y faire face.

Il y a effectivement un flux et un reflux et je pense que nous en
avons besoin. Si les choses vont trop loin dans une direction, tout
s’écroule.

Le président : Je me souviens de votre discours, sénateur
Gerstein.

Je vais poser quelques questions qui aideront peut-étre les
sénateurs. Elles découlent des témoignages qui ont été présentés
ici.

Monsieur Devries, vous avez dit que la stratégie et le rapport
— la stratégie au départ et le rapport six ou huit mois aprés la fin
de I’exercice financier — ne sont pas des éléments nouveaux. La
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attached to the budget bill prior to the change in the regime that
we’re discussing here today?

Mr. Devries: No, both of them were separate documents at
that time, but one came out, if not with the budget, then shortly
after the budget, and the other one came out once the fiscal year
was over.

The Chair: We heard from Ms. Lambert from Finance that
there is a change in the strategy. That was page 299, where she
referred us to the “planned sources and use of borrowing,” which
is new, and she said, “That’s new in the strategy, and it’s also new
in the report, and can you compare the two to see how
government had done over the year.”

Does that give you’ve a bit more comfort?

Mr. Devries: That is true; that’s a new table in the reports now
that was not there before. But I remember coming before this
committee as well as the House of Commons Finance Committee
with representatives from our debt management group, and
information of that type was made available to the committee
discussing the borrowing authority bill. So although it’s new, it’s
not information that was never available before.

The Chair: That’s helpful.

Professor Turnbull, you talked about ceilings and we get into a
discussion about debt ceilings. The discussion we had earlier on
talked about this: In the strategy, the amounts that are shown
here — $270 billion that the government is proposing to borrow
— is a ceiling, in effect. It has a built-in 15 per cent contingency,
but if that contingency were used up — and I asked Ms. Lambert
earlier. She said there is a process whereby the executive
Governor-in-Council can authorize more funds to be spent
without having to go to Parliament.

Ms. Turnbull: Right.

The Chair: Are you familiar with that process, and can you tell
us about that? That seems to be quite critical in avoiding the debt
ceiling issue. Otherwise, there would be a debt ceiling, because
they can’t go above what’s in this document without getting some
approval from somewhere.

Ms. Turnbull: At this point, the cabinet is able to borrow
money without going to Parliament.

The Chair: That’s correct. Are there any limits on that? Is there
anything you can help us out with? They tell us $270 billion is
what they need to borrow, and they tell us where it’s going, but if

stratégie était-elle liée au projet de loi d’exécution du budget avant
que les modifications au régime dont nous parlons aujourd’hui
n’aient été apportées?

M. Devries : Non, les deux documents étaient distincts a
I’époque, mais 1'un était publié peu de temps aprés le budget
sinon, en méme temps, et I’autre 1’était apres la fin de ’exercice
financier.

Le président : Mme Lambert, du ministére des Finances, nous
a dit que la stratégie avait changé. Elle nous a parlé de ces
éléments nouveaux, qui figurent a la page 299, que sont les
sources et utilisations prévues des emprunts. Elle a dit qu’il s’agit
de nouveaux éléments dans la stratégie ainsi que dans le rapport et
qu’'on peut les comparer pour évaluer la performance du
gouvernement au cours de I’année.

Est-ce que cela vous rassure un peu?

M. Devries : C’est vrai, il s’agit d’un nouveau tableau qui ne se
trouvait pas dans les rapports auparavant. Cependant, je me
souviens avoir comparu devant ce comité et devant le Comité des
finances de la Chambre des communes en compagnie de
représentants de notre groupe de gestion de la dette, et des
renseignements de ce genre avaient été fournis au comité lorsqu’il
étudiait le projet de loi sur le pouvoir d’emprunt. Donc, bien qu’il
s’agisse d'un nouvel élément, il ne s’agit pas de renseignements qui
n’étaient pas disponibles auparavant.

Le président : C’est bon a savoir.

Professeure Turnbull, vous avez parlé de plafond et nous avons
entamé une discussion sur le plafond de la dette. La discussion
que nous avons eue plus tot portait sur ceci : dans la stratégie, les
montants indiqués ici — la somme de 270 milliards de dollars que
le gouvernement propose d’emprunter — constituent en réalité un
plafond. Une marge de manceuvre de 15 p. 100 est prévue, mais si
elle a été utilisée... c’est la question que j’ai posée plus tot a
Mme Lambert. Elle a répondu qu’il existait un processus
permettant au gouverneur en conseil d’autoriser 1’octroi de
fonds additionnels pouvant étre dépensés sans qu’il soit
nécessaire d’obtenir ’autorisation du Parlement.

Mme Turnbull : C’est exact.

Le président : Etes-vous familiére avec ce processus et que
pouvez-vous nous dire a ce sujet? Cela semble étre un élément
déterminant pour éviter de tenir compte du plafond de la dette.
Autrement, le plafond de la dette serait atteint, parce qu’on ne
peut pas dépasser le montant indiqué dans ce document sans
obtenir une forme quelconque d’autorisation.

Mme Turnbull : A ce stade-ci, le Cabinet est en mesure
d’emprunter de l’argent sans demander l’autorisation du
Parlement.

Le président : C’est exact. Y a-t-il des limites a cela? Disposez-
vous de renseignements qui pourraient nous aider? Le
gouvernement nous dit qu’il a besoin d’emprunter 270 milliards
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something happens during the year and they need more, they can
just borrow more; is that correct?

Ms. Turnbull: As far as I know, that is correct. I don’t know of
any restriction on the amount.

Mr. Devries: That is correct. It concerns me that it goes out as
a Governor-in-Council request with no fanfare and no
background information as to why the government needs it.

In the past, if an interim or another borrowing authority bill
was required during the course of the year, the government would
have had to come forward to Parliament with a new budget or an
economic and fiscal statement in order to provide the context for
why the government needed additional funds during the year.

The Chair: We ran out of time, unfortunately, and I didn’t get a
chance to follow-up with Ms. Lambert who made the statement
that there is a method of going to the cabinet just to get authority
to borrow more. Maybe the committee could follow up on that.
Perhaps the Library of Parliament analysts could do that so we
could understand what the process is. There must be some
parameters and limits on this. I’ll be interested to find that out.

Senator Moore, I give you the final word to clean up matters.

Senator Moore: Thank you, witnesses, for being here.

You can decide who wants to respond to this. Is there any
reason why the provision that my bill is attempting to restore
could not have been left in place side by side with the new process?

Mr. Devries: By “the new process,” you’re talking about the
Debt Management Strategy report?

Senator Moore: Yes.

Mr. Devries: No. There is no reason why it could not, in my
view.

Senator Moore: We heard words with regard to the expediency,
efficiency, quickness and fast response in connection with 2008’s
beginning of the great recession. I don’t think I got an answer
from the officials who were here. Could Canada have responded
in an efficient and timely manner had the previous provision of
this act been in place? Was there any obstruction or time
detriment that prevented Canada from responding to its fiscal
needs at the time of that recession when was recognized?

Mr. Devries: As I mentioned in my opening remarks, I don’t
think the situation in 2008-09 was any more severe than it was in
the 1990s, and especially in 1994. At that time the budget was
severely criticized for not being effective enough in controlling the

de dollars et il nous dit ce qu’il en fera, mais s’il arrive quelque
chose pendant ’année et qu’il a besoin de plus d’argent, il peut
tout simplement emprunter davantage. Est-ce bien cela?

Mme Turnbull : Pour autant que je sache, c’est bien cela.
Jignore s’il y a des restrictions quant au montant.

M. Devries : C’est exact. Cela me préoccupe que cela prenne la
forme d’une demande du gouverneur en conseil, sans faire de
bruit et sans expliquer pourquoi le gouvernement a besoin de cet
argent.

Dans le passé, si un projet de loi de crédits provisoires ou un
autre projet de loi portant pouvoir d’emprunt était nécessaire
pendant I’exercice, le gouvernement devait présenter au Parlement
un nouveau budget ou un énoncé économique et financier pour
expliquer pourquoi le gouvernement avait besoin de fonds
supplémentaires au cours de 1’exercice.

Le président : Malheureusement, le temps est écoulé et je n’ai
pas eu la possibilité de revenir sur la déclaration de Mme Lambert
concernant la méthode consistant a s’adresser au Cabinet pour
obtenir Iautorisation d’emprunter davantage. Le comité pourrait
peut-étre revenir sur cette question. Les analystes de la
Bibliothéque du Parlement pourraient faire des recherches pour
nous permettre de mieux comprendre ce processus. Il y a sirement
des parameétres et des limites. Je serais curieux d’en savoir plus a
ce sujet.

Sénateur Moore, je vous donne le dernier mot pour clore la
discussion.

Sénateur Moore : Je remercie les témoins de leur présence.

Libre a vous de répondre a la question suivante. Y a-t-il une
quelconque raison pour laquelle la disposition que mon projet de
loi tente de rétablir n’aurait pas pu demeurer en vigueur et
coexister avec le nouveau processus?

M. Devries : Par « nouveau processus », vous entendez le
rapport sur la Stratégie de la gestion de la dette?

Le sénateur Moore : Oui.

M. Devries : Non. A mon avis, il n’y a aucune raison.

Le sénateur Moore : Nous entendons parler de commodité,
d’efficacité, de vitesse et de rapidité de réaction en lien avec le
début de la grande récession de 2008. Je ne pense pas avoir obtenu
de réponse de la part des fonctionnaires qui étaient ici. Le Canada
aurait-il pu réagir de fagon efficace et rapide si 1’ancienne
disposition avait été en vigueur? Y avait-il quelque obstacle ou
contrainte liée au temps qui empéchait le Canada de répondre a
ses besoins fiscaux au moment ou I'existence de cette récession a
été reconnue?

M. Devries : Comme je 1’ai mentionné dans mes remarques
préliminaires, je ne pense pas que la situation en 2008-2009 était
plus grave que celle des années 1990, et surtout que celle de 1994.
A cette époque, on a sévérement critiqué le budget pour son
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deficit and debt. The markets were against us at that point in time
as well because of a high level of debt. We had a debt level at that
time which was nearly two-thirds of GDP. Going into the last
recession, it was only a third of the GDP.

At that time in the 1990s, and going back to the 1980s, when
the deficit was rising very rapidly, we did not have any difficulty
in getting the borrowing authority bill passed in time to undertake
effective Debt Management Strategy. There was one incident just
before the referendum whereby things got a little tight, but, apart
from that, I can’t think of another time. I think that period was
more severe from an economic and fiscal point of view and from a
market point of view than what we faced as a nation in 2008-09.

Ms. Turnbull: My inclination when you first posed the question
was to say there was nothing preventing a reasonably timed
action. I would agree with what Peter has said.

The Chair: I think there’s a follow-up.

Senator Mockler: I'd like you to read what Mr. Calof and
previous witnesses said and I'd like to know what you think of it.
He said that:

In 2000, amendments to the FAA have made our
borrowing authority framework consistent with best
practices around the world compared to the previous
framework. The current borrowing authority regime has
provided for more efficient, responsive and prudent
financial management of greater transparency and
accountability with respect to the Government of
Canada’s borrowing activities.

I agree. It depends which economist you talk to, but 2008 was
the biggest meltdown that any economy had seen, regardless what
some economists, specialists or consultants think of the previous
activities that we had with our modern economies. This is what
the authorities have said. Do you have any comments on that?

Ms. Turnbull: I heard the testimony as well that the way things
are now makes us consistent with the way things are done in other
countries and that this isn’t something we should be alarmed
about. To be honest, the part that alarms me the most is the
omnibus approach. That is, the fact that this happened and there
wasn’t a parliamentary debate about it. Sometimes a
government’s going to make a decision to do something and
that’s going to be the way it is and parliamentary debate,
especially in a majority context, is not going to change it, but it’s
still useful, particularly from Canadians’ perspectives, to
understand why things are the way they are; why there was a
change. Change is usually for the better, but it’s still productive to
bring those things before Parliament and air them out to ensure
that people understand that there has been a change to the way

manque d’efficacité a maitriser le déficit et la dette. Le niveau de
la dette s’élevait alors a pres des deux tiers du PIB. Lors du début
de la derniére récession, la dette ne s’élevait qu’a un tiers du PIB.

Pendant les années 1990, en remontant jusqu’aux années 1980,
alors que le déficit augmentait trés rapidement, nous n’avions
aucune difficulté a faire adopter un projet de loi portant pouvoir
d’emprunt a temps pour mettre en ceuvre une stratégie de gestion
de la dette efficace. Juste avant le référendum, il y a eu un incident
qui a rendu la situation un peu plus tendue, mais, a part cela, je ne
vois pas d’autre moment. Je pense que cette période a été plus
grave d’un point de vue économique, fiscal et commercial que la
situation a laquelle le pays a été confronté en 2008-2009.

Mme Turnbull : Lorsque vous avez posé la question, j’aurais eu
tendance a dire que rien ne nous empéchait de réagir dans des
délais raisonnables. Je partage 1’avis de Peter.

Le président : Je pense que quelqu’un veut donner suite a la
question.

Le sénateur Mockler : J’aimerais que vous lisiez ce que
M. Calof et des témoins antérieurs ont dit et j’aimerais savoir
ce que vous en pensez. Voici ce qu’il a dit :

En 2000, les modifications apportées a la LGFP nous ont
permis d’aligner notre cadre des autorisations d’emprunt
sur les pratiques exemplaires dans le monde par rapport
au cadre de référence précédent. Le régime actuel
d’autorisation d’emprunt a permis une gestion financiére
plus efficace, plus réceptive et plus prudente ainsi que plus
de transparence et une reddition des comptes renforcée
relativement aux activités d’emprunt du gouvernement du
Canada.

Je suis d’accord. Les opinions varient en fonction de
I’économiste auquel vous parlez, mais la crise de 2008 a été la
plus importante qu’aient connue tous les pays, indépendamment
de ce que certains économistes, spécialistes ou consultants pensent
des activités antérieures de nos économies modernes. C'est ce
qu’ont dit les autorités. Avez-vous des observations a formuler a
ce sujet?

Mme Turnbull : J’ai entendu moi aussi les témoignages de gens
qui disaient que nous faisons maintenant les choses de fagon
semblable a ce que font d’autres pays, et c’est une chose qui
devrait nous faire peur. En toute honnéteté, ce qui m’inquicte le
plus, c’est ’'approche du projet de loi omnibus. C’est-a-dire que
cette mesure a été adoptée et qu’elle n’a pas été débattue au
Parlement. Parfois, un gouvernement prend la décision de faire
quelque chose et c’est ce qui va se passer. Le débat parlementaire,
surtout dans un contexte majoritaire, n’y changera rien, mais il
demeure utile, surtout dans la perspective des Canadiens, de
comprendre pourquoi les choses sont comme elles sont et
pourquoi il y a eu un changement. Habituellement, les
changements surviennent pour le mieux, mais il demeure utile
de les soumettre au Parlement et de les faire connaitre pour
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money is managed in Canada, and there is a reason for that
change. There could be five reasons for that change. There could
be 10 things wrong with it, but let’s talk about it. That’s my issue.

Senator Mockler: Your concern, professor, is the omnibus
approach.

Mr. Devries: 1 share that same concern with the omnibus
approach. We've seen a massive extension of that principle over
the last few years.

I am of the view that something should be explicit in the budget
before it can go into a budget omnibus bill. When you review the
budget omnibus bill, I encourage you to question the officials
from the Department of Finance, or elsewhere, to show you
where that reference in the budget omnibus bill is in the budget
itself. How can you make the link between the two? If you can’t
make that link between the two, then I would appeal that to the
Speaker of the House to see if that should be in there. That’s a
concern I have.

Granted, for the Department of Finance this new approach is
more efficient. They no longer have to appear before this
committee to justify what they have done. It’s more transparent
in the sense that there is some more information that’s now being
provided in the Debt Management Strategy and the Debt
Management Report, but, as I indicated earlier, that
information was made available to committees examining the
borrowing authority bill in the past.

As far as getting money faster, I don’t think that is an issue
with respect to this. I think timeliness is still the same today as it
was before the changes were made.

I'm really concerned about the lack of scrutiny now by
parliamentarians in the overall budget and in the budget authority
bill. Not having a budget authority bill then removes an element
of scrutiny and transparency for parliamentarians and Canadians.

The Chair: On behalf of the Standing Senate Committee on
National Finance, I would like to thank you, Ms. Turnbull and
Mr. Devries.

Colleagues, with your indulgence, tomorrow we would like to
go ahead with clause-by-clause consideration of Bill C-462, the
Disability Tax Credit.

We have three departments set up on the Main Estimates. We
have DFATD and National Defence. It will be a busy evening
for us.

s’assurer que les gens comprennent qu’un changement a été
apporté a la fagon dont I’argent est géré au Canada et pourquoi.
Cinq raisons pourraient expliquer ce changement. Il pourrait y
avoir 10 choses qui clochent, mais parlons-en. C’est ce qui me
dérange.

Le sénateur Mockler : Ce qui vous dérange, professeure, c’est
I’approche du projet de loi omnibus.

M. Devries : Je partage la méme préoccupation en ce qui
concerne cette approche. Nous avons constaté une augmentation
considérable du recours a ce processus au cours des derniéres
années.

Je considére qu'une mesure doit étre présentée explicitement
dans le budget avant d’étre incorporée dans un projet de loi
omnibus d’exécution du budget. Lorsque vous examinerez ce
projet de loi omnibus, je vous invite a demander aux
fonctionnaires du ministére des Finances, ou d’ailleurs, de vous
montrer ou se trouvent dans le budget lui-méme les mesures
présentées dans le projet de loi omnibus d’exécution du budget.
Comment pouvez-vous faire le lien entre les deux documents? Si
vous n’arrivez pas a faire ce lien, j’en référerais au Président de la
Chambre des communes pour vérifier si les mesures devraient s’y
trouver. C’est une chose qui me préoccupe.

C’est vrai que pour le ministére des Finances, cette nouvelle
approche est plus efficace. Ses fonctionnaires n’ont plus besoin de
comparaitre devant ce comité pour justifier leur travail. Le
processus est plus transparent dans la mesure ou il y a maintenant
davantage d’information dans la Stratégie de gestion de la dette et
dans le Rapport sur la gestion de la dette, mais, comme je I’ai
mentionné plus tot, cette information était mise a la disposition
des comités qui examinaient le projet de loi sur le pouvoir
d’emprunt dans le passé.

En ce qui concerne la vitesse a laquelle le gouvernement obtient
l’argent demandé, je ne pense pas que cela soit un probléme dans
le cas présent. Je pense que la rapidité est la méme qu’avant que
les changements ne soient apportés.

Je suis vraiment préoccupé par le fait que, a ’heure actuelle, les
parlementaires n’examinent pas minutieusement le budget en
général et le projet de loi accordant 'autorisation de dépenser.
L’absence d’un tel projet de loi supprime un élément d’examen et
de transparence pour les parlementaires et pour les Canadiens.

Le président : Madame Turnbull et monsieur Devries, je vous
remercie au nom du Comité sénatorial permanent des finances
nationales.

Chers collégues, avec votre permission, nous aimerions passer
demain a I’étude article par article du projet de loi C-462, Loi sur
les restrictions applicables aux promoteurs du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées.

Des représentants de trois ministéres comparaitront dans le
cadre de I’étude du Budget principal des dépenses. Il y a le
MAECD et la Défense nationale. Nous allons avoir une soirée
occupée.
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Steering will be meeting to consider whether we need further
evidence with respect to this particular bill that we’ve been dealing
with today. If any of you speak to anyone in steering, and if you
feel there is an aspect of this bill that we haven’t looked into, let us
know. Otherwise, we’ll set a time for clause by clause on that bill.

(The committee adjourned.)

OTTAWA, Wednesday, April 9, 2014

The Standing Senate Committee on National Finance, to
which was referred Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees charged
by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act,
met this day at 6:47 p.m. to give clause-by-clause consideration to
the bill; and to examine the expenditures set out in the Main
Estimates for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015.

Senator Joseph A. Day (Chair) in the chair.

[English)

The Chair: I would like all honourable senators here this
evening to deal first of all with Bill C-462. It is my understanding
that it is agreed that we would proceed with clause-by-clause
consideration of that bill at this time.

Honourable senators, if at any time in the process it’s not clear
where we are and what we’re doing or what vote I'm calling for,
then please stop the process. Interrupt me, and we’ll make sure
that everybody understands the process that we’re doing. What
we will be doing is going through each of the clauses one by one to
see if you agree with them or if there should be any amendments.
At the end, I'll be asking if there are any observations. If there is
the need to vote, then we will have the clerk call out those who are
here and are entitled to vote at this particular meeting. I think the
other rules I will not read but, in the event that an issue arises
during this clause by clause, then we can deal with those
particular rules that will be applicable.

I want to tell you that there is a letter and a schedule from the
Canadian Medical Association, and that’s being translated. It will
be sent to you so that you all have a copy of it in due course. It
only came in one official language. That’s the same for the
National Benefit. This was Mr. Medjuck who came before us. He
sent another letter analyzing the evidence of Mr. McCauley from
the Canada Revenue Agency. That is being translated and will be
circulated to you as well. That will round out the record, along
with the hearings that we did have.

It is agreed, honourable senators, that we proceed with clause-
by-clause consideration of Bill C-462, An Act restricting the fees
charged by promoters of the disability tax credit and making
consequential amendments to the Tax Court of Canada Act?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Le comité directeur se réunira pour décider si nous avons
besoin d’autres témoignages pour le projet de loi que nous avons
examiné aujourd’hui. Si I'un d’entre vous parle a un membre du
comité directeur et si vous pensez qu'un aspect du projet de loi n’a
pas été examiné, veuillez nous en informer. Sinon, nous allons
fixer une date pour I’étude article par article de ce projet de loi.

(La séance est levée.)

OTTAWA, le mercredi 9 avril 2014

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des finances nationales,
auquel a été renvoyé le projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais
imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées et apportant des modifications corrélatives a la Loi
sur la Cour canadienne de I'impdt, se réunit aujourd’hui, a
18 h 47, pour I'examen article par article du projet de loi et
I’étude des dépenses prévues dans le Budget principal des dépenses
pour I’exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2015.

Le sénateur Joseph A. Day (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction]

Le président : J’aimerais indiquer a tous les sénateurs présents
ce soir que nous allons commencer par le projet de loi C-462. Je
crois qu’il est entendu que nous allons maintenant procéder a
I’étude article par article du document.

Honorables sénateurs, je vous prie d’arréter le processus si vous
n’étes pas certain a un moment ou un autre de I’endroit ou nous
sommes rendus, de ce que nous faisons ou de I’article qui est mis
aux voix. Interrompez-moi, et nous allons nous assurer que tout le
monde comprend nos démarches. Nous allons énumérer chacun
des articles pour vérifier si vous les appuyez ou si des
amendements devraient étre apportés. Je vais vous demander a
la fin s’il y a des commentaires. Dans 1’éventualité ou un vote
serait nécessaire, la greffiere prendra les présences et déterminera
qui a le droit de voter pendant cette séance. Je pense que je ne lirai
pas les autres régles, mais, s’il y a un probléme pendant I’étude
article par article, nous consulterons celles qui s’appliquent.

J’aimerais vous signaler que I’on traduit actuellement une lettre
et un calendrier de I’Association médicale canadienne. Vous en
recevrez tous une copie le moment venu. Les documents n’étaient
rédigés que dans une seule langue officielle. C’est la méme chose
pour ce qui est de la National Benefit Authority, que M. Medjuck
a représentée devant notre comité. Il nous a fait parvenir une
autre lettre. Il s’agit d’une analyse des données présentées par
M. McCauley de I’Agence du revenu du Canada. On la fera
également circuler une fois que la traduction sera terminée, ce qui
permettra de compléter le compte rendu, avec nos délibérations.

Est-il convenu, honorables sénateurs, de procéder a 1’étude
article par article du projet de loi C-462, Loi limitant les frais
imposés par les promoteurs du crédit d’impo6t pour personnes
handicapées et apportant des modifications corrélatives a la Loi
sur la Cour canadienne de I'imp6t?

Des voix : D’accord.
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The Chair: Agreed. Shall the title stand postponed?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 1, which contains the short
title, stand postponed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 2 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 3 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 4 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: That’s carried. Shall clause 5 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Agreed. Shall clause 6 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 7 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. If at any time you wish to have “on

Le président : D’accord. L’étude du titre est-elle réservée?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’étude de Iarticle 1, le

titre abrégé, est-elle réservée?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 2 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : D’accord. L’article 3 est-il adopté?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 4 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 5 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : D’accord. L’article 6 est-il adopté?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 7 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. Si jamais vous voulez

division,” please let me know. Otherwise I'll just say “carried.” marquer votre désaccord, veuillez m’en faire part en disant « avec
dissidence ». Autrement, je vais seulement dire : « La motion est

adoptée. »

Shall clause 8 carry?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 9 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 10 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried. Shall clause 11 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Carried.

[Translation]
Shall clause 12 carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Carried.

[English]
Shall clause 1, which contains the short title, carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Carried. Shall the title carry?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

L’article 8 est-il adopté?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 9 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 10 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. L’article 11 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée.

[Frangais]
Larticle 12 est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Adopté.

[Traduction]
L’article 1, le titre abrégé, est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : La motion est adoptée. Le titre du projet de loi

est-il adopté?

Des voix : D’accord.
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The Chair: Shall the bill carry?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: The bill is carried.

Honourable senators, I would now like to ask you, does the
committee wish to discuss appending any observations to its
report?

Senator Buth: Senators, I have some observations that I would
like appended to the report. I think they have been distributed,
but I would like to make some changes. I would like to read the
observations.

Observations to the eighth report of the Standing Senate
Committee on National Finance, Bill C-462.

While the committee is reporting Bill C-462 without
amendment, it wishes to observe that, after several meetings
with various stakeholders, issues were raised that should be
addressed in the regulatory consultation period following
the bill’s passage.

The committee recommends that, during the regulatory
consultation period, the following issues be considered:

Review of the Disability Tax Credit form to simplify it
and consider its availability.

The Chair: That’s where the first change is?

Senator Buth: The first change is so that it’s consistent with the
French.

The Chair: Okay.
Senator Hervieux-Payette: I will look at my English side.
Senator Buth: I will read that again.

Review of the Disability Tax Credit form to simplify it
and consider its online availability.

There is no change to the second point, which is:

Clarify the word “promoter” to more accurately reflect
the different groups that fill out the Disability Tax Credit
form — for example, medical practitioners, accountants,
consultants, et cetera.

The Chair: Do you want to discuss this?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Yes. Should we do it now?

The Chair: I think so.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I lost my file, so I don’t have it with
me. I was under the impression that the medical thing that
declares that a person is handicapped was a separate document,
and that separate document was something that was essential to

Le président : Le projet de loi est-il adopté?
Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Le projet de loi est adopté.

Honorables sénateurs, j’aimerais maintenant vous demander si
le comité veut discuter de ’ajout d’observations a son rapport?

La sénatrice Buth : Honorables sénateurs, j’aimerais ajouter
certaines observations au rapport. Je pense qu'on les a fait
circuler, mais j’ai quelques modifications a apporter. J’aimerais
lire les observations.

Observations au huitiéme rapport du Comité sénatorial
permanent des finances nationales, projet de loi C-462.

Méme si le comité fait rapport du projet de loi C-462 sans
amendement, il souhaite préciser que plusieurs questions ont
été soulevées au fil des rencontres avec les différents
intervenants, et qu’il faudrait les régler dans la période
officielle de consultation qui suivra I’adoption du projet de
loi.

Le comité recommande que les points suivants soient
examinés au cours de la période officielle de consultation :

Examiner le formulaire du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées afin de le simplifier et
d’envisager de le remplir en ligne.

Le président : C’est 1a que se trouve la premiére modification?

La sénatrice Buth : La premiére modification vise a faire
correspondre les deux langues.

Le président : Bien.
La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je vais regarder 1’anglais.
La sénatrice Buth : Je vais la relire.

Examiner le formulaire du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées afin de le simplifier et
d’envisager la possibilité de le remplir en ligne.

Il n’y a pas de modification au deuxiéme point. Je vais vous le
lire :

Préciser le mot « promoteur » pour mieux tenir
compte des différents groupes qui remplissent le
formulaire du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes
handicapées, par exemple : les médecins, les comptables,
les experts-conseils, et cetera.

Le président : Voulez-vous en discuter?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Oui. Devrions-nous en parler
maintenant?

Le président : Je crois que oui.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’ai égaré mon dossier, et je ne
I’ai donc pas sous la main. Je croyais qu’une personne était
déclarée handicapée a I’aide d’un document médical distinct qui
était nécessaire pour amorcer le processus, peu importe ’expert-
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start the process, whichever other consultant. The whichever
consultant, I would change the word “medical” to “health care.”
Psychologists, psychiatrists and others can do that, and I think
“medical” was narrow.

Senator Buth: So change “medical practitioner” to “health care
practitioner.”

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Yes. And then I would like you to
explain it to me. I thought the accountants and consultants were
part of the process, but not the ones making them eligible or
declaring them handicapped to start the process. Yes, they will
have to supply forms and reports on what their income is and so
on, but I was not putting that in the same category.

If you remember, I hated that the professionals, who are all
regulated by their profession, could not charge more than the
usual fee that is accepted, but consultants, give me the name of a
consultant who has a professional fee schedule that is approved
and been implemented and regulated.

Senator Buth: The CRA will actually consult with the industry
to determine the maximum fees to be set for a promoter, so the
concern that is raised here is that some of the groups didn’t want
to be called “promoter.” This is to clarify the word “promoter” to
more accurately reflect the different groups that fill out the form,
which is the definition of “promoter.” Those are just given as
examples. The consultation period would differentiate between
health care practitioners, accountants and consultants. We did
talk about the fact that the people who are helping them fill out
the forms should likely be more accurately referred to as
“consultants.”

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I agree with that. I'm saying that
health care practitioners are regulated by their different
professions, and for consultants, I have some doubts that these
are people with any kind of background. I don’t think they have a
fee schedule or an enforcing mechanism.

Senator Buth: But the regulatory process will set the maximum
fee they can charge. That’s the purpose of the bill.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: They’re not in the same category. |
feel the consultants would be the promoters.

Senator Buth: Yes, they are.
Senator Hervieux-Payette: While the other ones are not.

Senator Buth: They are under the definition we’ve just passed.
So that’s why this is saying that, during the consultation period,
this must be reviewed.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Could you add lawyers, then?

conseil concerné. Je changerais le mot « médecins » par
« professionnels de la santé ». A mon avis, « médecins » est
trop restrictif, car il peut s’agir de psychologues, de psychiatres ou
autres.

La sénatrice Buth : Il faudrait donc écrire « professionnels de la
santé » plutét que « médecins ».

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Oui. Et j’aimerais ensuite que
vous m’expliquiez comment cela fonctionne. Je pensais que les
comptables et les experts-conseils faisaient partie du processus,
mais pas ceux qui rendent les gens admissibles ou les déclarent
handicapés. Ils auront effectivement a produire des formulaires de
déclaration de revenus et ainsi de suite, mais je ne les mettais pas
dans la méme catégorie.

Vous vous souvenez sans doute que je détestais le fait que les
professionnels, qui doivent tous se conformer aux régles de leur
profession, ne pouvaient pas demander un montant supérieur aux
honoraires habituels, contrairement aux experts-conseils.
Donnez-moi le nom d’un seul expert-conseil qui a un baréme
d’honoraires approuvé qui a été mis en ceuvre et réglementé.

La sénatrice Buth : A vrai dire, I’Agence du revenu consultera
I'industrie pour déterminer le montant maximum des frais
imposés par un promoteur, ce qui veut dire que le probléme ici
est que certains groupes ne voulaient pas étre appelés
« promoteur ». Cette observation vise a clarifier le terme pour
mieux tenir compte des différents groupes qui remplissent le
formulaire, ce qui est la définition de « promoteur ». Ce ne sont
que des exemples. Pendant la période de consultation, on
établirait une distinction entre les professionnels de la santé, les
comptables et les experts-conseils. Nous avons mentionné qu’il
serait plus précis de parler de « consultants » quand il est question
des personnes qui les aident a remplir les formulaires.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je suis d’accord. Ce que je dis,
c’est que les professionnels de la santé doivent se conformer aux
régles de leur profession respective, tandis que je doute que les
consultants soient assujettis & quoi que ce soit. Je ne pense pas
qu’ils aient un baréme d’honoraires ou un mécanisme
réglementaire.

La sénatrice Buth : Mais le processus de réglementation
établira le montant maximal des frais qu’ils peuvent demander.
C’est I’objectif du projet de loi.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : IlIs ne sont pas dans la méme
catégorie. A mon avis, les consultants seraient les promoteurs.

La sénatrice Buth : Oui, c’est ce qu’ils sont.
La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Contrairement aux autres.

La sénatrice Buth : Ils sont visés par la définition que nous
venons tout juste de voir. C’est la raison pour laquelle il est
indiqué qu’il faut examiner cette question pendant la période
consultation.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Pourrait-on ajouter des
groupes a ce moment-1a?
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Senator Buth: Sure. That’s why “et cetera” is there.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I don’t want to be “et cetera.”

The Chair: As a lawyer, do you mind if “et cetera” follows you?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: 1 want lawyers before the
consultants.

These are the people who are sometimes the legal advisers of
the handicapped persons.

Senator Eaton: Just to make it difficult on this issue.

The Chair: Senator Seth, are you on this issue? Senator
Eggleton, is it this issue?

Senator Eggleton: ’'m more general.

Senator Eaton: They’re two things, because a health care
provider — consultant — I take the form; I want a disability tax. I
have to go and get an affirmation from a health care person that
I’'m, in fact, disabled, and then an accountant fills it out — or a
consultant. It’s a two-part process. The health-care worker
doesn’t necessarily fill out the tax form; they just give a medical
certificate saying you're disabled.

The Chair: No, it’s right in the form.

Senator Eaton: They fill out the form?

Senator Buth: Yes.

Senator Eaton: And that final form can go to CRA?

Senator Buth: Yes.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: And you have to understand: This
isn’t medical information, so this is not shared with the other
people; it’s a separate thing.

Senator Eaton: It goes to two different people.

Senator Buth: The consultant is helping the claimant fill out the
form, which includes two parts: One is the basic information, and
the other is the medical part. But only a health care practitioner
can fill out the second part.

Senator Seth: When these forms come — because I have filled
out a lot of forms, so 'm giving you my — as a witness, as a
doctor.

We do not come into “promoter,” as a definition. We give only
information as a practitioner. You came to me, you asked, and
you’re disabled. I filled out your form. You have filled out
whatever your accountant did. We have nothing to do with that.

La sénatrice Buth : Bien sir. C’est pour cela qu’il est écrit « et
cetera ».

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je ne veux pas étre une « et
cetera. »

Le président : En tant qu’avocate, est-ce que cela vous pose un
probléme si « et cetera » vous suit?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je veux que les avocats soient
avant les consultants.

Ce sont parfois les conseillers juridiques des personnes
handicapées.

La sénatrice Eaton : Juste pour compliquer les choses dans ce
dossier.

Le président : Sénatrice Seth, parlez-vous du point a I’étude?
Sénateur Eggleton, est-ce de cela qu’il s’agit?

Le sénateur Eggleton : C’est plus général.

La sénatrice Eaton: On parle de deux choses, car un
fournisseur de soins de santé, un consultant... Je prends le
formulaire et je veux un crédit d’impét pour personnes
handicapées. Je dois donc aller voir un professionnel de la santé
pour confirmer que je suis effectivement handicapée. Un
comptable remplit ensuite le formulaire — ou un consultant.
C’est un processus a deux étapes. Les professionnels de la santé ne
remplissent pas nécessairement le formulaire d’impét; ils ne font
que donner un certificat médical qui indique que je suis
handicapée.

Le président : Non, c’est a méme le formulaire.
La sénatrice Eaton : Ils remplissent le formulaire?
La sénatrice Buth : Oui.

La sénatrice Eaton : Et on peut présenter ce dernier formulaire
a ’Agence du revenu du Canada?

La sénatrice Buth : Oui.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Il faut également que vous
sachiez que ce ne sont pas des renseignements médicaux et que
personne d’autre ne les voit; ce n’est pas la méme chose.

La sénatrice Eaton : C’est remis a deux personnes différentes.

La sénatrice Buth : Le consultant aide le demandeur a remplir
le formulaire, qui comprend deux parties: une avec des
renseignements de base et une autre avec les renseignements
médicaux. Mais seul un professionnel de la santé peut remplir la
deuxiéme.

La sénatrice Seth : Quand on regoit ces formulaires —, car j’en
ai rempli plusieurs en tant que témoin, que médecin, et je vous
donne donc mon...

Nous ne sommes pas visés par la définition de « promoteur ».
Nous ne faisons que donner de l'information en tant que
praticiens. Vous étes handicapé et vous étes venu me voir pour
me demander de remplir votre formulaire. Votre comptable a
rempli sa partie, et cela ne nous concerne pas du tout.
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Senator Hervieux-Payette: Are you an “et cetera”?

The Chair: Senator Hervieux-Payette, we are in a public
meeting. If we can’t reach a settlement on this issue fairly quickly,
I think we should go in camera. Do you want to go in camera?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: No.

The Chair: Is the “no” to the first or second question?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: We should remain in public. We're
just trying to clarify some terms.

The Chair: Let’s be orderly. Senator Seth has the floor, and it’s
not for anyone to ask her questions while she’s speaking.

Senator Seth: If the form comes to me and the patient asks me
to fill it out, I do it as a practitioner and only fill out the items
given, which is for me a patient’s disease, medication — whatever
it is — and we are signing. We’re not having anything to do with a
promoter. We’re not encouraging the patient, “You must write
this.” There is nothing we charge the fees for. Only a practitioner
charges the fees for filling out the form, and we don’t have this
regulated by government — especially this form, unless something
else comes.

Yes, if there are fixed fees. If we don’t have fixed fees, some
doctors charge less — that we get from the OMA, Ontario
Medical Association. Some suggest what we should be charging,
and that’s what we charge. We don’t have any promotional part
here.

Senator Buth: I just want to clarify that under the act we have
just gone through clause by clause, if the medical practitioner
charges a fee in respect to a Disability Tax Credit request, then
they are included as a promoter under this act. We did have some
discussion about the fact that the health care practitioners do not
like the term “promoter,” but they will fall under this act because
that’s the definition.

The Chair: Order please, Senator Seth. I'll put you on the list.

Senator Buth: Senator Seth, under this act, “promoter” is now
defined. It essentially means “a person who directly or indirectly
accepts or charges a fee in respect of a disability tax request.”

We’re attaching these observations because those witnesses
expressed concerns that they don’t want to be called a promoter.
Canada Revenue Agency explained that they would not
necessarily use that term in terms of any of the information that
was going out. We are encouraging CRA, through these
observations, to ensure that they clarify the word “promoter”
to accurately reflect the different groups that fill out the form.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Etes-vous une « et cetera »?

Le président : Sénatrice Hervieux-Payette, nous tenons une
séance publique. Si nous n’arrivons pas a nous entendre assez
rapidement sur cette question, je crois que nous devrions en
discuter a huis clos. Voulez-vous poursuivre a huis clos?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Non.

Le président : Le « non » est-il la réponse a la premiére ou a la
deuxiéme question?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je préfére que la séance
demeure publique. Nous essayons seulement de clarifier certains
termes.

Le président : Soyons disciplinés. La sénatrice Seth a la parole,
et personne ne doit lui poser de questions pendant son
intervention.

La sénatrice Seth : Si un patient me présente le formulaire et
me demande de le remplir, je le fais en tant que praticienne. Je ne
remplis que ce qui me concerne, c’est-a-dire la maladie du patient,
les médicaments qu’il prend — peu importe de quoi il s’agit —, et
je signe. Tout cela n’a rien a voir avec le role de promoteur. Nous
n’encourageons pas le patient a écrire quelque chose. Nous ne
demandons aucuns honoraires pour cela. Seuls les praticiens
demandent des honoraires pour remplir le formulaire, ce qui n’est
pas réglementé par le gouvernement — notamment pour ce qui est
de ce formulaire, & moins qu’autre chose entre en ligne de compte.

Oui, s’il s’agit de frais fixes. Autrement, certains médecins
demandent moins d’argent — d’aprés ce que nous a indiqué
I’OMA, I’Ontario Medical Association. Certains nous suggerent
un montant, et nous suivons leurs recommandations. Rien de ce
que nous faisons ne se rapporte au role de promoteur.

La sénatrice Buth : J’aimerais seulement préciser que selon le
projet de loi que nous venons d’étudier article par article, si le
médecin demande des frais a I’égard d’une demande de crédit
d’impdt pour personnes handicapées, il sera considéré comme un
promoteur en vertu de la loi. Nous avons discuté du fait que les
professionnels de la santé n’aiment pas le terme « promoteur »,
mais ils seront néanmoins visés par la définition du projet de loi.

Le président : A I’ordre, s’il vous plait, sénatrice Seth. Je vais
ajouter votre nom a la liste.

La sénatrice Buth : Sénatrice Seth, le mot « promoteur » est
maintenant défini en vertu de ce projet de loi. Il s’agit
essentiellement d’une « personne qui, directement ou
indirectement, accepte ou impose des frais a 1’égard d’une
demande de crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées. »

Nous ajoutons ces observations étant donné que certains
témoins ont indiqué qu’ils ne veulent pas se faire appeler des
promoteurs. Les représentants de I’Agence du revenu du Canada
ont expliqué qu’ils n’utiliseraient pas nécessairement le terme dans
la documentation. Nous encourageons I’agence, par I’entremise
de ces observations, a préciser le mot « promoteur » pour mieux
tenir compte des différents groupes qui remplissent le formulaire.
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Senator Seth: I was trying to add the following: “The person
does not include a health care practitioner duly licensed under the
applicable regulatory authority who provides health care and
treatment.”

The Chair: Are you proposing an amendment to the bill? We’ve
already passed the bill.

Senator Seth: Just this thing to be added.
The Chair: To the observations?
Senator Seth: Yes, to observations.

Senator Buth: We can’t redefine the word “promoter” in our
observations; it’s already defined in the bill. We're saying to
clarify the word “promoter” to more accurately reflect the
different groups that fill out the disability tax form. We can’t
change the definition of “promoter” in the observations.

If you want to change the observation to more clearly define
“health care practitioner” — but you can’t really remove it from
the term “promoter.”

The Chair: Because it’s already in the legislation.
Senator Buth: It’s already passed.
The Chair: I agree with Senator Buth.

Senator Seth: Okay, then we go ahead. What else? But we don’t
like that word “promoter” for practitioners.

The Chair: A number of witnesses didn’t like that word. We
heard that from a number of witnesses.

Senator Buth, you were at bullet No. 2, and we had concluded
that one, had we?

Senator Buth: Bullet No. 3: Review the service level and the
promotion of the credit by the Canada Revenue Agency to
increase awareness and reduce the difficulty of applying for the
credit.

Bullet No. 4: Discuss with industry the potential of developing
a code of practice to improve the level of service and set standards
for certain items, such as advertising.

The Chair: No change, then?

Senator Buth: No changes to those two. The last bullet has
some changes. It should be “ensure” rather than “ensures”:
“Ensure that the interpretation of section 3(c) of the bill is that
the” — here are the changes — “that the promoter pays the tax
credit to the claimant.”

The Chair: Doesn’t the tax credit come from the Government
of Canada?

La sénatrice Seth : J'essayais d’ajouter ceci : « A I’exception
des professionnels de la santé qui prodiguent des soins et qui sont
diment agréés par I’organisme de réglementation compétent. »

Le président : Proposez-vous un amendement au projet de loi?
Nous I’avons déja adopté.

La sénatrice Seth : Seulement cette phrase.
Le président : Pour les observations?
La sénatrice Seth : Oui, pour les observations.

La sénatrice Buth : Nous ne pouvons pas redéfinir le terme
« promoteur » dans nos observations, car il est déja défini dans le
projet de loi. Nous parlons de préciser le mot « promoteur » pour
mieux tenir compte des différents groupes qui remplissent le
formulaire du crédit d’imp6t pour personnes handicapées. Nous
ne pouvons pas modifier la définition de « promoteur » dans les
observations.

Vous pouvez modifier I’observation pour préciser davantage le
sens de « professionnel de la santé », mais vous ne pouvez pas
vraiment I’enlever de la définition de « promoteur ».

Le président : Car c’est déja dans le projet de loi.
La sénatrice Buth : Nous I’avons déja adopté.
Le président : Je suis d’accord avec la sénatrice Buth.

La sénatrice Seth : Bien, nous allons donc poursuivre. Quoi
d’autre? Nous n’aimons pas que le mot « promoteur » englobe les
professionnels de la santé.

Le président : Un certain nombre de témoins nous ont dit qu’ils
n’aimaient pas le terme.

Sénatrice Buth, vous étiez rendue au deuxiéme point, et il n’y a
plus rien a ajouter, n’est-ce pas?

La sénatrice Buth : Voici le troisiéme point : « Examiner le
niveau de service et la promotion du crédit d’impot par I’Agence
du revenu du Canada afin qu’il soit mieux connu et plus facile
d’accés ».

Je vous lis maintenant le quatriéme : « Discuter avec les gens
du milieu de la possibilit¢é d’établir un code d’usage pour
améliorer le niveau de service et fixer des normes pour certains
aspects, comme la publicité ».

Le président : J’en déduis qu’il n’y a pas de modification, n’est-
ce pas?

La sénatrice Buth : 11 n’y a aucune modification a ces deux
points, mais le dernier en comprend quelques-unes. Dans la
version anglaise, il devrait étre écrit « ensure » plutdt que
«ensures ». Je vais vous lire le francais: « Voir a ce que
l’alinéa 3¢) du projet de loi soit interprété de facon a ce que —
les modifications sont ici — le promoteur rembourse le crédit
d’impo6t au demandeur ».

Le président : Le crédit d’impo6t ne vient-il pas du
gouvernement du Canada?
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Senator Buth: Subsection 3(c¢) is where they’re paying back —
is repaid to the claimant, right.

Senator Callbeck: It’s in the act?

Senator Buth: We had some discussions under promoter’s fee,
subsection 3(c) —

Senator Callbeck: Under (c).

Senator Buth: Yes. Under 3.2, it’s the contravention. We had to
clarify with CRA that the promoter actually repays the fee to the
claimant. Essentially, if they don’t do that, then they get fined. We
had to ask CRA to clarify that was their interpretation.

They came back and said yes, that’s their interpretation, but
under this observation we wanted to ensure that’s what they said
and that’s what they would do.

The Chair: This is the Disability Tax Credit and that too much
has gone to the promoter, according to this act. The payment
coming from the promoter is the over payment that should be
paid back because the initial refund would go to the disabled
person.

Senator Buth: Right, and then if they contravene the fee and
they have charged too much, then what they must do is pay the
disabled person back. That wasn’t that clear in section 3(c).

The Chair: I understand why the money would be coming.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Did you read the last paragraph?

Senator Buth: “Ensure that the interpretation of section 3(c),”
is that it?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: No, the last, last.
Senator Buth: No; I haven’t gotten there.

The Chair: We're still working on the next to last. We are on
the penultimate bullet.

Senator Buth: Maybe it should be “repays.” Senator Day?

The Chair: I'm sorry. I'm getting a lot of advice here.

Senator Buth: To make it clear, maybe it should be “ensure that
the interpretation of section 3(c) of the bill is that the promoter
repays the tax credit to the claimant” because it is the repaying.

Senator Eaton: Is that the promoter?

Senator Buth: Yes, “that the promoter repays the tax credit to
the claimant.”

The Chair: What is being repaid is the overcharged fee. That
overcharged fee —

Senator Buth: Right.

La sénatrice Buth : C’est a l'alinéa 3¢) qu’on parle de son
remboursement... au demandeur, oui.

La sénatrice Callbeck : C’est dans la 1oi?

La sénatrice Buth : Nous avons discuté des frais du promoteur,
a l’alinéa 3c¢)...

La sénatrice Callbeck : Sous c).

La sénatrice Buth : Oui. Sous 3(2), c’est la pénalité. Nous nous
sommes assurés auprés de 'ARC que le promoteur rembourse
vraiment les frais au demandeur. En gros, il devra payer une
amende s’il ne le fait pas. Nous avons dii demander aux gens de
I’ARC si c¢’était leur interprétation.

Ils nous ont dit que oui, c’est leur interprétation, mais nous
voulions confirmer avec cette observation que c’est ce qu’ils ont
dit et ce qu’ils feront.

Le président : 11 est question du crédit d’'imp6t pour personnes
handicapées et du fait qu'une trop grande partic de I’argent
revient au promoteur, conformément a ce projet de loi. Le
promoteur remet ce qui a été payé en trop et doit étre remboursé,
car le remboursement initial serait remis a la personne
handicapée.

La sénatrice Buth : En effet, et s’il demande des frais trop élevés
et contrevient a la disposition, il devra rembourser la personne
handicapée. Ce n’était pas aussi clair a I'alinéa 3c).

Le président : Je comprends pourquoi I’argent serait remis.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Avez-vous lu le dernier
paragraphe?

La sénatrice Buth : « Voir a ce que I’alinéa 3¢) soit interprété »,
est-ce de cela que vous parlé?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Non, le tout dernier.
La sénatrice Buth : Non; je ne me suis pas rendue 1a.

Le président : Nous examinons encore I’avant-dernier point.

La sénatrice Buth : Il devrait peut-étre étre écrit « rembourse ».
Sénateur Day?

Le président : Je suis désolé. On me donne beaucoup de
conseils.

La sénatrice Buth : Pour que ce soit clair, il faudrait peut-étre
écrire « voir a ce que I’alinéa 3¢) du projet de loi soit interprété de
fagon a ce que le promoteur rembourse le crédit d’'impét au
demandeur », car il est question du remboursement.

La sénatrice Eaton : S’agit-il du promoteur?

La sénatrice Buth : Oui, « que le promoteur rembourse le crédit
d’impo6t au demandeur ».

Le président : Ce sont les frais payés en trop qui sont
remboursés. Ces frais payés en trop...

La sénatrice Buth : En effet.
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The Chair: That was the concern I had earlier, because the tax
credit comes to the disabled person. The overcharged fee would
do it?

Senator Buth: Yes, “the promoter repays the overcharged fee to
the claimant.”

The Chair: The other point I would like you to consider is that
these A, B and Cs down here, the way I read it, are part of the
formula, but there are just two subsections, 3(1) and 3(2).

Senator Buth: It should be 3(2), then. Yes; I agree, 3(2).

The Chair: Agreed; rather than 3(c). That’s part of the formula.

Senator Buth: Why don’t we say “the overcharged fee (c¢),”
which is the formula?

The Chair: Sure. Does everybody understand that bullet, the
final one?

Senator Buth: The last sentence?
The Chair: Last paragraph.

Senator Buth: The committee did not offer any amendments
because these issues would be best resolved in the regulatory
consultation period.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I think we are misleading people. A
regulatory consultation can only apply to the adopted bill.
Actually, if we want to correct “promoter” it could never be done
through the regulation; it has to be done through an amendment
to the bill. That’s why I have some sympathy for Senator Seth,
because this is a very important one. It touches a lot of people
who are doing that. In fact, regular practitioners don’t see a
patient when they are filling these forms, they are more
administrative people.

We could even propose an amendment to deal with the
misinterpretation of “promoter.” It could be sent to the house and
be adopted before the end of the session. Otherwise, I want to tell
you that in five years it might not have been done. To be very
clear, the regulation process will just have to apply to the bill that
we have adopted, and no clarification will be done on that. That’s
my comment.

The Chair: I agree with you, but there is the other point that
amendments could always be made at third reading.

Senator Buth: That’s right.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Yes. We also have to change that
sentence because it gives the impression that once we are
consulting for the regulation, which is a process that normally
takes place when a bill is passed, it will be resolved. But it won’t
be resolved.

The Chair: Do we need that final paragraph?

Le président : C’était ce qui me préoccupait tout a I’heure, car
le crédit d’impét est remis a la personne handicapée. C’est ce que
feraient les frais payés en trop?

La sénatrice Buth : Oui, « le promoteur rembourse le crédit
d’imp6t au demandeur ».

Le président : J’aimerais également que vous teniez compte du
fait que, si je comprends bien, les A, B et C qui sont ici font partie
de la formule, mais il n’y a que deux paragraphes, 3(1) et 3(2).

La sénatrice Buth : Ce devrait donc étre 3(2). Oui, je suis
d’accord, 3(2).

Le président : D’accord; plutét que 3c¢). Cela fait partie de la
formule.

La sénatrice Buth : Pourquoi n’écririons-nous pas « les frais
payés en trop ¢) », ce qui représente la formule?

Le président : Bien sir. Est-ce que tout le monde comprend le
dernier point?

La sénatrice Buth : La derniére phrase?
Le président : Le dernier paragraphe.

La sénatrice Buth : Le comité ne présente aucun amendement
parce que ces questions seront plus facilement réglées pendant la
période officielle de consultation.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je pense que nous induisons les
gens en erreur. Une consultation officielle ne s’appliquerait qu’au
projet de loi adopté. En fait, si nous voulons corriger
« promoteur », ce ne sera jamais par I'entremise de la loi. Il
faut que ce soit fait en amendant le projet de loi. C’est la raison
pour laquelle j’éprouve une certaine sympathie pour la sénatrice
Seth, car c’est un point trés important qui concerne beaucoup de
monde. A vrai dire, les professionnels de la santé ne voient
généralement pas le patient quand ils remplissent ces formulaires.
Leur travail est plutét d’ordre administratif.,

Nous pourrions proposer un amendement concernant la
mauvaise interprétation de « promoteur ». Il pourrait étre
présenté a la Chambre et adopté avant la fin de la session.
Autrement, je tiens a vous dire qu’il ne serait peut-étre pas encore
adopté dans cinq ans. Soyons trés clairs, le processus de
réglementation devra tout simplement tenir compte du projet de
loi que nous avons adopté, et aucune précision ne sera apportée a
ce sujet. C’est ce que je voulais dire.

Le président : Je suis d’accord avec vous, mais il y a 'autre
point qui indique que les amendements pourraient toujours étre
apportés a I’étape de la troisiéme lecture.

La sénatrice Buth : Vous avez raison.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Oui. Nous devons également
modifier cette phrase, car elle donne I'impression que ce sera réglé
lorsque nous meénerons des consultations au sujet de la
réglementation, ce qui est normalement fait aprés I’adoption
d’un projet de loi. Mais ce ne sera pas réglé.

Le président : Avons-nous besoin de ce dernier paragraphe?
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Senator Buth: No, we don’t need that final paragraph.

The Chair: We said at the top that we’re passing this without
amendment.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I think that I would prefer not to
see it.

Senator Buth: I'm fine taking that out.

The Chair: With those changes, then, is it agreed that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be empowered to
approve the final version of the observations so we can see
these various amendments that we’ve agreed to?

I'm terribly sorry; I withdraw my comment. Senator Eggleton.

Senator Eggleton: Again, I’'m here as the opposition critic for
the bill.

The bill has very limited application. It is essentially the fees
that will be charged by promoters, or whatever you want to call
them. But I think these observations improve it, because it talks
about the simplification of the form and an improvement to the
service level provided by CRA. I was impressed with the CRA
people when they were here. I think they are going to carry out a
good consultation in trying to establish the fees. They responded
well to the questions that I and others asked about, the
simplification of the form and providing a better service at the
beginning so as to cut down on the number of people that need to
go to these promoters and pay these very high fees.

I think it’s very unfortunate — and here I agree with Senator
Seth and Senator Hervieux-Payette — that sponsor of this bill in
the House of Commons used the word “promoter.” I don’t think
it’s an appropriate word for all of these categories of people, but
you have now passed the bill with the word in it. The only option
you have now is at third reading in the house to make an
amendment to it. That lies ahead, if you wish to go that route.

Failing that, I think what’s in here about clarifying the word
“promoter” is a good move; better than nothing. It would have
been better, as I said, if they hadn’t used the word “promoter” in
the first place.

The bill, even with these observations, as I say, is very limited.
Most adult disabled people will never get any of this — they won’t
qualify for it — because most of them don’t pay enough taxes to
be able to get the Disability Tax Credit. What we really need is to
make the tax credit refundable.

La sénatrice Buth : Non, nous n’en avons pas besoin.

Le président : Nous avons dit au début que nous faisons
rapport du projet de loi sans amendement.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je pense que je préférerais ne
pas le voir.

La sénatrice Buth : Je n’ai pas d’objection a ce qu’il soit
supprimé.

Le président : Donc, avec ces modifications, est-il convenu que
le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure sera autorisé a
approuver la version finale des observations de maniére a ce
qu’elles tiennent compte des divers amendements sur lesquels
nous nous sommes entendus?

Je suis vraiment désolé; je retire mon commentaire. Sénateur
Eggleton.

Le sénateur Eggleton : Je prends encore une fois la parole en
tant que porte-parole de I'opposition pour ce projet de loi.

Le projet de loi a une application trés limitée. Il porte
essentiellement sur les frais que demanderont les promoteurs, ou
peu importe comment vous voulez les appeler. Cela dit, je pense
que ces observations représentent une amélioration, car il est
question de la simplification du formulaire et d’une amélioration
du niveau de service offert par ’ARC. Les représentants de TARC
m’ont impressionné lors de leur passage ici. Je pense qu’ils
méneront une bonne consultation en vue d’établir les frais. Ils ont
bien répondu aux questions que d’autres sénateurs et moi leur
avons posées au sujet de la simplification du formulaire et de
I’amélioration du service dés le départ pour réduire le nombre de
personnes qui consultent les promoteurs et qui payent des frais
trés élevés.

Je crois qu’il est trés regrettable — et je suis d’accord a ce sujet
avec la sénatrice Seth et la sénatrice Hervieux-Payette — que la
parraine du projet de loi a la Chambre des communes ait utilisé le
mot « promoteur ». Je ne pense pas que ce soit un terme
convenable pour englober toutes ces catégories de personnes, mais
vous avez maintenant adopté le projet de loi avec ce mot. Votre
derniére option est de ’amender a la Chambre a 1’étape de la
troisiéme lecture. Cette possibilité s’offre encore a vous si c’est ce
que vous désirez faire.

A défaut de quoi, je crois que ce que nous avons ici pour
préciser le sens de « promoteur » est une bonne chose; c’est mieux
que rien. Comme je 'ai dit, il aurait été préférable d’opter dés le
départ pour un autre terme.

Comme je I’ai mentionné, méme avec ces observations, le
projet de loi est trés limité. La plupart des adultes handicapés
n’auront rien de tout cela — ils ne seront pas admissibles —, car la
plupart d’entre eux ne payent pas suffisamment d’imp6ts pour
pouvoir profiter du crédit pour personnes handicapées. Ce que
nous devons vraiment faire, c’est de voir a ce qu’il soit
remboursable.
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Four years ago, the Senate unanimously passed a
recommendation in the report In From the Margins: A Call to
Action on Poverty, Housing and Homelessness, did exactly that; it
called for this tax to be made refundable. That would get to far
more people and help a far greater number of disabled people.

This is what it is. It is a good step in terms of the fees. Request
these additional observations, if it results in a streamlining of the
process, which I think the CRA officials that were here seemed
committed to doing. Then I think it is a good move.

I support the observations. I just wanted to make that point.
Now, there may be attempts to amend on third reading. We’ll see
how that goes.

Senator Callbeck: I agree. I think the observations do improve
the bill, but as I said one or two meetings ago, I have a real
problem with that word “promoter.” I just don’t think it’s
appropriate at all to have health professionals under that. As you
said, it could be amended in the Senate.

I agree with Senator Eggleton about this, namely that it should
be a refundable tax credit.

The Chair: Thank you. The analysts from the Library of
Parliament are not sure if your comment was a give-away
comment or you actually wanted lawyers.

Senator Hervieux-Payette: I'm supporting the comments with
my comments.

The Chair: Did you want “lawyers” in there as listed as one of
the promoters?

Senator Hervieux-Payette: Okay; let them out.

The Chair: Thank you. I thought that might help.

I was halfway through this request. I won’t read it again, but
are you in agreement that the amendments will be looked over by
steering before we file this in the Senate? Everybody agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Thank you. Is it agreed that the bill be reported as
soon as practicable to the Senate with observations appended
thereto?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Thank you, honourable senators. This particular
matter is concluded, and we will report it back as soon as we get it
finished.

(The committee suspended.)

Il y a quatre ans, le Sénat a adopté a l'unanimité une
recommandation dans le rapport Pauvreté, logement, itinérance :
les trois fronts de la lutte contre I'exclusion. C’est exactement ce
qu’il a fait; il a demandé que ce crédit d’impo6t soit remboursable,
ce qui permettrait a un plus grand nombre de personnes
handicapées d’en tirer parti, pour ainsi en aider beaucoup plus.

Voila ce qui en est. C’est un pas dans la bonne direction pour
ce qui est des frais. Demandez que I’on tienne compte de ces
observations, car je crois que c’est une bonne chose dans la
mesure ol elles permettront de rationaliser le processus. A mon
avis, les représentants de ’ARC que nous avons rencontrés
semblaient avoir cela a ceeur.

J’appuie les observations. Je tenais seulement a faire valoir ce
point. On va peut-étre vouloir amender le projet de loi a I’étape de
la troisiéme lecture. Nous verrons ce que cela va donner.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Je suis d’accord. Je crois que les
observations améliorent le projet de loi, mais, comme je I’ai dit il y
a une ou deux réunions, le mot « promoteur » me pose vraiment
probléme. Je crois simplement qu’il n’est pas du tout approprié de
mettre les professionnels de la santé dans cette catégorie. Comme
vous ’avez mentionné, le projet de loi pourrait étre amendé au
Sénat.

Je suis d’accord avec le sénateur Eggleton : il faudrait que ce
soit un crédit d’impé6t remboursable.

Le président : Merci. Les analystes de la Bibliothéque du
Parlement ne sont pas certains si ce n’était qu’une observation ou
si vous vouliez vraiment ajouter les avocats.

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : J’appuie les commentaires avec
mes observations.

Le président : Vouliez-vous qu’« avocats » fasse partie de la
liste des promoteurs?

La sénatrice Hervieux-Payette : Je vois; ne les ajoutez pas a la
liste.

Le président : Merci. Je pensais que cela serait utile.

Jétais rendu au milieu de cette demande. Je ne vais pas la
relire, mais étes-vous d’accord pour que les amendements soient
examinés par un comité directeur avant que nous présentions le
document au Sénat? Etes-vous tous d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Merci. Etes-vous d’accord pour qu’il soit fait
rapport dés que possible du projet de loi au Sénat avec les
observations annexées?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Merci, honorables sénateurs. Nous avons fait le
tour de cette question, et nous allons faire rapport du projet de loi
aussitot que nous aurons terminé.

(La séance est suspendue.)
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[Translation)
(The committee resumed.)

The Chair: Tonight we are going to continue our study of the
Main Estimates for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015.

[English]

We are pleased to welcome a number of officials from Foreign
Affairs, Trade and Development Canada. We welcome Nadir
Patel, Assistant Deputy Minister and Chief Financial Officer,
Corporate Planning, Finance and Information Technology — a
busy man, has a lot of things on the go — and Arun Thangaraj,
who is the Director General, Financial Resource Planning and
Management Bureau.

From Transport Canada we welcome André Lapointe,
Assistant Deputy Minister, Corporate Services and Chief
Financial Officer; and from the Department of National
Defence we welcome Kevin Lindsey, Chief Financial Officer,
Rear-Admiral Patrick Finn, Chief of Staff, Material Group and
Major-General Ian C. Poulter, Chief of Program.

I understand each of the departments have a spokesperson for
introductory remarks. I will start with Foreign Affairs then go to
Transport and Department of National Defence.

Nadir Patel, Assistant Deputy Minister and Chief Financial
Officer, Corporate Planning, Finance and Information Technology,
Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development Canada: Thank you for
the invitation to appear before the committee. It is a pleasure to
be here again. We last appeared before this committee in mid-
February 2014 — about six, seven weeks ago — so I will keep my
opening remarks brief, and then I would be pleased to be take
your questions.

As mentioned at our last appearance, the new Department of
Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development was created in mid-2013
through Royal Assent of Bill C-60. The mandate of the new
department, which is outlined in the Department of Foreign
Affairs Trade and Development Act, is broad in scope and
important for Canada and Canadians.

The department manages diplomatic and consular relations
with foreign governments and international organizations,
engages international players to advance political and economic
interests, improves and maintains market access for Canadian
businesses, delivers consular services and travel information to
Canadians, supports global peace and stability and leads
coordinated Canadian responses to crisis and natural disasters
abroad, alleviates global poverty and enhances prosperity and
stability in the developing world.

[Frangais)
(La séance reprend.)

Le président : Ce soir, nous allons continuer notre étude du
Budget principal des dépenses pour l’exercice se terminant le
31 mars 2015.

[Traduction)

Nous sommes heureux d’accueillir des représentants des
Affaires étrangéres, Commerce et Développement Canada.
Nous souhaitons la bienvenue a Nadir Patel, sous-ministre
adjoint et dirigeant principal des finances, Planification
ministérielle, finances et technologies de l'information — un
homme occupé qui s’occupe de plusieurs dossiers — et a Arun
Thangaraj, qui est directeur général, Direction générale de la
gestion et de la planification des ressources financiéres.

Nous accueillons également André Lapointe, sous-ministre
adjoint, Services généraux et dirigeant principal des finances, de
Transports Canada, ainsi que Kevin Lindsey, dirigeant principal
des finances, le contre-amiral Patrick Finn, chef d’état-major,
Groupe des matériels et le major-général Ian C. Poulter, chef de
programme, qui viennent tous du ministére de la Défense
nationale.

D’apres ce qu’on m’a dit, un porte-parole de chaque ministére
fera une déclaration liminaire. Je vais commencer par les Affaires
étrangéres pour ensuite passer a Transports et au ministére de la
Défense nationale.

Nadir Patel, sous-ministre adjoint et dirigeant principal des
finances, Planification ministérielle, finances et technologies de
Pinformation, Affaires étrangéres, Commerce et Développement
Canada : Merci de votre invitation a comparaitre devant le
comité. Je suis heureux de revenir témoigner. C’est a la mi-février
2014 que j’ai comparu la derniére fois — il y a environ six,
sept semaines —, et je me contenterai donc d’une bréve
déclaration liminaire. C’est avec plaisir que je répondrai ensuite
a vos questions.

Comme nous I’avons mentionné la derniére fois, le nouveau
ministére des Affaires étrangéres, du Commerce et du
Développement a été créé au milieu de 2013 lorsque le projet de
loi C-60 a regu la sanction royale. Le mandat du nouveau
ministére, énoncé dans la Loi sur le ministére des Affaires
étrangéres, du Commerce et du Développement, est vaste et
important pour le Canada et les Canadiens.

Le ministére est chargé de la conduite des relations
diplomatiques et consulaires avec les gouvernements étrangers
et des organisations internationales; tisse des liens avec des acteurs
internationaux afin de faire progresser nos intéréts politiques et
économiques; améliore et maintient 1’accés au marché des
entreprises canadiennes; fournit des services consulaires et des
renseignements de voyage aux Canadiens; aide au maintien de la
paix et de la stabilit¢ dans le monde; dirige des interventions
canadiennes concertées pour donner suite a des crises et a des
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We do all of this and more through a global network of
172 missions in 105 countries abroad, providing a range of
services to Canadians and Canadian businesses while also
supporting the international work of 26 federal departments
and agencies, Crown corporations and provincial governments.

As indicated in our new corporate risk profile, the department
— or DFATD as it is affectionately known within the department
— continues to face a wide range of risks arising from uncertainty
and volatility in the international environment in which it
operates, such as natural disasters, conflicts and security threats.

Against this backdrop of complexity and volatility, combined
with a broad mandate, fluctuations in foreign currencies, varying
rates of inflation abroad and changes in assessed contributions,
the department continues to emphasize prudence in financial
management, in planning and reporting, and identifying and
managing risks in order to deliver its mandate in a sustainable,
effective and efficient manner.

These 2014-15 Main Estimates for DFATD, the first which
fully reflect the newly created department, are $5.349 billion, a net
increase of $3.038 billion in comparison to the previous fiscal
year.

This net increase of $3.038 billion is composed of a net increase
of $2.736 billion in grants and contributions, vote 10; a net
increase of $147 million in operating vote 1; a net decrease of
$20.2 million in capital, vote 5; a net decrease of $14.6 million in
payments in respect of pensions for employees locally engaged
outside of Canada, vote 15; as well as an increase of
$189.5 million for statutory items such as contributions to
employee benefit plans and payments to international financial
institutions.

Overall, the net increase is primarily related to the transfer of a
$3.038 billion of appropriations from the former Canadian
International Development Agency, CIDA, as a result of
Bill C-60 which, as I just mentioned a few minutes ago,
formally created the new department.

Other major increases include $120 million for the crisis pool
quick release mechanism to allow Canada to respond quickly to
major international crisis and disasters involving a multilateral
response; as well as $19.3 million for additional costs related to
assessed contributions, mainly due to currency fluctuations given
that the payment of these contributions is in foreign currency.

catastrophes naturelles a 1’étranger; et lutte contre la pauvreté
dans le monde et accroit la prospérité ainsi que la stabilité dans les
pays en développement.

Nous faisons tout cela et encore davantage a I’aide d’un réseau
international de 172 missions dans 105 pays étrangers qui
fournissent une gamme de services aux Canadiens et aux
entreprises canadiennes tout en appuyant le travail sur la scéne
internationale de 26 ministéres et organismes fédéraux, des
sociétés d’Etat et des gouvernements provinciaux.

Comme I'indique notre nouveau profil de risque ministériel, le
ministére — ou le MAECD, comme I’appellent affectueusement
ses employés — continue de faire face a un large éventail de
risques découlant de lincertitude et de I'instabilité propres a
I’environnement international dans lequel il méne ses activités, ce
qui peut étre attribuable a des catastrophes naturelles, a des
conflits et & des menaces a la sécurité.

Dans ces circonstances complexes et instables, auxquelles
s’ajoutent son vaste mandat, la fluctuation des devises, la
variation des taux d’inflation a I’étranger et les changements
aux quotes-parts, le ministére continue de mettre I’accent sur la
prudence en matiére de gestion financiére, de planification et de
reddition de comptes en plus de relever et de gérer les risques afin
de remplir son mandat de maniére viable, efficace et efficiente.

Dans le Budget principal des dépenses de 2014-2015, le premier
a rendre compte pleinement du nouveau ministére, on prévoit
5,349 milliards de dollars pour le MAECD, ce qui représente une
augmentation nette de 3,038 milliards de dollars par rapport a
I’exercice précédent.

Ce chiffre de 3,038 milliards de dollars comprend une
augmentation nette de 2,736 milliards de dollars en subventions
et contributions, ce qui correspond au crédit 10; une
augmentation nette de 147 millions de dollars des dépenses de
fonctionnement, ce qui correspond au crédit 1; une diminution
nette de 20,2 millions de dollars des dépenses en capital, ce qui
correspond au crédit 5; une diminution nette de 14,6 millions de
dollars des versements au régime de pensions des employés
recrutés sur place a I’extérieur du Canada, ce qui correspond au
crédit 15; ainsi qu'une augmentation de 189,5 millions de dollars
des postes législatifs tels que les contributions aux régimes
d’avantages sociaux des employés et les paiements aux
institutions financiéres internationales.

Dans I’ensemble, 'augmentation nette s’explique surtout par le
transfert de crédits de 3,038 milliards de dollars provenant de
l’ancienne Agence canadienne de développement international,
I’ACDI, en raison de I’adoption du projet de loi C-60, dont je
viens tout juste de parler il y a quelques minutes, qui a donné lieu
a la création officielle du nouveau ministeére.

Parmi les autres augmentations importantes, il convient de
mentionner les 120 millions de dollars pour le mécanisme de
décaissement rapide du compte de crises, pour permettre au
Canada d’intervenir rapidement face aux importantes crises
internationales ou aux catastrophes nécessitant une action
multilatérale; ainsi que les 19,3 millions de dollars liés aux
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Notable funding decreases include $70.4 million resulting from
a Budget 2013 decision to transfer the primary responsibility for
Passport Canada to Citizenship and Immigration Canada, as well
as $52.3 million related to the Budget 2012 spending review.

Looking ahead as we begin fiscal year 2014-15, from a financial
management perspective we will continue to manage and closely
monitor the successful implementation of the Budget 2012
spending review into the third and final year, and we will
continue to leverage the opportunity brought forward by
amalgamation of two former departments, implementing the
best practices and financial management from those two former
departments into one new department.

From a financial management perspective, much work has
already been done on amalgamation of processes, structures,
systems and resources and these Main Estimates are a tangible
example. The department’s recently tabled 2014-15 Report on
Plans and Priorities and the department’s updated corporate risk
profile are further examples of progress towards a fully integrated
new department.

But more work remains and amalgamation will continue to be
a priority. We will continue to harness the talent and energy that
two former departments have demonstrated to continue to deliver
services and programs effectively and efficiently.

I will conclude by emphasizing that as we look ahead, DFATD
remains committed to continuously find ways to better serve
Canadian, promote our values and interests, solve global
challenges and bring prosperity to Canada and the world.

André Lapointe, Assistant Deputy Minister, Corporate Services
and Chief Financial Officer, Transport Canada: Thank you. I will
take you briefly through the highlights of our Main Estimates for
2014-15, and I will start by addressing some of the priorities that
Transport will be financing with the estimates of $1.65 billion that
are being requested.

We will be refining and strengthening Transport Canada’s
safety and security oversight. We will continue to contribute to
the government’s responsible resource development agenda. We
will improve Canada’s competitiveness in critical transportation
infrastructure, and we will ensure that Transport Canada’s
policies, programs and activities will meet the needs of the
transportation system in the long term. We will also adopt the
Government of Canada’s efficiency and renewal measures.

quotes-parts, ce qui est principalement dd a la fluctuation des
taux de change étant donné que ces contributions sont payées en
monnaie étrangeére.

Il convient aussi de mentionner des réductions importantes,
y compris celle de 70,4 millions de dollars attribuable a une
décision du budget de 2013 qui consistait a confier la premiere
responsabilité de Passeport Canada a Citoyenneté et Immigration
Canada ainsi que celle de 52,3 millions de dollars découlant de
I’examen du budget des dépenses 2012.

A Tavenir, pour ce qui est de la gestion financiére au moment
ou s’amorce I’exercice 2014-15, nous continuerons a gérer et a
suivre de prés la mise en ceuvre efficace de I'examen du budget des
dépenses 2012, qui en est a sa troisiéme et derniére année. Nous
continuerons également a mettre a profit les possibilités offertes
par la fusion de deux anciens ministéres en adoptant leurs
pratiques exemplaires en matiére de gestion financiére.

En ce qui a trait a la gestion financiére, des efforts importants
ont déja été déployés pour fusionner les processus, les structures,
les systémes et les ressources, et ce Budget principal des dépenses
I'illustre de maniére concréte. Le Rapport sur les plans et les
priorités de 2014-2015, déposé récemment par le ministeére, et le
profil de risque ministériel mis a jour témoignent également des
progres réalisés pour intégrer pleinement le nouveau ministére.

Il faudra cependant déployer d’autres efforts, et la fusion
demeurera une priorité. Nous continuerons d’employer les talents
et ’énergie qui caractérisaient les employés des deux anciens
ministéres afin de poursuivre la prestation efficace et efficiente de
services et de programmes.

Pour terminer, je tiens a souligner qu’a I’avenir, le MAECD
demeurera résolu a continuellement trouver des fagons de mieux
servir les Canadiens, de promouvoir nos valeurs et nos intéréts, de
relever les défis mondiaux et de favoriser la prospérité du Canada
et des autres pays du monde.

André Lapointe, sous-ministre adjoint, Services généraux et
dirigeant principal des finances, Transports Canada : Merci. Je vais
passer en revue briévement les points saillants de notre Budget
principal des dépenses pour 2014-2015, et je voudrais d’abord
parler de certaines des priorités que Transports financera grace au
montant de 1,65 milliard de dollars qui est demandé dans le
budget des dépenses.

Nous préciserons et renforcerons la surveillance de la sécurité
et de streté de Transports Canada. Nous poursuivrons la
contribution au programme de développement responsable des
ressources du gouvernement. Nous améliorerons la compétitivité
du Canada et I'infrastructure de transport clé et nous veillerons a
ce que les politiques, programmes et activités de Transports
Canada répondent aux besoins du réseau de transport a long
terme. Nous adopterons également les mesures d’efficience et de
renouveau du gouvernement du Canada.
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Now, for more detail, $357 million will be dedicated to the
safety and security of the travelling public, more specifically, to
respond to the recommendations of the OAG 2013 rail oversight
report, including accelerated regulatory development and
enhancing rail safety’s systems-based approach to oversight. We
will also augment the inspection regime, resources and capabilities
of the transportation of dangerous goods program.

Also requested in the estimates are $1.1 billion that will be
directed at improving the efficiency of the transportation system.
This includes work to advance the Detroit River International
Crossing project. As well, funding will continue to support all
levels of government and the private sector in delivering key
transportation infrastructure projects, and it will also serve to
maintain and operate our remaining airports and ports.

As well, $86 million will be dedicated to support a clean
transportation system. This includes further advancing the world
class tanker safety system initiatives, such as enhancing the oil
pollution liability and compensation regime. We’ll continue to
develop regulations for the air, marine and rail modes through
clean transportation initiatives and provide programs to limit air
pollutants and greenhouse gas emissions from transportation
modes. We will also implement the Modernized Navigation
Protection Act and manage and clean up the department’s
contaminated sites.

Also, there is $151 million for internal services to ensure that
the department’s programs and other corporate obligations are
appropriately supported.

Now, the $1.65 billion is an increase over last year’s estimates
by $143.7 million. Some of the new authorities are focused on
world class tanker initiatives and the extension of the remote
passenger rail program. The bulk of it is a re-allocation from
previous years to better match the funding with expenditure
requirements.

That concludes my remarks.

The Chair: I wonder if you could explain that statement.
“Better match funding with expenditure requirements” doesn’t
help us a lot.

Entrons maintenant dans les détails. Un montant de
357 millions de dollars sera consacré a la sécurité et a la
sireté des voyageurs, plus précisément pour répondre aux
recommandations du rapport de 2013 du Bureau du vérificateur
général sur la surveillance de la sécurité ferroviaire, notamment
I’élaboration accélérée de la réglementation et ’amélioration de
I’approche a I’égard de la surveillance axée sur les systémes de
sécurité ferroviaire. Nous augmenterons également le régime, les
ressources et les capacités d’inspection du programme de
transport des marchandises dangereuses.

Dans le budget des dépenses, nous demandons aussi un
montant de 1,1 milliard de dollars qui servira a améliorer
I’efficacité du réseau de transport. Cela comprend le travail
destiné a faire avancer le projet de passage international de la
riviére Detroit. De plus, le financement continuera d’appuyer tous
les ordres de gouvernement et le secteur privé dans la réalisation
de projets essentiels d’infrastructure de transport, et il servira
également a maintenir et a exploiter les aéroports et les ports
restants.

Par ailleurs, un montant de 86 millions de dollars sera consacré
au financement d’un réseau de transport respectueux de
I’environnement. Il s’agit notamment de promouvoir davantage
les initiatives de systémes de sécurité de classe mondiale pour
les navires-citernes, comme [’amélioration du régime de
responsabilité et d’indemnisation en mati¢re de pollution par les
hydrocarbures. Nous continuerons d’élaborer des réglements
pour les modes de transport aérien, maritime et ferroviaire dans
le cadre d’initiatives de réseau de transport respectueux de
I’environnement et de fournir des programmes destinés a limiter
la pollution atmosphérique et les gaz a effet de serre produits par
les modes de transport. Nous mettrons également en ceuvre la
nouvelle Loi sur la protection de la navigation et nous gérerons et
nettoierons les sites contaminés du ministére.

En outre, il y a un montant de 151 millions de dollars pour les
services internes afin de s’assurer que les programmes du
ministére et les autres obligations générales sont adéquatement
financés.

Cela dit, le montant de 1,65 milliard de dollars est une
augmentation de 143,7 millions de dollars par rapport au Budget
principal des dépenses de I'année derniére. Certaines des nouvelles
autorisations sont axées sur les initiatives de navires-citernes de
classe mondiale et Iélargissement du Programme de contributions
pour les services ferroviaires voyageurs dans les collectivités
éloignées. En gros, il s’agit d’une réaffectation des années
précédentes afin de mieux harmoniser le financement avec les
besoins de dépenses.

C’est ce qui conclut mes observations.

Le président : Je me demande si vous pouvez expliquer cet
énoncé. La phrase « mieux harmoniser le financement avec les
besoins de dépenses » ne nous aide pas beaucoup.
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Mr. Lapointe: Essentially, we have a series of infrastructure
funds that have projects that have been approved and funding
that was available in 2013-14. That unfortunately was not
expended by our partners, for all sorts of reasons, so that is re-
profiled to the following year or subsequent years.

The Chair: We have an expert on re-profiling. Thank you,
Mr. Lapointe.

Mr. Lindsey, please.

Kevin Lindsey, Chief Financial Officer, National Defence and
the Canadian Armed Forces: Thank you very much, Mr. Chair
and senators, for the invitation to present DND’s Main Estimates
for 2014-15.

Mr. Chair, I'm fighting a bit of a cold, so if I'm a bit difficult to
understand tonight, please let me apologize in advance.

[Translation)

I will be brief. I am accompanied today by Rear-Admiral
Patrick Finn, Chief of Staff to the Assistant Deputy Minister
(Materiel), and by Major-General Ian C. Poulter, Chief of
Program, Vice-Chief of Defence Staff.

[English)

Turning to the estimates, I'd like to take a few moments to
highlight some key points for the committee.

On page 199 in the English version and page 186 in the French
version, you will note that the National Defence 2014-15 Main
Estimates are $18.7 billion, a net increase in authorities of
approximately $676 million or 4 per cent over the 2013-14
Estimates.

[Translation]

As highlighted on page 200 of the English version, and
page 187 of the French, these Main Estimates contain a number
of changes that reflect the current planning context and the major
factors contributing to the net increase in authorities, including a
net increase of $1,171 million in our capital vote for the net
adjustments to the spending profile of major projects so financial
resources are aligned with current project acquisition timelines
allowing the department to deliver key capabilities such as the
Family of Land Combat Vehicles, the Arctic/Offshore Patrol
Ships, and Maritime Helicopter Project.

M. Lapointe : Essentiellement, nous avons une série de fonds
d’infrastructure qui comprennent des projets ayant déja été
approuvés et pour lesquels le financement était disponible en
2013-2014. Ces fonds n’ont malheureusement pas été utilisés par
nos partenaires, pour toutes sortes de raisons. Voila pourquoi
le montant est reporté a l’année suivante ou aux années
subséquentes.

Le président : Nous avons un spécialiste en mati¢re de report.
Merci, monsieur Lapointe.

Monsieur Lindsey, a vous la parole.

Kevin Lindsey, dirigeant principal des finances, Défense
nationale et les Forces armées canadiennes : Monsieur le
président, mesdames et messieurs les sénateurs, je vous remercie
de m’avoir invité a présenter le Budget principal des dépenses du
ministére de la Défense nationale pour 2014-2015.

Monsieur le président, j’ai un petit rhume, alors si vous avez du
mal a me comprendre ce soir, je vous demande pardon a ’avance.

[Frangais)

Je serai bref. Aujourd’hui je suis accompagné du contre-amiral
Patrick Finn, chef d’état-major pour le sous-ministre adjoint,
Groupe des matériels, et du major-général Ian C. Poulter, chef de
programme aupres du vice-chef d’état-major de la Défense.

[Traduction]

J’aimerais prendre quelques minutes pour présenter au comité
les principaux points qui se trouvent dans le Budget principal des
dépenses.

A 1a page 186 de la version francaise et & la page 199 de la
version anglaise, vous constaterez que le Budget principal des
dépenses du ministére de la Défense nationale pour 2014-2015
s’¢léve a 18,7 milliards de dollars. Il s’agit 1a d’une augmentation
nette des autorisations d’environ 676 millions de dollars, soit un
accroissement de 4 p. 100 par rapport au Budget principal des
dépenses de 2013-2014.

[Frangais)

Comme indiqué a la page 187 de la version francaise, ou a la
page 200 de la version anglaise, le Budget principal des dépenses
contient un certain nombre de changements qui reflétent le
contexte actuel de la planification. Parmi les principaux facteurs
contribuant a l’accroissement net des autorisations figure une
augmentation nette de 1 171 millions de dollars dans notre crédit
pour dépenses en capital pour les rajustements nets dans le profil
des dépenses des grands projets d’immobilisation. Ainsi, les
ressources financiéres sont harmonisées avec les délais
d’acquisition des projets actuels, ce qui permettra au ministére
de fournir des capacités clés, comme la famille de véhicules de
combat terrestre, les navires de patrouille extracétiére de
I’Arctique et le projet d’hélicoptére maritime.
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[English]

These Main Estimates also include an increase of $347 million
associated with the annual escalator on defence spending as
announced in Budget 2008, which provides long-term and
predictable funding.

These increases are partially offset by decreases in our
operating budget related to the final adjustment to fully
implement the Budget 2012 Spending Review, $317 million; a
decrease of $19.5 million related to the end of the training mission
in Afghanistan; a decrease of $128.8 million related to the
implementation of measures announced in Budget 2014 to reduce
travel expenditures and the transfer of liability for future
severance payments to Treasury Board Secretariat; and a
transfer to Shared Services Canada of $72 million.

[Translation]

Mr. Chair, the expenditures included in the 2014-15 Main
Estimates are necessary to provide the Canadian armed forces
with the resources they need to carry out their work on behalf of
Canadians.

[English)

I also want to highlight an important change presented on
page 201 of the English version and page 188 of the French
version. Commencing in 2014-15, National Defence has
implemented a new Program Alignment Architecture composed
of five programs and two strategic outcomes, plus internal
services. While the business of defence remains mostly unchanged,
the articulation of that business is fundamentally altered in the
new Program Alignment Architecture. The activities associated
with the programs were aligned and, in many cases, regrouped in
the new PAA. This is why on page 201 of the English version and
page 188 of the French version the prior year Main Estimate
amounts could not be compared to the new 2014-15 PAA
distribution, with the exception of internal services. The scope of
internal services in our new Program Alignment Architecture is
reduced, as activities directly linked to specific military programs
were aligned to the appropriate program. Therefore, the variance
of $478 million can be attributed mainly to a redistribution of
costs to the appropriate program.

[Translation)

As we move forward in the fiscal year, the department will
continue to monitor our fiscal requirements to ensure value for
taxpayer dollars.

[Traduction]

Le Budget principal des dépenses comprend également une
augmentation de 347 millions de dollars attribuable au facteur de
progression annuel des dépenses de la défense, comme il a été
annoncé dans le budget de 2008, afin de fournir un financement
prévisible et a long terme.

Ces augmentations sont partiellement compensées par des
réductions de notre budget de fonctionnement en ce qui concerne
le rajustement final de 317 millions de dollars pour mettre en
ceuvre complétement I’'examen des dépenses du budget de 2012;
une diminution de 19,5 millions de dollars attribuable a la fin
de la mission d’entrainement en Afghanistan; une réduction de
128,8 millions de dollars liée a la mise en ceuvre des mesures
annoncées dans le budget de 2014 pour réduire les frais de
déplacement et le transfert au Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor du
passif pour les futures indemnités de départ; et enfin, un transfert
de 72 millions de dollars a Services partagés Canada.

[Frangais)

Monsieur le président, les dépenses figurant dans le Budget
principal des dépenses de 2014-2015 sont nécessaires afin de
fournir aux Forces armées canadiennes les ressources dont elles
ont besoin pour faire leur travail au nom des Canadiens et
Canadiennes.

[Traduction]

Je tiens aussi a signaler un changement important qui est
présenté a la page 188 de la version frangaise et a la page 201 de
la version anglaise. A compter de 2014-2015, le ministére de la
Défense nationale va appliquer une nouvelle architecture
d’harmonisation des programmes, composée de cing
programmes et de deux résultats stratégiques, ainsi que des
services internes. Bien que les activités de défense demeurent les
mémes, leur structure est fondamentalement modifiée dans la
nouvelle architecture d’harmonisation des programmes. Les
activités de programmes ont été harmonisées et, dans bien des
cas, regroupées dans la nouvelle architecture d’harmonisation des
programmes. C’est pourquoi a la page 188 de la version francaise
et a la page 201 de la version anglaise, il n’est pas possible de
comparer les montants de ’année précédente a la distribution de
la nouvelle architecture d’harmonisation des programmes pour
2014-2015, sauf pour les services internes. Dans la nouvelle
architecture d’harmonisation des programmes, la portée des
services internes est réduite, car les activités directement liées a
des programmes militaires particuliers ont été¢ harmonisées avec le
programme qui convenait. Par conséquent, 1’écart de 478 millions
de dollars est attribuable principalement a une redistribution des
coflits vers le programme pertinent.

[Frangais)

Pendant le déroulement de I’année financiére, le ministére va
continuer a surveiller ses besoins financiers pour que I’argent des
contribuables soit utilisé a bon escient.
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We will be pleased to listen to the committee’s comments and
to reply to any questions you may have. Thank you.

[English]

The Chair: Mr. Lindsey, can I assume that this new approach
or the Program Alignment Architecture will put the estimates
more in line with the priorities that come out roughly at the same
time?

Mr. Lindsey: The new PAA, Mr. Chair, greatly simplifies the
presentation of our estimates relative to the past, where we had
many more strategic outcomes and program activities. In our
view, the information is presented in a far more simple way and is
far more reflective of the way we actually manage and deliver the
business of defence.

The Chair: But the plans and priorities that come out roughly
at the same time as these estimate documents that we’re looking at
today, will we find it easier to compare the two sets of documents
and looking at what you’re planning over the next year?

Mr. Lindsey: In the report on plans and priorities for DND for
2014-15, there is a table on page 20 which expresses past financial
figures according to the new architecture so that you can compare
the past with the new framework going forward.

The Chair: That’s very helpful, Mr. Lindsey. Thank you for
that.

Senator Eaton: Thank you, gentlemen. Mr. Patel, it is nice to
see you again. Tell me a bit about the rationalization that
happened between trade and development? How well is that focus
on bringing these two together working?

Mr. Patel: The amalgamation between the former Canadian
International Development Agency and the former Department
of Foreign Affairs and International Trade, from our perspective,
is working quite well. It was announced in Budget 2013 so we’re
not quite there a year, but we’re about 10 months into becoming
an amalgamated department given that it was created at the end
of June 2013.

There are three distinct dimensions to this, one on the
corporate administrative functions, if you will. It’s relatively
straightforward because you know you need to bring your
budgets, your financial systems and your corporate information
systems together, so your end state is fairly straightforward. We
found that, as it relates to merging the actual functions, the
business of the former CIDA and the former DFAIT were very
different although the business lines were similar. What I mean by
that is the former CIDA was a programming department with a
high grants and contributions vote and the former DFAIT had a
small grants and contributions vote and a higher operational vote.

Il nous fera plaisir d’entendre les réflexions du comité et de
répondre a toutes les questions que vous pourriez avoir. Merci.

[Traduction]

Le président : Monsieur Lindsey, dois-je présumer que grace a
cette nouvelle approche ou a I'architecture d’harmonisation des
programmes, le budget des dépenses sera plus conforme aux
priorités qui sont annoncées plus ou moins en méme temps?

M. Lindsey : La nouvelle architecture d’harmonisation des
programmes, monsieur le président, simplifie énormément la
présentation de notre budget des dépenses parce qu’avant, nous
avions beaucoup plus de résultats stratégiques et d’activités de
programmes. Selon nous, I'information est présentée de fagon
beaucoup plus simple et elle tient davantage compte de la maniére
dont nous gérons et exécutons les activités de défense dans la
pratique.

Le président : Mais les rapports sur les plans et les priorités
sont publiés presque en méme temps que les documents des
prévisions budgétaires, que nous examinons aujourd’hui. Aurons-
nous plus de facilité a comparer les deux séries de documents et a
examiner vos plans pour I’année prochaine?

M. Lindsey : Dans le rapport sur les plans et les priorités du
ministére de la Défense nationale pour 2014-2015, on trouve un
tableau a la page 21 qui présente les chiffres financiers antérieurs
selon la nouvelle architecture afin de permettre des comparaisons
entre I’ancien et le nouveau cadre.

Le président : C’est trés utile, monsieur Lindsey. Merci de cette
information.

La sénatrice Eaton : Merci, messieurs. Monsieur Patel, je suis
heureuse de vous revoir. Parlez-moi un peu de la rationalisation
des activités liées au commerce et au développement? Dans quelle
mesure l'effort de réunir ces deux secteurs donne-t-il de bons
résultats?

M. Patel : De notre point de vue, la fusion entre ’ancienne
Agence canadienne de développement international et I’ancien
ministére des Affaires étrangéres et du Commerce international
fonctionne trés bien. La fusion a été annoncée dans le budget de
2013, alors cela ne fait pas tout a fait un an; en fait nous avons un
ministére fusionné depuis environ 10 mois, puisqu’il a été créé a la
fin de juin 2013.

Cette fusion comporte trois dimensions distinctes, dont 1’'une
concerne les fonctions administratives organisationnelles, pour
ainsi dire. C’est relativement simple parce qu’on sait qu’il faut
réunir les budgets, les systémes financiers et les systémes
d’information ministériels; par conséquent, le résultat final est
assez simple. Nous avons constaté qu’en ce qui concerne la fusion
des fonctions réelles, les activités de I’ancienne ACDI et celles de
I’ancien MAECI étaient trés différentes, malgré la similitude des
secteurs d’activités. Je veux dire par 1a que I’ancienne ACDI était
un ministére de programmes, doté d’un crédit élevé pour les
subventions et contributions, alors que I’'ancien MAECI avait un
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There were different talents and functions in the workforce.
Bringing them together found a lot of synergy but little in the way
of overlap and duplication. It’s working very well.

There is still some work ahead of us on the corporate side.
Investing in full integration of all of our systems, given that we
were on different systems, is taking some additional time.
However, that’s expected. We have over 130 different initiatives
on corporate items, including our program alignment
architecture, our RPP and our department performance report.
Some of those have been completed; some additional work
remains to be done to streamline through amalgamation.

The second element is policy on the programming side. We’ve
introduced an amalgamated organizational structure where you
see trade, development, Foreign Affairs and other business lines,
whether it’s security or corporate functions, working together.
For example, with our geographic programs, we now have one
branch that is responsible for all of Africa, including trade
promotion, investment promotion, development initiatives and
other foreign policy programs, working under one assistant
deputy minister; and the managers, employees and units are
integrated to work together. Abroad, our heads of mission are
now accountable for the whole range of programming, whether
it’s development, trade or foreign affairs, depending on the
country, and we’re making sure that appropriate training and
expertise is brought forward where there may be some gaps as a
result of previous business lines not being fully immersed. That
work is in the early stages but it’s working quite well.

Finally, on the people management side, we’re very mindful
that an amalgamation of two departments brings forward some
anxiety and concerns but we are trying hard to inform and
communicate as much as possible. There have not been any major
workforce impacts. If anything, there have been opportunities for
cross-training and new career development opportunities as well.
So far it’s going well, but that’s going to be an area of ongoing
focus for us, because we’re mindful of the work we need to do
from a human resources perspective to bring together two
business lines into one department.

As I said in my opening remarks, as much as amalgamation of
two departments brings forward challenges, it is an opportunity
to leverage the best from two former departments and to build
something new. That’s really the mindset we have. We’re working
with our employees and doing a lot of consultation with our

crédit peu élevé pour les subventions et contributions, mais un
crédit supérieur pour les dépenses de fonctionnement. De plus, les
effectifs avaient différents talents et fonctions. La fusion a permis
d’obtenir beaucoup de synergies, tout en diminuant les
chevauchements et les doubles emplois. Cela fonctionne a
merveille.

Il reste encore du travail a faire du c6té des services généraux. Il
nous faut un peu plus de temps pour examiner la pleine
intégration de tous nos systémes, étant donné que nous
utilisions différents systémes. Toutefois, on s’y attendait. Il y a
plus de 130 initiatives différentes dans le cadre des services
généraux, notamment notre architecture d’harmonisation des
programmes, notre rapport sur les plans et les priorités et notre
rapport ministériel sur le rendement. Certaines de ces initiatives
sont terminées; il reste encore a rationaliser quelques activités a la
suite de la fusion.

Le deuxiéme élément concerne la politique sur le plan des
programmes. Nous avons instauré une structure organisationnelle
fusionnée, dans laquelle il y a une collaboration entre les unités du
commerce, du développement, des affaires étrangéres et d’autres
secteurs d’activités, que ce soit la sécurité ou les fonctions
intégrées. Par exemple, en ce qui a trait a nos programmes
géographiques, nous avons maintenant une direction générale qui
est chargée de I’ensemble de I’Afrique, y compris de la promotion
du commerce et des investissements, des initiatives de
développement et d’autres programmes de politiques étrangéres,
qui relévent d’un seul sous-ministre adjoint. Nous avons donc
intégré les gestionnaires, employés et unités afin qu’ils travaillent
ensemble. A I’étranger, nos chefs de mission s’occupent
maintenant de toute la gamme de programmes, qu’il s’agisse du
développement, du commerce ou des affaires étrangéres, selon le
pays, et nous nous assurons d’offrir la formation et les
compétences appropriées 1a ou il pourrait y avoir des lacunes,
du fait que les anciens secteurs d’activités n’étaient pas
entiérement intégrés. Nous en sommes aux premiéres étapes,
mais nous avons obtenu d’excellents résultats.

Enfin, sur le plan de la gestion des personnes, nous sommes tres
conscients qu’une fusion de deux ministéres entraine une certaine
anxiété, mais nous nous efforcons de communiquer le plus
d’informations possible. Il n’y a pas eu d’impact important sur la
main-d’ceuvre. A tout le moins, nous avons offert des possibilités
de formation réciproque et de nouvelles occasions de
perfectionnement professionnel. Jusqu’a présent, cela fonctionne
bien, mais nous devrons sans cesse déployer des efforts dans ce
domaine, parce que nous sommes conscients du travail qu’il faut
accomplir du point de vue des ressources humaines pour
regrouper deux secteurs d’activités en un seul ministére.

Comme je I’ai dit dans mes observations préliminaires, méme si
la fusion de deux ministéres apporte son lot de difficultés, nous
avons la possibilité de miser sur les points forts des deux anciens
ministéres pour batir quelque chose de nouveau. C’est vraiment
I'optique que nous avons adoptée. Nous travaillons avec notre
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employees and with our bargaining agents, as well as abroad and
at headquarters.

Senator Eaton: It is probably fair to say that next year would
be a better time to judge from a budget point of view. That’s not
the only consideration but that would be a fair assessment?

Mr. Patel: I think that would be a fair assessment. From a
CFO perspective, bringing two departments together will provide
opportunity for some synergies and for leveraging some
efficiencies, but it’s not going to be something so dramatic
because the functions were quite distinctly different. Whatever
those deficiencies are, this wasn’t meant to be a cutting exercise.
That was made clear by our minister and in the budget. However,
whatever those efficiencies are will provide an opportunity to
optimize or reallocate those resources in line with our priority as a
department.

Senator Eaton: Mr. Lindsey, in your remarks, you were talking
about the net increase of $1.1 million in our capital vote for the
net adjustment spending profile of major capital projects such as
the family of land combat vehicles and the Arctic offshore patrol
ships. Does that amount have anything to do with the expected
delivery or is this just the ongoing costs of development?

Mr. Lindsey: First, senator, I may have misspoken in my
remarks. The increase is actually $1.1 billion.

Senator Eaton: I thought so, but then I read “million” and I
thought, aren’t we getting a lot for nothing.

Mr. Lindsey: Don’t we wish.
The Chair: Are we getting a lot?

Senator Eaton: Is this giving us the happy news that some of
these are online to be delivered shortly, or is this just ongoing
cost?

Mr. Lindsey: I will defer to Rear-Admiral Finn for a complete
answer, but I think in its essence this is a good news story. Things
are progressing.

Rear-Admiral Patrick Finn, Chief of Staff, Material Group,
National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces: Thank you very
much for the question. It is in the projects we listed. For example,
in the family of land combat vehicles there are three projects: our
tactical armoured patrol vehicles, our force mobility enhancement
and the upgrade of our Light Armoured Vehicles, all of which are
coming into delivery. In the case of the Light Armoured Vehicles,
they are starting to deliver.

personnel et nous consultons amplement nos employés et nos
agents négociateurs, tant a I’étranger qu’a I’administration
centrale.

La sénatrice Eaton: Il est probablement juste de dire que
I’année prochaine, on sera mieux a méme de juger les résultats du
point de vue budgétaire. Ce n’est pas la seule considération, mais
ce serait une fagon assez juste de voir les choses, n’est-ce pas?

M. Patel : Je crois que oui. Du point de vue d'un dirigeant
principal des finances, la fusion des deux ministéres permettra de
créer des synergies et de miser sur certains gains d’efficience, mais
les résultats ne seront pas trés considérables, parce que les
fonctions étaient pas mal différentes. Peu importe ces gains
d’efficience, cet exercice n’était pas congu pour réduire des
dépenses. Notre ministre I’a d’ailleurs clairement indiqué, et on I’a
également précisé dans le budget. Bref, peu importe ces gains
d’efficience, ils permettront d’optimiser ou de réaffecter ces
ressources, selon les priorités de notre ministére.

La sénatrice Eaton : Monsieur Lindsey, dans vos observations,
vous avez parlé de I'augmentation nette de 1,1 million de dollars
dans notre crédit pour dépenses en capital pour les rajustements
nets dans le profil des dépenses liées aux grands projets
d’immobilisation, comme la famille de véhicules de combat
terrestre et les navires de patrouille extracotiers de I’Arctique.
Ce montant a-t-il quelque chose a voir avec la livraison prévue, ou
s’agit-il seulement des cofits permanents de développement?

M. Lindsey : Tout d’abord, madame la sénatrice, je me suis
probablement mal exprimé durant mon exposé. 1l s’agit, en fait,
d’une augmentation de 1,1 milliard de dollars.

La sénatrice Eaton : C’est ce que je pensais, mais ensuite, j’ai lu
le mot « million »et je me suis dit que nous obtenions beaucoup a
peu de frais.

M. Lindsey : Si seulement c’était vrai.
Le président : Est-ce bien le cas?

La sénatrice Eaton : Cela nous annonce-t-il la bonne nouvelle
que certains de ces véhicules seront livrés sous peu, ou s’agit-il
uniquement d’un coft permanent?

M. Lindsey : Je vais céder la parole au contre-amiral Finn pour
qu’il vous donne une réponse compléte, mais je pense qu’au fond,
c’est une bonne nouvelle. Les choses avancent.

Contre-amiral Patrick Finn, chef d’état-major, Groupe des
matériels, Défense nationale et les Forces armées canadiennes :
Merci beaucoup pour la question. Il s’agit des projets que nous
avons énumérés. Par exemple, dans la famille de véhicules de
combat terrestre, il y a trois projets : nos véhicules de patrouille
blindés tactiques, notre projet d’amélioration de la mobilité des
forces et notre projet de modernisation du véhicule blindé léger,
dont le tout sera bientdt livré. Dans le cas des véhicules blindés
légers, la livraison a déja débuté.
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The fiscal year that we’ve just started will be a big year for us to
see delivery of many of those vehicles. We also have the Arctic
offshore patrol ship. We will be finishing the design this year and
will be entering into implementation to start building the Arctic
offshore patrol ship next summer.

Senator Eaton: There’s “ships” here, plural. How many?

Rear-Admiral Finn: There are ships; yes, there are. What is
approved is for six to eight ships. As we go through the design and
the production on the first ship, we’ll get a better understanding,
if you will, of the unit cost. We’re working closely in this case with
the shipyard on the East Coast, Irving Shipbuilding, to work
through the design with them to drive down the cost. We’ll find
out exactly where we’re going to land and the exact number as we
build the first ship.

Senator Eaton: So we have happy news, and then part of that
$1 billion will be going towards design and ongoing costs for the
Arctic ships?

Rear-Admiral Finn: The Arctic patrol ships; yes, they are.

Senator Eaton: When do you expect delivery of those, all going
well?

Rear-Admiral Finn: Delivery of the first Arctic offshore patrol
ships is in 2018. Also in that list of projects is the Maritime
helicopter project, which is one that has been problematic. We
have entered into agreement to re-profile it with the supplier
Sikorsky. We will start accepting helicopters in the summer of
2015, which will allow us to start retiring the Sea Kings.

Senator Eaton: That’s very good news.

The Chair: Regarding land combat vehicles and that family of
land vehicles that you’ve been talking about, we heard about one
project that was cancelled a few months ago. Is this the LAVIII
that we’re talking about here?

Rear-Admiral Finn: Yes, the one that was cancelled a few
months ago was the Close Combat Vehicle. It was under this
whole thing that we have called a family. It’s called that in the
sense that there were different vehicles under the aegis of this
program. That one was cancelled. What we are talking about here
are the Light Armoured Vehicles 111, which are being upgraded
and will now be called the Light Armoured Vehicle VI. That’s the
new nomenclature for it.

The Chair: That’s inflation for you.

L’exercice financier qui vient de commencer sera une année
importante pour nous, car bon nombre de ces véhicules nous
seront livrés. C’est sans compter les navires de patrouille
extracotiers de I’Arctique. Nous allons achever la conception
cette année, aprés quoi nous passerons a 1’étape de la mise en
ceuvre pour commencer la construction de ces navires de
patrouille 1’été prochain.

La sénatrice Eaton : On voit ici le mot « navires », au pluriel.
Combien y en a-t-il?

Cam Finn : En effet, il y a plusieurs navires. Il y en a six ou huit
qui ont été approuvés. Quand nous aurons terminé 1’étape de la
conception et de la production du premier navire, nous aurons
une meilleure idée du coit unitaire, pour ainsi dire. En
I’occurrence, nous collaborons étroitement avec le chantier
naval de la cote Est, Irving Shipbuilding, en vue de réduire les
frais de conception. Nous connaitrons le chiffre exact une fois que
nous aurons construit le premier navire.

La sénatrice Eaton : Nous avons donc une bonne nouvelle, et
une partie du montant de 1 milliard de dollars sera consacrée a la
conception et aux cofits permanents des navires de I’Arctique,
n’est-ce pas?

Cam Finn : Les navires de patrouille de I’Arctique; oui, c’est
bien le cas.

La sénatrice Eaton : Quand devrait-on les recevoir, si tout va
bien?

Cam Finn : La livraison des premiers navires de patrouille
extracotiers de I’Arctique est prévue pour 2018. De plus, dans la
méme liste, on trouve le projet d’hélicoptéres maritimes, qui s’est
avéré problématique. Nous avons conclu une entente pour
reporter le cout au fournisseur Sikorsky. Nous allons
commencer a recevoir les hélicopteres a 1’été 2015, ce qui nous
permettra d’entamer le retrait des Sea Kings.

La sénatrice Eaton : Ce sont la de trés bonnes nouvelles.

Le président : En ce qui concerne les véhicules de combat
terrestre et cette famille de véhicules terrestres dont vous avez
parlé, nous avons entendu parler d’un projet qui a été annuléily a
quelques mois. Est-ce bien du VBL III dont il est ici question?

Cam Finn : Oui, le projet qui a été annulé il y a quelques mois
était celui du véhicule de combat rapproché. Il faisait partie de ce
groupe de véhicules — cette famille de véhicules, si vous voulez —
qui étaient visés par le programme. Ce projet a été annulé. Ceux
dont nous parlions sont les véhicules blindés légers 111, qui feront

I'objet d’'une mise a niveau et qui seront désormais appelés
véhicules blindés légers VI. C’est leur nouvelle appellation.

Le président : C’est votre version de I'inflation.
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Rear-Admiral Finn: It is. It’s quite a different vehicle. It’s been
substantially redesigned, and we’re very impressed with what
we’ve been seeing in testing and delivery. That was part of the
motivation to step away from the Close Combat Vehicle.

We’ve talked previously about another capability: The forced
mobility enhancement, which are armoured combat vehicles and
recovery vehicles. Those are in delivery. Now we’re going to be
delivering the implements to work with those vehicles. Those will
start to be delivered early next year.

The Tactical Armoured Patrol Vehicle is another one, where
we’re into detailed testing right now. Later this fiscal year, we
anticipate starting to take delivery of the vehicles.

The Chair: Do I have the name Coyote right?

Rear-Admiral Finn: Coyote is a reconnaissance vehicle we're
replacing. There is a variant of the armoured vehicle we will be
upgrading to replace it. We’re trying to find economies of scale,
and within the light armoured vehicles, actually use it for multiple
purposes such that we have a common platform to try to drive
down service support costs.

The Chair: Did I understand that the LAV VI is a new vehicle,
or is it a LAV III that’s just been reworked?

Rear-Admiral Finn: It is the latter, but it has been substantially
reworked — much more protection, much more mobility. It’s got
a new hull. It’s a fairly dramatic upgrade. Our testing to date has
proven that it’s providing a better capability than we thought we
would receive, which was part of our discussion around canceling
the close combat vehicles.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: My first question is for Foreign Affairs, Trade
and Development Canada. In your opening statement, when you
talked about the future, you raised the matter of the
amalgamation of departments. You referred to best
management practices, amalgamating processes, structures,
et cetera. I would like you to explain to me more in detail what
your amalgamation plan is, the steps involved and the costs
related to the plan.

[English]

Mr. Patel: I’ll build on the answer provided earlier.

In terms of what we would refer to as the “merger plan,” if I
can use that term, the way we’re functioning is we have a small
unit dedicated to the planning and the implementation of a range

Cam Finn: Tout a fait. C’est un véhicule qui différe
passablement de son prédécesseur. Il a été redessiné dans une
vaste mesure, et nous avons été trés impressionnés par ce que nous
avons vu lors des essais et a la livraison. C’est d’ailleurs une des
raisons pour lesquelles nous avons laissé tomber le véhicule de
combat rapproché.

Nous avons déja parlé d’une autre capacité : 'amélioration de
la mobilité des forces, qui comprend des véhicules blindés de
combat et des véhicules blindés de dépannage. Ces véhicules en
sont a la livraison. Au début de I’an prochain, nous allons
commencer la livraison des accessoires qui fonctionnent avec ces
véhicules.

Le véhicule de patrouille blindé tactique en est un autre. Nous
en sommes aux essais détaillés avec celui-la. Nous nous attendons
a ce que leur livraison commence un peu plus tard au cours du
présent exercice.

Le président : S’agit-il du Coyote?

Cam Finn : Le Coyote est un véhicule de reconnaissance que
nous allons remplacer. Pour ce faire, nous effectuerons la mise a
niveau d’une autre version du véhicule blindé. Nous cherchons a
faire des économies d’échelle. Nous essayons a cette fin d’utiliser
les véhicules blindés légers dans de multiples contextes, ce qui
nous permettra d’avoir une plateforme commune et de réduire
ainsi les cofits des services de soutien.

Le président : Ai-je bien compris que le VBL VI est un nouveau
véhicule? Ou s’agit-il simplement d’une version retravaillée du
VBL III?

Cam Finn : C’est une version retravaillée du VBL III, mais il
s’agit d’un travail en profondeur — la protection et la mobilité
ont été grandement accrues. Les véhicules ont été dotés d’une
nouvelle coque. Il s’agit d’une mise a niveau assez drastique. Les
essais effectués jusqu’ici nous indiquent qu’il nous en donne plus
que ce a quoi nous nous attendions, ce qui a aussi eu une
incidence sur notre décision d’annuler le projet des véhicules de
combat rapproché.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Chaput: Ma premicére question s’adresse a
Affaires étrangéres, Commerce et Développement Canada.
Dans votre déclaration d’ouverture, quand vous parlez de
I’avenir, vous soulevez la question de la fusion des ministéres.
Vous parlez de meilleures pratiques de gestion, de fusionner des
processus, des structures, et cetera. J’aimerais que vous
m’expliquiez un peu plus en détail votre plan de fusion, les
étapes et les cofits reliés a ce plan.

[Traduction]

M. Patel : Je vais partir d’une réponse qui a été donnée plus
tot.

En ce qui concerne le « plan pour la fusion », si vous me
permettez d’utiliser ce terme, nous avons une petite unité qui se
consacre a la planification et a4 la mise en ceuvre d’une série
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of initiatives related to amalgamating the department. It’s headed
up by an individual with a small team of folks who are supporting
that.

This transition team or amalgamation unit is leading a number
of different specific initiatives. As part of those initiatives, we
have a change management plan, and that change management
plan engages a number of different areas, including human
resources, corporate systems, corporate processes and policies. It
also gets into the program and policy elements that I alluded to a
little bit earlier.

This is not something that would be done in a very short period
of time. It’s seen to be a multi-year initiative. Some elements of
that can be done very quickly and have already been completed —
and I'd referred to a few examples — but some elements of that
will take quite a bit of time. When you have two departments and
their workforces and different occupational groups, bargaining
agents, assignments processes and types of staffing processes,
bringing them together is going to take a little bit of time.

We have our assistant deputy minister responsible for human
resources working on all the different facets of human resources:
It could be the occupational group structure; it could be training
and learning needed to cross-develop employees; et cetera. That
was incorporated into our change management plan.

I already mentioned this and I won’t repeat some of the
specifics, but on the corporate side, we have over 130 different
initiatives that deal with planning, reporting, accounting,
financial policy and financial systems. For example, if you have
two departments that have their own financial policies that come
from or conform to Treasury Board policies where there is an
opportunity to bring these together, we either have done it or will
do it. The same on human resources — all these corporate
elements.

It is the same idea with corporate systems. There is a lot of
work to do continuing on with the amalgamation of systems.

We have an external advisory group, as well, made up of
individuals from outside of the department and government. They
are providing advice to our deputy ministers in terms of best
practices for mergers and some of the things we should consider.
That external advisory group meets once every couple of months
and provides advice to the deputy minister. So there’s some
expertise from outside, as well.

The final thing I will mention that is noteworthy is that when I
talk about best practices, I talk about the capacity or expertise in
one former department. We found some areas where it was what |
would refer to as an area of improvement in the other department
and vice versa. So this is great, because it allows us then to
see what one department was doing really well. Financial

d’initiatives relatives a la fusion des ministéres. L’unité, qui est
dirigée par une personne, regroupe quelques autres qui appuient
cette fusion.

L’équipe de transition ou l'unité chargée d’amalgamer le tout
pilote un certain nombre d’initiatives particuliéres distinctes.
Parmi ces initiatives, nous avons un plan pour la gestion du
changement qui touche a divers aspects organisationnels, dont les
ressources humaines, les systémes organisationnels ainsi que les
politiques et processus organisationnels. Sont aussi visés les
éléments concernant les programmes et les politiques auxquels j’ai
déja fait allusion.

Ce n’est pas quelque chose qui pourra se faire en un trés court
laps de temps. On croit que c’est une initiative qui s’étendra sur
plusieurs années. Certains volets de cette fusion pourront prendre
forme trés rapidement et ont déja été mis en ceuvre — et j’en ai
donné quelques exemples —, mais d’autres nécessiteront pas mal
de temps. Il faudra en effet un peu plus de temps pour fusionner
deux ministéres qui ont des effectifs, des groupes professionnels,
des agents négociateurs, des processus d’affectation et des
processus de dotation distincts.

Notre sous-ministre adjoint aux ressources humaines travaille
sur toutes les facettes liées aux ressources humaines. Il peut s’agir
de la structure des groupes professionnels, de la formation et de
I’enseignement requis pour développer les compétences
transversales des employés, et cetera. Cela a été intégré a notre
plan de gestion du changement.

Jai déja mentionné cela et je ne répéterai pas certains
détails, mais sur le plan organisationnel, nous avons plus de
130 initiatives distinctes en matiére de planification, de rapports,
de comptabilité, de politiques financiéres et de systémes
financiers. Par exemple, si deux ministéres ont chacun des
politiques financiéres émanant des politiques du Conseil du
Trésor ou conformes a elles, et qu’il y a une occasion de les
fusionner, nous ’avons déja fait ou nous sommes sur le point de le
faire. Et il en va de méme des ressources humaines et de tous les

autres aspects organisationnels.

Le principe est le méme pour les systémes organisationnels. Il y
a encore beaucoup a faire en ce qui concerne la fusion des
systemes.

Nous avons un groupe consultatif externe, qui est lui aussi
constitué de personnes qui ne font pas partie du ministére et du
gouvernement. Elles donnent des conseils & nos sous-ministres en
les informant des pratiques exemplaires en matiére de fusion et de
certaines choses dont ils devraient tenir compte. Ce groupe
consultatif externe se réunit tous les deux mois et prodigue des
conseils au sous-ministre. Nous pouvons donc aussi compter dans
une certaine mesure sur un savoir-faire provenant de ’extérieur.

La derniére chose digne de mention est que lorsque je parle de
pratiques exemplaires, je fais allusion a la capacité ou au savoir-
faire des anciens ministéres. Dans certains domaines, le transfert
de connaissances est une bénédiction pour I'un ou lautre des
ministéres, ce qui est formidable, puisque cela nous permet de voir
ce que 'un des deux faisait trés bien. La gestion financiére en est



9:140

National Finance

9-4-2014

management is a good example of that. When we talk about
grants and contributions, administration and the fiduciary risk
assessments done on every dollar that goes out the door on the
former CIDA side, we can incorporate that into the rest of the
department. It brings greater rigour and a much more robust
management framework. That’s just one example, and there are
many others like that.

Bringing this all together, we have what we internally refer to
as governance committees. We have a policy committee, a
programs committee, a resource management committee and a
corporate management committee. Those committees are
overseeing implementation of these pieces to the overall change
management plan.

In terms of how much it’s costing or how much it’s saving, it’s
too early to tell. Right now it is early days. We're tracking any
one-time costs. For example, if you need to implement systems
changes, these are one-time costs and we’ll track and provide for
those with some financial flexibility we’re building up in the
department.

Then it will take time to determine what any ongoing costs are.
And the savings, as I mention earlier — it’s not a cuts exercise, but
there will be some efficiencies, and we would like to use those
efficiencies and redirect them to areas where that could cost us in
terms of improving or moving ahead.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: That is a very good answer and I thank you. Is
the staff that is already there doing that work with the
committees, or did you have to hire more people?

[English]

Mr. Patel: It’s people in the department now. We haven’t hired
externally to do this kind of work. These governance committees
are made up of directors general and assistant deputy ministers.
We have a departmental consultative group made up of
employees from all different levels in the department and
missions.

But all of this work, including the amalgamation unit, is all
employees from within the department.

[Translation]

Senator Chaput: I have a question for National Defence. In
your statement you talked about a transfer to Shared Services
Canada of $72 million. In our committee, we hear a lot about
transfers to Shared Services Canada. I would like you to explain
to us whether National Defence services will now be offered by
Shared Services Canada, on your behalf? How will that work

un bon exemple. Tout ce qui touche aux subventions et aux
contributions, a I’administration et aux évaluations du risque
fiduciaire qui étaient réalisées sur chaque dollar dépensé par I’ex-
ACDI, peut désormais étre intégré a la nouvelle structure. Cela
donne de la rigueur et de la robustesse au cadre de gestion. Cela
n’est qu'un exemple, mais il y en a de nombreux autres de la méme
eau.

Pour mettre tout cela ensemble, nous avons ce que nous
appelons, a I'interne, des comités de gouvernance. Nous avons un
comité des politiques, un comité des programmes, un autre pour
la gestion des ressources et un autre pour la gestion
organisationnelle. Ces comités supervisent la mise en place de
ces différents aspects dans le cadre du grand plan de la gestion du
changement.

Il est encore trop to6t pour dire combien cela colitera ou
combien d’économies pourront étre réalisées. Ce n’est que le
commencement. Nous prenons note de tous les coiits ponctuels.
Par exemple, les changements qui doivent étre apportés aux
systémes sont des cofits ponctuels que nous suivons et que nous
assumerons avec une certaine flexibilité, flexibilit¢é que nous
tentons de mettre en place au sein de I'organisation.

Il faudra du temps pour établir les coits permanents de cet
exercice. En ce qui concerne les économies, comme je I’ai dit, il ne
s’agit pas d’un exercice de compression. La fusion permettra
toutefois de réaliser certaines économies ou certains gains
d’efficience dont nous aimerions nous servir dans d’autres
domaines qui devront étre améliorés ou créés.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Chaput : C’est une trés bonne réponse et je vous en
remercie. Maintenant, est-ce le personnel en place qui fait ce
travail avec les comités ou bien avez- vous di embaucher des
personnes additionnelles?

[Traduction]

M. Patel : Ce sont les gens du ministére. Nous n’avons
embauché personne de l’extérieur pour faire ce travail. Ces
comités de gouvernance sont composés de directeurs généraux et
de sous-ministres adjoints. Nous avons un groupe consultatif
ministériel qui se compose d’employés provenant de tous les
différents niveaux du ministére et des missions.

Mais tout ce travail, y compris I'unité responsable de la fusion,
est le fait des employés du ministére.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Chaput: J’ai une question pour la Défense
nationale. Dans votre allocution vous avez parlé d’un transfert
a Services partagés Canada de 72 millions de dollars. Dans notre
comité, nous entendons beaucoup parler de transferts a Services
partagés Canada. J’aimerais que vous nous expliquiez si, pour la
Défense nationale, des services seront maintenant offerts a
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between National Defence and Shared Services Canada? Will
there be a transfer of services, since there is a transfer of funds?

Mr. Lindsey: That transfer is part of the evolution of the
creation of Shared Services Canada. The business model involving
National Defence and Shared Services Canada is similar, as well
as that of Shared Services Canada with the other departments and
agencies.

[English)

As part of that evolution, Shared Services Canada is assuming
responsibility for the support of end-user devices. So National
Defence is transferring money that we would have used to provide
that support ourselves to Shared Services Canada, which will
provide that service in the future.

[Translation)

Mr. Lindsey: That is a part of those transfers. Another part is
that —

[English)

Shared Services Canada will be responsible for installing the
technology backbone in the new National Defence headquarters
at the Carling campus. So we are transferring approximately
$27.9 million in 2014-15 to Shared Services Canada to support
that work.

Senator Chaput: Will this new technology be bought by Shared
Services Canada, or will you be buying the technology or
whatever it is and then Shared Services Canada will install it?
How does it work? In some other departments the equipment is
bought, then delivered and installed in the department. How will
it be working for you?

Mr. Lindsey: Senator, Defence will pay for the equipment. As
to who actually issues the contract and does the financial
exchange, I am uncertain whether it is Defence or Shared
Services Canada, but I believe it is Shared Services Canada.

Senator Chaput: Once it’s installed, there is a contract. If there
are problems, who will be responsible for taking care of them?
This has to be cleared before —

Mr. Lindsey: As part of the business model, Shared Services
Canada will be responsible for providing the service and support.
They will be the people we call when we need help, for those
services that we transfer to them.

Senator Chaput: Thank you. I will be asking the same question
next year if I'm still around.

Mr. Lindsey: Thank you for the warning.

The Chair: You’ll still be here. I'll go first to the deputy chair of
the committee, Senator Buth — sorry, Senator Smith.

Services partagés Canada pour vous? Comment cela va-t-il
fonctionner avec la Défense nationale et Services partagés
Canada? Est-ce qu’il y a un transfert de services puisqu’il y a un
transfert d’argent?

M. Lindsey : Ce transfert fait partie de I’évolution de
I’établissement de Services partagés Canada. Le modele d’affaire
entre la Défense nationale et Services partagés Canada est
similaire, de méme que celui de Services partagés Canada avec
les autres ministéres et agences.

[Traduction]

Dans le cadre de cette évolution, Services partagés Canada
assume la responsabilité du soutien des appareils d’utilisateur
final. Alors, la Défense nationale transfére a Services partagés
Canada l’argent dont nous aurions eu besoin pour offrir ce
soutien nous-mémes.

[Frangais)

Mr. Lindsey : Cela fait partie de ces transferts. Une autre
partie, c’est que...

[Traduction]

Services partagés Canada sera chargé d’installer le support
technologique a la nouvelle administration centrale de la Défense
nationale, au campus Carling. La somme transférée a Services
partagés Canada a cette fin en 2014-2015 sera d’environ
27,9 millions de dollars.

La sénatrice Chaput : Est-ce que Services partagés Canada
achétera cette nouvelle technologie ou peu importe ce que c’est, et
qu’il I'installera par la suite? Comment cela fonctionne-t-il? Dans
d’autres ministéres, I’équipement est acheté, puis livré et installé
dans le ministéere. Comment cela se passera-t-il chez vous?

M. Lindsey : Madame la sénatrice, c’est le ministére de la
Défense qui va payer pour I’équipement. Pour ce qui est de savoir
qui émet le contrat et qui fait le transfert de fonds proprement dit,
je ne sais pas exactement si c’est le ministére de la Défense ou
Services partagés Canada, mais je crois que c’est Services partagés
Canada.

La sénatrice Chaput : Une fois I’équipement installé, il y a un
contrat. S’il y a des problémes, qui sera chargé de s’en occuper? 11
faut que cela soit clarifié avant que...

M. Lindsey : Conformément au modéle opérationnel, c’est
Services partagés Canada qui prodiguera les services et le soutien.
C’est a lui que nous nous adresserons si nous avons besoin d’aide,
pour les services que nous leur aurons confiés.

La sénatrice Chaput : Merci. Je vais poser les mémes questions
I’an prochain, si je suis toujours la.

M. Lindsey : Merci pour I'avertissement.

Le président : Vous serez encore 1a. Je vais d’abord donner la

parole au vice-président du comité, la sénatrice Buth — pardon, le
sénateur Smith.
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Senator Buth: Thank you for the raise.

Senator L. Smith: Is there something you’re trying to tell me?

[Translation]

I have a question for Mr. Lapointe.

[English]

I saw you sitting there looking very lonely. You must be feeling
neglected.

[Translation]

You mentioned priorities in your statement.

[English]

I am looking at the notes I took and then at the book, and I see
some of the highlighted lines in terms of expenditures, but I just
wondered if you could summarize this.

[Translation]

Can you give us an overview of the three most important
priorities?

Mr. Lapointe: First, I would certainly mention strengthening
our security and safety surveillance capacity.

Senator L. Smith: Would that be your first priority?
Mr. Lapointe: Yes.

Senator L. Smith: Can you give us some more details on that?

Mr. Lapointe: The main task regarding transportation consists
precisely in carrying out surveillance of all modes: air, water, rail,
and the transport of dangerous goods.

Following the tragic events that occurred last summer in Lac-
M¢égantic, we took a step back to see if certain things needed to be
adjusted in our system, that is to say whether certain regulations
needed to be amended immediately. And that is what we did.

That, however, is a continuous process. For instance, in the
area of aviation, we have to ensure that we are aligned with
international practices. The same thing is true on the marine side.
These are systems that are always evolving and we have to adapt
our rules so as to make sure that we are consistent with what is
happening, for instance, in the United States.

Internally, this also means that we have to ensure that our
inspection staff understands the changes well, and that the
inspectors are in a position to apply them and receive the
appropriate training to put all of that into effect.

La sénatrice Buth : Merci pour la promotion.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Essayez-vous de me faire comprendre
quelque chose?

[Frangais]

J’ai une question pour M. Lapointe.

[Traduction]

Je vous ai vu assis 1a. Vous m’avez ’air bien seul. Vous devez
vous sentir oublié.

[Frangais]

Vous avez mentionné dans votre allocution des priorités.

[Traduction]

Je regarde mes notes, puis je regarde le livre, et je vois que
certaines dépenses ont été mises en surbrillance. Pouvez-vous
nous expliquer ce qu’il en est?

[Frangais)

Est-il possible de nous donner un apercu des trois priorités les
plus importantes?

M. Lapointe : Premic¢rement, il y a certainement le
renforcement de nos capacités en matiére de surveillance en
sécurité et en shreté.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Serait-ce la priorité numéro 1?
M. Lapointe : Oui.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Pouvez-vous nous donner davantage de
précisions a ce sujet?

M. Lapointe : La tache principale concernant le transport
consiste justement a effectuer la surveillance de tous les modes :
aérien, maritime, ferroviaire et pour le transport des marchandises
dangereuses.

A la suite des tristes événements survenus I’été dernier & Lac-
Mégantic, on a pris un peu de recul pour voir si certaines choses
devaient étre ajustées concernant notre systéme, a savoir si des
réglements devaient étre modifiés dans I'immédiat. Et c’est ce
qu’on a fait.

C’est toutefois un processus continuel. Par exemple, dans le
domaine de I’aviation, on doit s’assurer d’étre arrimé avec les
pratiques internationales. C’est la méme chose du c6té maritime.
Ce sont des régimes qui sont toujours en transformation et nous
devons donc adapter nos réglements afin de nous assurer d’étre
conséquents avec ce qui se passe, par exemple, aux Etats-Unis.

A Tlinterne, ¢a signifie aussi qu’il faut s’assurer que notre
inspectorat comprend bien les changements, que les inspecteurs
sont en mesure de les appliquer et qu’ils regoivent la formation
appropriée pour mettre tout cela en ceuvre.
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[English]

Senator L. Smith: The highest profile incident was Lac-
Mégantic — some of your tanker spills — in terms of rail. If
you looked at that particular focus of improving security, would
transportation in the rail sector be number one in that area
because of the profile and the carnage that took place?

Mr. Lapointe: I have to tell you that in the last year we’ve put a
great deal of focus on the rail side, and that is continuing. We are
getting advice from different sources on how to best improve. We
are working closely with the U.S. on tanker cars, for instance. We
are putting a great deal of focus —

Senator L. Smith: Has there been a firm policy or move taken
that will give immediate results in terms of the type of tanker cars
you are using? We have read in the papers that there have been
changes, but could you specify a couple of them so we have an
understanding of what will be delivered to improve the system?

Mr. Lapointe: To get back to transportation of dangerous
goods, for instance, we are looking at the change in the standards
for construction. That doesn’t happen overnight, obviously. The
change in the fleet will not happen overnight. However, that is
certainly part of what we’re looking at in terms of changing the
rules so that can happen more quickly than it would otherwise.

Senator L. Smith: What would your second objective be?

Mr. Lapointe: The second objective has to be ensuring greater
competitiveness and investment in transportation critical
infrastructure. We have the direct project in Windsor.

Senator L. Smith: Where is that project at this particular time?

Mr. Lapointe: It is progressing. We are looking at the purchase
of properties both on the Canadian side and shortly on the
American side.

Senator L. Smith: Has the resistance from the American who
says he owns the bridge diminished or disappeared?

Mr. Lapointe: It is my understanding that is continuing. There
is sustained interest, if I can use those terms, in looking at what
the next moves for Canada are.

Senator L. Smith: In terms of your timeline, with the delays
that are not your fault, obviously, what would be your projected
time frame for completion? Is there a projected timeline
possibility or is it still on hold until you get the land agreed to?

Mr. Lapointe: I think we still have a few steps to go through
before we are able to commit to a firm date on actual in-service.

[Traduction]

Le sénateur L. Smith : L’incident ferroviaire le plus marquant a
été celui de Lac-Mégantic — ce déversement. Si vous avez
examiné cet aspect de I'amélioration de la sécurité, le secteur
ferroviaire ne devrait-il pas étre la grande priorité, compte tenu du
profil et de ’horreur de la catastrophe qui s’est produite?

M. Lapointe : Je peux vous garantir que nous avons beaucoup
mis ’accent sur le secteur ferroviaire au cours de la derniére année
et que nous continuons de le faire. Nous recevons des conseils
de différentes sources sur les facons d’améliorer les choses.
Nous travaillons en étroite collaboration avec les Etats-Unis,
notamment sur la question des wagons-citernes. Nous insistons
beaucoup sur...

Le sénateur L. Smith : En ce qui concerne le type de wagons-
citernes que vous utilisez, a-t-on adopté une politique ferme
ou pris des mesures spéciales susceptibles d’avoir des résultats
immeédiats? Les journaux rapportent qu’il y a eu des changements,
mais pouvez-vous nous en donner un ou deux exemples pour que
nous puissions comprendre ce qui sera fait pour améliorer le
systéme?

M. Lapointe : Pour en revenir au transport des matiéres
dangereuses, par exemple, des changements ont été apportés
aux normes de fabrication. Bien évidemment, ces changements ne
seront pas mis en ceuvre d’ici demain matin. Le parc de wagons ne
sera pas transformé en l’espace d’une nuit. Mais voila tout de
méme un aspect des régles qui a changé, alors la transformation se
fera assurément plus vite que si ces mesures n’avaient pas été
adoptées.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Quel serait votre deuxiéme objectif?

M. Lapointe : Le deuxiéme objectif est assurément
d’augmenter la concurrence et les investissements relativement
aux infrastructures névralgiques en matiére de transport. Nous
avons ce projet de pont, a Windsor.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Ou en est ce projet a I’heure actuelle?

M. Lapointe : 11 progresse. Nous cherchons a acheter des
propriétés du co6té canadien et, bient6t, nous ferons la méme chose
du coté américain.

Le sénateur L. Smith : La résistance de cet Américain qui se dit
propriétaire du pont a-t-elle diminué ou s’est-elle évanouie?

M. Lapointe : Je crois comprendre qu’elle n’a pas faibli. Iy a
un intérét soutenu, si vous me passez ’expression, a I’égard des
prochains gestes que posera le Canada dans cette affaire.

Le sénateur L. Smith : En ce qui concerne les délais — étant
donné ces retards dont vous n’étes pas responsables —, quand
croyez-vous que le projet sera terminé? Avez-vous un échéancier
possible ou si le projet est toujours en suspens jusqu’a ce qu’une
entente soit conclue au sujet des terrains?

M. Lapointe : Je crois qu’il reste encore quelques étapes a
franchir avant d’étre en mesure de nous prononcer sur une date
ferme de mise en service.
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Senator L. Smith: What would your third objective be?

Mr. Lapointe: The third objective is ensuring that our policies
and programs are up to standard. On the regulatory side, we also
have to look at our air regime, our marine regime from a policy
perspective and make sure we have the rules in place to ensure
competitiveness, and we are not putting Canada at a disadvantage
from an air policy perspective.

Senator L. Smith: Could you give me an example? When you
say policy perspective, I'm sure for you it’s easy to understand,
but for us it may be a little more difficult because we are not in
your area of expertise.

Mr. Lapointe: The rules that surround, for instance, the access
to different air markets, bilateral air agreements.

Senator L. Smith: Those are licences.

Mr. Lapointe: Essentially negotiations, which we do with
DFATD, and trying to access foreign markets for our air
carriers. If we want to add some flights from Canada to China, we
would have negotiations ongoing with China to try and gain
access. It’s how we approach in terms of policy changes; it’s how
we approach those negotiations.

Senator Buth: Thank you for being here this evening.
Mr. Patel, can you tell me where you're at in terms of staffing
levels?

Mr. Patel: In terms of staffing levels?
Senator Buth: Yes.

Mr. Patel: I can give you an exact number. As of April 1 we
have a total of 9,858 employees. Canada-based staff is 6,187 and
locally engaged staff is 3,671. That’s the current workforce.

Senator Buth: And the locally engaged staff?

Mr. Patel: Those are employees of the department, but they
are hired locally abroad so they are not Canadian-based
diplomats posted abroad. They reside in those countries and we
hire them to work in our missions.

Senator Buth: Would this now make you one of the largest
departments?

Mr. Patel: I'm not sure where we are in the overall list of
departments. We are in the top 10, but I don’t think we are in the
top five. We are watching that staffing level very carefully. What I
mean by that is we are recruiting again. We are looking to address
attrition, succession plans and things like that, but we see that as a

Le sénateur L. Smith : Quel est votre troisiéme objectif?

M. Lapointe : Le troisiéme objectif est d’assurer que nos
politiques et nos programmes sont conformes aux normes. En
ce qui concerne la réglementation, nous devons également
examiner nos régimes de transport aérien et maritime d’un
point de vue stratégique, et veiller a ce que nous ayons des régles
pour assurer que ces secteurs soient concurrentiels et que le
Canada ne soit pas désavantagé par ses politiques en matiére de
transport aérien.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Pouvez-vous nous donner un exemple de
cela? Quand vous parlez d’un point de vue stratégique, je suis
convaincu que c’est un concept que vous n’avez pas de difficulté a
comprendre. Mais pour nous qui ne travaillons pas dans ce
domaine, ces choses sont un peu abstraites.

M. Lapointe : Les régles qui concernent, par exemple, I’acces
aux différents marchés aériens, les accords bilatéraux sur le
transport aérien.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Ce sont des licences.

M. Lapointe : Il s’agit essentiellement de négocier — ce que
nous faisons avec l'aide d’Affaires étrangeres, Commerce et
Développement Canada — et d’essayer d’ouvrir les marchés
aériens pour nos transporteurs aériens. Si nous voulons ajouter
des vols Canada-Chine, nous devons négocier en continu avec ce
pays pour essayer d’obtenir I’accés a ce marché. C’est "approche
que nous préconisons en ce qui a trait aux changements apportés
aux politiques; c’est celle que nous préconisons pour ces
négociations.

La sénatrice Buth : Merci d’étre ici, ce soir. Monsieur Patel,
pouvez-vous nous dire ou vous en &tes en ce qui concerne les
niveaux de dotation?

M. Patel : Les niveaux de dotation?
La sénatrice Buth : Oui.

M. Patel : Je peux vous donner un chiffre exact. Le 1°" avril,
nous avions 9 858 employés. Le personnel embauché au Canada
compte 6 187 employés, tandis que celui qui est embauché
localement en compte 3 671. C’est notre main-d’ceuvre actuelle.

La sénatrice Buth : Et le personnel embauché sur place?

M. Patel : Ce sont des employés du ministére, mais ils sont
embauchés localement, a I’étranger. Ce ne sont pas des diplomates
en provenance du Canada qui sont postés a I’étranger. Ils restent
dans ces pays et nous les engageons pour qu’ils travaillent dans
nos missions.

La sénatrice Buth : Votre ministére est-il devenu ainsi 'un des
plus importants?

M. Patel : J'ignore ou nous nous situons dans la liste ou figure
I’ensemble des ministéres. Nous faisons partie des 10 premiers
ministéres, mais non des cinq premiers, selon moi. Nous
surveillons attentivement ce niveau de dotation. J’entends par la
que nous recrutons de nouveau du personnel. Nous cherchons a
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level that allows us to deliver on our programs and services at the
present time, and it’s been relatively constant over the last couple
of years.

Senator Buth: Is Shared Services Canada providing support to
you?

Mr. Patel: Yes, Shared Services Canada, we are one of the
departments under the umbrella of Shared Services Canada.

Senator Buth: Are there any issues in terms of the
amalgamation of CIDA into DFAIT?

Mr. Patel: From a Shared Services Canada perspective, you
could say there are issues, but they are not issues that are
unmanageable. One of the challenges is we were on two
completely different email systems and platforms, so bringing
them all together as an amalgamated department is something
that is under the umbrella of Shared Services Canada. So we have
to work with Shared Services Canada to help us with our
amalgamation plans, so we have regular meetings and collaborate
with them, but there is only so much we can do on our own
without Shared Services Canada stepping up. Where we have
identified issues or challenge, we sit down and develop a good
plan on how it will work. If we need to accelerate timelines, we
work with them on how that could happen. They lead on this, but
we can help with additional resources or support, if need be, in
order for us to help us deliver our goals and help them fulfill their
obligations, so we can do some of that together.

Senator Buth: Page 144 in the English Main Estimates, under
“Highlights,” you say there is an increase of $120 million for the
crisis pool quick release mechanism. Is that listed in detail in the
following pages somewhere?

I seem to recall that there used to be 100 or $200 million set
aside, so how much is the total crisis pool quick release
mechanism now?

Mr. Patel: The quick release mechanism is $120 million. There
is a crisis pool, which is a set of funds set aside in the fiscal
framework that we have available. It’s part of the international
assistance envelope, and at any given time, that crisis pool could
be up to $400 million, of which the $120 million belongs.

tenir compte de I’attrition, des plans de reléve et d’autres facteurs
de ce genre, mais nous considérons que notre niveau de dotation
est celui qui nous permet d’assurer en ce moment la prestation de
nos programmes et de nos services, et ce niveau est demeuré
relativement stable au cours des derniéres années.

La sénatrice Buth : Services partagés Canada soutient-il votre
ministére?

M. Patel : Oui, nous faisons partie des ministéres dont certains
services relévent de Services partagés Canada.

La sénatrice Buth : L’intégration de P’ACDI dans le MAECI
pose-t-elle des problemes?

M. Patel : On pourrait dire que, du point de vue de Services
partagés Canada, l'intégration pose des problémes, mais ces
problémes sont gérables. L'une des difficultés est liée au fait que
nos systémes de courrier électronique reposent sur deux
plateformes complétement différentes. Par conséquent, Services
partagés Canada s’occupe de I'intégration de ces deux systémes
qui est requise dans le cadre de la fusion des ministéres. Nous
devons donc travailler avec Services partagés Canada afin que
I’organisation nous aide a mettre en ceuvre nos plans de fusion.
Par conséquent, nous nous réunissons réguliérement avec ses
employés, et nous collaborons avec eux. Cependant, si Services
partagés Canada n’intensifie pas ses efforts, il y a des limites a ce
que nous pouvons faire. Lorsque nous repérons des problémes,
nous nous assoyons avec eux, et nous élaborons un plan efficace
qui décrit comment les choses fonctionneront. Si nous devons
raccourcir les échéances, nous travaillons avec eux afin de
déterminer comment cela pourrait étre accompli. Ce sont eux
qui prennent I'initiative a cet égard, mais nous pouvons les aider
en leur accordant, au besoin, des ressources supplémentaires ou
du soutien. Ainsi, nous nous aidons nous-mémes a atteindre nos
objectifs, et nous les aidons a remplir leurs obligations. Par
conséquent, nous pouvons réaliser certaines de ces taches
ensemble.

La sénatrice Buth : A la page II-6 de la version francaise du
Budget principal des dépenses, sous la rubrique « Faits saillants »,
vous mentionnez une augmentation de 120 millions de dollars
affectés au mécanisme de décaissement rapide des fonds du
compte de crise. Est-ce que les détails relatifs a cette augmentation
sont énumérés quelque part dans les pages suivantes?

Il me semble me souvenir qu’on avait I’habitude de réserver
100 ou 200 millions de dollars. Par conséquent, quelle est la
valeur totale actuelle des fonds du compte de crise liés au
mécanisme de décaissement rapide?

M. Patel : Les fonds accessibles au moyen du mécanisme de
décaissement rapide se chiffrent a 120 millions de dollars.
Toutefois, il y a un compte de crise qui contient des fonds
réservés dans le cadre financier dont nous disposons. Le compte
de crise fait partie de I’enveloppe de I’aide internationale, et les
fonds qu’il englobe pourraient, a tout moment, atteindre un
maximum de 400 millions de dollars, qui comprennent les
120 millions de dollars que j’ai mentionnés.
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The reason why we have that $120 million is this pool is
designed for large-scale, multilateral coordinated responses to
large international crises, where Canada would be a part of this
large-scale, multilateral response. This pool was created after the
2004 tsunami, and the reason we have this quick release
mechanism is if something happens and we need to access a
large amount of money that is in the crisis pool, those funds don’t
reside in our reference levels, so if we needed to respond right
away, we would need to use other sources of funds in our
department’s reference levels until supplementary estimates,
where we could get access to a large amount of money.

We have this crisis pool quick release mechanism. This pot of
$120 million resides in our reference level but it’s frozen. We can’t
access it immediately but if there is a big response necessary for a
disaster or some type of crisis, our Minister of International
Development, with the support or concurrence of the Minister of
Finance and the Prime Minister — so we work closely with the
Privy Council Office and the Department of Finance — can
immediately authorize the release of that money that’s sitting in
our reference levels, and we don’t need to wait for the
supplementary estimates.

As for the $120 million, you are correct in pointing out that
in the past it was $20 million on the Foreign Affairs side, and
$100 million on the CIDA side, and it was piloted. What this is
now doing is taking that consolidated amount and putting it
permanently in our reference levels on an ongoing basis because
it seemed to be a positive thing that allows us to respond quickly,
but not use that money for other purposes.

Senator Buth: When did the pilot start?
Mr. Patel: The quick release mechanism, 2010-11 fiscal year.

Senator Buth: It’s been three years then?
Mr. Patel: Three full fiscal years.

Senator Buth: I have some questions for Mr. Lapointe.

The Chair: Mr. Patel, if you don’t use any or all of the
$120 million in a particular year, it goes back to general revenue.
You can’t use it for other votes or other purposes; is that correct?

Ce compte est congu pour financer des interventions
multilatérales coordonnées a grande échelle auxquelles le
Canada prendrait part dans le cadre d’importantes crises
internationales, et c’est la raison pour laquelle nous avons accés
a ces 120 millions de dollars. Ce compte a été créé a la suite du
tsunami de 2004, et nous disposons de ce mécanisme de
décaissement rapide au cas ou un événement surviendrait et
nous aurions besoin d’une grosse somme d’argent déposée dans ce
compte. Comme les fonds du compte de crise ne font pas partie de
nos niveaux de référence, si nous devions intervenir
immédiatement, nous serions forcés de nous servir d’autres
sources de fonds appartenant aux niveaux de référence du
ministére, jusqu’a ce que soit présenté le Budget supplémentaire
des dépenses, qui nous permettrait d’accéder a une grosse somme
d’argent.

Nous disposons de ce mécanisme de décaissement rapide des
fonds du compte de crise, et cette somme de 120 millions de
dollars a laquelle il donne accés est bloquée, méme si elle fait
partie de notre niveau de référence. Nous ne pouvons pas y avoir
accés immédiatement, mais, si une vaste intervention est
nécessaire, en raison d’une catastrophe ou d’une crise d’une
sorte ou d’une autre, notre ministre peut, avec I'appui ou le
concours du ministre des Finances et du premier ministre — nous
travaillons donc étroitement avec le Bureau du Conseil privé et le
ministére des Finances —, autoriser I'octroi immédiat de cette
somme qui fait partie de nos niveaux de référence. Ainsi, nous ne
serons pas forcés d’attendre le Budget supplémentaire des
dépenses.

En ce qui concerne les 120 millions de dollars, vous avez raison
de dire que, dans le passé, les Affaires étrangeres disposaient de
20 millions de dollars, alors que I’ ACDI avait acces a 100 millions
de dollars, et d’indiquer que ce mécanisme a fait 'objet d’un
projet pilote. Maintenant, le mécanisme place, de maniére
permanente, ce montant total dans nos niveaux de références,
parce que cette idée semble constructive et nous permet
d’intervenir rapidement, sans nous autoriser a utiliser cet argent
a d’autres fins.

La sénatrice Buth : Quand le projet pilote a-t-il commencé?

M. Patel : Le mécanisme de décaissement rapide a été mis en
ceuvre au cours de I’exercice 2010-2011.

La sénatrice Buth : Cela fait donc trois ans?

M. Patel : Trois exercices financiers complets.

\

La sénatrice Buth : J’ai quelques questions a poser a
M. Lapointe.

Le président : Monsieur Patel, si vous n’employez pas une
partie ou la totalité des 120 millions de dollars au cours d’une
année précise, ils sont absorbés par les recettes générales. N’est-il
pas vrai que vous n’étes pas autorisé a les affecter a d’autres
crédits ou a les utiliser a d’autres fins?
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Mr. Patel: That’s correct. It goes back to the international
assistance envelope, so at any given time, you would have up to
$400 million in the crisis pool, and that $120 million would be in
our reference levels the following year, but that is correct. It
returns to the international assistance envelope.

The Chair: Do you need to come back to Parliament and ask
for approval again and explain that you need 120 again for
another year?

Mr. Patel: No, now that it’s in our Main Estimates, it would be
there on a recurring basis.

The Chair: Every year we will see it in there.

Mr. Patel: That’s right.

Senator Buth: Mr. Lapointe, I had trouble writing numbers
down as you were going through your comments. I may have
these wrong.

Did I hear you say that $357 million has been put aside for rail
safety initiatives?

Mr. Lapointe: No, that is for safety and security of the
travelling public. It is a lot broader than just rail. It includes
aviation, marine, transportation of dangerous goods and aviation
safety.

Senator Buth: Where would I find that in the estimates?

Mr. Lapointe: If you go to page II-318, under “A Safe and
Secure Transportation System,” you will see the amount, starting
with aviation safety, marine safety, rail safety, aviation, motor
vehicle safety, transportation of dangerous goods, marine
security, multi-modal safety and security and surface and
intermodal security.

Senator Buth: The total there is 357.
Mr. Lapointe: Yes.

Senator Buth: Do you have any increase in your estimates in
terms of dealing with Lac-Mégantic?

Mr. Lapointe: If you look at the transportation of dangerous
goods line, there is an increase of $1.6 million. I will give you the
actual figure.

Senator Buth: Where is that?

Mr. Lapointe: If you look at page 1I-318, the transportation of
dangerous goods line, the amount in 2013-14, $13.159 million, is
now increased to $14.727 million.

There is a slight increase on the rail safety side.

M. Patel : C’est vrai. L’argent est replacé dans I’enveloppe de
l’aide internationale, de sorte qu’a tout moment, le compte
de crise peut contenir jusqu’a 400 millions de dollars, dont
120 millions sont affectés a nos niveaux de références de I’exercice
suivant. Mais vous avez raison, ’argent retourne dans ’enveloppe
de I'aide internationale.

Le président : Etes-vous forcés de vous adresser de nouveau au
Parlement, de lui expliquer que vous avez une fois de plus besoin
de 120 millions de dollars et de lui demander d’approuver ces
fonds pour un autre exercice?

M. Patel : Non, maintenant que ce montant figure dans notre
Budget principal des dépenses, il réapparaitra chaque année.

Le président : Chaque année, nous verrons ce montant dans le
budget.

M. Patel : C’est exact.

La sénatrice Buth : Monsieur Lapointe, j’ai eu du mal a
consigner les chiffres que vous avez cités au cours de votre
déclaration. Il se peut que je les aie notés incorrectement.

Vous ai-je entendu dire que 357 millions de dollars avaient été
affectés a des initiatives de sécurité ferroviaire?

M. Lapointe : Non, ces fonds sont consacrés a la sécurité et a la
sireté du public voyageur. Cela va beaucoup plus loin que la
sécurité ferroviaire, et cela comprend la sécurité aérienne et
maritime, ainsi que le transport des marchandises dangereuses.

La sénatrice Buth : Ou puis-je trouver ces renseignements dans
le budget?

M. Lapointe : A la page 11-328, sous la rubrique « Un réseau
de transport sécuritaire et slir », vous verrez les montants, en
commengant par la sécurité aérienne, la sécurité maritime, la
sécurité ferroviaire, la sireté aérienne, la sécurité des véhicules
automobiles, le transport des marchandises dangereuses, la streté
maritime, la sécurité et sireté multimodale, et la streté du
transport terrestre et intermodal.

La sénatrice Buth : Le total s’éléve a 357.
M. Lapointe : Oui.

La sénatrice Buth : Est-ce que certaines hausses dans votre
budget sont liées a la tragédie de Lac-Mégantic?

M. Lapointe : Si vous examinez la ligne qui porte sur le
transport des marchandises dangereuses, vous constaterez une
hausse de 1,6 million de dollars. Je vais vous citer le chiffre exact.

La sénatrice Buth : Ou se trouve cette ligne?

M. Lapointe : Si vous jetez un coup d’ceil a la ligne portant sur
le transport des marchandises dangereuses, qui se trouve a la
page 11-328, vous verrez que le montant de 2013-2014, soit
13,159 millions de dollars, est maintenant passé a 14,727 millions
de dollars.

En outre, la sécurité ferroviaire a connu une légére hausse.
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Senator Buth: The government announced that funds
essentially would be going to Lac-Mégantic. Is that included in
here?

Mr. Lapointe: Do you mean the funds going to the
municipality?

Senator Buth: Yes.

Mr. Lapointe: No, these are strictly for Transport Canada’s
programs, inspection and oversight.

Senator Buth: Would that money be an emergency?

Mr. Lapointe: That would be probably in the economic
development for regions of Quebec, DEQ budgets, 1 suspect,
but I can’t confirm that. It’s not part of Transport Canada’s
appropriation.

i

Senator Buth: Under “Gateways and Corridors,” at the top,
there is that very large increase over the last two years. What does
that comprise?

Mr. Lapointe: I will get you the detail in a moment. Essentially,
they are re-profiling of infrastructure funds from previous years
into 2014-15; it could be from last year or previous years.

Senator Buth: What were they being re-profiled from?

Mr. Lapointe: It depends on the project. There are projects that
were not delivered during the said period. The money from
previous years, either 2013-14 or previous years, was assessed as
being likely spent in 2014-15, which accounts for the increase
there.

Senator Buth: Could you provide to the clerk some more detail
on this in terms of the amount of funds that were re-profiled from
previous years and the projects they are going towards? I would
assume the Detroit bridge is in here, so funds weren’t spent
previously that might have been allocated are now being
reallocated. If you have those details now, that would be great,
too.

Mr. Lapointe: 1 have sort of bulk numbers; I don’t have the
actual project. For instance, in grants and contributions, there is a
$327 million increase to better match funds for the Gateways and
Border Crossings Fund. That is more than likely the Detroit
bridge, but I will get the details for the committee.

Senator Buth: That would be great. Include the re-profiled
portion of that and where it came from in previous years.

Mr. Lapointe: 1 will.

La sénatrice Buth : Le gouvernement a annoncé que des fonds
seraient essentiellement accordés a Lac-Mégantic. Ces chiffres
tiennent-ils compte de ces fonds?

M. Lapointe : Voulez-vous dire les fonds accordés a la
municipalité?

La sénatrice Buth : Oui.

M. Lapointe : Non, ces sommes sont uniquement liées aux
programmes et aux services d’inspection et de surveillance de
Transports Canada.

La sénatrice Buth : Ces fonds seraient considérés comme une
urgence?

M. Lapointe : Je soupgonne que ces fonds figurent dans les
budgets de DEC, c’est-a-dire I’Agence de développement
économique du Canada pour les régions du Québec, mais je ne
peux pas vous le confirmer. Ils ne font pas partie des crédits de
Transports Canada.

La sénatrice Buth : Dans la partie supérieure de la page, a la
ligne qui porte la mention « Portes d’entrée et corridors », on
remarque que les dépenses ont considérablement augmenté au
cours des deux derniéres années. Que comprennent ces dépenses?

M. Lapointe : Je vais vous donner les détails dans un instant. Il
s’agit essentiellement d’un report, en 2014-2015, des crédits
destinés aux infrastructures. Ce report pourrait provenir de 'an
dernier ou des années précédentes.

La sénatrice Buth : Et de quel budget?

M. Lapointe : Cela dépend du projet. Certains n’ont pas été
exécutés pendant la période en question. On a pensé que les
budgets provenant des années précédentes, soit de ’exercice 2013-
2014 ou des exercices précédents, seraient utilisés en 2014-2015,
d’ou I'augmentation.

La sénatrice Buth : Pourriez-vous communiquer a la greffiere
des détails sur les crédits reportés des années précédentes et sur les
projets auxquels ils étaient destinés? Je suppose que le pont de
Détroit faisait partie de ces projets de sorte que les crédits qui lui
avaient été destinés ont été réattribués. Si vous aviez ces détails
sous les yeux, ce serait encore micux.

M. Lapointe : J’ai quelques chiffres approximatifs, mais je n’ai
pas le titre exact du projet. Par exemple, dans les Subventions et
contributions, il y a une augmentation de 327 millions de dollars
qui correspond au Fonds pour les portes d’entrée et les passages
frontaliers et il est fort probable que cela concerne le pont de
Détroit, mais je communiquerai les détails au comité.

La sénatrice Buth : Parfait. Veuillez indiquer le montant
reporté et sa provenance au cours des années précédentes.

M. Lapointe : Certainement.
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Senator Callbeck: Continuing with Mr. Lapointe, on page 318
you’re looking at A Safe and Secure Transportation System. I
notice under Aviation Safety, about $45 million will come out.
How can you take that much money out and still continue to have
the same level of safety?

Mr. Lapointe: I will explain the shift in financing. The change
is actually $43.9 million. The bulk of that is $38 million in our
Airports Capital Assistance Program, which we shifted from
aviation safety into infrastructure. It stays within the department;
it’s just a change in reporting line. The money is still there and is
still used for the same purpose, which is financing safety projects
for small airports that are not owned by the federal government.
That money remains intact. It just changes from one budgetary
item to another.

Senator Callbeck: That’s gone up to Transportation
Infrastructure.

Mr. Lapointe: Yes.

Senator Callbeck: At page 319, the Ferry Services Contribution
Program. That’s taken a tremendous hit in the last couple of
years. It’s gone from $32 million to $29 million and now it’s down
to $16 million this year. As you know, we have ferry service in
P.E.L. even though we have a link. We have a ferry at the other
end which is vital to the province. Will it affect that service in any
way?

Mr. Lapointe: The funding for the contribution for the ferry
services was renewed in Budget 2014, so that money will be
accessed during the current year. It is not reflected in the Main
Estimates because the Main Estimates are created before the
budget. There is a renewal of this contribution.

Senator Callbeck: Will we see that in the supplementary?

Mr. Lapointe: You will see that probably in sups B.

Senator Callbeck: I notice a line item, Contributions to
provinces towards highway improvements. That was $21 million,
then it went to $19 million; and this year it’s down to $8 million.

Mr. Lapointe: Yes.

Senator Callbeck: Are you talking to the provinces about
another program to replace that?

Mr. Lapointe: This is a specific program for the Outaouais
Road Development Agreement, which goes back to 1972. The
amounts vary from year to year because they depend on the
requests coming from Quebec for this specific agreement. It
depends on the capacity of the provincial government to build,
create and renew the infrastructure on the Outaouais side.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Toujours pour M. Lapointe, je me
reporte a la page 328 a la rubrique Un réseau de transport
sécuritaire et sir. Sous la rubrique Sécurité aérienne, je constate
une baisse d’environ 45 millions de dollars. Comment pouvez-
vous procéder a une telle baisse en maintenant le méme niveau de
sécurité?

M. Lapointe : Je vais vous expliquer le changement. Il s’agit en
fait d’un montant de 43,9 millions de dollars. L’essentiel de ce
montant est de 38 millions de dollars pour le Programme d’aide
aux immobilisations aéroportuaires, que nous avons déplacé de la
rubrique Sécurité aérienne a celle des infrastructures. Le montant
reste a la disposition du ministére, il figure simplement sous une
autre rubrique. L’argent est toujours 1a et sert aux mémes fins, a
savoir financer des projets de sécurité pour les petits aéroports qui
n’appartiennent pas au gouvernement fédéral. La somme est
inchangée. Elle est simplement déplacée vers un autre poste
budgétaire.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Elle passe donc a la rubrique
Infrastructures de transports.

M. Lapointe : Oui.

La sénatrice Callbeck : A la page 329, il y a le Programme de
contributions aux services de traversier, qui a été trés durement
touché ces derniéres années. Il est passé de 32 millions de dollars a
29 millions, puis a 16 millions cette année. Comme vous le savez,
nous avons un service de traversier a I'fle-du-Prince-Edouard,
méme s’il y a un autre mode de transport. A I'autre bout de la
province, ce service de traversier est vital. Est-ce qu’il sera touché
par cette baisse?

M. Lapointe : Le financement de la contribution pour les
services de traversier a été renouvelé dans le budget de 2014. Cette
somme sera donc a disposition pendant I’exercice actuel. Elle ne
figure pas dans le budget principal des dépenses qui est publié
avant le budget. La contribution est renouvelée.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Est-ce qu’elle figurera dans le Budget
supplémentaire?

M. Lapointe :
supplémentaire (B).

Oui, probablement dans le Budget

La sénatrice Callbeck : Quant au poste budgétaire
Contributions aux provinces pour défrayer le colt des
améliorations des systémes routiers, je vois qu’il est passé de
21 millions de dollars a 19 millions et, cette année, a 8 millions.

M. Lapointe : Oui.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Avez-vous parlé avec les provinces au
sujet d'un programme de remplacement?

M. Lapointe : Il s’agit d’'un programme particulier découlant
de T’Entente pour le développement du réseau routier de
I’Outaouais, qui remonte a 1972. Les montants varient d’une
année a l'autre en fonction des demandes du Québec aux termes
de cette entente. Cela dépend des capacités du gouvernement
provincial a construire, a créer et a renouveler les infrastructures
dans I’Outaouais.
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Senator Callbeck: That’s just Quebec. It says Contributions to
Provinces.

Mr. Lapointe: Yes.
Senator Callbeck: But it’s just going to Quebec.

Mr. Lapointe: That is the long title of it, but if you look all the
way to the end, you will see that the Outaouais Road
Development Agreement is the only thing covered under this
item.

Senator Callbeck: All right. That’s fine, thank you.

Under Foreign Affairs, Mr. Patel you mentioned the spending
review of 2012 when $52.3 million was identified to be taken out
this year. Could you tell us what programs, services or positions
were affected by that?

Mr. Patel: We are entering the third and final year of the three-
year Budget 2012 spending review reductions. For this particular
item, with amalgamation, we had the former CIDA reductions
and the former Foreign Affairs and International Trade
reductions. We are continuing to ensure that those initiatives to
achieve those full reductions as planned are implemented,
monitored and tracked to their full completion. This is one of
those areas of amalgamations where we are not mixing things up
or comingling or cross-subsidizing, so we will continue that.

The $52.3 million reduction highlighted in the Main Estimates,
which you refer to, is the third and final year incremental
reduction on the former Foreign Affairs and International Trade
side. The former CIDA side’s third and final year reduction has
already been incorporated into that $3 billion transfer articulated
as part of the Main Estimates transfer. The $52 million is the
incremental for the third and final year. The total reduction
for the former DFAIT is $197.1 million over three years; so
$52.3 million was the final piece.

At the end of the second year of the three-year implementation,
on the former CIDA side we had achieved all of the intended
reductions. We are entering the final year. On the former DFAIT
side, we had slightly exceeded — meaning we were ahead of
schedule, if you will — on the reductions. At the end of the second
year, two thirds in, we were about 70 per cent or so complete in
terms of achieving out reductions.

In terms of what type of initiatives, there are numerous
different elements. On the former CIDA side, there were some
reductions to programming — some countries were no longer to
be programming in the future. On the former Foreign Affairs and
International Trade side, the primary focus was on consolidation
or administrative functions. It’s been a real mix of things. For
example, at our missions abroad we are focusing more on hub
missions or large missions, supporting administratively a number
of small missions. Rather than have two or three accountants in

La sénatrice Callbeck : C’est juste pour le Québec. Pourtant la
rubrique s’intitule Contributions aux provinces.

M. Lapointe : Oui.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Mais la contribution est uniquement
destinée au Québec.

M. Lapointe : C’est le titre au complet, mais si vous regardez
jusqu’a la fin, vous verrez que I’Entente pour le développement du
réseau routier de I’Outaouais est le seul poste budgétaire dans
cette rubrique.

La sénatrice Callbeck : D’accord, je comprends, merci.

Sous la rubrique Affaires étrangéres, monsieur Patel, vous avez
mentionné I'examen des dépenses de 2012 aux termes duquel on a
prévu cette année une réduction de 52,3 millions de dollars.
Pourriez-vous nous dire quels programmes, services ou postes
seront touchés par cette réduction?

M. Patel : Nous entamons la troisiéme et derniére année des
réductions de trois ans prévues en vertu de ’examen des dépenses
du budget de 2012. Pour ce poste particulier et depuis la fusion,
nous avons les réductions de I’ancienne ACDI et de lancien
ministére des Affaires étrangéres et du Commerce international.
Nous continuons de faire en sorte que les réductions complétes
prévues soient mises en ceuvre et menées a bien. C’est 'un des
secteurs de la fusion ou nous ne mélangeons pas les choses et ou il
n’y a pas d’inter-financement, et nous poursuivrons dans cette
voie.

La réduction de 52,3 millions de dollars qui figure dans le
Budget principal des dépenses et a laquelle vous faites allusion,
correspond a la troisiéme et derniére réduction annuelle du coté
de I'ancien ministére des Affaires étrangéres et du Commerce
international. La troisiéme et derniére réduction annuelle de
I’ancienne ACDI a déja été intégrée dans le transfert de 3 milliards
de dollars prévu au Budget principal des dépenses. La somme de
52 millions de dollars est la réduction prévue pour la troisiéme et
derniére année. La réduction totale pour 'ancien MAECI est de
197,1 millions de dollars sur trois ans. La somme de 52,3 millions
de dollars est la derniére réduction.

A la fin de la seconde année de cette mise en ceuvre de trois ans,
toutes les réductions prévues pour I'ancienne ACDI avaient été
réalisées. Pour I’'ancien MAECI, nous avions légérement dépassé
les attentes — autrement dit, nous étions en avance sur le
calendrier, si vous voulez. Aux deux tiers de la deuxiéme année,
nous avions réalisé environ 70 p. 100 des réductions.

Par rapport au type d’initiatives, il y a de nombreux éléments.
Du c6té de I'ancienne ACDI, il y a eu des réductions dans la
programmation, certains pays en ayant ¢té éliminés. Du c6té de
lancien ministére des Affaires étrangeres et du Commerce
international, on s’est essentiellement concentré sur la
consolidation ou les fonctions administratives. Il s’agit vraiment
d’'un mélange d’éléments. Dans nos missions a I’étranger, par
exemple, nous avons ciblé les missions centrales ou importantes,
qui appuient désormais administrativement diverses petites
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every one of our 170 some odd missions abroad, we would do
regional processing of invoices, accounting operations and
administration.

We also closed some of our trade offices or consulates where
we were focused on trade in the United States. We continue to
offer those services to those areas through existing offices or by
embedding trade commissioners into associations or other
organizations in cities where we no longer have a presence.
Some of that we did across Canada as well. As we rationalize
some of our property footprint, it will result in some operational
savings as well. Instead of leasing costs, we may buy property;
instead of high maintenance costs on some properties, will dispose
of those properties to acquire smaller properties. It is a mix of
those initiatives. The primary focus is largely administrative in
nature rather than front-line impacts, if you will.

Senator Callbeck: Could you give the committee a written
detailed outline as to where you got those savings, and match each
item to the amount in dollars?

Mr. Patel: T would be happy to provide the committee with
that off line in writing. We will be able to put that together.

Senator Callbeck: Under Internal Services, there is a big
increase. Is that to do with bringing CIDA into the new
organization?

Mr. Patel: That is exactly what it is.

Senator Mockler: You said “New Brunswick,” which will open
my line of questioning for Mr. Lindsey. It has been sometimes
confusing reading certain articles. I am sure that I am not the only
senator at this table who acknowledges that Irving shipbuilding is
a world leader. Therefore, I look at the Government of Canada,
which is following through on its commitment to build ships in
Canada. According to the Canadian Association of Defence and
Security Industries, the National Shipbuilding Procurement
Strategy will mean 15,000 long-term jobs and $2 billion
annually in economic growth over 30 years. You can comment
on that.

My two little questions will be: Are we going to meet our
targets, and do we remain on track to cut steel and begin
construction in 2015?

Rear-Admiral Finn: Yes, we continue to move forward to cut
steel in the case of the Arctic offshore patrol ship in 2015.

I will also tell you we have a lot of work already under way
across the federal fleets, and the shipbuilding strategy has already
helped us immensely. I speak about the modernization of the
Canadian patrol frigates, which is happening on both coasts. On
the East Coast, Irving Shipbuilding is modernizing seven of our
frigates. It is a substantial amount of work there. They just

missions. Ainsi, plutoét que d’avoir deux ou trois comptables pour
chacune des 170 missions, nous centralisons au niveau régional le
traitement des factures, les opérations comptables et
I’administration.

Nous avons aussi fermé quelques services commerciaux ou
consulats aux FEtats-Unis. Mais nous continuons d’offrir les
services dans les bureaux restants ou en affectant les délégués
commerciaux dans des associations ou autres organisations dans
les villes ot nous ne sommes plus présents. Nous avons fait la
méme chose au Canada. La rationalisation de I’empreinte
immobiliére entrainera des économies opérationnelles. Au lieu
de louer des locaux, nous pourrions les acheter. Nous vendrons les
propriétés ou les coits d’entretien sont trés élevés et nous en
achéterons des plus petites. Il s’agit d’une combinaison
d’initiatives. On met ainsi l’accent sur les fonctions
administratives plutdt que sur les intervenants de premiére ligne,
si vous voulez.

La sénatrice Callbeck : Pourriez-vous transmettre au comité
une description détaillée de ces économies en indiquant la somme
qui correspond a chaque poste budgétaire?

M. Patel : Je serais heureux de vous fournir cette information
par écrit. Nous serons en mesure de rassembler ces éléments.

La sénatrice Callbeck : On constate une augmentation
considérable a la rubrique Services internes. Est-ce attribuable a
I'intégration de ’ACDI au nouveau ministére?

M. Patel : Absolument.

Le sénateur Mockler : Vous avez évoqué le Nouveau-
Brunswick, ce qui m’améne a mes prochaines questions, qui
s’adressent a M. Lindsey. Certains articles portent a confusion. Je
ne crois pas étre le seul sénateur ici a reconnaitre qu’lrving
Shipbuilding est un chef de file mondial. Je constate que le
gouvernement du Canada donne suite a son engagement
concernant la construction des navires au Canada. Selon
I’Association des industries canadiennes de défense et de
sécurité, la Stratégie nationale d’approvisionnement en matiére
de construction navale représenterait des avantages économiques
annuels de plus de 2 milliards de dollars et contribuerait a la
création de 15 000 emplois au cours des 30 prochaines années.
Vous pouvez nous en parler.

Voici donc mes deux questions. D’une part, allons-nous
respecter nos objectifs et, d’autre part, sommes-nous dans les
délais pour la découpe de 'acier prévue en 2015?

Cam Finn: Oui, le projet va bon train, et on devrait
entreprendre les travaux de construction des navires de
patrouille extracotiers et de I’Arctique en 2015.

Je peux également vous dire qu’il y a déja beaucoup de travail
en cours dans I’ensemble des flottes fédérales et que la stratégie de
construction navale nous a aidés énormément. Je parle
notamment de la modernisation des frégates canadiennes de
patrouille, qui se déroule sur les deux cotes. Sur la cote Est, Irving
Shipbuilding est en train de moderniser sept de nos frégates. Cela
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finished building the midshore patrol ships for the Canadian
Coast Guard. That is another fleet that has been delivered and is
now seeing operations.

The facility in Halifax itself — if you were to go down
Barrington Street, you would see something pretty incredible
rising in that shipyard. The old facility has been pretty much torn
down now and they have done all the work in the harbour, the
land level and the foundation and it’s starting to appear. In about
12 months’ time, most of that facility will be up.

In the current year, and as we work through what we’ve called
a definition contract, but it’s the buy long lead items, it’s to finish
the design and to start to do some work. We are going to build
some test modules to actually prove out the entire facility, and
that will happen in the first half of next year.

Later this year, we will be getting into the detailed negotiations
for the Arctic offshore patrols ships such that we can start
building those again, coming on the heels of the work they’re
already doing with that.

Beyond that, in the strategy and the long-term description the
way you’ve presented it in jobs and the dollars associated — it
would then do what I would call build through the Arctic offshore
patrol ship to the next generation of surface combatants, also
being built in Halifax. We’re doing some very early work in the
design there, and it is quite early. We’re engaging industry quite
extensively. It is quite a complex ship.

Similarly on the West Coast — predominantly our Coast
Guard friends, but for us, the joint support ships will be built out
there. We're in detailed discussions with Seaspan, which has
several shipyards in Victoria and Vancouver. Their shipyards in
Victoria are now modernizing five of our frigates. Again, it is an
extensive undertaking. They are also responsible for all the heavy
maintenance of our submarines, and they’re building on that
expertise as they equally build quite an impressive yard in
Vancouver to start building first for the Coast Guard and then for
us the joint patrol ships.

So we are on target to start cutting steel for the Arctic offshore
patrol ships next year, and the strategy continues to deliver what
we hoped, which is really a long-term relationship that allows us
to leverage fleet after fleet in the long term.

Senator Mockler: Meaning with Saint John Shipbuilding Inc.

Rear-Admiral Finn: With Irving Shipbuilding Industry? They
have multiple facilities, principally in Nova Scotia and P.E.I. But
with Irving on the East Coast for the Arctic offshore patrol ships
and our Canadian surface combatants. On the West Coast — and

représente beaucoup de travail. On vient tout juste de terminer la
construction des patrouilleurs semi-hauturiers de la Garde cotiére
canadienne. Il s’agit d’une autre flotte qui a été livrée et qui est en
service.

En ce qui concerne le chantier naval d’Halifax, quand on va sur
la rue Barrington, on voit qu’il y a quelque chose d’incroyable qui
est en train de se construire. On a démoli une grande partie des
anciennes installations, puis on a terminé les travaux dans le port
et au niveau du sol ainsi que la fondation. Cela commence a se
concrétiser. D’ici 12 mois, la plupart des installations devraient
étre opérationnelles.

Au cours de I’année, dans le cadre de ce que nous avons appelé
un contrat de définition, pour les articles a long délai de livraison,
nous comptons finaliser la conception et entreprendre certains
travaux. Nous allons construire certains modules afin de mettre a
I’essai toutes les installations, et cela se déroulera pendant la
premiére moitié de ’année prochaine.

Plus tard cette année, nous allons entamer des négociations
détaillées pour les navires de patrouille extracotiers et de
I’Arctique afin que nous puissions amorcer la construction,
pour faire suite aux travaux qui ont déja été entrepris.

En outre, pour ce qui est de la création d’emplois et des
retombées économiques associées a la stratégie, on parle de la
construction des navires de patrouille extracétiers et de
I’Arctique, puis de la prochaine génération de navires de
combat de surface, qui seront également construits a Halifax.
Nous avons entrepris des travaux préliminaires de conception,
mais nous n’en sommes qu’au tout début. Nous collaborons
étroitement avec I'industrie. C’est un navire trés complexe.

Sur la c6te Ouest, on construit surtout les navires de nos amis
de la Garde cotiére, mais aussi nos navires de soutien interarmées.
Nous avons amorcé des discussions détaillées avec Seaspan, qui
posséde plusieurs chantiers navals a Victoria et a Vancouver.
Leurs chantiers navals de Victoria modernisent actuellement cing
de nos frégates. Encore une fois, il s’agit d’un long processus. Ils
s’occupent également de tout I’entretien de nos sous-marins, et ils
sont en train d’aménager un chantier trés impressionnant a
Vancouver ou ils accorderont la priorité aux navires de la Garde
cotiére, mais ils se chargeront également de la construction de nos
navires de soutien interarmées.

Pour ce qui est des navires de patrouille extracotiers et de
I’Arctique, nous prévoyons amorcer les travaux de construction
I’an prochain, comme prévu. La stratégie continue de donner les
résultats escomptés. Il s’agit d’un projet a long terme qui nous
permet de prévoir la construction de navires pour I’avenir.

Le sénateur Mockler : C’est-a-dire avec Saint John

Shipbuilding Inc.

Cam Finn : Avec les entreprises Irving Shipbuilding? Elles
détiennent de multiples installations, principalement en Nouvelle-
Ecosse et dans I’fle-du-Prince-Edouard. Sur la céte Est, Irving
s’occupera de la construction des navires de patrouille extracotiers
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it’s a multi-decade relationship on the West Coast to build
principally for the Coast Guard, but for us the joint patrol ship,
replacements for our supply ships.

Senator Mockler: All I can say is thank you for what you do
for Canada.

The Chair: Keep up the good work is his comment.

Senator L. Smith: Just to follow up from the Honourable
Senator Mockler.

For Defence, Mr. Lindsey — I read with interest your write-
up: “Commencing in 2014-15, National Defence is implementing
a new program alignment structure, PAA” — very sexy name —
“composed of five programs plus internal services.” What would
the five programs be?

Mr. Lindsey: I'm going to defer to Major-General Poulter to
deal with the PAA issue. By way of introduction, this is not
particular to DND; every department has such a structure. It is
the basic building block upon which all departments’ estimates
are built and their financial results expressed. Ours happens to
have changed for the 2014-15 fiscal year, with the approval of
Treasury Board.

Senator L. Smith: So the “program alignment architecture” is a
term used within all departments in government?

Mr. Lindsey: Yes, it is.

Senator L. Smith: Great. And the five programs — if you could
run through them quickly.

Major-General Ian C. Poulter, Chief of Program, National
Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces: I’'m delighted that you
asked.

We realigned our program alignment architecture based on the
fact that the previous one was a little difficult to understand.
We’ve tried to simplify it so we can tell the story of what Defence
does more appropriately within this framework as well as to
Canadians.

I'm happy to explain the programs, but I’ll read them to you.
I'm happy to explain them in greater detail if you wish. We have:
first, Defence combat and support operations; second, Defence
services and contributions to government; third, Defence ready
force element production; fourth, Defence capability element
production; fifth, Defence capability development and research;
and the sixth is actually internal services, which is common to all
departments.

Senator L. Smith: Could you give us a little example of each?
You don’t have to go into detail, but a highlight would be good.

et de I’Arctique et de nos navires de combat de surface. Sur la cote
Ouest — et on parle d’un projet de construction navale qui
s’échelonnera sur plusieurs décennies —, on accordera la priorité
aux navires de la Garde cotiére, mais on construira également nos
navires de soutien interarmées, en remplacement de nos
ravitailleurs.

Le sénateur Mockler : Tout ce que je puis dire, ¢’est merci de ce
que vous faites pour le Canada.

Le président : Continuez votre bon travail.

Le sénateur L. Smith : J’aimerais revenir a ce que disait
I’honorable sénateur Mockler.

Pour la Défense, monsieur Lindsey — j’ai lu avec intérét votre
description, et je vous cite : « Dés 2014-2015, la Défense nationale
mettra en ccuvre une nouvelle architecture d’alignement des
programmes, ou AAP » — nom trés attrayant — « composée de
cinq programmes en plus des services internes. » En quoi
consistent ces cinq programmes?

M. Lindsey : Je vais m’en remettre au major-général Poulter
pour ce qui est de la question de ’AAP. Soit dit en passant, cela
n’appartient pas uniquement au MDN; chaque ministére posséde
une telle structure. C’est a partir de cette structure que tous les
ministéres établissent leurs budgets et expriment leurs résultats
financiers. Il se trouve que la notre a changé pour I’exercice 2014-
2015, avec I'approbation du Conseil du Trésor.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Par conséquent, cette « architecture
d’alignement des programmes » s’applique a tous les ministéres a
I’échelle du gouvernement?

M. Lindsey : Tout a fait.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Trés bien. Pourriez-vous nous parler
briévement des cinq programmes?

Major général Ian C. Poulter, chef de programme, Défense
nationale et les Forces armées canadiennes : Je suis ravi que vous
ayez posé la question.

Nous avons restructuré notre architecture d’alignement des
programmes parce que l'ancienne architecture était difficile a
comprendre. Nous avons essayé de la simplifier pour qu’elle
s’aligne mieux sur ce que fait la Défense au sein de ce cadre ainsi
que pour les Canadiens.

Je vais vous nommer les programmes, mais si vous le souhaitez,
je vous les expliquerai volontiers. Voici donc les six programmes :
Opérations de soutien et de combat de la Défense, Services de la
Défense et contributions au gouvernement, Production d’éléments
de force de la Défense préts a I’action, Production des éléments de
capacité de la Défense, Recherche et développement concernant
les capacités de la Défense et Services internes, qui se trouvent
dans tous les ministéres.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Pourriez-vous nous donner un exemple
de chacun d’entre eux? Vous n’avez pas besoin d’entrer dans les
détails, mais un simple apercu serait apprécié.
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Maj.-Gen. Poulter: I would be happy to. Defence Combat and
Support Operations consists of three subprograms, essentially
conducting domestic and continental defence operations — such
things as NORAD and Arctic response operations. The second
subprogram is International Combat Operations, such as our
standing NATO commitments and any responses to international
crises and surge responses. The third one is Ongoing Centralized
Operations and Operational Enablement. Essentially, those are
things such as diplomatic support and intelligence surveillance
and reconnaissance.

The second program, which is the Defence Services and
Contributions to Government, covers a number of subprograms
as well. The first one is Disaster Relief and Humanitarian
Operations for things like earthquakes, floods, hurricane
response, and humanitarian and evacuation responses, both at
home and abroad. The Defence Services for Canadian Safety and
Security are for threats to safety and security of Canadians, and
includes support to such things as major Canadian events like the
Olympics, support to other departments and agencies,
antiterrorism and terrorism event response, as well as search
and rescue operations inside Canada.

The third subprogram is Military Heritage and Outreach for
sharing our military history and traditions, showcasing our
military expertise and values, and developing leadership and good
citizenship among Canada’s youth. It includes such thing as
military history, participation in ceremonial events such as
Remembrance Day and Canadian and junior Canadian Ranger
programs. The Cadet Program is included in that.

The third program is Defence Ready Force Element
Production and it has a total of four subprograms. The first is
Force Elements Readiness Sustainment. So it’s sustaining
activities for units that are ready to deploy, such as ready-duty
high-readiness ships on the coast as well as our domestic
immediate response units.

Senator L. Smith: Would that be what the admiral was alluding
to earlier in terms of the production of ships and some of the
combat vehicles that he’s —

Maj.-Gen. Poulter: There’s a later program that covers that.
This is actually manned high-readiness ships ready to sail within
their allocated response time — Defence and North America
airspace in terms of our readiness there as opposed to conducting
the operations.

The second one is Force Elements Integration Training, and
that is training our major expeditionary task forces. We have a
number of task forces on standby to deploy internationally as

Mgén Poulter : Avec plaisir. Le programme Opérations de
soutien et de combat de la Défense est composé de trois sous-
programmes, dont le sous-programme Opérations nationales et
continentales de la Défense, qui englobe les opérations effectuées
par l'intermédiaire du NORAD et les opérations d’intervention
dans I’Arctique. Le deuxiéme sous-programme, Opérations de
combat internationales, comprend nos opérations continues de la
Défense dans le cadre des engagements permanents de TOTAN
ainsi que toutes les opérations internationales d’intervention
de crise et d’urgence. Le troisiéme sous-programme est
Opérations centralisées continues et habilitation opérationnelle.
Il s’agit notamment de soutien diplomatique ainsi que de
renseignements, de surveillance et de reconnaissance.

Le deuxiéme programme, Services de la Défense et
contributions au gouvernement, comporte également quelques
sous-programmes. Le premier, Opérations de secours aux sinistrés
et opérations humanitaires, englobe toutes les interventions dans
le cas des tremblements de terre, des inondations, des ouragans et
les opérations d’assistance humanitaire et d’évacuation, tant au
pays qu’a I’étranger. Le sous-programme Services de la Défense
relatifs a la sécurité et a la sreté des Canadiens se rapporte aux
menaces a la sécurité et a la sireté des Canadiens et comprend le
soutien a des événements d’envergure comme les Jeux
olympiques, le soutien aux autres ministéres et organismes, les
opérations de contre-terrorisme et de réponse aux événements
terroristes ainsi que les opérations de recherche et sauvetage a
I’échelle du Canada.

Le troisieme sous-programme, Sensibilisation et héritage
militaire, vise a transmettre notre histoire et nos traditions
militaires, notre expertise et nos valeurs ainsi qu’a promouvoir le
leadership et le civisme chez les jeunes Canadiens. Cela comprend
notamment I’enseignement de I’histoire militaire, la participation
a des cérémonies telles que le Jour du Souvenir et les programmes
des cadets et des Rangers juniors canadiens.

Le troisiéme programme, Production d’éléments de force de la
défense préts a I’action, renferme quatre sous-programmes. Le
premier, Maintien de la disponibilité opérationnelle des éléments
de force, a pour but de soutenir les activités des unités prétes a étre
déployées, telles que les navires de garde a disponibilité
opérationnelle élevée sur la coOte ainsi que nos unités
d’intervention immédiate.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Est-ce ce & quoi faisait allusion I’amiral
plus tét en ce qui concerne la production des navires et des
véhicules de combat qu’il...

Mgén Poulter : Il y a un autre programme qui couvre cet
aspect. Il s’agit ici des navires avec équipage a disponibilité
opérationnelle élevée préts a naviguer dans un certain délai
d’intervention — la disponibilité opérationnelle de la défense de
I’espace aérien nord-américain par opposition a la conduite
d’opérations.

Le deuxieme sous-programme, Entrainement d’intégration des
¢léments de force, vise a former nos principales forces
opérationnelles expéditionnaires. Nous avons un certain nombre
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required. It is also to conduct interoperability training and
exercises such as our exercises in the North — Op Nanook — as
well as RIMPAC exercises in the Pacific.

The third sub-element is the Force Elements Production, and
that is just for the normal ready force, such as ready frigates,
infantry and strategic airlift units, ready on a unit-level basis but
not in high readiness. It’s to maintain that base level of readiness
training before we put them into the cycle to be prepared to go
out the door.

The last one is Operational Readiness Production,
Coordination and Command and Control. It essentially covers
the command and control that enables the readiness and the
balance across maritime, land and special forces. That’s
essentially developing readiness plans, exercising our readiness
coordination, et cetera.

The fourth program, Defence Capability Element Production,
speaks to four subprograms as well, and this is where we get into
the production of ships, et cetera. The first one is Military
Personnel and Organization Lifecycle. It includes such basic
things as military recruiting, basic military officer and occupation
training, as well military health services.

The Materiel Lifecycle, which is the second subprogram, is
essentially to procure the Defence materiel elements and make
sure they’re available in the correct quantity, mix and condition
that we need them. It includes materiel acquisition, the ongoing
maintenance, and also disposal of anything we need to get rid of.

The third subprogram is Real Property Lifecycle. It’s
essentially buying real property, maintaining decontamination if
there is an environmental issue, and disposing of real property. So
it’s buildings, maintaining them, and disposing them when they
no longer fit the purpose.

And the last one is Information Systems Lifecycle where we
look at acquiring information systems, doing their maintenance
and user support services. Shared Services Canada does not
deliver all our IM/IT services to us. We're still required to deliver
the military command and control, and we do deliver that
separately from Shared Services Canada.

Defence Capability Development and Research is essentially
what our science and technology people do for us, two
subprograms. Capability Design, Development and Integration
is examining the threat in the security environment analysis done
by our force developers, military modelling and simulation, and
defence technology development and demonstration.

de forces opérationnelles qui attendent d’étre déployées a
I’étranger, au besoin. Il s’agit également de I'instruction et des
exercices en mati¢re d’interopérabilité, tels que nos exercices dans
le Nord — Opération Nanook — et les exercices RIMPAC dans
le Pacifique.

Le troisiéme sous-programme, Production d’éléments de force,
englobe exclusivement la force opérationnelle réguliere, telle que
les frégates, les unités d’infanterie et les unités de transport aérien
stratégiques, préte au niveau de I'unité et non pas a un niveau
élevé de disponibilité opérationnelle. On vise & maintenir un
certain niveau de disponibilité opérationnelle grace a
I’entrainement avant de les préparer au cycle du déploiement.

Le dernier sous-programme, Production, coordination,
commandement et contrdle de la disponibilité opérationnelle, se
rapporte essentiellement au commandement et au contrdle qui
permettent la disponibilité opérationnelle et I’équilibre au sein des
forces maritimes, terrestres et spéciales. On élabore des plans de
préparation et on veille a la coordination de la disponibilité
opérationnelle, et cetera.

Le quatriéme programme, Production des éléments de capacité
de la Défense, englobe également quatre sous-programmes, dans
lesquels figure la production des navires. Le premier sous-
programme, Cycle de vie du personnel militaire et de
I’organisation, inclut des éléments de base tels que le
recrutement militaire, la qualification militaire de base des
officiers et I'instruction professionnelle ainsi que les services de
santé militaires.

Le deuxiéme sous-programme, Cycle de vie du matériel,
garantit que les éléments de capacité de défense liés au matériel
sont disponibles selon les quantités, les répartitions et 1’état
nécessaires. Il comprend les services d’acquisition, de mise a
niveau de 1’équipement et de dessaisissement.

Le troisiéme sous-programme, Cycle de vie des biens
immobiliers, englobe I’acquisition des biens immobiliers, le
maintien des capacités de décontamination en cas de probléme
environnemental et le dessaisissement des biens immobiliers. Par
conséquent, on achéte des édifices, on les entretient et on procede
a leur aliénation lorsqu’ils ne répondent plus a nos besoins.

Le dernier sous-programme, Cycle de vie des systémes
d’information, concerne I’acquisition des systémes
d’information, leur gestion et le soutien aux utilisateurs.
Services partagés Canada ne nous fournit pas tous les services
de GI/TI. Tout ce qui concerne le commandement et le controle
militaire se fait séparément de Services partagés Canada.

Ensuite, le programme Recherche et développement
concernant les capacités de la Défense, au sein duquel
travaillent nos effectifs des sciences et des technologies,
comporte deux sous-programmes. Premiérement, le sous-
programme Conception, intégration et développement en
matiére de capacité, évalue les menaces grace a I’analyse de
I’environnement de la sécurité effectuée par nos responsables du
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The second subprogram there is Strategic Direction and
Planning Support. It’s essentially looking at the future security
environment doing the threat assessments, military scenario
development for our various missions and tasks, and looking at
how we need to transform our capabilities to meet those future
threats.

The last one is Internal Services, which is essentially defined for
us by Treasury Board Secretariat. It defines those things that we
have to group collectively, such as IM/IT services, travel
administration, some of our asset management-type services we
do inside the department.

Senator L. Smith: Thank you. If you take those five or six
areas, is that basically your strategic outline of how you operate?

Maj.-Gen. Poulter: Absolutely, and I think that explains far
better how we do it. We have forces conducting actual missions.
The main focus of our efforts is maintaining ready forces to do
those missions, whether or not they are committed. And the last
couple are supporting those forces in the readiness training or
while they’re deployed.

Senator L. Smith: I know Senator Eaton has a question, but
Rear-Admiral Finn, when you look your timeline for these
equipment additions to upgrade your fleet and assist you in the
strategic part of the plan, what is the time frame? Without being
too specific, could you give us an example of the size of the
program you have, as you mentioned to Senator Mockler, in
terms of the ships, the deliverables? You said this is a multi-year
commitment, multi-billion dollar commitment. But how is it
going to roll out? If you had a crystal ball, how do you see it
illuminating itself in terms of deliverables?

Rear-Admiral Finn: Thank you for the question. I can give you
the example of ships, but it is true for all of the Canadian Forces.
It is a continuous process of what we call capability-based
planning, in which our peers and the Chief of Force Development
continuously look at the threats, what needs to be done, what we
need to counter, the environment we’ll be working in, and to look
at the future security environment and what we need to do there.

What we need is being continuously reviewed. That’s why at
times you’ll see us step away from projects and introduce new
ones. As the threat changes, how we deal with it changes. As a
result, there is some change that continuously happens, but it is
underpinned by a continuous program. The existing Canada First
Defence Strategy, when announced, looked out 20 years of
procurement acquisition and capability for the army, navy, air
force and special forces.

développement de la force, aux technologies de modélisation et de
simulation militaires ainsi qu’au développement et a la
démonstration des technologies de la défense.

Le deuxiéme sous-programme, Orientation stratégique et
soutien a la planification, se rapporte a l’environnement de
sécurité de I’avenir et a toutes les évaluations de la menace,
I’élaboration de scénarios militaires pour nos diverses missions et
opérations et a la fagon d’adapter nos capacités afin de faire face a
ces éventuelles menaces.

Le dernier programme, Services internes, est défini par le
Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor. 11 définit ces éléments que nous
devons regrouper, c’est-a-dire les services de GI/TI,
I’administration des déplacements et la gestion de nos biens au
sein du ministére.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Merci. Si on prend ces cing ou six
domaines, est-ce un apergu stratégique de vos opérations?

Mgén Poulter : Absolument, et je pense que cela explique
beaucoup mieux ce que nous faisons. Nous avons des forces qui
effectuent des missions. Nos efforts visent principalement a
maintenir des forces prétes a I’action, qu’elles soient engagées ou
non dans ces missions. Et nous appuyons ces forces dans le cadre
de linstruction sur la disponibilité opérationnelle ou du
déploiement.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Je sais que la sénatrice Eaton a une
question, mais contre-amiral Finn, de combien de temps disposez-
vous pour apporter les changements nécessaires afin de mettre
votre flotte a niveau et de vous aider dans la partie stratégique du
plan? Quel est votre échéancier? Sans étre trop précis, pourriez-
vous nous donner un exemple de I'envergure du programme,
comme vous l'avez indiqué au sénateur Mockler, en ce qui
concerne les navires et les résultats attendus? Vous avez dit qu’il
s’agit d’un engagement pluriannuel de plusieurs milliards de
dollars. Toutefois, comment cela va-t-il se concrétiser? Si vous
aviez une boule de cristal, quelles seraient vos prévisions en ce qui
a trait aux résultats?

Cam Finn : Merci pour cette question. Je peux vous donner
I’exemple des navires, mais cela s’applique a toutes les forces
canadiennes. Il s’agit d’un processus continu de ce que nous
appelons la planification des capacités, dans le cadre de laquelle
nos pairs ainsi que le chef du développement des forces évaluent
constamment les menaces, les mesures a prendre, les difficultés a
surmonter, le contexte dans lequel nous travaillons ainsi que
I’environnement de sécurité de I’avenir et le travail qui doit étre
fait.

Ce que nous avons besoin est constamment revu. C’est la
raison pour laquelle nous devons parfois mettre un terme a des
projets pour en favoriser d’autres. Nous devons nous adapter a
I’évolution des menaces. Par conséquent, nous apportons toujours
des changements, mais ces changements sont soutenus par un
programme continu. La Stratégie de défense Le Canada d’abord,
lorsqu’elle a été annoncée, tenait compte de 20 années
d’approvisionnement et de capacité en ce qui concerne les forces
terrestres, maritimes, aériennes et spéciales.
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I think specifically, as you asked about the naval context, if I
again look to the East Coast we're looking at a build program
that will go out to the late 2030s. What we have tried to create is
saying there’s the vision we have right now for another 25 years of
bidding Arctic offshore patrol ships and the next generation of
surface combatants, be it the replacement of destroyers or
frigates. But ultimately the success of that strategy is what
happens beyond it.

If you look at all of our major Western allies, they have
rationalized shipyards. They have looked at this capability.
Fundamentally, a consistent order book and the ability to
reinvest in technology allows you to build and maintain ships,
which is extremely important for us, and to try to drive down
cost.

For us it really is a continuous process and drum beat. As the
last of the Arctic offshore patrol ships come through the plate
shop where they build steel, right behind it we would ideally want
to see that we’re building the next generation of surface
combatant right behind it.

Senator L. Smith: Senator Gerstein had questions over the last
couple of years about re-profiling. The concept of re-profiling,
from a simplistic view, is that you delay a project or do something
else with the money because there are some changes in your
strategy. Is that the way it works? What role does re-profiling play
in terms of whether it is a major issue or is it a 5 per cent type
issue? Is it part of a safety buffer that you work with so you can
make adjustments as you go forward if there are strategic changes
to decisions on equipment, just so we understand that? We had a
really interesting one on tanks a few years ago — and I'm being
facetious — but if you could help me with that.

Rear-Admiral Finn: Thank you again for the question. If I
could turn that around, our CFO has to re-profile because of us.
It’s not him re-profiling and affecting us.

Senator L. Smith: He said he was a re-profiler.

Rear-Admiral Finn: No. It’s a number of things, senator. Some
are frankly delays and issues, but if you look at our top 14 major
capital projects that are either in definition or implementation, it
is over $50 billion. When you look at what can happen in the
short term that is only the top 14. There are others coming along.
There are smaller capital projects, but the capital program we’re
executing is fairly significant. There are a lot of moving parts and
complexity to what we’re delivering, as I've touched on. There’s a
lot of complexity to that program.

Etant donné que vous avez parlé du contexte naval, si je pense
notamment a la cote Est, nous envisageons un programme qui
s’échelonnera jusqu’a la fin des années 2030. Nous avons une
vision pour les 25 prochaines années en ce qui a trait a la
construction des navires de patrouille extracotiers et de I’Arctique
et a la prochaine génération des navires de combat de surface, en
remplacement des destroyers ou frégates. Toutefois, au bout du
compte, le succes de cette stratégie dépend de ce qui se passera par
la suite.

Si nous prenons tous nos principaux alliés occidentaux, on voit
qu’ils ont rationalisé leurs chantiers navals. Ils ont examiné cette
capacité. En gros, un carnet de commandes uniformes et la
capacité de réinvestir dans la technologie nous permet de
construire des navires et d’en assurer I’entretien, ce qui est
extrémement important pour nous, tout en essayant de réduire les
colts.

Il s’agit d’un processus continu. Aussitét que les derniers
navires de patrouille extracétiers et de I’Arctique seront
construits, on entreprendra idéalement la construction de la
prochaine génération de navires de combat de surface.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Le sénateur Gerstein a posé certaines
questions a propos du report de fonds au cours des derniéres
années. Le concept du report de fonds, grosso modo, consiste a
retarder un projet ou a faire quelque chose d’autre avec les fonds
en raison de changements a la stratégie. Est-ce ainsi que cela
fonctionne? Quand on parle de report de fonds, s’agit-il d’une
somme considérable ou de 5 p. 100 du budget? Est-ce que cela
s’inscrit dans une marge de sécurité qui vous permet de faire des
ajustements en cours de route s’il y a des changements
stratégiques aux décisions concernant I’équipement? Nous avons
eu un cas trés intéressant il y a quelques années avec les chars
d’assaut — et je plaisante ici, bien entendu —, mais pourriez-vous
nous aider a comprendre?

Cam Finn : Merci pour la question. Si je peux me permettre,
sachez que notre DPF doit effectuer le report de fonds a cause de
nous et non pas I'inverse.

Le sénateur L. Smith : Il a dit que c’était lui qui reportait les
fonds.

Cam Finn : Non. Il y a plusieurs choses, sénateur. On fait face a
des retards et a des problémes, mais si on prend nos 14 plus
grands projets d’immobilisations qui en sont aux étapes de la
définition ou de la mise en ceuvre, cela représente plus de
50 milliards de dollars. Quand on considére ce qui peut arriver a
court terme, il ne s’agit que des 14 plus grands projets. Il y en
a d’autres qui vont suivre. Il y a de plus petits projets
d’immobilisations, mais le programme d’immobilisations que
nous administrons est trés important. Ce programme comprend
de nombreux éléments et il est trés complexe, comme je 1’ai
indiqué.
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As the project manager, we will try to anticipate what industry
will say as we go out in a competition and sign a contract, but
once we ink that contract and understand what the profile of
spending will be, that will affect the allocation.

If a supplier is non-performing — so the maritime helicopter
projects, we had a profile expand — we are not going to pay them
until they perform.

We’ve had cases where the negotiation of the contract has
shown that there’s a reduction in cost and as a result when you
talk about tanks, we’ve talked here about force mobility
enhancement. We've negotiated some of those contracts at a
lower price than was perhaps anticipated. It affects the cash
profile. The CFO and his team have come in and brought a lot
more rigor to this, but the reality is that each of these projects has
its own life and issues that affect it and things happen with each
one. There are delays and lower costs, as I've indicated. There are
any number of things that affect it — the discussion with industry,
the non-performance.

With maritime helicopter projects, for example, for the last few
years we’ve said we anticipate getting through it. We’ve had
money in the subsequent fiscal year. It has not been performing.
We have not paid.

We are at a point now where we anticipate, and in fact we’ve
reached agreement with the supplier to start delivery and
acceptance next summer. That changes how we’ll pay that
money. The reality is with the program that we run, the
complexity of it and the tens of billions of dollars involved, we
don’t get it all right and as a result we have to revisit the money
we’ll spend year in, year out. We revisit every year and it causes a
shift across the whole program.

Senator Eaton: I have a quick question on the program
alignment. Listening to you on the various task force and
readiness, Major-General, would you have enough money to re-
profile if we had to go to war tomorrow, if something serious
happened in North America or in Europe? Would we be ready?
Would we have the money or would you have to come back?

Mr. Lindsey: Perhaps we can deal with that in two parts. The
general and the admiral are better placed to talk about that. With
respect to the money piece, it is an element of the Canada First
Defence Strategy. This was manifest during the combat in
Afghanistan, and the adjoining mission in Afghanistan, that
when the Canadian Forces have to deploy for expeditionary
operations, the department is given incremental money to pay for
those operations as is required. If the government deployed the
Canadian Forces, the mechanism and the policy anchor exists to
provide the incremental funding required.

As to readiness, perhaps I will refer to the Chief of Program.

En tant que gestionnaire du projet, je dirais que nous
essaierons d’anticiper ce que dira I'industrie, mais une fois que
nous octroyons le contrat et que nous comprenons ce que sera le
profil de dépenses, cela aura une incidence sur l'affectation de
fonds.

Si un fournisseur ne respecte pas le contrat — comme dans le
cas du projet des hélicoptéres maritimes, notre profil s’est
accru —, nous ne le paierons pas tant qu’il ne s’acquittera pas
de ses obligations.

Iy a eu des cas ou la négociation du contrat a donné lieu a une
réduction de cofts et, dans le cas des chars d’assaut, nous parlons
d’une amélioration de la mobilité de la force. Nous avons négocié
certains contrats a un codt inférieur a ce que nous avions anticipé.
Cela a une incidence sur le profil monétaire. Le DPF et son équipe
ont apporté une plus grande rigueur au processus, mais la réalité,
c’est que chacun de ces projets est indépendant et a ses propres
problémes. Comme je I’ai indiqué, il y a des retards et des cofits
inférieurs. Il y a divers facteurs qui ont une influence — les
discussions avec I'industrie, I'inexécution du contrat.

En ce qui a trait au projet des hélicoptéres maritimes, par
exemple, ces derniéres années, nous croyions pouvoir y parvenir.
Nous avons eu les fonds au cours de I’exercice financier suivant.
Le fournisseur n’a pas respecté ses obligations contractuelles.
Nous ne I’avons pas payé.

Nous sommes a un stade ou nous anticipons et, en fait, nous
sommes parvenus a une entente avec le fournisseur, de sorte qu’il
entreprendra la livraison et I’acceptation 1’été prochain. Cela
modifie la fagon dont nous verserons les fonds. Compte tenu de la
complexité du programme et des dizaines de milliards de dollars
en jeu, nous ne réussissons pas a tout faire et, par conséquent,
nous devons revoir le montant que nous dépensons année aprés
année. Nous le revoyons chaque année et cela influe sur
I’ensemble du programme.

La sénatrice Eaton: J’ai une bréve question concernant
l’alignement des programmes. Major-général, vous avez parlé
des diverses forces et de la disponibilité opérationnelle. Auriez-
vous suffisamment de fonds a réaffecter si nous devions aller en
guerre demain matin, si un événement majeur survenait en
Amérique du Nord ou en Europe? Seriez-vous préts? Auriez-vous
les fonds ou devriez-vous revenir?

M. Lindsey : Nous pourrions peut-étre traiter cette question en
deux volets. Le général et ’'amiral sont mieux placés que moi pour
en parler. L’affectation des fonds est un élément de la Stratégie de
défense Le Canada d’abord. Dans le cadre de la mission en
Afghanistan, lorsque les Forces canadiennes ont d déployer des
troupes pour les opérations expéditionnaires, il était évident que le
ministére accorderait des fonds supplémentaires. Si le
gouvernement doit déployer les Forces canadiennes, il y a un
mécanisme et des politiques en place qui permettent I’affectation
de fonds supplémentaires, au besoin.

Pour ce qui est de la disponibilité opérationnelle, je vais m’en
remettre au chef de programme.
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Maj.-Gen. Poulter: With respect to your question, namely do
we have our forces ready to go; we have our first six mission sets.
Those six mission sets have forces assigned to them and a
response time. We have a force structure to respond, initial
response and a response time. All of the environments have
declared that they are ready to meet those missions within those
timelines given. From that perspective, they have adequate funds
to have those forces ready to go. There are other units that are less
ready but when they go into the cycle to replace those units, if
those units are committed, the resources are then reallocated to
them to allow that.

To put it simplistically, 100 per cent of the Canadian Armed
Forces isn’t ready 100 per cent of the time to do 100 per cent of
the jobs because, frankly, that’s unaffordable. We have our task
forces, our missions, our ships and our planes required for that
initial response within that time ready to go. Then, as and when
they’re committed, we receive the additional funds to maintain the
readiness and improve the readiness or increase the contribution
as need be for that training and for that readiness.

The Chair: We're just about out of time, gentlemen. Thank you
very much for being here. I have two points that I want some
clarification on, and I think it would be helpful to clarify the
record. One is with respect to DND.

Mr. Lindsey, you talk about $347 million also included.
There’s an increase of that amount associated with the annual
escalator for Defence. Can you refresh our memory on what that
escalator is and what it applies to? Is it peculiar to DND?

Mr. Lindsey: Yes, Mr. Chair. Going back to the 1990s, there
was a recognition that the Defence business is subject to Defence-
specific inflationary pressures. A provision of 1.5 per cent was
built into the fiscal framework to increase the Defence budget
every year. That 1.5 per cent was revisited in 2010 and increased
to 2 per cent. Every year the Defence spending envelope is
increased by 2 per cent to help the department cope with this
Defence-specific inflation and other inflationary pressures.

Is Defence the only department with such a mechanism? Other
departments do have mechanisms to protect themselves or to help
them manage cost risks. For example, Foreign Affairs is
backstopped by Finance and Treasury Board with respect to
currency risk. DND has currency risk but we are not
backstopped; Foreign Affairs has a mechanism. Their risk
management mechanism is different than ours but, suffice to
say, Defence is not unique in having this kind of help.

The Chair: Thank you. It may be that you explained that to us
once before, but I thought it was important to clarify it for the
record since it was in your written submission.

Mgén Poulter : Pour répondre a votre question, non seulement
nous avons des forces prétes a intervenir; mais nous avons défini
nos six premiéres missions. On leur a affecté des forces et accordé
un délai d’intervention. Nous avons une structure des forces, une
premiére intervention et un délai d’intervention. Tous les
environnements ont déclaré qu’ils étaient préts a remplir ces
missions dans les délais prescrits. De ce point de vue, on a
suffisamment de fonds pour préparer les forces a intervenir. Il y a
d’autres unités qui sont moins prétes, mais lorsqu’elles entrent
dans le cycle visant a remplacer ces unités, si elles sont engagées,
les ressources seront réaffectées en conséquence.

Autrement dit, la totalité des Forces armées canadiennes n’est
pas préte en tout temps a faire face a toutes les éventualités parce
que cela cofiterait beaucoup trop cher. Nous avons préparé nos
forces opérationnelles, nos missions, nos navires et nos avions a
intervenir dans le délai qu’on leur a imparti. Ensuite, & mesure
qu’ils sont déployés, nous recevons les fonds additionnels afin de
maintenir la disponibilité opérationnelle ou accroitre la
contribution au besoin, afin de former et de préparer les unités
de reléve.

Le président : Le temps réservé a cette discussion est presque
écoulé, messieurs. Je vous remercie de votre présence. En
terminant, j’aimerais qu’on éclaircisse deux points. Je crois que
ce serait utile d’avoir ces précisions. Le premier concerne le MDN.

Monsieur Lindsey, vous avez parlé des 347 millions de dollars
également inclus. Il y a une augmentation de ce montant associé
au facteur de progression annuelle des dépenses de défense.
Pourriez-vous nous rafraichir la mémoire au sujet du facteur de
progression et de ce a quoi il s’applique? Est-ce particulier au
MDN?

M. Lindsey : Oui, monsieur le président. Dans les années 1990,
on a reconnu que les activités de la Défense étaient
particulierement soumises a l'inflation. On a établi a 1,5 p. 100
le taux annuel d’augmentation du montant alloué a la défense. Ce
taux a ¢été révisé a la hausse en 2010 pour atteindre 2 p. 100.
Chaque année, le ministére voit son enveloppe des dépenses
augmenter de 2 p. 100 pour I'aider a compenser I'inflation propre
a la défense et les autres pressions inflationnistes.

Le ministeére de la Défense est-il le seul a étre doté d’un tel
mécanisme? D’autres ministéres ont des mécanismes qui les
protégent ou les aident a gérer les risques liés au cott. Par
exemple, le ministére des Affaires étrangéres regoit Iappui du
ministére des Finances et du Conseil du Trésor en ce qui a trait au
risque de change. Le MDN a également un risque de change, mais
il n’a pas de filet de sécurité, contrairement au ministére des
Affaires étrangéres. Son mécanisme de gestion des risques est
différent du noétre, mais chose certaine, le MDN n’est pas le seul
ministére a recevoir ce type d’aide.

Le président : Merci. 11 se peut que vous nous l'ayez déja
expliqué par le passé, mais je considérais qu’il était important de
le préciser, étant donné que votre mémoire en fait mention.
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Mr. Patel, the other question I have is in relation to the sale of
assets — that is, the real estate Foreign Affairs has in various
foreign countries. When something is sold in a foreign country, is
that something you keep a record of for reinvestment purposes
somewhere else or does it go into Consolidated Revenue?

Mr. Patel: It depends on the project itself. If you look at
Macdonald House in London, which we sold recently for
$562 million Canadian at the end of March, any proceeds over
and above what it would cost to complete the refurbishment of
Trafalgar Square’s Canada House and the acquisition and retrofit
of the building next to that, which we required — and we talked
about this in the past in this committee — would return to the
fiscal framework.

On other projects, when we do dispose of properties, we would
typically have access to those funds to reinvest in other property
acquisitions or other parts of our real property portfolio. We
work closely with the Treasury Board Secretariat on any specific
requirements that may be brought forward by Treasury Board
ministers depending on the amounts, the strategy or what the plan
would be for that particular country, whether it’s a chancery or
residences.

The Chair: If you needed to build an extension somewhere
other than the U.K., let’s say Ireland or Paris, do you have some
lobbying advantage by having put some money into general
revenue from the sale of the High Commissioner’s residence in the
UK.?

Mr. Patel: 1 would say it’s more than a lobbying advantage.
We do have access to the proceeds of sale from properties abroad
to reinvest in other properties abroad.

I used Macdonald House as an example because the numbers
are so high that we wouldn’t need that much money, a few
hundred million dollars, to reinvest into our property portfolio.
What we also have in our capital vote, which is in the Main
Estimates, is a multi-year profile for some properties that may
take a couple of years to develop. We have funds approved by the
Treasury Board specifically for these investments.

The short answer is yes, we have the flexibility of reusing
proceeds of sale. Occasionally we may not need that amount of
money and it may return to the fiscal framework.

The Chair: The amount that’s gone back to the fiscal
framework I understand, but for the other money that you have
the ability to use for other asset purchases, you don’t have to
come back to Parliament; you don’t have to come to this Senate
committee to talk about that?

Monsieur Patel, mon autre question porte sur la vente des
biens — c’est-a-dire les biens immobiliers que posséde le ministére
des Affaires étrangéres dans divers pays. Lorsque vous vendez un
bien immobilier a I’étranger, est-ce que le produit de la vente est
conservé en vue d’étre réinvesti ou s’il est transféré au Trésor?

M. Patel : Cela dépend du projet. Par exemple, dans le cas de
la Maison Macdonald, & Londres, qui a été vendue pour un
montant de 562 millions de dollars canadiens a la fin du mois de
mars, tout montant qui dépasse les cotits de la rénovation de la
Maison du Canada, a Trafalgar Square, ainsi que ’acquisition et
la rénovation du batiment voisin — et nous en avons déja parlé
devant le comité — est retourné au cadre financier.

En ce qui concerne les autres projets, lorsque nous vendons des
propriétés, nous avons acces a ces fonds afin de les réinvestir dans
l’acquisition d’autres propriétés ou dans d’autres segments de
notre portefeuille immobilier. Nous travaillons en étroite
collaboration avec le Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor
concernant toutes les exigences particuliéres que pourraient
présenter les ministres du Conseil du Trésor en fonction des
montants, de la stratégie ou du plan pour un pays en particulier,
que ce soit pour une chancellerie ou des résidences.

Le président : Si vous deviez construire un agrandissement
quelque part en-dehors du Royaume-Uni, disons en Irlande ou a
Paris, tireriez-vous avantage du lobbying en ayant versé au
compte des recettes générales le produit de la vente de la résidence
du haut-commissaire au Royaume-Uni?

M. Patel : Je dirais que c’est plus qu'un avantage du lobbying.
Nous avons accés au produit de la vente des propriétés a
I’étranger que nous pouvons réinvestir dans d’autres propriétés a
I’étranger.

J’ai donné comme exemple la Maison Macdonald parce que les
chiffres étaient si élevés que nous n’avions pas besoin de réinvestir
autant d’argent — des centaines de millions de dollars — dans
notre portefeuille immobilier. Ce que nous avons également dans
notre crédit pour dépenses d’immobilisations, qui se trouve dans
le Budget principal des dépenses, c’est un profil pluriannuel pour
des projets qui s’échelonnent sur quelques années. Nous avons des

fonds approuvés par le Conseil du Trésor consacrés a ces
investissements.

Donc, oui, nous bénéficions d’une certaine souplesse pour ce
qui est de l'utilisation du produit de la vente. Il arrive que nous
n’ayons pas besoin de cette somme et que nous la versions au
trésor public.

Le président : Je comprends pour ce qui est de la somme qui
retourne au cadre financier, mais pour ce qui est des autres fonds
dont vous pouvez vous servir pour faire I'acquisition d’autres
biens, si je ne me trompe pas, vous n’avez pas besoin de revenir
devant le Parlement, vous n’avez pas besoin de venir en discuter
avec le comité?
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Mr. Patel: No, because we’re able to use those proceeds of sale
in a recurring manner. We were granted authority some time ago
by Treasury Board to do that.

The Chair: Are you able to provide the clerk with a list of what
has been sold over the last few years internationally and what has
been acquired? It would be interesting for us to see that. This is
activity that’s going on off balance sheet, in effect.

Mr. Patel: We can provide a list. I would be happy to provide
any supplementary information to help with the process, if that
would be useful as well.

The Chair: Any information you can give us on that would be
helpful because it is an activity that we may not monitor as closely
as some other things.

Thank you very much, gentlemen. Defence, Transport Canada,
Foreign Affairs, you’ve been very helpful. We’ll see you when
supplementary estimates come along.

(The committee adjourned.)

M. Patel : Non, parce que nous sommes en mesure d’utiliser le
produit de la vente de maniére récurrente. Le Conseil du Trésor
nous a accordé ce pouvoir il y a déja un certain temps.

Le président : Pourriez-vous transmettre au greffier une liste de
ce qui a été vendu et acquis a I’étranger ces dernieres années? Ce
serait intéressant pour nous de voir ¢a. Evidemment, cette activité
ne figure pas dans vos états de compte.

M. Patel : Absolument. Je serais heureux de fournir tout
renseignement supplémentaire afin de vous aider dans votre
étude.

Le président : Tout renseignement que vous pouvez nous
donner la-dessus nous serait utile parce que c’est une activité que
nous ne surveillons pas d’aussi prés que d’autres.

Merci beaucoup aux représentants des ministéres de la
Défense, des Transports et des Affaires étrangéres; vos
témoignages nous ont été trés utiles. Nous vous reverrons au
moment du Budget supplémentaire des dépenses.

(La séance est levée.)
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Le mercredi 9 avril 2014
Affaires étrangeres, Commerce et Développement Canada :

Nadir Patel, sous-ministre adjoint et dirigeant principal des
finances, Planification ministérielle, finances et technologies de
I'information;

Arun Thangaraj, directeur général, Direction générale de la gestion
et de la planification des ressources financiéres.

Transports Canada :

André Lapointe, sous-ministre adjoint, Services généraux et
dirigeant principal des finances.

Défense nationale et les Forces armées canadiennes :
Kevin Lindsey, dirigeant principal des finances;

Contre-amiral Patrick Finn, chef d’état-major, Groupe des
matériels;

Major général Ian C. Poulter, chef de programme.



WITNESSES
Tuesday, April 1, 2014

Cheryl Gallant, M.P., Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke, sponsor of
the bill.

Canadian Psychological Association:
Dr. Karen R. Cohen, Chief Executive Officer.
National Benefit Authority:
Akiva Medjuck, President.
The Disability Benefit Group:
Dr. Paul Okorofsky, Director of Client Care and Partner.
TaxWise Inc.:
Shawn Anthony, Senior Manager.

Disabled Women’s Network of Canada: (by video conference)

Carmela Hutchinson, President and Member at Large on the
Executive Committee of the Council of Canadians with
Disabilities.

Wednesday, April 2, 2014
Canada Revenue Agency:

Brian McCauley, Assistant Commissioner, Legislative Policy
and Regulatory Affairs Branch;

Nathalie Dumais,
Directorate.

Director General, Benefit Programs

Tuesday, April 8, 2014

The Honourable Senator Wilfred P. Moore, sponsor of the bill.
Department of Finance Canada:

Dan Calof, Acting Director, Financial Markets Division;

Marie-Josée Lambert, Chief, Domestic Debt Management Policy,
Financial Sector Policy Division.

Bank of Canada:

Grahame Johnson, Chief, Funds Management and Banking.

As individuals:
Lori Turnbull, Associate Professor, Dalhousie University;

Peter Devries, Consultant on Fiscal Affairs.

(Continued on previous page)

TEMOINS
Le mardi 1°" avril 2014

Cheryl Gallant, députée, Renfrew—Nipissing—Pembroke,
marraine du projet de loi.

Société canadienne de psychologie :
Dre Karen R. Cohen, chef de la direction.
National Benefit Authority :
Akiva Medjuck, président.
The Disability Benefit Group :
Dr Paul Okorofsky, directeur des Services aux clients et partenaire.
TaxWise Inc. :
Shawn Anthony, directeur principal.

Réseau d’action des femmes handicapées du Canada : (par
vidéoconférence)

Carmela Hutchison, présidente et membre a titre personnel du
comité exécutif du Conseil des Canadiens avec déficiences.

Le mercredi 2 avril 2014
Agence du revenu du Canada :

Brian McCauley, sous-commissaire adjoint, Direction générale de la
politique législative et des affaires réglementaires;

Nathalie Dumais, directrice générale, Direction des programmes de
prestations.

Le mardi 8 avril 2014

L’honorable sénateur Wilfred P. Moore, parrain du projet de loi.
Ministere des Finances Canada :

Dan Calof, directeur par intérim, Division des marchés financiers;

Marie-Josée Lambert, chef, Politique de la gestion de la dette
intérieure, Direction de la politique du secteur financier.

Banque du Canada :

Grahame Johnson, chef, Gestion financiére et Opérations
bancaires.

A titre personnel :
Lori Turnbull, professeure agrégée, Université Dalhousie;

Peter Devries, consultant en finances.
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